

Measuring multimorbidity using Australian linked administrative health data sources

Author: Lujic, Sanja

Publication Date: 2021

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/2346

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/71093 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-05-04

Measuring multimorbidity using Australian linked administrative data sources

Sanja Lujic

A thesis in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



School of Population Health

Faculty of Medicine

May 2021

Measuring multimorbidity using Australian linked administrative data sources

Copyright © 2021 Sanja Lujic

Thesis submission for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis Title and Abstract	Declarations	Inclusion of Publications	Corrected Thesis and
		Statement	Responses
Thesis Title			

Measuring multimorbidity using Australian linked administrative health data sources

Thesis Abstract

The growing number of individuals living with multimorbidity – the presence of two or more chronic conditions – is a challenge facing many healthcare systems internationally. Multimorbidity has been hailed a priority for research and practice, but Australian studies of multimorbidity are impeded by the lack of national primary care data, data silos, researcher access to data, and limited information contained within the data that are available.

This thesis demonstrates how data linkage can be used to enhance the understanding of multimorbidity and its outcomes via a series of studies using Australian linked data sources, including claims-based, cohort study and clinical registry datasets for residents of NSW, Australia's most populous state.

Thesis studies found variations in the recording of common health conditions between hospitals, under ascertainment of multimorbidity in administrative data, and differences in the estimates of multimorbidity dependent on the data used. Thesis studies also showed we can enhance our understanding of multimorbidity by exploring related concepts of patient risk and complexity. Within administrative hospital inpatient data, one-third of hospitalised patients had both multimorbidity and elevated risks of frailty – and these patients had worse outcomes than those with one or neither factor. The addition of clinical registry data also improved risk adjustment for hospital readmission performance indicators for total knee and hip replacement over and above models including multimorbidity measured using administrative hospital inpatient data.

The research presented here highlights the benefits of the use of linked data in Australian multimorbidity research in three ways. Firstly, it underlines the need for incorporation of chronic disease information from multiple databases, including self-reported, inpatient, and claims-based data to accurately capture the extent of chronic disease and to identify people with multimorbidity. Secondly, it emphasises the need to examine complexities in the interplay between drivers of adverse outcomes – including multimorbidity, frailty and claims-based minor and informing future hospital resource planning. And thirdly, it demonstrates the value of integrating new data sources, such as clinical registries with linked administrative data for improving risk-adjustment of hospital performance measures.

Thesis submission for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis Title and Abstract Dec

Declarations

Corrected Thesis and Responses

ORIGINALITY STATEMENT

C I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis. I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

C I hereby grant the University of New South Wales or its agents a non-exclusive licence to archive and to make available (including to members of the public) my thesis or dissertation in whole or part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known. I acknowledge that I retain all intellectual property rights which subsist in my thesis or dissertation, such as copyright and patent rights, subject to applicable law. I also retain the right to use all or part of my thesis or dissertation in future works (such as articles or books).

For any substantial portions of copyright material used in this thesis, written permission for use has been obtained, or the copyright material is removed from the final public version of the thesis.

AUTHENTICITY STATEMENT

G I certify that the Library deposit digital copy is a direct equivalent of the final officially approved version of my thesis.

Inclusion of Publications

Statement

Thesis submission for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis Title and Abstract Declarations

Inclusion of Publications Statement Corrected Thesis and Responses

UNSW is supportive of candidates publishing their research results during their candidature as detailed in the UNSW Thesis Examination Procedure.

Publications can be used in the candidate's thesis in lieu of a Chapter provided:

- The candidate contributed greater than 50% of the content in the publication and are the "primary author", i.e. they were responsible primarily for the planning, execution and preparation of the work for publication.
- The candidate has obtained approval to include the publication in their thesis in lieu of a Chapter from their Supervisor and Postgraduate Coordinator.
- The publication is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in the thesis.

Solution The candidate has declared that their thesis has publications - either published or submitted for publication - incorporated into it in lieu of a Chapter/s. Details of these publications are provided below.

Full Title:	Variation in the recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia
Authors:	Lujic S, Watson DE, Randall DA, Simpson JM, Jorm LR
Journal or Book Name:	BMJ Open
Volume/Page Numbers:	4:e005768
Date Accepted/Published:	First published September 3, 2014
Status:	published
The Candidate's Contribution to the Work:	I had the overall responsibility for the design of this study, data management, carrying out the statistical analysis, interpreting results, drafting the initial manuscript, and reviewing and revising the manuscript in response to co- authors and reviewers. Co-authors Diane Watson and Louisa Jorm contributed to the conception and design of the study. Louisa Jorm helped with data acquisition and provided oversight for all analyses. Deborah Randall and Judy Simpson provided oversight and advice for the design and interpretation of the statistical analyses. All authors read and approved the final version as published.
Location of the work in the thesis and/or how the work is incorporated in the thesis:	Published paper is included in lieu of thesis chapter, and is presented in Chapter 4 of the thesis.
Publication Details #2	
Full Title:	Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data
Authors:	Lujic S, Simpson JM, Zwar N, Hosseinzadeh H, Jorm LJ
Journal or Book Name:	PLoS ONE
Volume/Page Numbers:	12(8)
Date Accepted/Published:	Published 29 August 29, 2017
Status:	published
The Candidate's Contribution to the Work:	I conceptualised and designed the study with the help from co-authors. I carried out data curation and management, performed statistical analysis and visualisations, drafted the initial manuscript, and reviewed and revised the manuscript following co-authors' and reviewers' comments. Louisa Jorm acquired the data. Supervisors (Louisa Jorm and Judy Simpson) provided oversight of the analysis and contributed to the study result interpretations. Co-authors Nicholas Zwar and Hassan Hosseinzadeh provided advice on the study interpretation.
Location of the work in the thesis and/or how the work is incorporated in the thesis:	Published paper is included in lieu of thesis chapter, and is presented in Chapter 5 of the thesis.
Publication Details #3	
Full Title:	Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty on adverse health outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients
Authors:	Lujic S, Randall DA, Simpson JM, Falster OM, Jorm LJ
Journal or Book Name:	Scientific Reports
Volume/Page Numbers:	
Date Accepted/Published:	
Status:	submitted
The Candidate's Contribution to the Work:	I conceived and designed the study with oversight from all other authors. I performed the statistical analyses, interpreted results, drafted the initial manuscript and reviewed and revised the manuscript following advice from co- authors. Louisa Jorm acquired the data. Deborah Randall, Judy Simpson and Michael Falster supervised the statistical analyses and reviewed the manuscript. Deborah Randall performed the initial data cleaning of the IHOPE dataset. All authors read and approved the submitted version, as presented in the thesis.
Location of the work in the thesis and/or how the work is incorporated in the thesis:	Submitted paper is included in lieu of thesis chapter, and is presented in Chapter 6 of the thesis.

Candidate's Declaration

 \bigcirc

I confirm that where I have used a publication in lieu of a chapter, the listed publication(s) above meet(s) the requirements to be included in the thesis. I also declare that I have complied with the Thesis Examination Procedure.

Author Contribution

I undertook this thesis as a part-time student during 30 April 2012 – 28 May 2021, with maternity leave and pandemic disruption in between.

The work contained in the body of this thesis is result of my own ideas. Co-author contributions are listed below, with further details in Chapters 4 - 7.

Chapter 4 is published in *BMJ Open*. I had the overall responsibility for the design of this study, data management, statistical analysis, drafting the initial manuscript, and reviewing and revising it. Co-authors Diane E Watson (DEW) and Louisa R Jorm (LRJ) contributed to the conception and design of the study. LRJ helped with data acquisition and provided oversight for all analyses. Deborah R Randall (DAR) and Judy M Simpson (JMS) provided oversight and advice for the design and interpretation of the statistical analyses.

Chapter 5 is published in *PLoS One*. I conceptualised and designed the study with the help from co-authors. I curated and analysed the data, drafted initial manuscript, and reviewed and revised it following co-authors' and reviewers' comments. Co-authors of the study, JMS, LJ, Nicholas Zwar and Hassan Hosseinzadeh helped with conceptualisation, methodology, supervision and reviewing and editing of the manuscript.

Chapter 6 is under review in *Scientific Reports*. I conceived and designed the study, performed the statistical analyses, interpreted results, drafted the initial manuscript and reviewed and revised the manuscript following input from other co-authors. Co-authors DAR, JMS, LRJ and Michael O Falster (MOF) contributed to the design and methodology, supervision, interpretation of findings, reviewing and editing of the manuscript.

Chapter 7 is being prepared for submission to the *Medical Journal of Australia*. I conceived and designed the study with oversight from my supervisors. Data management, statistical analyses and full draft of the paper were also done by me. Ian Harris provided clinical advice and contributed to the result interpretation. Michelle Lorimer prepared the AOANJRR data extraction and edited the draft manuscript.

Abstract

The growing number of individuals living with multimorbidity – the presence of two or more chronic conditions – is a challenge facing many healthcare systems internationally. Multimorbidity has been hailed a priority for research, medical practice, and health policy reform, but Australian studies of multimorbidity are impeded by the lack of national primary care data, data silos, researcher access to data, and limited information contained within the data that are available.

This thesis demonstrates how data linkage can be used to enhance the understanding of multimorbidity and its outcomes via a series of studies using Australian linked data sources, including claims-based, cohort study and clinical registry datasets for residents of NSW, Australia's most populous state.

Thesis studies found variations in the recording of common health conditions between hospitals, under ascertainment of multimorbidity in administrative data, and differences in the estimates of multimorbidity dependent on the data used. Thesis studies also showed we can enhance our understanding of multimorbidity by exploring related concepts of patient risk and complexity. Within administrative hospital inpatient data, one-third of hospitalised patients had both multimorbidity and elevated risks of frailty – and these patients had worse outcomes than those with one or neither factor. The addition of clinical registry data also improved risk adjustment for hospital readmission performance indicators for total knee and hip replacement over and above models including multimorbidity measured using administrative hospital inpatient data.

The research presented here highlights the benefits of the use of linked data in Australian multimorbidity research in three ways. Firstly, it underlines the need for incorporation of chronic disease information from multiple databases, including self-reported, inpatient, and claims-based data to accurately capture the extent of chronic disease and to identify people with multimorbidity. Secondly, it emphasises the need to examine complexities in the interplay between drivers of adverse outcomes – including multimorbidity, frailty and clinical assessment of a patient's overall health – in identifying patients with increased risk of complications and informing future hospital resource planning. And thirdly, it demonstrates the value of integrating new data sources, such as clinical registries with linked administrative data for improving risk-adjustment of hospital performance measures,

with potentially much wider applications in health outcomes research and program evaluation.

With a policy focus on patient-centred care, and burgeoning new sources of clinical data including registries and electronic health records, the importance of cross sectoral and cross jurisdictional data linkage has never been greater. Availability and use of these data will be crucial for bettering patient outcomes and experience and providing an evidence base to support service providers and health system planners in (re)designing care to benefit the Australian population.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to a variety of individuals involved in my scholarly journey.

My first and deepest gratitude is to my supervisors – Louisa Jorm, Judy Simpson and Michael Falster – for their expertise, encouragement and generosity. Louisa planted the PhD seed, and has been nothing short of an inspiring boss, mentor, and supervisor, providing opportunities novice researchers can only dream of. Judy guided and mentored me since my days as a trainee biostatistician and has instilled the importance of rigour and sound statistical practice in both my work and study. I am deeply grateful to Michael for his support, advice, encouragement, and guidance, particularly during the latter parts of the candidature. It has been a privilege to be guided and supported by such incredible supervisors.

This research would not have been possible without linked data. I am grateful to the NSW Ministry of Health, the Sax Institute, Department of Human Services, Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry for data provision, the NSW Centre for Health Record Linkage for data linkage, and thousands of participants in the 45 and Up Study.

I would like to thank my co-authors of the papers included in this thesis for their thoughtful comments, valuable insights, and contributions. I am particularly immensely grateful to Deborah Randall for her help, support and advice and exemplary work on the IHOPE data and project management.

Studying and working with researchers from multiple disciplines at the Centre for Big Data Research in Health at UNSW, and the Centre for Health Research at the Western Sydney University has been gratifying. I would like to thank my colleagues, Duong Tran, Alys Havard, Louise Francis, Melisa Litchfield, Oscar Perez Concha and Mark Hanly, for their ongoing support, encouragement and advice.

My final thanks are to my friends and family for their continued and unwavering support. My husband Dragan and daughter Lana have been my biggest fans and sources of moral and emotional support. I started my PhD journey solo and finished it with two incredible humans by my side. My great sources of inspiration have been my parents and my brother, who have taught me the value of kindness, resilience, and hard work. Thank you for your strength and belief. This one is for you.

Contents

Abstractii
Acknowledgements iv
Contentsv
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresxi
List of Abbreviationsxii
Publications, presentations xv
Chapter 1 : Background and Overview 1
1.1 Background1
1.2 Thesis aims and research questions
1.3 Thesis outline
1.4 Candidate contribution
Chapter 2 : Introduction
2.1 What is multimorbidity?
2.1.1. How is multimorbidity measured?
2.1.1.1 How are chronic conditions defined?9
2.1.1.2 What data sources are used?9
2.1.1.3 How many conditions are measured?11
2.1.1.4 How are multimorbidity measures constructed?11
2.1.1.5 Summary of measures of multimorbidity15
2.1.2 How is multimorbidity related to health outcomes?
2.1.3 What is the relationship between multimorbidity and frailty?17
2.2 Multimorbidity in Australia19
2.2.1 Overview of the Australian health system
2.2.2 Australian health data collections
V

2.2.3 Chronic conditions and multimorbidity in Australia	29
2.2.4 Australian studies of multimorbidity	30
2.2.5 Use of multimorbidity within Australian policy settings	33
2.3 Thesis contribution	35
Methods	36
3.1 Datasets	36
3.1.1 Administrative data	37
3.1.2 Survey data	38
3.1.3 Registry data	39
3.1.4 NHMRC projects	39
3.2 Data linkage	41
3.2.1 Data linkage process	41
3.2.2 Cleaning of linked data	42
3.3 Defining measures used in the thesis	44
3.3.1 Key exposures of interest	44
3.3.2 Other risk adjustment factors	47
3.3.3 Study outcomes	48
3.3.4 Construction of exposure and outcomes using linked data	48
3.4 Statistical methods	50
3.4.1 Overview of statistical methods	50
3.4.2 Concordance and agreement measures	50
3.4.3 Multilevel models	51
3.5 Ethics approvals	53
Chapter 2 : Variation in the recoding of common health conditions in routine	
hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South	
Wales, Australia	54
4.1 Background and aims	54
4.2 Key findings	54
	vi

4.3 Publication details	55
4.4 Student contribution	55
4.5 Knowledge building	66
Chapter 3 : Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using	
administrative data sources and survey data	. 67
5.1 Background and aims	67
5.2 Key findings	67
5.3 Publication details	68
5.4 Student contribution	68
5.5 Knowledge building	87
Chapter 4 : Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty on adverse health	
outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients: Australian observational study using	
hospital records for 257,535 patients	. 88
6.1 Background and aims	88
6.2 Key findings	88
6.3 Student contribution	89
6.4 Submitted paper	89
6.5 Knowledge building	102
Chapter 5 : Supplementing multimorbidity measures using administrative data w	rith
clinical registry data	103
7.1 Background and aims	103
7.2 Key Findings	103
7.3 Further exploratory work	104
7.4 Student contribution	106
7.5 Paper (formatted as MJA journal submission)	106
Chapter 6 : Discussion	121
8.1 Thesis motivation and aims	121
8.2 Key thesis findings	122

8.2.1 Study 1: Variation in recording health conditions in hospital data	122
8.2.2 Study 2: Comparing estimates of multimorbidity between data sources	124
8.2.3 Study 3: Multimorbidity and frailty	125
8.2.4 Study 4: Supplementing multimorbidity measured using administrative data	with
clinical registry data	126
8.3 Reach and impact of the research	128
8.4 Implications for policy and practice	129
8.4.1 The need to accurately capture chronic diseases in administrative data	129
8.4.2 The challenges in measurement of multimorbidity using administrative data	ı 131
8.4.3 The need for a multifaceted view of patient complexity	133
8.4.4 The need for enduring linked data sources for research	133
8.5 Strengths and limitations	134
8.6 Future research directions	136
8.6.1 Standardising definition and measurement of multimorbidity	136
8.6.2 Future of Australian research into multimorbidity	138
8.7 Conclusions	139
REFERENCES	140
Appendix 1. Australian studies on multimorbidity	166
Appendix 2. 45 and Up Study questionnaire	181
Appendix 3. Supplementary materials from Chapter 4 publication	187
Appendix 4. Supplementary materials from Chapter 5 publication	192
Appendix 5. Supplementary materials from Chapter 6	196
Appendix 6. Supplementary materials from Chapter 7	206
Appendix 7. Statistical Appendices	217

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Thesis structure	4
Table 2.1. Systematic reviews of multimorbidity definition and measurement	7
Table 2.2. Comparison of Charlson and Elixhauser Index conditions	13
Table 2.3 Meta-analyses of multimorbidity associations with outcomes	17
Table 2.4 Examples of Australian health data sources for chronic disease monitoring research	g and 21
Table 2.5 Australian supplementary codes for chronic conditions	25
Table 2.6 Data sources used in 41 quantitative Australian studies on multimorbidity,2021 PubMed search	1996 – 31
Table 3.1. Datasets used in the thesis	
Table 3.2. List of NHMRC projects	
Table 3.3. Data sources, number of records per dataset and number of subjects per s	study42
Table 3.4. List of conditions included in multimorbidity ascertainment	46
Table 3.5. Person-, area- and hospital-level variables used in risk adjustment	
Table 3.6. List of outcomes used in thesis Studies	
Table 3.7. Statistical methods used in the thesis	50
Table 3.8 Ethics approvals	53
Table 6.1 Cohort description at the time of index hospitalisation 2010-2012, by multimorbidity and frailty risk	95
Table 6.2 Crude patient outcomes by multimorbidity and frailty risk	

Table 6.3 Additive and multiplicative Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty risk
on adverse patient outcomes, full cohort
Table 7.1 Impact of supplementary chronic disease codes on ascertainment of chronic
diseases in hospital data105
Table 7.2 Characteristics of patients undergoing THA or TKA between 1 July 2016 and 30
June 2018
Table 7.3 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects,
THA
Table 7.4 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects,
ТКА

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Multimorbidity and comorbidity distinction5
Figure 2.2 Rise in the number of publications with multimorbidity as keyword
Figure 2.3 Summary of research topics in 55 Australian studies of multimorbidity, 1996 – 2021
Figure 3.1. Data availability timeline41
Figure 3.2. Construction of hospital stays
Figure 3.3. Construction of exposure and outcome variable
Figure 3.4. Hierarchical structure of the data52
Figure 6.1 Adjusted relative risk (aRR) between multimorbidity and elevated frailty risk with adverse outcomes

List of Abbreviations

ACG	Adjusted Clinical Groups
ACS	Australian Coding Standards
ACSQHC	Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care
AH&MRC	Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council
AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Welfare
ALSWH	Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health
AOANJRR	Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry
APDC	Admitted Patient Data Collection
APHID	Assessing Preventable Hospitalisation InDicators
aRR	Adjusted relative risk
ASA	American Society of Anaesthesiologists
ATC	Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical
AUC	Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve
BEACH	Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health
CHeReL	Centre for Health Record Linkage
CCI	Charlson Comorbidity Index
CDS	Chronic Disease Score
CI	Confidence Interval
CIRS	Cumulative Illness Rating Scale
COSmm	Core Outcome Set for Multimorbidity Research
CQR	Clinical quality registries
DRG	Diagnosis Related Group

eFI	Electronic Frailty Index
EHR	Electronic health record
EOC	Episode of care
GP	General practitioner
HFRS	Hospital Frailty Risk Score
HREC	Human Research Ethics Committees
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
ICD-10	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Health Related Problems, 10 th Revision
ICD-10-AM	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Health Related Problems, 10 th Revision, Australian Modification
ICED	Index of Coexistent Disease
IHOPE	Indigenous Health Outcomes Patient Evaluation
IQR	Interquartile range
MBS	Medicare Benefits Schedule
MLK	Master Linkage Key
MOR	Median odds ratio
NHMD	National Hospital Morbidity Database
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NIHSI	National Integrated Health Services Infrastructure
NSW	New South Wales
OR	Odds Ratio
PBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Schedule
PHSREC	NSW Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee

POS	Period of stay
RR	Relative Risk
RBDM	Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages
SLA	Statistical Local Area
THA	Total hip arthroplasty
TKA	Total knee arthroplasty
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States
VPC	Variance partitioning coefficient
WHO	World Health Organisation

Publications, presentations

Publications

Published

Paper 1	Lujic S , Watson DE, Randall DA, Simpson JM, Jorm LR. Variation in the recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia. <i>BMJ Open.</i> 2014;4(9):e005768.			
Paper2	Lujic S , Simpson JM, Zwar N, Hosseinzadeh H, Jorm LJ. Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data. <i>PLoS ONE</i> . 2017;12(8).			
Under review				
Paper 3	Lujic S, Randall DA, Simpson JM, Falster OM, Jorm LJ. Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty on adverse health outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients (<i>Scientific Reports</i>)			
Preparing for submission				
Paper 4	Lujic S, Falster MO, Simpson JM, Jorm LJ. Complementing administrative data with clinical registries: an example using total			

Related co-authored publications

• Aitken SJ, Lujic S, Randall DA, Noguchi N, Naganathan V, Blyth FM. Predicting outcomes in older patients undergoing vascular surgery using the Hospital Frailty Risk Score. *Br J Surg.* 2020; Oct 9

hip (THA) and total knee arthroplasty (TKA) readmission rates for

performance measurement. (Medical Journal of Australia)

Havard A, Straka P, Sara G, Lujic S, Tran DT, Jorm LR. Identifying patients using antidepressants for the treatment of depression: A predictive algorithm for use in pharmaceutical and medical claims data. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2019;28(3):354-61

 Randall DA, Lujic S, Havard A, Eades SJ, Jorm L. Multimorbidity among Aboriginal people in New South Wales contributes significantly to their higher mortality. *MJA*. 2018;209(1):19-23.

Related co-authored reports

- Lujic, S., Raichand, S., Jorm, L. (2015) Rapid literature review of readmission indicators for CHBOI 4: developments since 2010. Commissioned by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. UNSW Centre for Big Data Research in Health, Sydney.
- Lujic, S., Liu, A., Jorm, L. (2015) Rapid literature review of hospital-based mortality outcome indicators: developments since 2013. Commissioned by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. UNSW Centre for Big Data Research in Health, Sydney.

Presentations (conference)

- Lujic S, Watson D, Jorm L: Validation of morbidity, smoking and obesity codes in the NSW hospitalisation data. *45 and Up Collaborators meeting*, Sydney, 2012
- Lujic S, Jorm L: Multimorbidity in older Australians: patterning by age, sex and socioeconomic status. *Health Services and Policy Research conference*, Wellington, New Zealand 2013.
- Lujic S, Jorm L: Multimorbidity in older Australian. *45 and Up Collaborators meeting* Sydney, 2013.
- Lujic S, Jorm L, Randall D: Variations in the level of recording of common health conditions and risk factors in hospital morbidity data. *Health Services and Policy Research conference*, Wellington, New Zealand 2013.
- Lujic S, Jorm L, Randall D: Using hospital data to identify comorbidity and multimorbidity in Australia. *Scottish Health Informatics Program (SHIP) conference*, St Andrews, Scotland 2013.
- Lujic S, Jorm L: Variations in the level of recording of common health conditions and risk factors in hospital morbidity data. *International Health Data Linkage conference*, Vancouver, Canada 2014.

Presentations (invited talks and seminars)

- Lujic S, Havard A. The accuracy of identifying smoking and obesity from hospital data: Can smokers and obese patients be correctly identified through hospital admission histories? *NSW Ministry of Health* (invited talk), October 2012
- Lujic S. Using hospital data to identify comorbidity and multimorbidity in older NSW residents. *Centre for Positive Psychology and Education* (invited talk), University of Western Sydney, November 2013
- Lujic S. Identifying multimorbidity using administrative data in NSW. *Capital Markets cooperative research centre* (invited talk), April 2015
- Lujic S. Variations in the level of recording of common health conditions and risk factors in hospital morbidity data. *School of Mathematics and Statistics* (invited talk), UNSW, September 2015
- Lujic S. Variations in the recording of common health conditions and risk factors in hospital morbidity data. *National Centre for Classification in Health* (invited talk), University of Sydney, November 2015
- Lujic S. Multimorbidity in NSW: comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data, *Centre For Big Data Research in Health PhD presentations*, November 2016
- Lujic S, Multimorbidity and frailty as drivers of adverse health outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients. *The Kolling Institute* (invited talk), July 2019
- Lujic S. Contributions of multimorbidity and frailty to adverse health outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients. *Centre for Big Data Research in Health Surgical Outcomes teams meeting*, September 2020
- Lujic S. Synergistic effects of multimorbidity and frailty to adverse health outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients, *Centre for Big Data Research in Health PhD seminar*, October 2020
- Lujic S. Complementing administrative data with clinical registries: an example using THA/TKA readmission rates for hospital performance measurement. *Enhancing Joint Replacement Outcomes through National Data Linkage research meeting*, March 2021

CHAPTER 1

Background and Overview

1.1 Background

Ageing populations and increases in longevity due to advances in medical care and prevention contribute to the growing proportion of people with multiple concurrent chronic diseases ('multimorbidity'). These people have demonstrably worse health outcomes than others. The increasing prevalence of multimorbidity has been accompanied by a shift in the way health care professionals and researchers conceptualise the interplay between personal, social and health characteristics, met and unmet needs for health care and health outcomes. A move from a disease-centric concept of comorbidity, where one condition is the principal focus and other conditions are considered as additional to this, to a person-centric concept of multimorbidity, has been gaining momentum over the past decade.

Initial research into multimorbidity centred on its epidemiology – incidence, prevalence and associated risk factors – gradually moving to examining outcomes and exploring disease clustering and disease trajectories. Studies of the relationships between multimorbidity, acuity and frailty have also started to appear in recent years. However, most international studies of multimorbidity focus on community and primary care settings and studies in acute care settings are scarce.¹

Australian research on multimorbidity and its impacts on health outcomes is hampered by gaps in routine data collections. Australian primary care claims data lack information on diagnoses or reasons for service encounter, restricting Australian research on multimorbidity in primary care settings. Representative national surveys of general practitioners (GPs) and their patient encounters conducted under the Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health (BEACH)² program helped fill the gap in primary care data, but BEACH ceased in 2016.³ Also, although BEACH collected data about an extensive list

Chapter 1: Background

of morbidities, it did not ascertain patient outcomes post visit. Australian inpatient data, on the other hand, provide means of examining patient and care outcomes, but only capture diagnoses recorded during the inpatient encounter.

Furthermore, Australian's health system is a complex mix of public and private hospitals, primary health care services and referred medical services, with multiple sources of funding and multiple legislative and contractual frameworks. Data collection and stewardship is distributed across state, territory and Commonwealth agencies, limiting data sharing between sectors. This siloing has created an imperative for linkage of health data collections over time and across sectors, in order to understand longitudinal patterns of morbidity and outcomes for the Australian population.

Australia has a potential treasure trove of health data, which is becoming more readily available for research and policy guidance purposes. The availability of linked health data, encompassing routinely collected administrative data, clinical registries and survey data, provides an avenue for multifaceted multimorbidity research spanning incidence and prevalence of multimorbidity and exploration of patient outcomes. Studies in this thesis provide examples of ways in which big data can be used to measure and explore multimorbidity, and point to new avenues for policy-relevant research using these data.

1.2 Thesis aims and research questions

The overall aim of this thesis is to explore measurement of multimorbidity, its interplay with frailty, and associations with outcomes via a series of studies using Australian linked health data sources. More specifically, the thesis addresses the following questions:

- What is the agreement between self-reported health conditions and coded diagnoses in routine hospital inpatient data? What patient- and hospital-factors explain this agreement?
- 2. Do multimorbidity prevalence estimates vary according to data source? Are different individuals identified as multimorbid using different data sources?
- 3. What effects do the different measures of multimorbidity and frailty have on adverse patient outcomes? How do multimorbidity and frailty interact?
- 4. How does multimorbidity contribute to variations in hospital-level outcome indicators used for performance measurement? Does the addition of variables from

clinical registries improve predictive ability (discriminative performance) of models used to monitor health performance metrics?

1.3 Thesis outline

This thesis presents two published scientific papers, one manuscript under review and one manuscript being prepared for submission. These make up the four main analytical chapters of the thesis, each presenting original research. The remaining chapters introduce the work, give details of the methods used within each of the four studies, and discuss the main findings and their implications for practice, and further research.

The main datasets used, and outputs, for the analytic chapters are summarised in Table 1.1. Each of the analytic chapters is prefaced by preamble describing aims and key findings.

1.4 Candidate contribution

I developed the research questions and designed the analysis plans for each of the four studies, under the guidance of my supervisors. I performed all data management and curation, variable checking and construction, carried out statistical analyses, drafted each of the manuscripts, incorporated feedback from co-authors, and managed the processes of article submission and responding to reviewers' comments.

Chapter 1: Background

Table 1.1 Thesis structure

Chapter 1	1 (
-----------	-----

Overview

• Provides a brief background to the thesis and outlines its structure

- Chapter 2 Introduction
- Overview of the existing literature on multimorbidity and the use of administrative data in health research

Chapter 3 Methods

• Key methods used in the thesis, including statistical methods and key concept measures.

Chapter 4 Variation in recording of health conditions

- Study 1 published in BMJ Open
- Data sources used: Survey + hospital data

Chapter 5 Measuring multimorbidity in administrative data

- Study 2 published in PLoS ONE
- Data sources used: Survey + hospital data + medication dispensing data

Chapter 6

Interaction of multimorbidity and frailty

- Study 3 under review in Scientific Reports
- Data sources used: Hospital data + deaths

Chapter 7 Supplementing administrative data with clinical registry

- Study 4 in preparation for submission to Medical Journal of Austrlia
- Data sources used: Hospital data + deaths + national joint replacement registry

Chapter 8 Discussion

• Discusses the main findings, outlines their implications for policy and practice, and provides suggestions for future research direction

CHAPTER 2

Introduction

2.1 What is multimorbidity?

Ageing populations, coupled with advances in medical care and prevention, are contributing to a growing proportion of people with multiple concurrent health conditions – multimorbidity. The term multimorbidity was coined in the late 1990s by van den Akker et al.,⁴ to distinguish between an index disease with comorbidities (additional entities that co-exist with an index disease under study) and examination of all morbidities within an individual (Figure 2.1). In this definition, multimorbidity was deemed as "the co-occurrence of multiple chronic or acute diseases and medical conditions within one person".⁴ In 2010, Boyd and Fortin further simplified the definition to "co-occurrence of two or more chronic conditions, where one is not necessarily more central than the others".⁵ This delineation marked the move from disease-centric to person-centric exploration of morbidities, recognising the growing number of patients with complex care needs, which should not be treated in isolation.

Figure 2.1 Multimorbidity and comorbidity distinction



Adapted from Valderas et al.⁶

In recognition of the growing issues faced by patients with multimorbidity and their care providers, research on multimorbidity has increased rapidly over the past decade. Over 80% of articles listing multimorbidity as a keyword are published from 2010 onwards (Figure 2.2). The introduction of a Medical Subject Heading (MeSH) 'multimorbidity' ("the complex interactions of several coexisting diseases") in 2018 has helped distinguish it from comorbidity, a distinct MeSH, described as "the presence of coexisting or additional

diagnoses with reference to an initial diagnosis or with reference to index condition that is the subject of the study".⁷



Figure 2.2 Rise in the number of publications with multimorbidity as keyword

Source: PubMed search: (multimorbidity) OR (multi-morbidity) OR (multimorbid), March 2021

2.1.1. How is multimorbidity measured?

Multimorbidity has been hailed by the editors of the Lancet as "the next major health priority".⁸ However there is no clear consensus on how it should be defined and measured, which has hampered both research and actions to improve care for patients with multimorbidity.^{9,10}

The measurement of multimorbidity is subject to considerable confusion. This is in part due to the variations in the reasons for measuring and capturing multimorbidity. The most common purposes for multimorbidity measurement, identified by Nicholson et al.¹¹ and Suls et al.¹² include: 1) tracking population health, 2) identifying associations between multimorbidity and health outcomes, 3) predicting outcomes for individual patients or health facilities, 4) understanding patterns of co-occurrence of conditions and interactions between them, 5) adjusting for confounding effects of multimorbidity in studies exploring the impact of other factors on health outcomes and 6) predicting multimorbidity as an outcome. The method for measuring multimorbidity will vary based on the purpose for which it is being used, which has prompted recent guidance for aligning the choice of the measure with the measurement purpose.¹²

Variations in the existing measures of multimorbidity are multifaceted. Several systematic reviews^{10, 13, 14} focusing on the definitions and measurement of multimorbidity (Table 2.1)

found that, while there is consensus in the literature on the definition of multimorbidity as the presence of multiple chronic conditions, there are inconsistencies in what constitutes a chronic condition, what number of conditions should be used, and how these conditions are measured. Lack of consensus on these elements of multimorbidity has prompted suggestions for its operationalisation via a standardised list of chronic conditions.^{15, 16}

Author	Time period	Keywords	Objective	Findings	Conclusions	
Definition	Definition of multimorbidity					
Willadsen et al. 2016 ¹³	Inception - 2013	Comorbidity AND multimorbidity	Definition and role of disease, risk factors and symptoms	163 articles on conditions commonly studied (diseases, risk factors and symptoms)	Between 4 and 137 conditions studied, including diseases, risk factors and symptoms. 71% of articles used individually constructed definition of multimorbidity, 18% used morbidity indices (not specifically for multimorbidity). Risk factors such as hypertension, osteoporosis, hypercholesterolemia, obesity, and overweight included in 85% of the studies. (Elixhauser Index not included)	
Johnston <i>et al.</i> 2018 ¹⁰	Inception - 2017	Multimorbidity AND review	Definition and measurement of multimorbidity	Systematic review of reviews on definitions and measurement	The choice of the measure and its definition should be specified, with the choice of the measure based on outcome studied. If no validated measure available, disease count use is appropriate	

Table 2.1. Systematic reviews of multimorbidity definition and measurement

Author	Time period	Keywords	Objective	Findings	Conclusions
Measureme	nt of multir	norbidity			
De Groot <i>et al.</i> 2003 ¹⁷	1966 – 2000	Comorbidity, multimorbidity, coexistent disease	Comorbidity measurement for use in RCTs and prognostic trials	13 measures: 1 disease count and 12 indices; 9/13 generic measures (multimorbidity), 4 measures for comorbidity	Charlson Index (CCI), Cumulative Illness Rating Scale (CIRS), Index of Co- Existent Disease (ICED) and Kaplan Index found to be reliable measures of comorbidity
Diederichs et al. 2011 ¹⁴	1960 – 2009	Comorbidity, multimorbidity	Multimorbidity measurement	39 indices: - 21 associated with outcome - 18 weighted indices	150 different conditions identified across studies (ranging from 4 to 102 diseases). Selection of diseases based on high prevalence in the population with severe impact on affected people
Huntley <i>et</i> al. 2012 ¹⁸	Inception - 2009	Multimorbidity or comorbidity AND measures or indices AND ambulatory, outpatient, primary or community care or general, community population	Identify measures of multimorbidity and morbidity for use in research in primary and community populations	17 measures identified for use in primary and community setting	 Diagnoses (n=13) and medication-based (n=4) measures identified. Disease counts, CCI, Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) System, CIRS, Chronic Disease Score (CDS) most used. Evidence for predictive ability differs by outcomes of interest: Care utilisation – CCI, disease count, ACG Costs – ACG Mortality – CCI Quality of life – CCI, disease counts
Sharabiani <i>et al.</i> 2012 ¹⁹	1987 – 2011	CCI, Elixhauser, comorbidity, casemix, mortality and morbidity	Comparison of comorbidity measures in use with administrative data	Measures/indices for use with administrative data, including adaptations of CCI and Elixhauser Index	Predictive ability of index/measure dependent on the patient group and outcome of interest, with indices better able to predict longer term outcome than short term. Elixhauser index performs better than CCI adaptations.

2.1.1.1 How are chronic conditions defined?

People with multimorbidity have multiple health problems. However, there are differences in the terminology used to describe these, with the terms *chronic disease* and *chronic condition* often used interchangeably, although each captures a different range of health problems.

The term *chronic disease* refers to the pathological process with underlying signs and symptoms,²⁰ with variations in the list of diseases included under the broad term of 'chronic disease' across studies and settings, as well as differences in how chronicity is measured.²¹ Examples of the commonly used chronic diseases used for surveillance reporting include cardiovascular disease, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes and cancer, to name a few.

Chronic conditions cover a broader spectrum of health issues, including physical medical conditions, mental health conditions, and substance and cognitive impairment disorders.^{21, 22} The World Health Organisation uses the term chronic condition in its definition of multimorbidity,²³ in line with the definitions of van den Akker et al.⁴ and Boyd & Fortin.⁵ Furthermore, a recent systematic review of the role of disease, risk-factors and symptoms in the definition of multimorbidity found that the majority (85%) of 163 articles reviewed included at least one chronic condition, such as hypertension, osteoporosis, hypercholesterolemia, overweight and obesity, in defining multimorbidity.¹³

In this thesis I consider multimorbidity to include a broader spectrum of health issues. The term *chronic condition* is therefore used in the thesis.

2.1.1.2 What data sources are used?

A variety of data sources can be used to capture multimorbidity. These can broadly be grouped into electronic health records (EHRs), administrative data, health surveys, with differences in the capture of conditions within each data source.

EHRs are the underlying data stored in the clinical information system for shared use by authorised providers in health care settings and are an electronic equivalent of the patient's history.²⁴ EHRs are a rich source of clinical information which may include demographics, health conditions, prescriptions, radiology images, and test results.²⁵ Health conditions can be abstracted from diagnoses selected from a structured medical dictionary,²⁴ coded by a range of healthcare providers, or by constructing algorithms including information from

Chapter 2: Introduction

diagnoses, medications and test results. However, they can be prone to misclassification and missing data leading to measurement errors or selection bias,^{12, 24} and access, extraction, and analysis of EHRs can be time consuming and challenging. EHR data include information collected by both acute care and primary care services. Unless otherwise specified, the term EHR in this thesis is used to represent primary care EHR.

Administrative data are generated as a by-product of operating health services, and include hospital inpatient data, medical and pharmaceutical claims data, and pharmaceutical dispensing data. As these data provide comprehensive, and sometimes complete, coverage of real-world patient populations, they are increasingly being used for health research.²⁶ However, administrative data have limitations. Inpatient data contain limited information about illness severity, and are restricted in the number of diagnosed conditions recorded, potentially resulting in undercoding.²⁷⁻²⁹ Furthermore, variations in coding systems, such as the version of the ICD used, maximum allowable coding fields and differences in how conditions are defined,³⁰ pose challenges for between-country comparisons. Medical claims data differ between countries and may not include the clinical information needed to ascertain morbidities. Pharmaceutical claims and dispensing data generally lack information about indication for which medication is prescribed,³¹ posing challenges to identifying health conditions using medications that can be prescribed for differing uses.

Health surveys are used internationally for chronic disease monitoring and reporting. This information is generally collected via self-reported answers to a survey question along the lines "Have you ever been told by a doctor or other health professional that you have *(specific health condition)*?"¹² The list of conditions is usually short, capturing most prevalent diseases, sometimes of weak clinical specificity,¹² with responses prone to recall bias. These can lead to underestimation of chronic conditions and multimorbidity.

Bringing together information from multiple data sources can help enhance capture of multimorbidity and help overcome the disadvantages of single data sources outlined above. Administrative data sources have increasingly been linked together and with other data sources to provide a unique opportunity for research to generate evidence for complete population groups and track their outcomes over long time periods. This thesis leverages the power of linked data sources to explore the effects of multimorbidity and aspects of patient complexity on patient outcomes.

2.1.1.3 How many conditions are measured?

The lists of conditions used to define multimorbidity vary between studies,³² due not only to the broader or narrower range of chronic diseases, that are formally diagnosed, but also to the variable inclusion of risk factors for developing disease and symptoms experienced by patients.¹³ The lists of conditions used in multimorbidity literature comprise between four^{33, 34} and 147³⁵ conditions. A systematic review of 21 prevalence studies of multimorbidity in primary care or the general population by Fortin et al.³² reported that a minimum of 5 conditions in primary care and 7 in the general population were used. The authors³² suggested that a minimum of 12 conditions be used for the estimation of multimorbidity as more homogeneity in the prevalence estimates was observed in studies that used at least 12 conditions.

A systematic review by Diederichs et al.¹⁴ of 39 weighted multimorbidity indices using selfreported, physician reports, medical records and administrative data, reported that these included a median number of 14 conditions, with the majority of indices (87%) including between 6 and 25 chronic conditions. The authors concluded that at least 11 diagnoses (cancer, diabetes, depression, hypertension, myocardial infarction, chronic ischaemic heart disease, hart arrhythmias, heart insufficiency, stroke, COPD and arthritis) should be used in studies based on administrative data relying on International Classification of Disease (ICD) coded diagnoses, due to their high prevalence in inpatient and outpatient settings.¹⁴

The lack of uniformity in the list of conditions used has made comparisons between studies and populations difficult, resulting in calls to standardise methods to allow valid intra-study comparisons.³⁶ Comparison of multimorbidity prevalence estimates generated from different data collections for the same sample of individuals and the same set of chronic conditions is lacking, and this knowledge gap is addressed in **Chapter 5**.

2.1.1.4 How are multimorbidity measures constructed?

A variety of measures are used to identify multimorbidity. Simple counts of conditions are often presented as just the number of a select set of conditions, or dichotomised into patients being classified as multimorbid (e.g. two or more conditions) or not. Indices usually have conditions selected based on their impact on outcomes such as mortality, quality of life and resource utilisation, and can be presented in different formats (e.g. counts, individual conditions, a weighted score).³⁷ The choice of the measure is largely

Chapter 2: Introduction

guided by availability of data,^{10, 12} the purpose for measurement and the outcomes of interest.

Indices used for measurement of multimorbidity in community and primary care settings are many, varied and growing over time. A 2012 systematic review¹⁸ of 194 articles identified 17 different measures of multimorbidity for use in these settings, with measures performing differently for different outcomes. A 2020 systematic review,³⁸ in the same setting, identified 35 multimorbidity indices based on the index components of chronic conditions, medications, physiological measures, and outcomes encompassing information beyond simple counts of conditions. Both reviews highlight the need to select the measure based on the study purpose, outcome and setting in mind.

Measurement of multimorbidity using administrative data that include coded diagnoses is also varied and dependent on the outcome of interest. The most-used and best-known indices are the Charlson Index³⁹ and Elixhauser index,⁴⁰ developed to account for morbidities for specific purposes and within specific clinical populations. The Charlson Index was developed using data from *medical records* to classify comorbid conditions for use in longitudinal studies investigating prognostic burden of chronic diseases on mortality, and later adapted for use with administrative data.⁴¹ The index originally contained 19 conditions selected as significant predictors of mortality. The Elixhauser Index was developed for use with *administrative inpatient data*, containing 30 conditions associated with mortality, increased length of stay and costs.⁴⁰

The conditions included in the Charlson and Elixhauser indices differ. The Charlson Index does not contain any mental health comorbidities, which are found to be prevalent in multimorbid patients,⁴² leading to underestimation of multimorbidity. And while there is partial overlap between the two indices (Table 2.2), there are diseases that are not covered by either,¹⁹ leaving scope for the inclusion of other chronic conditions based on the relevance to the setting in which the research is carried out.

Systematic reviews of indices using administrative data^{18, 19, 41} conclude that the choice of an index should be based on the population and outcome of interest. But the choice can also be driven the purpose of the study – be it prediction or explanation.⁴³ The drive to find the best morbidity index to predict adverse patient outcomes has seen myriad papers comparing the performance of Charlson and Elixhauser indices, as well as the development of new ones. However, the choice of the multimorbidity measure used when examining associations with outcomes should be based on the measure's purpose as suggested in the

Chapter 2: Introduction

systematic reviews.^{19, 41} When no validated measure exists, or if multiple outcomes are considered within the same study, simple disease counts could be used.^{10, 18}

Measurement of multimorbidity using medication prescription data is possible using medication-based indices, such as the Rx-Risk-V.⁴⁴ The index consists of 46 comorbidity categories, with Pratt et al.⁴⁵ providing mappings to WHO's Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) Classification System for 42 morbidities for which medications can be prescribed. Although the Rx-Risk-V was shown to be a valid measure of comorbidity,⁴⁶ its use for measurement of individual chronic conditions is uncommon,⁴⁷ as medications can be prescribed for different indications.

In this thesis, a combination of simple counts and use of individual or combined indices was used to measure multimorbidity, driven by the data sources, study objectives and outcomes explored. Briefly, Chapters 4 and 5 use counts of patient reported chronic conditions, and Chapter 6 and 7 use a combination of Elixhauser and Charlson indices as they use administrative data sources. Further details on the measurement of multimorbidity are provided in **Chapter 3**.

Condition ^a	Elixhauser Index	Charlson Index
Cancer		
Lymphoma	\checkmark	
Malignancy	✓	\checkmark
Metastatic cancer	\checkmark	\checkmark
Cardiovascular/blood		
Anticoagulation/coagulopathy	\checkmark	
Cardiac arrhythmia	\checkmark	
Cerebrovascular disease		\checkmark
Congestive heart failure	✓	✓
Hypertension	\checkmark	
Myocardial infarction		\checkmark
Peripheral vascular disease	\checkmark	\checkmark
Pulmonary circulation disorders	\checkmark	
Valvular disease	✓	

Table 2.2. Comparison of Charlson and Elixhauser Index conditions

Condition ^a	Elixhauser Index	Charlson Index
Endocrine		
Diabetes	\checkmark	\checkmark
Hyperthyroidism	\checkmark	
Gastrointestinal		
Liver disease (mild)	\checkmark	\checkmark
Liver disease (severe) or failure		\checkmark
Peptic ulcer disease	\checkmark	\checkmark
Musculoskeletal/pain related		
RA/collagen vascular disorder	\checkmark	✓
Neurologic		
Dementia		✓
Epilepsy	\checkmark	
Paralysis	\checkmark	\checkmark
Parkinson's	\checkmark	
Other neurological disorders	\checkmark	
Nutrition/obesity		
Anaemia	✓	
Fluid and electrolyte disorders	\checkmark	
Obesity	\checkmark	
Weight loss	\checkmark	
Psychological/behavioural		
Alcohol abuse/dependence	✓	
Depression	\checkmark	
Drug abuse	✓	
Psychotic illness/psychoses	\checkmark	
Renal/urologic		
Renal disease/failure	✓	✓
Respiratory		
Chronic pulmonary disease	✓	✓
Miscellaneous		
HIV/AIDS	✓	✓

Table 2.2 Comparison of Charlson and Elixhauser Index conditions, cont.

^a adapted from Inacio *et al.*⁴⁸ \checkmark - included in the index
2.1.1.5 Summary of measures of multimorbidity

The measurement of multimorbidity should be driven by the purpose of the measurement, outcomes of interest, study setting and availably of data sources.¹² Table below outlines examples of multimorbidity measurement approaches and selection of instruments, adapted from Suls et al.¹²

Purpose	Setting	Example measurement options	
Prevalence	Population	National health surveys	
		National claims-based databases	
	Primary care	GP questionnaires (e.g. BEACH ¹ in Australia)	
		Patient-based questionnaires (e.g. Fortin et al ⁴⁹)	
	Acute care	CIRS ⁵⁰	
		CCI or adaptations	
		Elixhauser Index – binary or weighted score	
	Ambulatory care	ACG system	
Predictor	Guidance on the instrumer	at choice can be driven by comparisons of	
(covariate) of	discriminative performance of the models ⁵¹ (e.g., AUC for binary outcomes)		
outcomes	when more than one measure is considered.		
	Acute care	CCI	
		Elixhauser Index	
	Setting with prescription	Rx-Risk	
	medication information		
	available		
	System-wide	Combination of diagnoses-based (CCI, EI) and	
		medication-based indices (Rx-Risk)	
Comparison of	Examine interaction effects	s of covariates or use machine learning	
cumulative	approaches such as regress	ion and classification trees	
predictive ability of	System wide	Diagnoses-based (CCI, EI) or medication-based	
multimorbidity and		indices (Rx-Risk), or their combination, for	
other measures of		multimorbidity ascertainment	
patient			
complexity/severity			

Table Examples of instruments used for multimorbidity measurement

Purpose	Setting	Example measurement options
Patient prognosis	Use machine level approaches and examine prediction model performance ⁵²	
	(e.g., c-statistic) when choosing the optimal prediction model.	
	System wide	Diagnoses-based (CCI, EI) or medication-based
		indices (Rx-Risk), or their combination, for
		multimorbidity ascertainment. Binary or
		continuous forms of measurements can be used,
		with choice of function form and interactions
		with other variables decided by machine
		learning algorithm, rather than an individual.

Table Examples of instruments used for multimorbidity measurement, cont.

ACG – Adjusted Clinical Groups, CCI – Charlson Comorbidity Index, CIRS – Cumulative Illness Rating Scale, EI – Elixhauser Index

2.1.2 How is multimorbidity related to health outcomes?

Despite the variation in its definition, multimorbidity is consistently found to be associated with a range of adverse health outcomes, including higher mortality,⁵³⁻⁵⁵ prolonged length of stay,^{56, 57} increased potentially preventable hospitalisations,^{58, 59} higher hospital readmission rates,⁶⁰ poorer quality of life,⁶¹⁻⁶³ increased disability,^{54, 64-66} higher health care utilisation and costs⁶⁷⁻⁷¹ and increased patient safety incidents.⁷² A range of other outcomes have also been studied in the literature, including functional decline, out-of-pocket medical costs and quality of care.¹¹

Five meta-analyses^{55, 72-75} of associations between multimorbidity and health outcomes have been published since 2015 (Table 2.3). These meta-analyses further highlight positive associations between multimorbidity and mortality,⁵⁵ frailty,⁷⁴ patient safety incidents,⁷² and risks of depressive disorder.⁷³ Inverse association was found with quality of life.⁷⁵ Collective comparison of the pooled estimates from meta-analyses (Table 2.3) indicates that the strongest relationship with adverse outcomes is for active patient safety incidents,⁷² including adverse drug events and medical complications. This is perhaps unsurprising given that multimorbidity is strongly associated with increased polypharmacy (the concurrent use of multiple medicines),⁷⁶ which can lead to adverse drug events.⁷⁷

A Delphi consensus process involving an international panel of experts⁷⁸ identified 17 outcomes for inclusion in a Core Outcome Set for Multimorbidity Research (COSmm), with health-related quality of life, mental health outcomes and mortality regarded as essential core outcomes. Other identified outcomes include patient-reported outcome

measures (PROMs), such as self-rated health, self-management behaviour, treatment burden, self-efficacy, and adherence.⁷⁸ Notably, routine collection of PROMs is still in its infancy in most health systems, limiting the current potential to explore their relationships with multimorbidity

Author	Multimorbidity	Meta-analysis pooled estimates
(number of	in association	
studies)	with	
Nunes et al.55	Mortality	HR: 1.44 (95%CI 1.34 – 1.55)
(n=26)		Multimorbidity was associated with higher mortality
		rates
Read et al.73	Depressive	RR: 2.13 (95%CI 1.62 – 2.80)
(n=40)	disorder	Risk of depressive disorder higher in multimorbid
		patients
Vetrano et al.74	Frailty	OR: 2.27 (95% CI 1.97 – 2.62)
(n=25)		Multimorbidity associated with frailty
Makovski <i>et</i>	Quality of life	Physical health: -3.27% (95%CI: -4.79%, -1.74%)
al. ⁷⁵		Mental health: -1.55% (95%CI: -2.97%, -0.13%)
(n=39)		Decreases in the measured quality of life between -
		3.27% and -1.55% per individual condition added
Panagioti <i>et al</i> . ⁷²	Patient safety	Active patient safety incidents (adverse drug events,
(n=75)	incidents	medical complications): OR 2.36 (95% CI 1.40-3.38)
		Precursors of safety incidents (prescription errors,
		medication non-adherence, poor quality of care,
		diagnostic errors): OR 1.69 (95%CI 1.36 - 2.03)
		Associations with both events for physical-mental
		morbidity, and only for active incidents in physical
		morbidity

OR - odds ratio, RR - relative risk, HR - hazard ratio

2.1.3 What is the relationship between multimorbidity and frailty?

Frailty is a condition that is characterised by a decline in functioning, accompanied by increased vulnerability to stressors from the accumulated consequences of morbidities or their treatments.^{79, 80} As for multimorbidity, standardised measurement of frailty is lacking in research and clinical practice. At least 65 frailty measurement instruments exist,⁸¹ the two most commonly used being the frailty phenotype developed by Fried et al.⁸² and the frailty

index developed by Rookwood and Mitnitksi et al.⁸³ Most of the instruments are based on clinical assessments requiring functional measurements, supplemented with patient questionnaires,⁸¹ which are not routinely recorded in EHRs.⁸⁴ Regardless of the measure used, frail individuals have been shown to have an increased risk of adverse outcomes such as falls and fractures, hospitalisation and mortality.⁸⁴

Population-based studies of frailty have been lacking due to the time- and resourceintensive nature of measuring frailty. However, five new frailty measurement tools using administrative data have been developed since 2016.85 Two of these have been validated independently – the electronic Frailty Index (eFI) by Clegg et al.⁸⁶ and the hospital frailty risk score (HFRS) by Gilbert et al.⁸⁷ The eFI was developed using routine primary care electronic health record data, while HFRS was developed in an inpatient setting. Validation studies found fair agreement between the Fried Index and HFRS (correlation 0.41, 95% CI 0.38 - 0.47),⁸⁷ and moderate agreement between the Fried Index and eFI (correlation 0.51, 95% CI 0.42 – 0.59).⁸⁸ The eFI is currently used in UK primary care to screen for frailty, but deficiencies in the capture of GP patient diagnoses using standardised software in other countries restrict its use internationally.⁸⁹ HFRS, on the other hand, uses ICD-10 codes to measure patients' risk of frailty, and has seen a larger uptake in the literature, with 214 citations since its publication in 2018 (source: PubMed search). Two recent systematic reviews of the claims-based frailty indices using administrative data, by Shashikumar et al.⁸¹ and Nghiem et al.⁸⁵, show association between frailty and outcomes including mortality, hospitalisation, prolonged lengths of stay, readmissions and daily self-care activities independent of multimorbidity.

Multimorbidity and frailty are sometimes used interchangeably,^{9,90} but they are recognised as two distinct entities.⁹¹ A recent systematic review by Vetrano et al.⁷⁴ indicated that the two concepts are related, with most frail individuals being multimorbid, but fewer multimorbid individuals being frail. Patients with co-occurring multimorbidity and frailty are likely to have complex care needs,⁹ resulting in the recommendation for assessing frailty in people with multimorbidity.⁹² The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) *Multimorbidity: Clinical assessment and management* guideline suggestions for frailty assessment in primary and outpatient settings include physical assessments of gait speed, or screening tools such as Program of Research to Integrate Services for the Maintenance of Autonomy (PRISMA-7).^{92, 93} In tertiary settings, however, frailty assessments are not

frequently carried out,⁸⁵ potentially failing to identify at-risk patients in need of further targeted health services.

Co-occurring frailty and multimorbidity is shown to have additive or synergistic effects on health outcomes in studies^{90, 94-96} using the Fried definition for assessing frailty, gathered using patient questionnaires. However, studies examining interactions between frailty and multimorbidity in acute care settings, independent of patient-report, are lacking. The gap in knowledge about the interaction effects of frailty and multimorbidity in acute settings using population-level data is addressed in **Chapter 6**.

2.2 Multimorbidity in Australia

2.2.1 Overview of the Australian health system

Australia's health system is complex, including a mix of public and private hospitals, primary health care services (including GPs in private practice and allied health care services) and referred medical services (including specialist services).⁹⁷ These services are paid for and delivered by the Australian or state and territory governments, private health insurers, not-for-profit organisations and patient out-of-pocket costs.⁹⁷ The cost of health services amounts to 10% of the Australian gross domestic product, totalling \$195.7 billion in 2018-19.⁹⁸

Australia's universal health insurance scheme, Medicare, pays rebates for primary health services and some hospital services for privately insured patients through the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS), and provides access to free hospital services for public patients in public hospitals.⁹⁹ MBS records claims of subsidised services by GPs, specialists, allied health professionals and dental professionals.¹⁰⁰ To be eligible for a subsidy, consultations with allied health and dental professionals are generally coordinated by GPs as part of multidisciplinary team care arrangement for people with chronic conditions, with a limited number of claims allowed per year. Services not covered by Medicare, such as ambulance services, most dental and optical services, and accommodation and theatre costs for private hospitals, are covered by private health insurers and patient out-of-pocket costs, with cover options including hospital and/or general treatment services. In December 2019, 44% of Australians had some form of private hospital cover and 53% had general treatment cover.¹⁰¹ Australia's universal health care also subsidises a variety of prescription medications under the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS).

Primary health care

Australian primary health care consists of a variety of providers across public, private and non-government sectors¹⁰² with a total of 609,021 registered practitioners, including 101,841 medical practitioners, 344,941 nurses and midwives, 21,307 dental practitioners, 25,845 pharmacists and 549 Aboriginal health workers.¹⁰³ Australian patients can choose their own general practitioners (GPs), who are primarily paid on a fee-for-service basis through the MBS.¹⁰⁴ Primary Health Care networks (independent primary health care organisations) were established in 2015 with an aim to increase efficiency and effectiveness of medical services and improve care coordination.¹⁰⁵

Information about chronic disease in Australian primary care data is varied. Capture of chronic disease is lacking in claims-based datasets such as the MBS, which primarily record billing information (e.g. type of service provided) with no information about the patient reason for encounter documented in the dataset. This information is present in the EHRs, which are used by most GPs.¹⁰⁶ However there is no current integration between MBS and EHR data, hindering Australian research into multimorbidity using primary health care data sets.

Other examples of Australian general practice datasets include data held in the NPS MedicineInsight program,¹⁰⁶ Primary Health Networks, and academic departments of general practice.¹⁰⁷ These data are not linked between service providers, or with other datasets, and are restricted to specific geographic areas or GP practices, limiting their use for longitudinal studies of multimorbidity.

Hospital services

Australian hospitals play an important role in the health system, providing services to admitted (hospitalised) and non-admitted patients (emergency department presentations and outpatient clinic attendance). Australia has 1350 public and private hospitals, with 11.5 million hospitalisations and \$74 billion in expenditure in 2018-19.¹⁰⁸ New South Wales (NSW) is Australia's most populous state with 8 million residents in 2018¹⁰⁹ served by 221 public and 210 private hospitals.¹¹⁰

A formal admission to a hospital is deemed an admitted patient service, or hospitalisation, and includes both same-day admissions and stays of one or more nights. Hospitalisations are classified as acute (medical, surgical, other), subacute (e.g. rehabilitation, palliative care), or non-acute (e.g. maintenance for a person suffering limitations due to a health condition),⁹⁷ and can be classified by the urgency status – emergency/unplanned, elective/planned or not assigned.

2.2.2 Australian health data collections

Australia has a plethora of health data, collected routinely through contacts with numerous health services, which can be used for health monitoring and research purposes. Each of these can play a role in filling the evidence gaps around development and progression of multimorbidity. Examples of the currently available Australian data can be summarised into categories of the common sources of health data – administrative data, clinical registries, population surveys and longitudinal cohorts (Table 2.4). Data features and their advantages and disadvantages are described in separate sections that follow.

Source	Description	Conditions	Coverage
Administrative data source	ces		
State/territory-based	Census of all inpatient	ICD-10-AM diagnoses	State/territory,
hospital datasets**	separations from NSW		collected by health
	public and private		departments in each
	hospitals, multipurpose		state/territory
	services, and day		
	procedure centres.		
National Hospital	Compilation of inpatient	ICD-10-AM diagnoses	National, supplied
Morbidity Database	records from		based on National
(NHMD)	state/territory-based		Minimum Data Set for
	hospital datasets		admitted patient care,
			supplied by states and
			territories
PBS**	Data captured after a	Contains information on the	National
	prescribed medicine has	medicines dispensed (e.g. item	
	been dispensed and	and anatomic therapeutic	
	subsidised by the PBS	chemical [ATC] codes), but	
		does not contain indication	
		for which medication is	
		prescribed	

Table 2.4 Examples of Australian health data sources for chronic disease monitoring and research

Table 2.4. Examples of Australian health data sources for chronic disease monitoring and research, *cont*.

Source	Description	Conditions	Coverage
MBS Registries	Records claims for subsidised services by GPs, specialists, pathology clinics etc	Clinical information (diagnoses, test results) not provided in the dataset	National
Australian Cancer Database ¹¹¹	Data collection of all primary, malignant cancers diagnosed in Australia	No chronic disease information collected, but detailed tumour information present	National (from 1982)
Australian and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry ¹¹²	Clinical quality registry collecting information relating to the outcomes of treatment of patients with end stage renal failure	Chronic lung disease, coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, hepatitis, other comorbid disease (coded using ICD-10)	Australia and New Zealand (from 1977)
Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry**¹¹³	Clinical quality registry collecting information for individuals receiving joint replacement surgery	No chronic disease information collected. ASA and BMI collected since 2015.	National (since 2002)
National (insulin treated) Diabetes register ¹¹⁴	Collects information about people who use insulin as part of their treatment for diabetes	Thalassaemia, hypothyroidism, hyperthyroidism, wolfram syndrome, Addison disease, ovarian failure, polycystic ovarian syndrome, cystic fibrosis, depression, anxiety, anorexia, bulimia, other eating disorder, autism, epilepsy, angina, acute myocardial infarction, heart failure, stroke, peripheral vascular disease, Down syndrome, Turner Syndrome, Klinefelter syndrome	National (since 2013)

Table 2.4.	Examples of Aust	ralian health da	ata sources for	r chronic dise	ease monitoring and
research, co	ont.				

Source	Description	Conditions	Coverage
Australasian Cardiac outcomes registry ¹¹⁵ Surveys	Clinical Quality Registry that records information on cardiac procedures and devices	Stoke, transient ischaemic attack, peripheral arterial disease, chronic lunch disease, hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, smoking, as well as clinical frailty score and range of clinical data	Australia and New Zealand
National Health Survey (ABS)	Collects information about health of Australians including health conditions, risk factors	Arthritis, asthma, back problems, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cardiovascular disease, diabetes and mental health conditions + kidney disease and osteoporosis from 2017	National 1989-90, 1995, 2004-05, 2007-08, 2011-12, 2014-15, 2017-18
NSW Adult population health survey (NSW Health)	Provides ongoing information on self-reported health status, health risk factors, health service use, and satisfaction with health services	Asthma, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, mental health	State, yearly from 1996
BEACH	National study of GP clinical activity	Up to 4 problems managed by the GP recorded per patient, classified using ICPC-2 classification	National, yearly, 1996 – 2016
Longitudinal stud	ies		
45 and Up Study**	Cohort study of NSW patients aged 45 and over, with consent to link to health care datasets	Cancer, heart disease, hypertension, stroke, diabetes, asthma, depression, anxiety, Parkinson's, thrombosis	State, NSW (n=267,000) recruited between 2006 – 2009
ALSWH	Examines health and wellbeing of Australian women across the life course. Data linkage to other health datasets available	Diabetes, heart disease, hypertension, stroke, thrombosis, asthma, cancer, osteoporosis, depression, anxiety, other psychiatric disorder, arthritis, osteoarthritis, bronchitis, rheumatoid arthritis	National (n=58,000) women, recruited from 1996

Table 2.4.	Examples	of Australian	health data	sources for	chronic	disease	monitoring	and
research, a	ont.							

Source	Description	Conditions	Coverage
HILDA	Nationally representative	Arthritis/osteoporosis, asthma,	National
	household survey focusing on	cancer, chronic bronchitis	(n=17,000 yearly)
	social and economic	emphysema, diabetes, depression,	recruited since
	information. Chronic	anxiety, other mental illness,	2001
	conditions reported in some	heart disease, hypertension, other	
	waves	serious circulatory condition	
ALSA	Studies how social, biomedical	Asthma, angina, arthritis, 11	State, South
	and environmental factors are	cancers, chronic bronchitis,	Australia
	associated with ageing in	diabetes, gastrointestinal ulcer,	(n=2,087)
	persons aged 40 and over	heart attack, heart condition,	recruited from
		hypertension, hiatus hernia,	1992
		mental disorder, osteoporosis	
		stroke	

** Used in the thesis, ALSA – Australian longitudinal study of ageing, ALSWH – Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health, ASA – American Society of Anaesthesiologists, BEACH - Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health, BMI – Body Mass index, HILDA – Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia, ICPC-2 – International Classification of Primary Care Second edition, MBS – Medicare Benefits Scheme, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

Administrative data

Inpatient data

Episode-level information from admitted patient encounters in public and private hospitals is collected by each Australian state and territory. This data is also compiled into the National Hospital Morbidity Database (NHMD), based on a National Minimum Data Set. Hospital inpatient data usually includes patient demographics, administrative data, diagnoses, procedures and external causes of injury and poisoning.¹¹⁶ Diagnoses and external causes are coded using ICD-10 Australian modification (ICD-10-AM) by trained medical coders using medical records, at patient discharge. The Australian Coding Standards (ACS) support the coding conventions of ICD-10-AM,¹¹⁷ and govern when and how a diagnosis is recorded for a particular patient episode.

Administrative data provide an objective way of examining multimorbidity and how it relates to health outcomes at the person-level and health-service provider level. The

advantage of these data is their size, coverage, cost effectiveness and ability to support longitudinal studies.^{12, 118} However, they do not capture conditions not significantly affecting patient management, leaving these data prone to underestimating disease¹¹⁹ particularly due to their reliance on clinician notes with varying levels of documentation.¹²⁰ Exploration of variability in the recording of single and multiple chronic conditions between Australian hospitals is lacking, and this issue is addressed in **Chapter 4**.

Under-ascertainment of chronic disease using ICD-10-AM codes can potentially be improved with the inclusion of supplementary codes for chronic conditions ('U' codes), which has been implemented in Australia through their inclusion in the ACS since July 2015. A list of 29 clinically important conditions (Table 2.5), which had not previously met the criteria for coding additional diagnoses,¹²¹ are now being coded when documented as being present during an episode of admitted care.¹²² These 'U' codes are sequenced after all other ICD-10-AM codes and are not included in the Diagnosis Related Group (DRG) allocation. The impact of the inclusions of these supplementary codes on the ascertainment of multimorbidity is investigated in **Chapter 7**.

Diseases of the nervous system	Diseases of the respiratory system
Parkinson's disease	Emphysema
Multiple sclerosis	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
Epilepsy	Asthma
Cerebral palsy	Bronchiectasis
Tetraplegia, paraplegia, diplegia, monoplegia,	Chronic respiratory failure
hemiplegia	
Disorders of musculoskeletal system and	Mental and behavioural disorders
connective tissue	
Rheumatoid arthritis	Dementia
Arthritis and osteoarthritis	Schizophrenia
Systemic lupus erythematosus	Depression
Osteoporosis	Disorders of intellectual development
Diseases of the respiratory system	Diseases of the digestive system
Ischaemic heart disease	Crohn's disease
Chronic heart failure	Ulcerative colitis
Hypertension	Chronic liver failure

 Table 2.5 Australian supplementary codes for chronic conditions

Endocrine, nutritional and metabolic	Congenital malformations, deformities and
disease	chromosomal abnormalities
Obesity	Spina bifida
Cystic fibrosis	Down's syndrome
Diseases of genitourinary system	
Chronic kidney disease, stage 3-5	

Table 2.5 Australian supplementary codes for chronic conditions, cont.

Claims-based data

As discussed in section 2.2.1, MBS data record claims for subsidised medical care delivered by GPs, specialists, allied health professionals and dental professionals.¹⁰⁰ MBS only captures services that attract a subsidy, leaving uncaptured other services such as those provided by community-controlled health centres, most dental services, those rendered free-of-charge by hospitals and services qualifying for a benefit under Department of Veterans' Affairs.¹²³

MBS data items include information about dates of services provision, fees and subsidies paid, service provider information and type of service claimed, identified by item description, grouping similar professional services together. MBS includes specific chronic disease management items (such as diabetes cycle of care) for measuring service use,¹²⁴ but in general they cannot be used for estimating the prevalence of health conditions due to the lack of clinical information in the database.

PBS data contain information about subsidised claims for prescribed medicines. Before 2012, the data captured claims for which a full government subsidy was paid, leaving medicines falling below a co-payment threshold uncaptured. From 1 April 2012, claims for medicines under the co-payment threshold were recorded in the PBS data collection.¹²⁵ PBS data include medicine details (including PBS item code and Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) codes), dates of dispensing, quantity supplied, costs, and prescriber information (e.g. scrambled identifier; speciality). Reasons for prescribing are not captured, leaving patient diagnosis uncertain for drugs with multiple indications for prescribing.

Clinical registries

Registry-based collections refer to a central repository of information that is collected when certain diseases or conditions of interests are diagnosed, or certain procedures are performed. Clinical quality registries (CQR) monitor quality of care, by collecting and analysing clinical data and patient outcomes within specific clinical domains,^{126, 127} with 40 CQRs currently operating in Australia.¹²⁸ CQR differ in patient capture, reliability of coding conditions and interventions, completeness of data and reliability and validation of captured information,¹²⁸ potentially limiting their use for broader multimorbidity research. Integration of CQR data into national and jurisdictional datasets is a vision for the first Australian National Clinical Quality Registry and Virtual Registry Strategy 2020-2030,¹²⁷ although to date access to and integration of CQR data has been limited. An example of the potential impact of supplementing multimorbidity measured using administrative data with CQR data is presented in **Chapter 7**.

Surveys and longitudinal studies

In the Australian setting, national and state-based surveys are currently used to monitor the prevalence of selected conditions in the general population. The data for monitoring are gathered via the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) National Health Survey using patient self-report. Conditions monitored include arthritis, asthma, back problems, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, mental health conditions,¹²⁴ and from 2018 chronic kidney disease and osteoporosis.¹²⁹ These data have an advantage of providing national estimates of chronic disease prevalence, and can be used to examine trends over time to provide evidence of impacts of health policy changes¹³⁰ or interventions. However, they capture only a small subset of most prevalent chronic diseases, leading to underestimation of multimorbidity.¹²

BEACH was a continuous national study of GP activity between 1996 and 2016, sampling 1000 GPs per year, and recording information about GP practice and patient encounters, including reasons for encounter, problems managed, and management provided.³ These data provided a rich source of patient encounters, and were used to derive prevalence of multimorbidity in the Australian primary care setting. However, the data were crosssectional in nature and did not provide information about longitudinal patient outcomes.¹³¹ BEACH closed in June 2016.³

Longitudinal studies provide a means of investigating disease trajectories, clusters, and their associated outcomes, especially if such data are linked to administrative data bases, which is the case for two major Australian cohort studies: the 45 and Up study¹³² and the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health (ALSWH).^{133, 134} These also allow for the exploration of the role of behavioural risk factors and social determinants of health in the development of chronic conditions and multimorbidity. However, longitudinal studies generally only capture information on a limited number of chronic conditions, and they may not be representative of the general population.

Linkage across data collections

Data linkage brings together information from multiple data sources on the same individual or event and provides a rich source of the information about the population. Linkage across data collections enables health services and policy research, which can contribute to health improvements.¹³⁵ The linkage is performed by accredited bodies, using best practice protocols¹³⁶ for preservation of individual privacy and protection of data confidentiality.

In Australia, the capacity for data linkage has increased dramatically in recent years, with State and Commonwealth government investment in data linkage capacity, establishment of the Population Health Research Network (PHRN), building of nationwide data linkage infrastructure – including six State/Territory data linkage units and the national data linkage unit at the Australian institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). State-based linkage units use probabilistic matching and clerical review to create master linkage keys,¹³⁷ which are continuously updated links of a variety of datasets including births, deaths, inpatient hospitalisation, emergency department presentations, cancer registrations and a variety of other datasets. Additional datasets, not routinely contained in the master linkage keys, can be linked for research and policy purposes, with approvals from data custodians and Human Research Ethics Committees (HRECs).

The use of linked data in multimorbidity research has its advantages. While administrative data collections, clinical registries, and health surveys each provide some context on multimorbidity, linking these data together provides a way of broadening our knowledge about multimorbidity even further, allowing us to fill existing information gaps across epidemiology and the healthcare utilisation spectrum as well as examine longitudinal assessment of outcomes.

This thesis harnesses the power of linked administrative, longitudinal and registry data to explore multimorbidity in Australia from an administrative data perspective, given the gap in availability of primary health care data.

2.2.3 Chronic conditions and multimorbidity in Australia

Chronic conditions account for the majority of total burden of disease in Australia (measured using disability adjusted life years), with coronary heart disease, back pain and problems, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), dementia and lung cancer causing the most burden.¹³⁸

Chronic conditions are the major cause of death and disability, accounting for 9 in 10 deaths in 2018, and contributing to around 61% of the total burden of disease in Australia in 2015.^{124, 139} In 2015-16 the management of cardiovascular, musculoskeletal, mental and substance use disorders, and cancer cost the health system \$40 billion, a third of the total health expenditure.¹⁴⁰ The Australian Burden of Disease 2015 study¹³⁸ estimated that 38% of the burden of disease is attributable to modifiable risk factors: smoking, overweight and obesity, alcohol and physical inactivity.

There is longstanding history of tracking the prevalence of chronic conditions in the community. Monitoring and reporting on chronic conditions, risk factors and health outcomes in the Australian population has been ongoing since 1996, with individual states and territories undertaking population health surveys since early 1990.¹⁴¹ The ABS National Health Survey estimates that just under half (47%) of the Australian general population had at least one health condition in 2017-18, rising to 80% in those aged 65 and over.¹³⁹

General population estimates of multimorbidity prevalence have only recently started to be reported by the AIHW. These are based on the ten conditions reported in the ABS National Health Survey. A 2020 report estimated that 20% of Australians had two or more chronic conditions, with females of all ages and older people having higher prevalence of multimorbidity.¹³⁹ This estimate is even higher when more conditions are included in the morbidity list, with population-weighted BEACH study results estimating 30.6% of the general population experience multimorbidity.¹⁴²

Most care for chronic conditions is managed in the primary care setting. Australian estimates of prevalence of multimorbidity in primary care settings derived from the BEACH data show that close to half (47%) patients attending general practice have

multimorbidity and 27% have complex multimorbidity (three or more conditions affecting three or more body systems¹⁴³),¹⁴² further highlighting the growing importance multiple chronic diseases have on individuals and health services.

2.2.4 Australian studies of multimorbidity

A literature search of the Australian studies on multimorbidity (search terms (Multimorbid*(Title/Abstract)) AND (Australia*(Title/Abstract)) from 1996 to January 2021 via PubMed found 164 articles, with 55 specifically examining multimorbidity (Appendix 1, Table 1), 29 studies on multimorbidity with index disease focus (comorbidity) (Appendix 1, Table 2), and the remaining studies referring to the concept without a specific focus on multimorbidity. Studies that I authored were not included in the summary of findings below.

Of the 55 studies on multimorbidity, 41 (75%) were quantitative, 4 qualitative and 10 were review studies, with topics including outcomes (n=23), disease clusters/patterns (n=11), prevalence (n=7), intervention/management (n=6) and other topics (Figure 2.3). Only a small proportion of studies (n=6, 15%) used linked data sources.¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁹

Figure 2.3 Summary of research topics in 55 Australian studies of multimorbidity, 1996 – 2021



The most frequently used data sources for the Australian studies on multimorbidity are shown in Table 2.6. The studies varied in terms of sample demographics, setting and size. Half of the 41 qualitative studies on multimorbidity were done among people aged 45 years and over. The most common setting was the general population (n=25, 61% studies), followed by primary health practices (n=12, 29%) and tertiary settings (n=5, 13%). Heterogeneity in sample sizes was observed, with sizes ranging from 17^{146} to $351,471^{145}$ patients, the median number of participants being 6,776 across studies. Most studies (90%) included fewer than 50,000 participants, with largest studies using administrative data sources internally linked (i.e., within the same dataset) or linked with at least one other data set.

Table 2.6 Data sources used in 41 quantitative Australian studies on multimorbidity, 1996- 2021 PubMed search

Data source	Sample size	Number of
		publications
Trial, RCT	351 – 1,281	5 150-154
Surveys		
Australian National Survey of Mental Health and	8,841	1 ¹⁵⁵
Wellbeing		
BEACH	8,707 - 43,501	4 142, 143, 156, 157
GP attendee survey	7,620	1 158
National Seniors	2,540 - 4,574	3 159-162
South Australian Omnibus Survey	2,912	1 163
South Australian Monitoring and Surveillance	36,663	1 ¹⁶⁴
System		
WORC	78,000	1 165
Longitudinal studies		
45 Up Study	53,867 – 229,964	2 144, 146
ALSWH	8,865 - 10,334	5 147, 166-169
СНАМР	1,464	1 170
FAMAS	2,039	1 171
HILDA	5,532 – 17,529	4 172-176
NWAHS	696 – 1,854	2 176, 177

Table 2.6 Data sources used in 41 quantitative Australian studies on multimorbidity, 1996- 2021 PubMed search

Data source	Sample size	Number of
		publications
Administrative data		
Hospital data (emergency department, inpatient)	38,156 - 229,964	3 144, 148, 149
MBS	2,039 - 229,964	3 144, 146, 171
Medical records	17 – 64,474	6 149, 178-182
PBS	10,334 - 351,471	4 144, 146, 147, 183

ALSWH – Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health, BEACH – Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health, CHAMP – Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project, FAMAS – Florey Adelaide Male Ageing Study, HILDA – Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme, MBS – Medicare Benefits Schedule, NWAHS - North West Adelaide Longitudinal Health Study, WORC – Australian Work Outcomes Research Cost-benefit

Longitudinal studies were commonly used, with ALSWH and Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) used most frequently. Administrative data were predominantly used in longitudinal studies involving data linkage, apart from two studies which used a 10% sample of national PBS data¹⁸³ or hospitalisation data,¹⁴⁸ without linkage to other data sources. None of the studies was conducted using whole of population data for Australia or an Australian state or territory.

The studies varied in terms of sample demographics, setting and size. Half of the 41 qualitative studies on multimorbidity were done among people aged 45 years and over. The most common setting was the general population (n=25, 61% studies), followed by primary health practices (n=12, 29%) and tertiary settings (n=5, 13%). Heterogeneity in sample sizes was observed, with sizes ranging from 17^{179} to $351,471^{183}$ patients, the median number of participants being 6,776 across studies. Most studies (90%) included fewer than 50,000 participants, with largest studies using administrative data sources internally linked (i.e., within the same dataset) or linked with at least one other data set.

The measures of multimorbidity used varied among the Australian studies, as with the international literature. Chronic disease ascertainment in Australian studies was usually done via patient self-report (n=26, 63% studies), with a third of the studies using

classification systems of either diagnoses (n=9) or medications (n=4) (Appendix 1, Table 1) using information from electronic medical records¹⁴⁹ or administrative datasets. ^{144, 146, 148} The number of recorded chronic diseases ranged between 3 and 60, the median number of chronic conditions being 13 (IQR: 11 - 21), including chronic diseases and risk factors.

Australian multimorbidity studies have examined a variety of outcomes, most frequently health-related quality of life, health service utilisation and functional status (Appendix 1, Table 3). Outcomes measures were mainly ascertained using patient self-report, except in seven studies^{144, 146-149, 169, 171} that used linked data. Despite mortality being regarded as one of the three core outcomes for studies in multimorbidity (COSmm)⁷⁸, it was reported in only one Australian study¹⁶⁹ found in the literature review.

Australian literature gaps around the lack of information using population-level datasets and examination of mortality, and other adverse patient outcomes are addressed in **Chapters 6 and 7**.

2.2.5 Use of multimorbidity within Australian policy settings

The rising prevalence of chronic disease around the world has led to development of a variety of strategies to guide policy reform. Internationally, the World Health Organisation (WHO) Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases (NCDs) 2013–2020¹⁸⁴ aims to reduce the NCD burden by 2025, via a set of nine global targets and 25 indicators.¹⁸⁵ Internationally, specific guidelines on multimorbidity are rare, except for the UK⁹ NICE *Multimorbidity: Clinical assessment and management*⁹² clinical guidelines for optimising care for adults with multimorbidity.⁹

In the Australian setting, prevention and better management of chronic conditions to improve health outcomes is supported by the National Strategic Framework for Chronic Conditions¹⁸⁶ in conjunction with chronic disease policies on the national, state and territory levels, and other international and national policies and programs.¹⁸⁶ Australia lacks specific guidelines on multimorbidity,¹⁸⁷ but comorbidity is often discussed in the context of disease-specific guidelines.¹⁸⁸

Multimorbidity is on the Australian national health policy agenda and is increasingly being monitored for healthcare planning and evaluation. The concept is embedded into the National Strategic Framework for Chronic Conditions within its approach to move away from a disease-specific focus to a broader focus on shared health determinants, risk factors

and multimorbidity across chronic conditions.¹⁸⁶ One of the three broad objectives of the Framework is the 'Provision of efficient, effective and appropriate care to support people with chronic conditions to optimise quality of life', with the aim of people experiencing fewer complications, multimorbidity or disabilities with chronic conditions.¹⁸⁶ Example indicators of success include tracking the prevalence of chronic condition multimorbidity and reducing unplanned hospital readmissions for chronic conditions, both of which are discussed below.

Measurement of chronic conditions for national-level monitoring in Australia is currently being reviewed. Definitions of chronic conditions and their measurement for collective monitoring using Australian data are being evaluated by the newly established National Centre for Monitoring Chronic Conditions at AIHW. As mentioned previously, current estimates of the prevalence of chronic conditions and multimorbidity are derived using a list of ten chronic conditions captured from the ABS National Health Survey, which can underestimate the true burden of multimorbidity. A recent AIHW report¹²⁴ highlights the possibilities of enhancing chronic condition monitoring via linkage of information from multiple data sources, including administrative health data. This thesis highlights the capabilities of administrative data in **Chapters 4-7**.

Measuring multimorbidity is also critical for broader evaluation of the Australian health system. A variety of indicators are used for public reporting and performance monitoring, which require some form of adjustment for patient's risk of adverse outcomes. For example, the national core, hospital-based indicator specification by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC)¹⁸⁹ includes specifications for mortality and readmissions, with state-based agencies (such as the NSW Bureau of Health Information and the Victorian Agency for Health Information) using their own set of indicators. All indicators are risk-adjusted for patient mix, usually adjusting for patient-level factors known to influence outcomes, such as age, sex and medical morbidities, with mental health and functional status sometimes included as well.¹⁹⁰

Morbidity measures are usually derived using inpatient administrative data sources and use either specific conditions or indices to correct for confounding. However, this adjustment may not always sufficiently control for patient complexity, for example with medical morbidities being better able to predict mortality than in predicting readmissions.¹⁸⁴ There may be additional patient characteristics and markers of patient complexity that also contribute to patient outcomes such as readmissions, which complement and refine the way we consider multimorbidity. This concept is explored in **Chapter 6** via the inclusion of frailty, and in **Chapter 7** through the inclusion of clinical registry data.

2.3 Thesis contribution

The Australian health data landscape is changing. Increasing access to the national linked data sources and methods to improve capture of chronic disease information are paving the way to utilising the power of big data to explore multimorbidity and its outcomes. This will provide crucial information to inform health system policy responses and monitor the effectiveness of these.

In this thesis, I will demonstrate how linked administrative health databases can be used to measure multimorbidity, how multimorbidity relates to the associated measure of frailty, and the impact of these on patients' health outcomes. In doing so, I will highlight how the power of big data can be used to address gaps in what we understand about patients with multimorbidity in Australia, broadening the scope of knowledge from small-sample community to population-level research, and illustrating how measurement of multimorbidity can be supplemented with other measures of patient complexity.

CHAPTER 3

Methods

This thesis presents a series of analytical studies using administrative data exploring the measurement of multimorbidity and outcomes in older patients. This chapter provides the rationale for quantitative methods used in these studies. Specifically, it covers the use of routinely collected linked health data, followed by an overview of the construction of the key variables and outcomes used in statistical modelling, and details of the main types of analyses used in the studies. Whilst each of the studies (Chapters 4 - 7) includes a full description of the methods used, this chapter supplements those descriptions by giving an overview of the different datasets and methods, and provides more comprehensive information about the data sources, data management and cleaning, and definitions of exposure and outcome variables. Rather than replicating the information included in the methods within each published study, this chapter aims to consolidate and extend the information already presented in Chapters 4 - 7.

3.1 Datasets

This thesis uses multiple data sources to address the main study objectives, including administrative data, registry data and survey datasets. These datasets were sourced within several projects, each using different data, study populations and periods of availability. An outline of the key datasets used in each of the Studies is presented in Table 3.1. Full details of each of the datasets and details of the broad projects within which this work is embedded are given in the sections below.

Study	NHMRC	Administrative data		Survey	Registry	
	project				data	data
		APDC	RBDM	PBS	45 Up Study	AOANJRR
		×				栢白
Study 1	APHID	✓	✓		✓	
Study 2	APHID	\checkmark	✓	✓	\checkmark	
Study 3	IHOPE	\checkmark	√			
Study 4	Surgical	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark

Table 3.1. Datasets used in the thesis

AOANJRR – Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry APDC – Admitted Patient Data Collection, APHID – Assessing Preventable Hospitalisation Indicators, IHOPE – Indigenous Health Outcomes Patient Evaluation, RBDM – Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Schedule

3.1.1 Administrative data

Admitted Patient Data Collection (APDC)

The APDC is an administrative data collection of inpatient separations (discharges, transfers, type-changes and deaths) covering all admitted patient services provided by the NSW public and private hospitals, public psychiatric hospitals, multipurpose services and private day procedure centres. Records for all admissions in NSW hospitals are included, including those from other Australian states and territories. Records for NSW residents admitted to other non-NSW hospitals are not recorded in the dataset.

Each record represents one episode of care (EOC), with contiguous periods of stay (POS) able to be constructed from dates and a variable denoting separation mode (details are given in Section 3.2.2). APDC contains multiple patient demographic, diagnosis and procedure variables. Hospital diagnoses for each EOC are coded using International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, Tenth Revision, Australian modification (ICD-10-AM) and procedures using the Australian Classification of Health Interventions (ACHI).¹⁹¹

Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages (RBDM) deaths data

RBDM captures all deaths registered in NSW, and it contains person demographic variables and date of death only. RBDM data was used for censoring purposes in studies 1 (Chapter 4), 2 (Chapter 5) and 4 (Chapter 7) and for outcome construction in study 3 (Chapter 6).

Pharmaceutical Benefits Schedule (PBS)

The PBS database contains information on Commonwealth government subsidised claims for prescribed medicines listed on the Schedule of Pharmaceutical Benefits.¹²⁵ PBS data included date of dispensing, beneficiary status, and medicines coded using both PBS item code and Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) code.

3.1.2 Survey data

The 45 and Up Study

This study is the largest ongoing cohort study of healthy ageing in Australia, with over 265,000 men and women aged 45 and over across NSW enrolled during 2005 – 2009. About 18% of those invited participated and participants included about 11% of the NSW population aged 45 years and over.¹³² Participants completed a baseline questionnaire and consented to be followed up with regular surveys and linkage to other health data.¹³² In this thesis, only the baseline questionnaire was used (Appendix 2), and data were linked to administrative data as shown in Table 3.1.

The baseline questionnaire contains sections about participant sociodemographic factors (age, sex, country of birth, ancestry, work and relationship status, highest qualification, household income), health status (psychological distress, functional capacity, self-rated health), health behaviours (smoking, alcohol, physical activity, fruit and vegetable intake), and general health data (including disease and surgical history, medication use, family history of disease, incontinence) (full data dictionary available at https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/our-work/45-up-study/questionnaires/).

For this thesis, the key questions of interest are:

- Self-reported health conditions, ascertained from the question "Has a doctor EVER told you that you have (health condition)?";
- Self-reported smoking ascertained using the question "Are you a regular smoker now?"; and
- Obesity calculated from self-reported height ("How tall are you without shoes?) and weight ("About how much do you weigh?).

3.1.3 Registry data

Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR)

The AOANJRR collects data on individuals receiving primary and revision joint arthroplasty surgery at both public and private hospitals in Australia, with almost complete coverage (>99%).¹⁹² Data are collected via forms filled out at the time of surgery, including information on patient details (including body mass index [BMI] and American Society of Anesthesiologists [ASA] score), diagnoses, type of and reason for arthroplasty, surgical technique and components inserted.

3.1.4 NHMRC projects

This thesis uses data from three National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) funded projects, with different data sources, study populations and data availability. A brief outline of the projects and the way they are used in the Thesis is presented in Table 3.2.

Project title	Project description	Student role in the
		project, and thesis use
Assessing	The APHID Study is a partnership project with	Associate investigator
Preventable	partner organisations the Australian	APHID study used in
Hospitalisation	Commission on Safety and Quality in Health	studies 1 and 2 to
InDicators	Care (ACSQHC), the Agency for Clinical	investigate variation in
(APHID) study	Innovation (ACI), and the Bureau of Health	the measurement of
	Information (BHI) to validate preventable	common chronic
	hospitalisations as a measure of health system	conditions in the
	performance in Australia ¹⁸⁸	hospital data

Table 3.2. List of NHMRC projects

Project title	Project description	Student role in the
		project, and thesis use
Indigenous Health	The IHOPE project aims to disentangle the	Chief investigator
Outcomes Patient	contributions of the individual, the	(CIF)
Evaluation	neighbourhood and the hospital of admission	IHOPE study used in
(IHOPE) study	to risk of hospitalisation and risk of poor	study 3 to investigate
	outcomes after hospital admission, for	interactions between
	Aboriginal people in NSW compared with non-	multimorbidity and
	Aboriginal people.	frailty and their
		impacts on health
		outcomes.
Post-surgery care	The study uses linked administrative data for	Collaborator
fragmentation:	patients who had common surgical procedures	Used in study 4 to
impacts and	to investigate whether outcomes are worse for	investigate value-add
implications	patients who are readmitted to a different	of complementing
	hospital from where their surgery was done.	administrative data
		with clinical registry
		data when examining
		hospital performance

Table 3.2 List of NHMRC projects, cont.

The timeline of data availability for each thesis study is shown in Figure 3.1, stratified by NHRMC project. In each study, the core dataset used is the APDC, with RBDM used to censor individuals' times or construct outcomes. Survey and registry data are used to complement information provided in the APDC, and to allow comparisons of multimorbidity estimates between data sources.

Chapter 3: Methods

Figure 3.1. Data availability timeline



AOANJRR – Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry APDC – Admitted Patient Data Collection, RBDM – Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Schedule

3.2 Data linkage

3.2.1 Data linkage process

All Studies in this thesis use linked data, which were obtained through three separate data linkage processes, one for each of the three NHMRC projects. In each case, data linkage was performed by the NSW Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL) (<u>https://www.cherel.org.au/</u>), a trusted third party which carries out health linked data in accordance with ethical, legal and privacy protection requirements.

The CHeReL links identifying information (names, sex, addresses, date of birth) from each dataset using a probabilistic linkage algorithm via ChoiceMaker software.¹⁹⁴ The process of linking includes the calculation of a linkage likelihood or probability weight adjusting for data entry errors, spelling mistakes, incomplete and missing data using a mixture of machine learning, processing (standardising parsing, blocking), and clerical review steps. Linkage weights can be separated into links, non-links and possible links based on upper

and lower probability cut-offs. The CHeReL adjusts the cut-offs for each linkage to ensure the numbers of false positive and false negative links are minimised, with any pairs of records with linkage weights between the upper and lower cut-off points manually reviewed. The CHeReL estimate false-positive and false-negative rates of < 0.5%.¹⁹⁵

Following linkage, the CHeReL creates anonymous linkage keys that are passed to the data custodians, who attach the keys to the approved clinical and service data and forward the data to the researchers. All projects in this thesis were supplied with linkage keys attached, which provided the means of creating person-level data used in the analyses.

Details about the data sources, their date ranges and number of records within each of the datasets are given in Table 3.3.

Data source	APHID project		IHOPE project		Surgical outcomes	
					project	
	Date range	N Records	Date range	N Records	Date range	N Records
45 Up	Feb 2006 –	267,079				
	Dec 2009					
APDC	Jul 2000 –	1,761,178	Jul 2000 –	32,920,055	Jul 2001 –	39,980,770
	Dec 2013		Mar 2014		Jun 2019	
RBDM	Feb 2006 –	18,430	Jul 2000 –	643,136	Jul 2001 –	641,615
	Dec 2013		Mar 2014		Jun 2019	
PBS	Jun 2004 –	35,453,776				
	Dec 2011					
AOANJRR					Jul 2001 –	491,817
					Dec 2018	
N subjects in	study 1	32,832	study 3	257,535	study 4	16,038
Thesis	study 2	90,352				

Table 3.3. Data sources, number of records per dataset and number of subjects per study

3.2.2 Cleaning of linked data

Working with linked data requires considerable data cleaning and preparation prior to the construction of analysis datasets. In each of the Studies, I undertook data cleaning to check possible erroneous or implausible values, incorrect links, and inconsistent entries. Data cleaning steps varied between data sources and studies, with hospital data cleaning being the most common and complex of the data steps, as outlined below.

Hospital data cleaning

Potentially erroneous episode of care (EOC) records are initially flagged and then decisions were made about whether to exclude them from the analyses. The exclusions included removing persons with missing sex, admissions after date of death or death separation mode, and non-NSW residents.

More extensive cleaning and checking of APDC data was carried out in studies 3 (Chapter 6) and 4 (Chapter 7) in which APDC data was used for measurement and outcome construction (Appendix 7, Tables 7.1.1 and 7.2.1). These studies required a more in-depth evaluation of each EOC, and decisions about the use of each EOC in the measurement construction, as well as rolling up of EOCs into contiguous periods of stay (POS). A complete hospital admission is defined as the total time spent in the hospital from initial admission to hospital until discharge or death. Length of stay for each episode is calculated as a difference between episode separation and admission dates.

Figure 3.2 depicts how complete hospital admissions were constructed. Nested transfers add complexity in calculating POS, as their admission and separation dates lie within another EOC. Nested separations occur when a person is transferred from one hospital to another for a short stay (e.g. surgery) and then transferred back to the original hospital. It is important to flag these nested EOCs and use information about diagnoses and procedures performed when constructing exposure measures, with inclusion/exclusion of these EOCs dependent on the outcome of interest.

Chapter 3: Methods

Figure 3.2. Construction of hospital stays



3.3 Defining measures used in the thesis

3.3.1 Key exposures of interest

Multimorbidity

The key concept of multimorbidity is defined as having two or more chronic conditions. At the time of writing this thesis, there was no consensus on the list of chronic conditions to be used in multimorbidity measurement, with the choice of multimorbidity measurement dependant on the purpose. The inclusion of chronic conditions used in this Thesis was thus chosen based on the data source at hand, supplemented with chronic conditions lists

Chapter 3: Methods

commonly identified in systematic reviews on multimorbidity.^{196, 197} For administrative data sources, diagnoses index episodes and prior hospitalisations ('lookback') were used to ascertain chronic conditions, using the Charlson and Elixhauser Indices.¹⁹⁸

The full list of conditions used in the thesis is included in Table 3.4. Detailed rationale for their use is outlined in each published/submitted paper.

Frailty

Study 3 (Chapter 6) uses Hospital Frailty Risk Score (HFRS), a validated measure of frailty risk in hospitalised patients, developed by Gilbert et al.⁸⁷ HFRS helps identify patients with characteristics of frailty, and at risk of adverse healthcare outcomes including mortality, prolonged hospital stays and unplanned readmissions. The score, derived from a list of 109 ICD-10 diagnosis codes, has been validated in medical^{199, 200} and surgical^{201, 202} patients. It was purposefully built to be used with administrative data, and although a continuous measure (ranging from 0-99), due to its right skewness it was originally categorised into three groups: low risk (HFRS < 5), intermediate risk (HFRS 5-15) and high risk (>15).

For this thesis, the HRFS was derived using all hospital diagnoses from each EOC and 'lookback' EOCs, coded using ICD-10-AM. A lookback of two years was used in line with the original HFRS development study

Dichotomous frailty groups were used: low frailty (HFRS <5) and elevated frailty risk (HFRS≥5, combining intermediate and high frailty). Sensitivity analyses using three HFRS groups were also undertaken.

Thesis Chapter	Number of conditions	Dataset	Chronic conditions	Ascertainment
Chapter	6	45 Up	Diabetes, heart disease, hypertension, stroke	Has a doctor EVER told you that you have (condition)
4			Obesity	BMI > 30 (calculated from self-reported height and weight)
			Smoking	Are you a regular smoker now?
Chapter	8	45 Up	_ Diabetes, heart disease, hypertension, stroke, cancer, asthma,	Has a doctor EVER told you that you have (condition)
5		APDC	depression, Parkinson's disease	ICD-10-AM codes using codes from the CCI and
			_	Elixhauser Index, with advice from clinical coder
		PBS		ATC codes from Rx-Risk-V
Chapter	32	APDC	AIDS/HIV, alcohol abuse, asthma, cancer, cardiac arrhythmia,	ICD-10-AM codes using codes from the CCI and
6			CVD, chronic IHD, CKD, chronic pulmonary disease,	Elixhauser Index, supplemented with systematic reviews
			coagulopathy, CHF, dementia, depression, drug abuse, epilepsy,	
			hypertension, hypothyroidism, liver disease, MS, MI, Parkinson's	
			disease, peptic ulcer disease, peripheral vascular disease, psychoses,	
			pulmonary circulation disorders, rheumatoid arthritis, valvular	
			disease, paralysis	
Chapter	31	APDC	AIDS/HIV, alcohol abuse, blood loss anemia, cardiac arrhythmia,	ICD-10-AM codes from Elixhauser index
7			chronic pulmonary disease, coagulopathy, CHF, deficiency anemia,	
			depression, diabetes (complicated), diabetes (uncomplicated), drug	
			abuse, fluid and electrolyte disorders, hypertension (complicated),	
			hypertension (uncomplicated), hyperthyroidism, liver disease,	
			lymphoma, metastatic cancer, obesity, other neurological disorders,	
			paralysis, peptic ulcer disease, peripheral vascular disorders,	
			psychosis, pulmonary circulation disorders, renal failure, rheumatoid	
			arthritis/collagen vascular disease, solid tumor without metastasis,	
			valvular disease, weight loss	

Table 3.4. List of conditions included in multimorbidity ascertainment

3.3.2 Other risk adjustment factors

Variables used for risk adjustment purposes were determined by the data source and availability of data. For studies 1 and 2, which used survey data, and which provided more comprehensive information about patients' sociodemographic, lifestyle and health behaviours, self-report data from the 45 and Up Study baseline survey were used. Hospitallevel variables came from APDC data, either using variables provided in the dataset (e.g. hospital type, size), or derived through analysis of the data (e.g. depth of coding, aggregate number of procedures performed).

A full list of risk adjustment variables by study and data source used is outlined in Table 3.5.

Study (Chapter)	Level	Variable	Data source used
Study 1	Patient	Age, sex, highest educational attainment, country	45 Up Study
(Chapter 4)		limitation	
	Hospital	Type (public, private), peer group, depth of coding*	APDC
	Area	Remoteness of hospital*	APDC
Study 2	Patient	Age, sex, highest educational attainment,	45 and Up Study
(Chapter 5)		Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander origin,	
		country of birth, speaks language other than	
		English at home, annual household income,	
		marital status	
	Area	Remoteness of residence*	45 and Up Study
Study 3	Patient	Age, sex, number of prior admissions*	APDC
	Area	Socio-economic status*	_
	Hospital	Hospital identifier (as a random intercept)	
Study 4	Patient	Age, sex, multimorbidity*	APDC
	Patient	BMI, ASA score	AOANJRR
	Hospital	Hospital identifier (as a random intercept)	APDC

Table 3.5. Person-, area- and hospital-level variables used in risk adjustment

* Denotes user derived variables. AOANJRR - Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry, APDC – Admitted Patient Data Collection, ASA – American Society of Anaesthesiologists, BMI – Body Mass Index

3.3.3 Study outcomes

Each of the Studies uses differing outcomes in the analysis. They are briefly summarised in Table 3.6.

Table 3.6. List of outcomes used in thesis Studies

Study	Dataset(s)	Outcome	Description
Study 1	45 Up, APDC	Agreement	Agreement between self-reported data (45 Up) and APDC health condition (six conditions reported separately)
Study 2	45 Up	Multimorbidity	Two or more conditions from a list of eight, self-reported
	APDC	Multimorbidity	Two or more conditions from a list of eight, using ICD-10-AM codes
	PBS	Multimorbidity	Two or more conditions from a list of eight, using ATC codes
Study 3	APDC	Mortality	30-day mortality post admission
	APDC	Long LOS	Prolonged length of stay (>10 days)
	APDC	Readmission	30-day unplanned* readmission post
			discharge (among patients
			discharged alive)
Study 4	APDC	Readmission	30-day all-cause* readmission post
			discharge (among patients
			discharged alive)
			30-day unplanned** readmission

* Assigned using urgency status variable = 'emergency'; ** Assigned using specific ICD-10-AM diagnoses codes (Appendix 6, Table 1). APDC – Admitted Patient Data Collection, ATC – Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical, LOS – length of stay, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Schedule

3.3.4 Construction of exposure and outcomes using linked data

For studies 3 (Chapter 6) and 4 (Chapter 7), which solely rely on the use of administrative data, the construction of outcomes and key exposures of interest required extra data preparation involving longitudinal data wrangling. The basic principle is outlined in Figure 3.3 as per study design visualisation framework.²⁰³

Chapter 3: Methods

Within the available data window, each person's records were sequenced by earliest admission and separation dates to form a chronological admission trajectory. An 'index' admission was chosen to denote the EOC or POS, usually selected as the earliest admission (Chapter 7), or randomly selected within a pre-defined two-year period (Chapter 6). Outcome variables were then calculated from the index admission onwards. Exposure variables (multimorbidity and HFRS) were constructed using diagnoses from the index admission and those in the lookback periods (usually within two years prior to the index admission). Two-year lookback was chosen to pick up morbidities and risk factors not always recorded in hospital data, in line with international literature.²⁰⁴



Figure 3.3. Construction of exposure and outcome variable

- a. Hospital data exclusions based on index stay
- b. Multimorbidity using ICD-10-AM diagnoses
- c. Frailty using HFRS calculations from ICD-10 codes only (Chapter 6)
- d. Earliest of: outcome of interest (readmission, mortality), death, study end period

Figure adapted from Schneeweiss et al.²⁰³ and https://www.repeatinitiative.org/projects.html

3.4 Statistical methods

3.4.1 Overview of statistical methods

In this thesis I use standard advanced statistical methods to obtain the results. All data were analysed using SAS 9.3, with the exception of multilevel modelling for which I used MLwiN software. Broad analytic approaches used in the thesis are outlined in Table 3.7.

Study	Analytic approach used	Description
(Chapter)		
Study 1	Concordance	и with 95% CI
(Chapter 4)	Multilevel logistic regression	2-levels, reporting MOR and ICC
Study 2	Concordance and agreement	Sn, Sp, PPV, NPV, <i>κ</i> – all with 95% CI
(Chapter 5)	measures	aORs
	Logistic regression	
Study 3	Multilevel Poisson regression	2-levels, reporting aRR
(Chapter 6)		
Study 4	Stepwise single and multilevel	2-levels, reporting aRR, VPC, AUC
(Chapter 7)	logistic regression	

Table 3.7. Statistical methods used in the thesis

aRR- adjusted relative risk, AUC – area under the receiver operating characteristic curve, CI – confidence interval, ICC – intraclass correlation coefficient, MOR – median odds ratio, NPV – negative predictive value, PPV – positive, Sn – Sensitivity, Sp – Specificity, predictive value, VPC – variance partitioning coefficient

3.4.2 Concordance and agreement measures

Studies 1 and 2 centred on validating the recording of common health conditions in hospital data (Chapter 4), and agreement between measurements of multimorbidity obtained from different data sources (Chapter 5). Cohen's kappa (κ) was used to measure agreement accounting for chance, calculated as $\kappa = (\text{observed agreement} - \text{expected} agreement)/(1-\text{expected agreement}).²⁰⁵$

To assess agreement of multimorbidity and individual chronic conditions using selfreported and administrative data, self-reported data were taken as the reference standard, as chronic disease capture in administrative data is incomplete. Sensitivity (Sn), specificity
(Sp), positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) were constructed using the following calculations:

		Reference stand	lard	Total
		Condition prese	ent?	
		Yes	No	-
Administrative data	Yes	a	b	a + b
Condition present?	No	С	d	c+ d
Total		a + c	b + d	n = a + b + c + d

Table adapted from Watson & Petrie²⁰⁶

Sn = Proportion of cases self-reporting a condition that have a record within administrative data: a / (a + c)Sp = Proportion of cases without a self-reported condition that did not have a record on such in administrative data: d / (b + d)

PPV = Proportion of those with a condition identified in administrative data that have a self-reported condition: a / (a + b)

NPV = Proportion of those without a condition identified in administrative data that do not have a self-reported condition: d / (c + d)

3.4.3 Multilevel models

Traditional statistical models used in epidemiological studies of observational data have assumptions which might not be met in the real-world data use. One such assumption is the independence of the observations. However, as multiple hospital admissions within an individual are possible, and as there are admissions which belong to the same hospital, the independence assumption is often violated. This results in potential underestimation of standard errors, leading to overestimation of statistical significance (lower *p*-values). To correctly account for the presence of clustering within the data, multilevel models (sometimes called hierarchical, mixed effects or random effects models) should be used.

Multilevel models recognise the existence of clustering and hierarchy within the dataset and allow estimation of both fixed and random effects, and partitioning of residual variation between levels. Multilevel models can be hierarchical (where lower levels are clustered entirely within higher ones), or non-hierarchical (where members within lower levels can be present in multiple higher level units).²⁰⁷ In hospital data, numerous levels can be examined, depending on the level of influence that is of interest. For example, EOCs are clustered

Chapter 3: Methods

within an individual, individuals are clustered within hospitals, and hospitals within health areas.

The standard logistic regression model can be represented as

$$logit(\Pr(Y_i = 1)) = \beta_0 + \sum_{n=1}^N \beta_n x_{ni} + e_i$$

where Y_i denotes the binary response variable for individual *i*, and $Y_i = 1$ denotes occurrence of the event; β_0 the intercept, β_n regression coefficients, x_{1i} through x_{ni} denote the *n* predictors or explanatory variables measured on the individual *i*, and e_i denotes the residual error term for individual *i*.

A multilevel logistic regression model on the other hand is represented as

$$logit(\Pr(Y_{ij} = 1)) = \beta_0 + \sum_{n=1}^N \beta_n x_{ni} + \sum_{p=1}^P \beta_p x_{pj} + u_j + e_{ij}$$

where $Y_{ij} = 1$ is the event within person *i* clustered within level *j* (e.g. hospital), x_{ni} and x_{pj} denote N predictors for person-level and P predictors for hospital-level variables, β_0 the intercept, β_n and β_p regression coefficients for person-level and hospital-level variables, and e_{ij} and u_j represent the residual error at the person and hospital levels.

Multilevel models were used in studies 1, 3 and 4, with the same underlying two-level hierarchical structure: patients clustered within hospitals (Figure 3.4).





Chapter 3: Methods

Multilevel models separate the variance in the outcome into parts associated with each of the levels included in the model. Models with three or more levels or those with dichotomous outcomes require more complex calculations than the simple intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) measure used for continuous outcomes²⁰⁷ The proportion of the total variance that is attributable to a particular level in the model is called the variance partition coefficient (VPC). In studies 1 and 4, in which I used multilevel logistic regression models, VPC was calculated using the latent variable method from Snijders and Bosker ²⁰² as $\frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 + \pi^2/_3}$, with σ_u^2 denoting higher-level (e.g. hospital) variance. Variation at the hospital level was expressed as a median odds ratio (MOR), denoting the median of odds ratios comparing persons with identical covariates randomly chosen between hospitals. MOR was calculated as **exp (0.954 × \sqrt{\sigma_u^2})**, with σ_u^2 denoting hospital variance.²⁰⁷

In study 3, where the aim was not to partition variation or explore hospital-level variance *per se*, the multilevel models were fitted to account for clustering within the data and estimate standard errors to draw correct inference, rather than estimate variance components.

3.5 Ethics approvals

The studies used in this thesis were nested within broader NHMRC funded projects, with ethics approval details as outlined in Table 3.8. Use of the data for the research in this PhD thesis was approved by each of the noted ethics committees as either an amendment (Study 4) or falling in scope of the original project application.

Table 3.8	Ethics	approval	s
-----------	--------	----------	---

Study	Project title	Ethics ID	Ethics committee
Studies 1	Use of primary care, health	2011/12/362	PHSREC
and 2	events, health service use and	832/11	AH&MRC
	costs in the 45 and Up Study		
Study 3	Exploring the contributions of	2009/03/141	PHSREC
	individual-, area- and service-		
	level factors to Indigenous	684/09	AH&MRC
	health outcomes		
Study 4	Variations in surgical outcomes	2019/ETH00423	PHSREC
	in New South Wales		

CHAPTER 4

Variation in the recoding of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia

4.1 Background and aims

Administrative hospital inpatient data are known to under-report chronic diseases on patient discharge data due to the nature of coding diagnoses on each hospital stay. This study examines:

- a) Agreement between self-reported morbidity and hospital discharge data for six common chronic conditions and health risk factors
- b) Variation in the recording of this agreement and quantifying the contributions of patient- and hospital-level factors
- c) Patient and hospital characteristics that predicted agreement levels.

4.2 Key findings

The recording of common comorbid conditions in routine hospital inpatient data is highly variable and, for some conditions, very poor. Recording varies considerably among hospitals, presenting the potential to introduce bias into risk-adjusted comparisons of hospital performance, especially for indicators that use heart disease or hypertension for risk adjustment. Between-hospital variation is even more amplified when smaller and private hospitals are included in the analyses.

4.3 Publication details

Lujic S, Watson DE, Randall DA, Simpson JM, Jorm LR

Variation in the recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia.

BMJ Open 2014;4:e005768. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005768

Copyright © 2014, BMJ Publishing Group Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, permitting the use by the authors without further permissions required.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Supplementary Tables 1-3 of this publication are shown in Appendix 3.

4.4 Student contribution

I had the overall responsibility for the design of this study, data management, carrying out the statistical analysis, interpreting results, drafting the initial manuscript, and reviewing and revising the manuscript in response to co-authors and reviewers. Co-authors Diane Watson and Louisa Jorm contributed to the conception and design of the study. Louisa Jorm helped with data acquisition and provided oversight for all analyses. Deborah Randall and Judy Simpson provided oversight and advice for the design and interpretation of the statistical analyses. All authors read and approved the final version as published.

Open Access

Research

BMJ Open Variation in the recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia

Sanja Lujic,¹ Diane E Watson,² Deborah A Randall,¹ Judy M Simpson,³ Louisa R Jorm¹

ABSTRACT

To cite: Lujic S, Watson DE. Randall DA, et al. Variation in the recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia. BMJ Open 2014;4:e005768. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005768

Prepublication history and additional material is available. To view please visit the journal (http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005768).

Received 26 May 2014 Revised 14 July 2014 Accepted 4 August 2014



¹Centre for Health Research. University of Western Sydney, Sydney, Australia ²National Health Performance Authority, Sydney, Australia ³School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

Correspondence to Sanja Lujic: s.lujic@uws.edu.au

Objectives: To investigate the nature and potential implications of under-reporting of morbidity information in administrative hospital data.

Setting and participants: Retrospective analysis of linked self-report and administrative hospital data for 32 832 participants in the large-scale cohort study (45 and Up Study), who joined the study from 2006 to 2009 and who were admitted to 313 hospitals in New South Wales, Australia, for at least an overnight stay, up to a year prior to study entry.

Outcome measures: Agreement between self-report and recording of six morbidities in administrative hospital data, and between-hospital variation and predictors of positive agreement between the two data sources. Results: Agreement between data sources was good for diabetes (κ =0.79); moderate for smoking (κ =0.59); fair for heart disease, stroke and hypertension (κ =0.40, κ =0.30 and κ =0.24, respectively); and poor for obesity (κ =0.09), indicating that a large number of individuals with self-reported morbidities did not have a corresponding diagnosis coded in their hospital records. Significant between-hospital variation was found (ranging from 8% of unexplained variation for diabetes to 22% for heart disease), with higher agreement in public and large hospitals, and hospitals with greater depth of coding. Conclusions: The recording of six common health conditions in administrative hospital data is highly variable, and for some conditions, very poor. To support more valid performance comparisons, it is important to stratify or control for factors that predict the completeness of recording, including hospital depth of coding and hospital type (public/private), and to increase efforts to standardise recording across hospitals. Studies using these conditions for risk adjustment should also be cautious of their use in smaller hospitals.

INTRODUCTION

Most nations with advanced economies publicly report on the comparative performance of hospitals with a view to accelerating and informing efforts to improve quality and allowing patients to make informed choices.

Strengths and limitations of this study

- The study was based on linked data from a large-scale cohort study and administrative hospital data to evaluate four health conditions and two health risk factors, as well as their combinations.
- The study used advanced multilevel modelling methods to comprehensively evaluate the recording of each morbidity in administrative data and quantify between-hospital variation.
- The study provides detailed information about how the validity of morbidity reporting varies among hospitals after accounting for patient factors.
- Limitations include the use of self-reported data in the absence of a 'gold standard' such as medical records.

Diagnoses recorded in administrative hospital data are commonly used in the construction and case-mix adjustment of hospital performance metrics, as well as for risk adjustment in epidemiological studies.

The construction of reliable health metrics relies on statistical methods that take into account the degree to which patients treated in different facilities have different morbidity and risk profiles that predispose them to requiring different interventions or to achieving different outcomes. These statistical methods, known as case-mix or risk adjustment, account for patient-related factors that are above and beyond the immediate control of healthcare professionals.

Thus, properly constructed performance metrics fairly reflect differences in healthcare experiences, patient outcomes and risks of adverse events. There has been some criticism of case-mix adjustments because they are subject to measurement error,¹ but

Open Access

case-mix adjustment is still considered to be less biased than unadjusted comparisons.²

Most methods of case-mix adjustment rely principally on demographic and diagnostic information that is captured in administrative hospital data collections. The hospital data are collected and recorded in a database for administrative purposes, with clinical coders coding diagnostic information based on the patient's medical records.³ This approach may be suboptimal^{4 5} because evidence from many countries suggests that administrative hospital data under-report the morbidity information needed to fully account for differences between hospitals in patient-related factors that predispose them to differences in measured outcomes. $^{6-13}$ However, the impact of this under-reporting on comparative measures of hospital performance depends on whether it varies systematically among hospitals, because of differences in factors such as training or practice among coding staff, the comprehensiveness of clinicians' notes or 'upcoding' relating to funding models or incentives.¹⁴

This issue is relatively unexplored, aside from the work by Mohammed $et al_{i}^{2}$ which reported a non-constant relationship between case-mix variables and mortality among hospitals in the UK, explained by differences in clinical coding and admission practices across hospitals. These variations in coding accuracy were shown to be related to geographic location and bed size, with small rural facilities performing better than large urban hospitals.¹⁵ ¹⁶ In Australia, variations in the reporting and coding of secondary diagnoses in administrative hospital data have been shown to exist in public hospitals among Australian states,¹⁷ and also among hospitals within the state of New South Wales (NSW), with greater under-reporting in private and rural hospitals.³ However, the relative contributions of patient and hospital factors to these variations have not been identified, nor has this variation been formally quantified.

This study, using data linkage of survey and administrative data, aimed to further investigate the nature and potential implications of under-reporting of morbidity information in administrative hospital data by: (1) measuring the agreement between self-reported morbidity information and coded diagnoses; (2) quantifying the amount of between-hospital variation in this agreement and (3) identifying patient and hospital characteristics that predict higher or lower levels of agreement. We focused on clinical conditions common to case-mix and risk-adjustment models—diabetes, heart disease, hypertension and stroke. We also focus on smoking and obesity, due to their impact on health trajectories, rapid shifts in prevalence, substantial geographic variation in rates¹⁸ and paucity of international evidence on completeness of coding.

METHODS

Data sources

The 45 and Up Study

The 45 and Up Study is a large-scale cohort study involving 267 153 men and women aged 45 years and over from the

6

general population of NSW, Australia. The study is described in detail elsewhere.¹⁹ Briefly, participants in the 45 and Up Study were randomly sampled from the database of Australia's universal health insurance provider, Medicare Australia, which provides near-complete coverage of the population. People 80+ years of age and residents of rural and remote areas were oversampled. Participants joined the Study by completing a baseline questionnaire (available at https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/our-work/45-up-study/questionnaires/) between January 2006 and December 2009 and giving signed consent for follow-up and linkage of their information to routine health databases. About 18% of those invited participated and participants included about 11% of the NSW population aged 45 years and over.¹⁹

The NSW Admitted Patient Data Collection

The Admitted Patient Data Collection (APDC) includes records of all public and private hospital admissions ending in a separation, i.e. discharge, transfer, typechange or death. Each separation is referred to as an episode of care. Diagnoses are coded according to the Australian modification of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Health Related Problems 10th Revision (ICD-10-AM).²⁰ Up to 55 diagnoses codes are recorded on the APDC, including the principal diagnosis and up to 54 additional diagnoses. Additional diagnoses are defined as "a condition or complaint either coexisting with the principal diagnosis or arising during the episode of care" in the Australian Coding Standards and should be interpreted as conditions that affect patient management.²¹ Assignment of diagnosis codes is done by trained clinical coders, using information from the patient's medical records.

The APDC from 1 July 2000 to 31 December 2010 was linked probabilistically to survey information from the 45 and Up Study by the NSW Centre for Health Record Linkage (http://www.cherel.org.au) using the 'best practice' protocol for preserving privacy.²²

Study population

The study population comprised patients aged 45 years and above who participated in the 45 and Up Study and who had a hospitalisation lasting at least one night in the period up to 365 days prior to filling out the baseline 45 and Up Study survey. Day stay patients were excluded from the analysis to make the study more robust and generalisable beyond NSW and Australia, as there are differences in admission practices for same day patients between Australia and most other comparable countries.²³ NSW is home to 7.4 million people, or one-third of the population of Australia.

Measuring morbidity

We examined four health conditions (diabetes, heart disease, hypertension and stroke) and two health risk factors (obesity and smoking), referred to hereafter collectively as 'morbidities'. For each participant, these

6

health conditions were measured using self-report and administrative hospital data.

Self-reported morbidities were ascertained on the basis of responses to questions in the baseline 45 and Up Study survey. Diabetes, hypertension, stroke and heart disease were identified using the question "Has a doctor ever told you that you have [name of condition]?" Participants who did not answer the question were excluded from analyses (n=1242).

Smoking was classified on the basis of answering "yes" to both of the questions "Have you ever been a regular smoker?" and "Are you a regular smoker now?" Participants' responses to the questions "How tall are you without shoes?" and "About how much do you weigh?" were used to derive body mass index (BMI), defined as body weight divided by height squared (kg/m²). The WHO's²⁴ classification system was used to categorise individuals as obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²).

Morbidity information in administrative hospital data was ascertained using all 55 diagnosis codes in the APDC records (ICD-10-AM: E10–E14 for diabetes, I20– I52 for heart disease, I60–I69, G45, G46 for stroke, I10– I15 and R03.0 for hypertension, F17.2 or Z72.0 for smoking and E66 for obesity). The inclusion of broader ICD-10-AM codes for heart disease and stroke was chosen because of the broad definition of disease type in the self-reported data. Thus, heart disease codes were inclusive of coronary heart disease, pulmonary heart disease and other forms of heart diseases, including heart failure and arrhythmias. Stroke codes included cerebrovascular diseases without infarction among others.

Predictors of agreement

We explored patient-level as well as hospital-level factors as predictors of agreement between the two data sources.

Patient-level factors were self-reported in the 45 and Up Study baseline survey and included age, sex, education, country of birth, income and functional limitation. Functional limitation was measured using the Medical Outcomes Study-Physical Functioning scale,²⁵ and classified into 5 groups: no limitation (score of 100), minor limitation (score 95–99), mild limitation (score 85–94), moderate limitation (60–84) and severe limitation (score 0–59).

Facility-level factors were type of hospital (public/ private), hospital peer group (akin to hospital size defined by number of case-mix weighted separations,²⁶ which includes hospital remoteness in the classification), remoteness of hospital and depth of coding. Remoteness of the Statistical Local Area in which the hospital was located was classified according to the Accessibility/Remoteness Index of Australia (ARIA+), grouped into four categories (major city, inner regional, outer regional, remote/very remote).²⁷ Depth of hospital coding was the mean number of additional diagnoses coded per episode of care for each hospital, calculated using all overnight hospitalisations for the full 45 and Up Study cohort from 2000 to 2010, and divided into four groups at the 25th, 50th and 75th centile. Hospital peer groups were divided into 5 categories: principal referral (\geq 25 000 separations per year), major (10 000–24 999 separations per year), district (2000–9999 separations per year), community (up to 2000 separations per year) and other (non-acute, unpeered hospitals). Missing information was treated as a separate category for any variables with missing data.

Statistical methods

We examined patient-level agreement between data sources for each of the six morbidities individually, as well as for their 15 two-way combinations. We compared the self-reported responses (yes/no) with all the diagnoses provided in the hospital records both for 'index' admissions and for the 'lookback' period admissions.²⁸ The 'index' admission was the overnight hospital stay with admission date closest to the survey completion date and no longer than a year prior. Morbidity was coded as 'yes' if any of the diagnoses during that stay contained a mention of that morbidity. The 'lookback' admissions included all overnight stays in the 365-day period that preceded and included the 'index' admission. Morbidity was coded as 'yes' if any of the diagnoses from any lookback admissions contained a mention of that morbidity.

Agreement between the two data sources (yes/no) was measured using Cohen's κ statistic. κ Values above 0.75 denote excellent agreement, 0.40–0.75 fair to good agreement and below 0.45 poor agreement.²⁹ Agreement was computed for all 313 hospitals in the state, regardless of size, as well as for the 82 largest public hospitals, for which performance metrics are publicly reported.

Multilevel logistic regression was used to estimate OR with 95% CIs for patient-level and hospital-level factors that predicted positive agreement between the two data sources. Multilevel models were chosen because of the clustering of patients within hospitals. Models were run for each of the six morbidities separately. These analyses were constrained to only those participants who selfreported the morbidity of interest, and the outcome was whether the index hospital record contained a mention of the morbidity or not. Addition of the hospital-level characteristics was done one at a time, due to the collinearity between variables. All ORs presented are adjusted for all other demographic variables in the model.

Variation at the hospital level was expressed as a median OR (MOR), which is the median of the ORs of pairwise comparisons of patients taken from randomly chosen hospitals, calculated as $\exp^{0.954\times\sqrt{\text{variance}}}$,³⁰ and the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), which is the percentage of the total variance attributable to the hospital level.³¹ Large ICCs indicate that differences among hospitals account for a considerable part of the variation in the outcome, whereas a small ICC means that the hospital effect on the overall variation is minimal. The

Open Access

Open Access

relative influence of the hospital on reporting of morbidity was calculated using a variance partitioning coefficient expressed as a percentage of the total variance using the Snijders and Bosker latent variable approach.³¹

All data management was done using SAS V.9.2³² and multilevel modelling using MLwiN V.2.24.³³

The conduct of the 45 and Up Study was approved by the University of New South Wales Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC).

RESULTS

Descriptive characteristics

A total of 32 832 study participants were admitted to 313 hospitals up to a year prior to completing the 45 and Up Study baseline survey. Just over half of the index admissions (53%) were planned stays in hospital, and 57% were to a public hospital. Around one-third of the index admissions occurred within the 3 months before study entry, and the mean length of stay was 4.8 days (median=3 days). Just under half of the sample (47%) reported having hypertension, with heart disease or obesity reported by 25% and current smoking by 6.1% of the sample. One-third (34%) of participants had two or more morbidities (data not shown). Other characteristics of the sample at their index admission are shown in table 1. Characteristics of hospitals are summarised in table 2.

Concordance between self-report and hospital records

Overall, reporting of morbidity differed between the two data sources with 23 257 (71%) participants having at least one of the six self-reported morbidities, and 11 977 (36.5%) and 14 335 (43.7%) of the sample having at least one morbidity recorded on their index or lookback hospital admissions, respectively.

Table 3 gives the summary concordance measures for each morbidity and two-way morbidity combination. For the index admission, good agreement was found for diabetes (κ =0.79); moderate agreement for smoking (κ =0.59); fair agreement for heart disease (κ =0.4); and poor agreement for stroke (κ =0.3), hypertension (κ =0.24) and obesity (κ =0.09). In two-way combinations, moderate levels of agreement were found only for diabetes combinations (with smoking, hypertension and heart disease).

Incorporating a 1-year lookback period increased the numbers of participants with a morbidity recorded in a hospital record, with average relative increases in the κ values of 20% (ranging from 2% increase for smoking to 41% increase for obesity). Good to excellent level of agreements were still found only for diabetes (κ =0.83) and smoking (κ =0.6).

Agreement was only slightly higher among the 82 large public hospitals (see online supplementary table S1) with relative κ values higher by 4%, on average.

Table 1 Characteristics of the study sample at their index admission

Demographic characteristics Sex Male Female Age 45–59 60–79 80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	N 16 812 16 020 9666 16 624 6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	Since Since <th< th=""></th<>
Demographic characteristics Sex Male Female Age 45–59 60–79 80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	16 812 16 020 9666 16 624 6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	51.2 48.8 29.4 50.6 19.9 76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
Sex Male Female Age 45–59 60–79 80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	16 812 16 020 9666 16 624 6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	51.2 48.8 29.4 50.6 19.9 76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
Female Age 45–59 60–79 80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	16 812 16 020 9666 16 624 6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	51.2 48.8 29.4 50.6 19.9 76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
Age 45–59 60–79 80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	9666 16 624 6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	46.0 29.4 50.6 19.9 76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
45–59 60–79 80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	9666 16 624 6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	29.4 50.6 19.9 76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
60–79 80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	16 624 6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	50.6 19.9 76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
80+ Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	6540 25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	19.9 76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
Country of birth Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
Australia Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	25 001 7448 383 5196 7894 2975	76.2 22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
Other Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	7448 383 5196 7894 2975	22.7 1.2 15.8 24.0
Unknown Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	383 5196 7894 2975	1.2 15.8 24.0
Highest education level No school Year 10 or equivalent	5196 7894 2975	15.8
Year 10 or equivalent	7894 2975	15.8
Year 10 or equivalent	2975	
	2910	0.1
Trade	4270	13.0
Certificate	6109	18.6
University degree	5662	17.3
Unknown	726	2.2
Household income (\$, per annum)		
<20 000	9077	27.7
20 000-<50 000	8223	25.1
500 000-<70 000	2560	7.8
70 000+	5042	15.4
Not disclosed	6003	18.3
Missing	1927	5.9
Functional status		
No limitation	4915	15.0
Mild limitation	6011	18.3
Severe limitation	10 121	20.5
Missing	3084	94
Admission characteristics	0004	0.4
Admission type		
Surgical	15 464	47.1
Other	1439	4.4
Medical	15 929	48.5
Emergency status		
Emergency	13 484	41.1
Planned	17 544	53.4
Other	1803	5.5
Hospital of admission		
Public	18 734	57 1
Private	14 096	42.9
Hospital remoteness	11000	12.0
Major city	19 754	60.2
Inner regional	8424	25.7
Outer regional	4137	12.6
Remote/very remote	363	1.1
Hospital depth of coding		
1—least comprehensive	1629	5.0
2	8803	26.8
3	11 543	35.2
4-most comprehensive	10 857	33.1
Hospital peer group	6000	10.0
Principal referral	6329	19.3
District	6962	33.7 20.8
Community	7018	20.8
Other	1571	4.8

6

Table 2 Characteristics of the	hospital of ad	Imission
	All hosp	oitals (N=313)
	N	Per cent
Hospital type		
Public	224	71.6
Private	88	28.1
Hospital remoteness		
Major city	124	39.6
Inner regional	72	23.0
Outer regional	94	30.0
Remote/very remote	20	6.4
Hospital depth of coding		
1—least comprehensive	48	15.3
2	91	29.1
3	89	28.4
4-most comprehensive	85	27.2
Hospital peer group		
Principal referral	14	4.5
Major	33	10.5
District	51	16.3
Community	121	38.7
Other	94	30.0

Patient-level and hospital-level predictors of positive agreement

The patient factors, which predicted positive agreement between the two data sources, differed between morbidities (table 4). Male sex was associated with better agreement for diabetes (OR=1.37, 95% CI 1.19 to 1.58), heart disease (OR=1.30, 95% CI 1.17 to 1.44) and hypertension (OR=1.28, 95% CI 1.18 to 1.38; see online supplementary table S2).

Older patients were significantly less likely to have smoking (80+years OR=0.48, 95% CI 0.31 to 0.74) and obesity (OR=0.14, 95% CI 0.08 to 0.26) recorded in their hospital records and significantly more likely to have hypertension recorded (OR=1.32, 95% CI 1.16 to 1.49), compared with younger patients (45–59 years). People with higher levels of functional limitation were significantly more likely to have hypertension, diabetes and obesity recorded on their most recent hospital stay. Planned admissions to hospital had lower odds of having any of the six conditions recorded, as did medical admissions (for diabetes, smoking and obesity only). Agreement did not vary significantly for any other patient factors.

The four hospital-level covariates (hospital type, hospital peer group, hospital remoteness and depth of coding) were added to multilevel models (including a random intercept for hospital) one at a time, separately. Positive agreement between self-report and hospital records was significantly lower for hospitals with lower depth of coding across all morbidities. The odds of recording were also lower among private hospitals for all six morbidities, with this difference being statistically significant for hypertension, heart disease and stroke only. Records from smaller hospitals (district and community peer groups) were significantly less likely to agree with

Open Access

self-reported data on hypertension, diabetes and heart disease. Positive agreement did not vary significantly with remoteness of hospital, with the exceptions of diabetes (lower agreement for outer regional, remote and very remote hospitals) and smoking (lower agreement for remote and very remote hospitals; see online supplementary table S3).

Quantifying variation between hospitals

Before any hospital-level variables were added into the multilevel model, ICC indicated that between 8% (diabetes) and 22% (heart disease) of the residual (unexplained) variation in agreement was attributable to the hospital after adjustment for the patient-level factors (table 5). This equated to MORs of 1.64 and 2.48, respectively, indicating that a patient in one hospital had an average of between 64% and 148% higher odds of having a particular morbidity recorded than a patient in a hospital with lower levels of recording. Less variation at the hospital level was found for the recording of diabetes, smoking and stroke, while more variation at the hospital level was found for the recording of hypertension, heart disease and obesity. When the analyses were restricted to 82 large public hospitals only, the between-hospital variation decreased to between 2% (stroke) and 13% (hypertension), or MOR of 1.24 and 1.94 (figure 1). This between-hospital variation was still significant for all morbidities except for stroke. Between-hospital variation was further reduced once lookback admissions were used to identify morbidities.

The addition of hospital-level variables to multilevel models, one at a time, separately, helped ascertain which factors explained the variation between hospitals (table 5). The addition of hospital-level factors contributed to explaining (i.e. decreasing) the residual variation for all conditions, except obesity. For the other morbidities, differences in the depth of coding explained from 16% (smoking) to 42% (hypertension) of residual variation between hospitals, while hospital type (public/private) explained from 0% (smoking) to 59% (stroke), and hospital peer group explained from 10% (hypertension) to 27% (diabetes) residual variation between hospitals.

DISCUSSION

Our study found that the concordance of administrative hospital and self-reported data varied between the six morbidities examined, with agreement ranging from good for diabetes; moderate for smoking; through to fair for heart disease; and poor for hypertension, stroke and obesity. We demonstrated considerable betweenhospital variation in the recording of these common health conditions. Smaller, but still significant, betweenhospital variation was found when restricting the analyses to the largest public hospitals in the state.

Previous studies have validated information recorded in NSW administrative hospital data for demographic factors,³⁴ ³⁵ and recording of perinatal conditions,^{36–39}

APDC Morbidities* 45 and U Morbidities* Pes Hypertension 4767 Heart disease 3639 Diabetes 3560 Stroke 541						Lookbac	k admission	IS			
APDC Morbidities* yes Hypertension 4767 Heart disease 3560 Stroke 541	lp yes	45 and U	ou o	ĸ		45 and U	o yes	45 and U	ou d	×	
Morbidities*yesHypertension4767Heart disease3639Diabetes3560Stroke541	APDC	APDC	APDC	Per		APDC	APDC	APDC	APDC	Per	
Hypertension 4767 Heart disease 3639 Diabetes 3560 Stroke 541	Q	yes	8	cent	95% CI	yes	8	yes	ou	cent	95% CI
Heart disease 3639 Diabetes 3560 Stroke 541	10512	1434	16 119	24.0	(22.9 to 25.0)	6260	9019	2051	15 502	30.2	(29.1 to 31.2)
Stroke 541	4668	1942	22 583	40.3	(39.0 to 41.5)	4673	3634	2697	21828	47.0	(45.8 to 48.2)
Stroke 541	1234	347	27 691	79.1	(78.1 to 80.1)	3928	866	479	27 559	83.0	(82.1 to 83.9)
	1939	306	30 046	29.8	(27.0 to 32.6)	776	1704	488	29 864	38.3	(35.8 to 40.8)
Smoking 1205	804	727	30 096	58.7	(56.7 to 60.7)	1411	598	1076	29 747	60.1	(58.2 to 61.9)
Obesity 551	7611	114	24 556	9.1	(7.3 to 10.9)	810	7352	209	24 461	12.8	(11.1 to 14.6)
Hypertension+heart 1172	3481	1270	26 909	25.8	(23.8 to 27.7)	1807	2846	2008	26 171	34.3	(32.6 to 36.0)
disease											
Hypertension+diabetes 1819	1238	759	29 016	61.3	(59.6 to 62.9)	2186	871	1021	28 754	66.6	(65.2 to 68.1)
Hypertension+stroke 203	1317	189	31 123	19.7	(15.7 to 23.7)	329	1191	340	30 972	28.0	(24.5 to 31.5)
Hypertension+smoking 133	598	180	31 921	24.5	(19.2 to 29.7)	199	532	319	31 782	30.6	(26.0 to 35.2)
Hypertension+obesity 234	4574	93	27 931	7.4	(4.9 to 9.8)	383	4425	183	27 841	11.5	(9.2 to 13.9)
Heart disease+diabetes 646	1154	404	30 628	43.0	(40.3 to 45.8)	904	896	661	30 371	51.2	(48.9 to 53.6)
Heart disease+stroke 76	973	126	31 657	11.2	(6.1 to 16.4)	149	006	261	31522	19.0	(14.4 to 23.5)
Heart disease+smoking 76	294	222	32 240	22.0	(15.3 to 28.6)	118	252	373	32 089	26.5	(20.8 to 32.2)
Heart disease+obesity 79	1938	79	30 736	6.4	(2.5 to 10.4)	151	1866	169	30 646	11.4	(7.7 to 15.2)
Diabetes+stroke 85	555	58	32 134	21.1	(15.0 to 27.3)	140	500	119	32 073	30.4	(24.9 to 35.8)
Diabetes+smoking 143	161	108	32 420	51.1	(45.3 to 56.9)	171	133	176	32 352	52.1	(46.7 to 57.4)
Diabetes+obesity 232	1701	65	30 834	19.5	(15.9 to 23.2)	351	1582	120	30 779	27.5	(24.2 to 30.9)
Stroke+smoking 13	142	28	32 649	13.1	(0.1 to 26.1)	23	132	57	32 620	19.3	(7.8 to 30.8)
Stroke+obesity 6	558	o	32 259	2.0	(0.0 to 10.0)	13	551	21	32 247	4.2	(0.0 to 11.9)
Smoking+obesity 27	447	29	32 329	9.9	(1.9 to 17.9)	38	436	47	32 311	13.2	(5.5 to 20.9)

Open Access

Chapter 4: Variation in recording of health conditions

6

Chapter 4: Variation in recording of health conditions

6

	Hypertension (N=15 279)	Diabetes (N=4794)	Heart disease (N=8307)	Stroke (N=2480)	Smoking (N=2099)	Obesity (N=8162)
son-level variables						
text	:	*	**			
get	:				**	:
ducation			•	:	**	
Country of birth†						
unctional limitation+	:	**				*
ncomet						
dmission type‡	:	:		*	**	*
mergency status‡	:	*	**	*		*
spital-level variables						
lospital type (public/private)§	:		*	*		
lospital remoteness§					•	
lospital depth of coding§	:	:		:	**	:
lospital peer group§	*	*	:		:	
gnificant at 5% level.						
ignificant at 1% level.	actors±random internent for hospital					
odel 0+admission type+emergenc	v status.					
odel O±hosnital-level variables (en	tered one at a time)					

Pe Ta

but there have been limited studies of the accuracy of the recording of health conditions commonly used for case-mix or risk adjustment. Our findings regarding agreement for the recording of diabetes (κ =0.83) were similar to previous Australian studies,³ ¹⁰ while agreement for hypertension (κ =0.3) and heart disease $(\kappa=0.47)$ was considerably lower in our study. These differences may be due to the fact that both previous studies used medical records as a 'gold standard', while we used self-report. Lower agreement rates for heart disease could be due to the broader range of heart disease types included in our study, with known lower levels of agreement for heart failure compared with myocardial infarction.^{9 40} Higher sensitivities reported in a study from the state of Victoria¹⁰ could also be attributable to the differences in public hospital funding models between the two states. Specifically, Victoria has used activity-based funding since 1993, while this method of funding was introduced in NSW and other Australian states only subsequent to our study period.⁴¹ Introduction of activity-based funding has been shown to increase recording of additional diagnoses and procedures in Europe.42

Some of the apparent discrepancies in the levels of coding between conditions can be attributed to the coding rules that govern whether or not a diagnosis is recorded in administrative hospital data. Additional diagnoses, recorded on administrative hospital data, are coded only if they affect the patient's treatments received, investigations required and/or resources used during the hospital stay. Thus, diagnoses that relate to an earlier episode, and which have no bearing on the current hospital stay, are not coded for that particular stay. Therefore, it is not surprising that (managed) hypertension, in particular, might not be recorded in hospital data relating to, e.g. elective surgery. On the other hand, we found that diabetes is well recorded, suggesting that it is considered to affect patient management in most hospital stays, and possibly reflecting the impact of changes to the Australian Coding Standards for diabetes such that between 2008 and 2010, diabetes with complications could be coded even where there was no established cause and effect relationship between diabetes and the complication.⁴³ It is for these reasons that researchers using administrative data sets are encouraged to incorporate information from previous hospitalisations, to increase the likelihood of capturing morbidity, as demonstrated in this as well as other Australian studies.44

As well as looking at single morbidities, ours is the first study, to our knowledge, to explore the variations of recording of multiple conditions in hospital data. Concordance of two-way condition combinations was very low, with best results found for combinations of diseases involving diabetes, which had the highest single-condition level of agreement with self-reported data (κ =0.83). Agreement measures for two-way combinations were found to be fair to good at best, with agreement on

Open Access

Open Access

				Heart			
		Hypertension (N=15 279)	Diabetes (N=4794)	disease (N=8307)	Stroke (N=2480)	Smoking (N=2099)	Obesity (N=8162)
Hospital-lev	vel variance (SE)*						
Model 0	Patient factors	0.80 (0.10)	0.27 (0.06)	0.91 (0.12)	0.38 (0.10)	0.35 (0.09)	0.68 (0.14)
Model 1	Model 0 +hospital type (public/private)	0.65 (0.08)	0.27 (0.06)	0.71 (0.10)	0.16 (0.06)	0.35 (0.09)	0.69 (0.14)
Model 2	Model 0 +hospital remoteness	0.77 (0.09)	0.25 (0.05)	0.92 (0.12)	0.37 (0.10)	0.33 (0.08)	0.68 (0.14)
Model 3	Model 0 +hospital depth of coding	0.46 (0.06)	0.20 (0.05)	0.56 (0.08)	0.26 (0.08)	0.29 (0.08)	0.68 (0.14)
Model 4	Model 0 +hospital peer group	0.72 (0.09)	0.21 (0.05)	0.75 (0.10)	0.34 (0.09)	0.31 (0.08)	0.67 (0.14)
(ICC (%)†	Ĵ l	19.5	7.6	21.6	10.4	9.6	17.1
(MOR†		2.34	1.64	2.48	1.80	1.76	2.19

*Patient-level variance in a logistic regression is set at $\pi^2/3=3.29$.

+ICC and MOR calculated from model 0 (ICC=hospital-level variance divided by total variance (hospital-level+patient-level); MOR is calculated as $\exp^{0.954 \times \sqrt{\text{variance}}}$.

ICC, intraclass correlation coefficient; MOR, median OR; N, number of patients who self-reported condition.

three-way condition combinations (not investigated here) expected to be even lower. These findings have implications for research into multimorbidity (the co-occurrence of multiple chronic or acute diseases and medical conditions within one person⁴⁵). We suggest that researchers who use administrative data for research into multimorbidity should use linked data to increase ascertainment and, if possible, supplement this information from other data sources, such as physician claims data or self-reported data.

We identified considerable between-hospital variability in the levels of recording of common health conditions, with between 8% and 22% of the variation attributable to hospital-level factors, after adjustment for patient factors. This was similar in magnitude to the variability previously reported for performance measures (varying from patient satisfaction, mortality, length of stay to quality of care) clustered at the facility level $(0-51\%)^{46}$ and hospital-level variations in the use of services.^{47–49} Significant between-hospital variation was still present after constraining the analyses to the 82 largest public hospitals in the state.

The recording of hypertension and heart disease was particularly variable between hospitals, those with better reporting having on average 2.3 and 2.5 times, respectively, the odds of recording these conditions than those with lower levels of reporting. The corresponding figures were 1.9 and 1.6 times for the 82 largest hospitals in the state. These findings indicate the potential for reporting bias to influence comparisons of health performance indicators between hospitals, especially for indicators that use conditions such as heart disease or hypertension for case-mix adjustment. To our knowledge, no previous studies have provided detailed information about how

Figure 1 Variance for hospital-level random effects from multilevel logistic regression, for index and lookback admissions, by hospital size. *Significantly different from 0 at 5% level; **significantly different from 0 at 1% level.



All hospitals (Index) 🔲 All hospitals (Lookback) 🔳 Large public hospitals (Index) 📃 Large public hospitals (Lookback)

6

the validity of morbidity reporting varies among hospitals after accounting for patient factors.

Furthermore, we have shown that variations in the accuracy of morbidity reporting between hospitals are predominantly driven by the hospital's depth of coding -concordance between self-reported and hospital data is lower in hospitals with a lower average number of additional diagnoses recorded. Up to 42% of the variation in recording at the hospital level could be attributed to differences in hospital depth of coding. Even though the measure of depth of coding we used was crude, and related to hospital size, it still helps in highlighting the impact of coding practices on variations among hospitals. Other research using the same depth of coding measure has shown that the lower depth of coding can disproportionately disadvantage hospitals' standardised mortality ratios, one of the commonly reported measures of hospital performance.² It will be important to track changes in the levels of the depth of coding across Australian states, and to consider the implications of these for state-based performance comparisons, following the national rollout of activity-based funding and comparative performance reporting.

Several factors might explain variation in depth of coding between hospitals. Clinical coders can code only information that has been recorded in the patient's medical record, so varying level of details recorded by clinicians will influence what gets coded. The training and professional development opportunities for coding staff might also influence the depth of coding. Also, case-mix funding systems, such as the Diagnosis Related Group (DRG) classification, are prone to 'upcoding' in order for services to receive higher reimbursement costs.¹⁴

We found that the reporting of conditions varied with hospital size, larger metropolitan hospitals having higher concordance, with κ values higher by 7% on average when comparing large tertiary with smaller urban hospitals. This finding echoes those of Powell *et al*^{β} in NSW, Australia, during 1996-1998 and Rangachari¹⁶ in the USA, during 2000-2004. Our study showed that large tertiary hospitals had better concordance for the recording of hypertension and heart disease than smaller urban hospitals, but the reverse was true for stroke and smoking. Our finding that between-hospital variation in the recording of morbidities was up to two times higher when all hospitals, rather than just the largest ones, were included has implications for further research using data from smaller hospitals. This high variability in concordamong smaller hospitals may mean that ance morbidity-adjusted comparisons are not as valid as for larger hospitals. Researchers using information from these hospitals are encouraged to supplement their data with either self-report information and/or data linkage. The value-add of incorporating previous hospitalisations was also highlighted in our results for stroke and obesity, with 43-47% more patients identified using lookback admissions than from a single admission only.

Open Access

A particular strength of our study lies in the use of linked data from a large-scale cohort study to comprehensively evaluate the recording of common conditions in hospital data, and explore the variation in recording among hospitals. The 45 and Up Study contains records for one in every 10 persons aged 45 and over in NSW, so it provides a rich resource to answer research questions. Additionally, we used advanced multilevel modelling methods to quantify the amount of between-hospital variation in the level of recording of common health conditions, a finding which is of importance for research and policy paradigms due to its impact on adjusted comparisons among hospitals and the highlighted need to improve consistency of recording in hospitals across the state. To date, hospital-level variation has only been explored with a set outcome (e.g. mortality, readmission) in mind.

A potential limitation of our study was its use of selfreported information to explore concordance, in the absence of another 'gold standard', such as medical records. Access to medical records was not possible given the de-identified nature of our data and the large number of records in the data set. Moreover, studies that have examined accuracy of self-reported conditions against medical records have found high levels of agreement, ranging from $81\%^{50}$ to $87\%^{51}$ for hypertension, $66\%^{40}$ to $96\%^{50-51}$ for diabetes and $60\%^{50}$ to $98\%^{52}$ for acute myocardial infarction. Validation studies in the 45 and Up Study cohort have reported strong correlations and excellent levels of agreement between self-reported and measured height and weight, and derived BMI⁵³ as well as self-reported diabetes.⁵⁴ Although the 45 and Up Study had a response rate of 18%, the study sample is very large and has excellent heterogeneity. Furthermore, exposure-outcome relationships estimated from the 45 and Up Study data have been shown to be consistent with a large 'representative' population survey of the same population.55

CONCLUSION

The recording of common comorbid conditions in routine hospital data is highly variable and, for some conditions, very poor. Recording varies considerably among hospitals, presenting the potential to introduce bias into risk-adjusted comparisons of hospital performance, especially for indicators that use heart disease or hypertension for risk adjustment. Furthermore, betweenhospital variation is amplified when smaller and private hospitals are included in the analyses. Stratification of analyses according to factors that predict the completeness of recording, including hospital depth of coding and hospital type and size, supplementing morbidity information with linked data from previous hospitalisations and increases in efforts to standardise recording across hospitals, all offer potential for increasing the validity of risk-adjusted comparisons.

Acknowledgements The authors thank all of the men and women who participated in the 45 and Up Study. The 45 and Up Study is managed by the

Open Access

Sax Institute (http://www.saxinstitute.org.au) in collaboration with major partner Cancer Council NSW; and partners: the National Heart Foundation of Australia (NSW Division); NSW Ministry of Health; beyondblue; Ageing, Disability and Home Care, Department of Family and Community Services; the Australian Red Cross Blood Service; and UnitingCare Ageing. They would like to acknowledge the Sax Institute and the NSW Ministry of Health for allowing access to the data, and the Centre for Health Record Linkage for conducting the probabilistic linkage of records. They are grateful to Dr Fiona Blyth and Dr Kris Rogers for their advice at the early stages of the project.

Contributors SL had overall responsibility for the design of this study, data management, statistical analysis and drafting this paper. DEW and LRJ contributed to the conception and design of the study. LRJ helped with data acquisition and provided oversight for all analyses. DAR and JMS provided oversight and advice for the design and interpretation of the statistical analyses. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the findings, the writing of the paper and approved the final draft.

Funding The Assessing Preventable Hospitalisation InDicators (APHID) study is funded by a National Health and Medical Research Council Partnership Project Grant (#1036858) and by partner agencies the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, the Agency for Clinical Innovation and the NSW Bureau of Health Information.

Competing interests None.

Ethics approval NSW Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee and the University of Western Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

Data sharing statement No additional data are available.

Open Access This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work noncommercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

REFERENCES

- Lilford R, Mohammed MA, Spiegelhalter D, et al. Use and misuse of 1. process and outcome data in managing performance of acute medical care: avoiding institutional stigma. Lancet 2004;363:1147-54.
- 2. Mohammed MA, Deeks JJ, Girling A, et al. Evidence of methodological bias in hospital standardised mortality ratios: retrospective database study of English hospitals. BMJ 2009;338: b780.
- Powell H, Lim LL, Heller RF. Accuracy of administrative data to 3. assess comorbidity in patients with heart disease: an Australian perspective. J Clin Epidemiol 2001;54:687-93.
- 4. Pine M, Jordan HS, Elixhauser A, et al. Enhancement of claims data to improve risk adjustment of hospital mortality. JAMA 2007;297:71-6.
- Pine M, Norusis M, Jones B, et al. Predictions of hospital mortality 5. rates: a comparison of data sources. Ann Intern Med 1997.126.347-54
- Hawker GA, Coyte PC, Wright JG, et al. Accuracy of administrative 6. data for assessing outcomes after knee replacement surgery. J Clin Epidemiol 1997;50:265-73.
- Kieszak SM, Flanders WD, Kosinski AS, et al. A comparison of the 7. Charlson comorbidity index derived from medical record data and administrative billing data. J Clin Epidemiol 1999;52:137–42.
- 8. Quan H, Parsons GA, Ghali WA. Validity of information on comorbidity derived rom ICD-9-CCM administrative data. Med Care 2002:40:675-85.
- Preen DB, Holman CAJ, Lawrence DM, et al. Hospital chart review 9. provided more accurate comorbidity information than data from a general practitioner survey or an administrative database. J Clin Epidemiol 2004;57:1295-304.
- 10. Henderson T, Shepheard J, Sundararajan V. Quality of diagnosis and procedure coding in ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care 2006:44:1011-19.
- Quach S, Blais C, Quan H. Administrative data have high variation in 11. validity for recording heart failure. Can J Cardiol 2010;26:e306-12.

- Leal J, Laupland K. Validity of ascertainment of co-morbid illness 12. using administrative databases: a systematic review. Clin Microbiol Infect 2010:16:715-21
- Chong WF, Ding YY, Heng BH. A comparison of comorbidities 13. obtained from hospital administrative data and medical charts in older patients with pneumonia. BMC Health Serv Res 2011;11:105.
- Steinbusch PJ, Oostenbrink JB, Zuurbier JJ, et al. The risk of 14. upcoding in casemix systems: a comparative study. Health Policy 2007;81:289-99.
- Lorence DP, Ibrahim IA. Benchmarking variation in coding accuracy 15. across the United States. J Health Care Finance 2003;29:29
- 16. Rangachari P. Coding for quality measurement: the relationship between hospital structural characteristics and coding accuracy from the perspective of quality measurement. Perspect Health Inf Manag 2007;4:3.
- Coory M, Cornes S. Interstate comparisons of public hospital 17. outputs using DRGs: are they fair? Aust N Z J Public Health 2005;29:143-8.
- 18. National Health Performance Authority. Healthy Communities: Overweight and obesity rates across Australia, 2011-12 (In Focus). 2013.
- Banks E. Bedman S. Jorm L. et al. Cohort profile: the 45 and up 19. study. Int J Epidemiol 2008;37:941.
- National Centre for Classification in Health. International Statistical 20. Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision, Australian Modification (ICD-10-AM), Australian Classification of Health Interventions (ACHI). Sydney: National Centre for Classification in Health, 2006.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National health data 21. dictionary. Version 16. Canberra: AIHW, 2012.
- Kelman CW, Bass AJ, Holman CDJ. Research use of linked health 22. data-a best practice protocol. Aust N Z J Public Health 2002;26:251-5.
- Eagar K. Counting acute inpatient care. ABF Information Series No 23. 5 2010. https://ahsri.uow.edu.au/content/groups/public/@web/@ chsd/documents/doc/uow082637.pdf (accessed Jul 2014).
- 24. World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and managing the
- global epidemic. World Health Organization, 2000. Stewart AL, Ware JE. *Measuring functioning and well-being: the medical outcomes study approach*. Duke University Press, 1992. 25.
- NSW Health. NSW Health Services Comparison Data Book 2008/ 26. 09. 2010. http://www0.health.nsw.gov.au/pubs/2010/pdf/yellowbook_ 09.pdf (accessed Apr 2014).
- 27. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Regional and remote health: a guide to remoteness classifications. Canberra: AIHW, 2004.
- Zhang JX, Iwashyna TJ, Christakis NA. The performance of different 28. lookback periods and sources of information for Charlson comorbidity adjustment in Medicare claims. Med Care 1999;37:1128-39
- 29. Fleiss JL, Levin B, Paik MC. The measurement of interrater agreement. Stat Methods Rates Proportions 1981;2:212-36.
- Merlo J, Chaix B, Ohlsson H, et al. A brief conceptual tutorial of 30. multilevel analysis in social epidemiology: using measures of clustering in multilevel logistic regression to investigate contextual phenomena. J Epidemiol Community Health 2006;60:290-7
- Snijders T, Bosker R. Multilevel analysis. 2nd edn. London: Sage, 31. 2012.
- SAS Version 9.3 [software] [program]. Cary, North Carolina, 2010. MLwiN Version 2.25 [software] [program]. Centre for Multilevel 32. 33.
- Modelling, University of Bristol, Bristol, 2012. 34. Bentley JP, Taylor LK, Brandt PG. Reporting of Aboriginal and
- Torres Strait Islander peoples on the NSW Admitted Patient Data Collection: the 2010 data quality survey. NS W Public Health Bull 2012:23:17-20.
- 35. Tran DT, Jorm L, Lujic S, et al. Country of birth recording in Australian hospital morbidity data: accuracy and predictors. Aust N Z J Public Health 2012;36:310-16.
- 36. Taylor LK, Travis S, Pym M, et al. How useful are hospital morbidity data for monitoring conditions occurring in the perinatal period? Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2005;45:36-41.
- 37 Roberts CL, Bell JC, Ford JB, et al. The accuracy of reporting of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy in population health data Hypertens Pregnancy 2008;27:285–97. Hadfield RM, Lain SJ, Cameron CA, et al. The prevalence of
- 38 maternal medical conditions during pregnancy and a validation of their reporting in hospital discharge data. Aust NZJ Obstet Gynaecol 2008;48:78-82.
- Lain SJ, Hadfield RM, Raynes-Greenow CH, et al. Quality of data in 39. perinatal population health databases: a systematic review. Med Care 2012;50:e7-20.

6

Okura Y, Urban LH, Mahoney DW, et al. Agreement between self-report questionnaires and medical record data was substantial for diabetes, hypertension, myocardial infarction and stroke but not for heart failure. J Clin Epidemiol 2004;57:1096.

- Eagar KM. What is activity-based funding? ABF Information Series No. 1. 2011. http://ro.uow.edu.au/gsbpapers/47/ (accessed Apr 2014).
- O'Reilly J, Busse R, Häkkinen U, et al. Paying for hospital care: the experience with implementing activity-based funding in five European countries. Health Econ Policy Law 2012;7:73
- European countries. *Health Econ Policy Law* 2012;7:73.
 Knight L, Halech R, Martin C, *et al.* Impact of changes in diabetes coding on Queensland hospital principal diagnosis morbidity data. 2011. http://www.health.qld.gov.au/hsu/tech_report/techreport_9.pdf (accessed Jul 2014).
- Preen DB, Holman CDAJ, Spilsbury K, et al. Length of comorbidity lookback period affected regression model performance of administrative health data. J Clin Epidemiol 2006;59:940–6.
 van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Knottnerus JA. Comorbidity or
- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Knottnerus JA. Comorbidity or multimorbidity: what's in a name? A review of literature. *Eur J Gen Pract* 1996;2:65–70.
- Fung V, Schmittdiel JA, Fireman B, *et al.* Meaningful variation in performance: a systematic literature review. *Med Care* 2010;48:140–8.
- Bennett-Guerrero E, Zhao Y, O'Brien SM, *et al.* Variation in use of blood transfusion in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *JAMA* 2010;304:1568–75.

 Seymour CW, Iwashyna TJ, Ehlenbach WJ, et al. Hospital-level variation in the use of intensive care. *Health Serv Res* 2012;47:2060–80.

Open Access

- Randall DA, Jorm LR, Lujic S, et al. Disparities in revascularization rates after acute myocardial infarction between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people in Australia clinical perspective. *Circulation* 2013;127:811–19.
- Merkin S, Cavanaugh K, Longenecker JC, *et al.* Agreement of self-reported comorbid conditions with medical and physician reports varied by disease among end-stage renal disease patients. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2007;60:634.
- Barber J, Muller S, Whitehurst T, et al. Measuring morbidity: self-report or health care records?. Fam Pract 2010;27:25–30.
- Machón M, Arriola L, Larrañaga N, et al. Validity of self-reported prevalent cases of stroke and acute myocardial infarction in the Spanish cohort of the EPIC study. J Epidemiol Community Health 2013;67:71–5.
- Ng SP, Korda R, Clements M, et al. Validity of self-reported height and weight and derived body mass index in middle-aged and elderly individuals in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health 2011;35:557–63.
- Comino EJ, Tran DT, Haas M, et al. Validating self-report of diabetes use by participants in the 45 and up study: a record linkage study. BMC Health Serv Res 2013;13:481.
- Mealing NM, Banks E, Jorm LR, et al. Investigation of relative risk estimates from studies of the same population with contrasting response rates and designs. BMC Med Res Methodol 2010;10:26.

4.5 Knowledge building

This Chapter used linkage of two data sources (survey and hospital data) and found that the recording of common comorbid conditions varies between conditions, and between hospitals. It highlighted the value-add of incorporating prior hospitalisations in identifying patients with morbidities. Informed by these findings, lookback periods were used to ascertain morbidities in the remaining thesis chapters.

Ascertainment of chronic diseases using a third source of data – medications – as well as comparison of prevalence of multimorbidity between all three data sources was carried out in Chapter 5.

Due to the differences in between-hospital variation of recording of morbidities,

stratification/restriction of results by hospital type was undertaken in Chapter 7 to alleviate the possibility of bias for hospital-based performance reporting.

CHAPTER 5

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data

5.1 Background and aims

Multimorbidity estimates have most commonly been derived using primary health care data sources. However, Australian does not yet have a national primary health care dataset that would allow for accurate estimation of the burden of multimorbidity within the primary care setting.

The current study uses record linkage of self-report survey data from a large cohort study with two sets of administrative data to compare ascertainment of multimorbidity. Specifically, it investigates:

- a) The concordance of identification of multimorbidity using self-report and administrative datasets
- b) the similarities and differences between people with multimorbidity ascertained using different datasets and
- c) whether the same individuals are classified as multimorbid using different data sources.

5.2 Key findings

The study shows that the ascertainment of multimorbidity, using the same list of chronic conditions and the same individuals, varies between data sources, and that, even where the estimated prevalence of multimorbidity is similar for two data sets, the concordance in classification as multimorbid for individual patients is low.

5.3 Publication details

Lujic S, Simpson JM, Zwar N, Hosseinzadeh H, Jorm LJ.

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data. *PLoS ONE*. 2017;12(8).

PLoS ONE 2017; 12(8): e0183817. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183817

Copyright © 2017, Lujic S. This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) license, permitting the use by the authors without further permissions required.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

S1 Fig and S1 Table of this publication are shown in Appendix 4.

5.4 Student contribution

I conceptualised and designed the study with the help from co-authors. I carried out data curation and management, performed statistical analysis and visualisations, drafted the initial manuscript, and reviewed and revised the manuscript following co-authors' and reviewers' comments. Louisa Jorm acquired the data. Supervisors (Louisa Jorm and Judy Simpson) provided oversight of the analysis and contributed to the study result interpretations. Co-authors Nicholas Zwar and Hassan Hosseinzadeh provided advice on the study interpretation.



RESEARCH ARTICLE

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data

Sanja Lujic¹*, Judy M. Simpson², Nicholas Zwar³, Hassan Hosseinzadeh³, Louisa Jorm¹

1 Centre for Big Data Research in Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia, 2 School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia, 3 School of Public Health and Community Medicine, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

* s.lujic@unsw.edu.au

Abstract

Background

Estimating multimorbidity (presence of two or more chronic conditions) using administrative data is becoming increasingly common. We investigated (1) the concordance of identification of chronic conditions and multimorbidity using self-report survey and administrative datasets; (2) characteristics of people with multimorbidity ascertained using different data sources; and (3) whether the same individuals are classified as multimorbid using different data sources.

Methods

Baseline survey data for 90,352 participants of the 45 and Up Study—a cohort study of residents of New South Wales, Australia, aged 45 years and over—were linked to prior twoyear pharmaceutical claims and hospital admission records. Concordance of eight selfreport chronic conditions (reference) with claims and hospital data were examined using sensitivity (Sn), positive predictive value (PPV), and kappa (ĸ).The characteristics of people classified as multimorbid were compared using logistic regression modelling.

Results

Agreement was found to be highest for diabetes in both hospital and claims data ($\kappa = 0.79$, 0.78; Sn = 79%, 72%; PPV = 86%, 90%). The prevalence of multimorbidity was highest using self-report data (37.4%), followed by claims data (36.1%) and hospital data (19.3%). Combining all three datasets identified a total of 46 683 (52%) people with multimorbidity, with half of these identified using a single dataset only, and up to 20% identified on all three datasets. Characteristics of persons with and without multimorbidity were generally similar. However, the age gradient was more pronounced and people speaking a language other than English at home were more likely to be identified as multimorbid by administrative data.



GOPEN ACCESS

Citation: Lujic S, Simpson JM, Zwar N, Hosseinzadeh H, Jorm L (2017) Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data. PLoS ONE 12(8): e0183817. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/</u> journal.pone.0183817

Editor: Fakir M Amirul Islam, Swinburne University of Technology, AUSTRALIA

Received: December 20, 2016

Accepted: August 13, 2017

Published: August 29, 2017

Copyright: © 2017 Lujic et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The 45 and Up Study is an open research resource which is managed by the Sax Institute. The datasets for this article were created by linkage of the 45 and Up Study baseline survey data to Australian Government and NSW state data sources with support from the NSW Centre for Health Record Linkage (<u>www.cherel.org.</u> au), and permission from the custodians of the datasets (Department of Human Services for PBS dataset, NSW Ministry of Health for APDC dataset) under specific ethics approvals. Interested researchers can contact the Sax Institute



Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

(45andup.research@saxinstitute.org.au) and NSW Centre for Record Linkage (cherel.mail@moh. health.nsw.gov.au) for data access approval procedures.

Funding: This work was supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council Partnership Project Grant (#1036858) and by partner agencies the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, the Agency for Clinical Innovation and the NSW Bureau of Health Information. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Conclusions

Different individuals, with different combinations of conditions, are identified as multimorbid when different data sources are used. As such, caution should be applied when ascertaining morbidity from a single data source as the agreement between self-report and administrative data is generally poor. Future multimorbidity research exploring specific disease combinations and clusters of diseases that commonly co-occur, rather than a simple disease count, is likely to provide more useful insights into the complex care needs of individuals with multiple chronic conditions.

Introduction

Chronic diseases are the leading cause of illness, disability and death, accounting for 68% of global [1] and 90% of all Australian deaths [2]. The prevalence of chronic conditions has been increasing over the past forty years [3], with the greatest growth seen in the concurrent presence of multiple chronic diseases (known as multimorbidity [4]), attributable to the ageing population, and advances in medical care and public health policy [5, 6]. One third of the Australian population [7] are estimated to have multimorbidity, with up to 80% of those aged 65 and over having three or more chronic conditions [8].

Appropriate and accurate measurement of the prevalence of chronic disease and multimorbidity is essential in order to monitor trends, estimate burden of disease, target preventive measures, and plan treatment and care delivery. A variety of data sources are used for monitoring, including population health surveys, disease registries and administrative databases (including primary health care, hospitalisation and medication data), with the use of the latter becoming increasingly common due to its efficient capture, ease of use and inexpensive nature [9]. However, the use of administrative data is not without drawbacks. These data have different levels of capture of chronic disease, and variable data quality [10–14]. Furthermore, not all patients with chronic diseases use hospital services, and even when they do, their admission record may not capture all of their conditions. Medication data, on the other hand, present a different set of challenges. In some instances, prescribed medications are clearly linked to the treatment of a specific chronic condition (e.g. insulin in diabetic patients). In other cases, medications may have multiple indications (e.g. β -blockers for heart failure and high blood pressure). The majority of Australian studies of multimorbidity have estimated multimorbidity using self-report data [15–19].

Research on comparative estimates of multimorbidity derived using different data sources is scarce. The majority of multimorbidity studies use only one dataset (for example [17–21]), with only a handful of studies [22–27] examined the difference in prevalence estimates between data sources. These studies found differences in estimates of multimorbidity, but these were largely attributable to differing study populations and numbers of conditions counted in the multimorbidity definition. Even when trying to standardise the multimorbidity definition by using the same list of chronic conditions [26] or comparing multimorbidity within the same sample [24], no study has examined whether the same people, using the same list of chronic conditions different data sources.

The current study used record linkage of self-report survey data from a large cohort study with two sets of administrative data to compare ascertainment of common chronic conditions. Specific aims were to investigate: (1) the concordance of identification of chronic conditions



and multimorbidity using self-report and administrative datasets; (2) the similarities and differences between people with multimorbidity ascertained using different datasets; and (3) whether the same individuals are classified as multimorbid using different data sources.

Methods

Data sources

The 45 and Up Study. The 45 and Up Study is a large-scale cohort study involving 266,950 men and women aged 45 years and over from the general population of New South Wales, Australia's most populous state. The study is described in detail elsewhere [28]. In brief, participants in the 45 and Up Study were randomly sampled from the Department of Human Services (formerly Medicare Australia) enrolment database, which provides near complete coverage of the population. People 80+ years of age and residents of rural and remote areas were oversampled. Participants joined the Study by completing a baseline questionnaire between February 2005 and March 2009 and giving signed consent for linkage of their information to routine health databases [28]. Of those invited, about 18% participated and these comprised about 11% of the NSW population aged 45 and over [28]. The baseline questionnaire was modified over time in an attempt to better capture self-report or doctor-diagnosed common illnesses. There were three versions of the questionnaire. In version 1, asthma, hayfever and depression were present [29].

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS). The PBS database contains information on Commonwealth subsidised claims for prescribed medicines listed on the Schedule of Pharmaceutical Benefits [30]. The main PBS beneficiaries include concession card holders (people aged 65 and over who meet an income test, people with disability, low income or facing a large burden of dependants) and general beneficiaries. Prior to 2012, only records for PBS-listed prescription medications for which a government subsidy was paid were recorded on the PBS data. This resulted in differential capture of prescribed medicines by concession card holders and general beneficiaries. Capture for concession card holders was complete, as all prescription medicines cost more that the concession threshold. However, PBS-medicines falling below the co-payment threshold for general beneficiaries were not captured in the PBS data. We therefore restricted our analyses to concession card holders only, to avoid potential incomplete capture of medicines dispensed to general beneficiaries. PBS data from 1 September 2005 to 20 December 2011 were linked deterministically to 45 and Up Study questionnaire data by the Sax Institute, using a unique identifier that was provided to the Department of Human Services (DHS). PBS data included date of dispensing, beneficiary status, PBS item code, Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) code [31] and quantity supplied. Unless otherwise specified, the term medication data in the paper refers to the PBS data.

The NSW Admitted Patient Data Collection (APDC). The APDC includes records of all public and private hospital admissions ending in a separation, i.e. discharge, transfer, typechange or death. Diagnoses are coded according to the Australian modification of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Problems 10th Revision, ICD-10-AM [32]. Up to 55 diagnoses codes are recorded on the APDC, including the principal diagnosis and up to 54 additional diagnoses. The APDC from 1 July 2000 to 31 December 2013 was linked probabilistically to survey information from the 45 and Up Study by the NSW Centre for Health Record Linkage (www.cherel.org.au) using the 'best practice' protocol for preserving privacy [33]. Unless otherwise specified, the term hospital data in the paper refers to the APDC data.



Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

Study population

People aged 45 years and over were included in the analysis if they: (a) completed the 45 and Up Study baseline study questionnaire between 1 September 2007 and 2 March 2009; and (b) had a PBS record for any prescription medication within 2 years preceding the questionnaire date (longest lookback available). Only those with consistent PBS concession card holder status within the 2-year period were included. Information about hospitalisations for these participants was also obtained from the APDC data, restricted to the same 2-year period as the PBS data. People who answered version 1 of the 45 and Up Study baseline questionnaire (n = 37 088) were excluded, as it was not possible to ascertain self-report of doctor-diagnosed depression for these participants. Holders of a Department of Veterans' Affairs health card (n = 6 299) were also excluded, as the PBS does not capture all the services provided to these individuals. A total of 90 352 people with consistent PBS concession card holder status were included in the analysis: 46,766 persons with claims data only (medication only); and 43 586 persons with both claims and hospitalisation records (medication + hospitalisation) (S1 Fig)

Morbidity measures

A total of eight chronic conditions (hypertension, cancer, heart disease, stroke, diabetes, asthma, depression and Parkinson's disease–hereafter referred to as 'morbidities') were selected for analysis, based on their availability in both self-report and administrative data.

Self-report morbidities were ascertained on the basis of responses to a single question "Has a doctor ever told you that you have (*name of condition*)?" in the baseline 45 and Up Study survey.

Morbidity in the hospital data was ascertained using ICD-10-AM codes in any of the 55 diagnosis fields (<u>S1 Table</u>). The initial list of eligible ICD-10 codes was obtained from the Charlson Index [34, 35] and Elixhauser Index [36, 37], and refined following advice from a clinical coder. If a condition was coded at least once in the 2-year lookback period, then a person was coded as having that condition in the hospital data.

Morbidity in the medication data was ascertained using ATC codes obtained from Rx-Risk-V [38, 39], published reports [40], and research articles [41–47]. A person was coded as having conditions of interest if a specific ATC code was present in the medication data at least twice in the 2-year lookback period, as it was expected that chronic condition medications would be used regularly. Where published literature had different ATC codes, we chose the codes that had the highest positive predictive value (<u>S1 Table</u>).

A count of conditions in each of the three datasets (self-report, medication and hospital) was created by summing the total number of chronic conditions, ranging from 0 to 8, as well as the total when stroke was excluded. Multimorbidity was defined as having two or more chronic conditions, which is the most commonly used definition in the literature [48]. Complex multimorbidity was defined as having three or more chronic conditions affecting three or more body systems [49].

Statistical methods

Measures of agreement. Agreement between the three data sources was measured by estimating sensitivity (Sn), specificity (Sp), positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV) and Cohen's kappa statistic (κ) using self-report morbidity measures as the reference. Sensitivity represents the percentage of those with a condition (according to self-report) who were correctly identified as having that condition in administrative data. Specificity represents the percentage of those without a self-report condition who did not have a condition in administrative data. PPV represents the percentage of those identified as having a condition of



Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

interest in the administrative data, who actually had the condition, according to self-report. NPV represents the percentage of those identified as not having a condition of interest in the administrative data, who did not have a condition according to the self-report. The kappa statistic (κ) represents the proportion agreement corrected for chance. Kappa values above 0.75 denote excellent agreement, 0.40 to 0.75 fair to good agreement and below 0.45 poor agreement [50].

Analysis. Logistic regression was used to model the odds of multimorbidity, within each dataset separately. All analyses were adjusted for age (categorised into four 10-year age groups and 85+) and sex, and adjusted odds ratios (aORs) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated. A range of categorical variables were examined, including remoteness of residence, highest education attainment, Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander origin, country of birth, language other than English spoken at home, household income and marital status. Information about these variables was obtained from the 45 and Up Study baseline questionnaire. All data management and analyses were conducted using SAS software, version 9.3 [51].

Ethical approvals

Ethics approvals for this study were obtained from the NSW Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee and the Aboriginal Health & Medical Research Ethics Committee. The conduct of the 45 and Up Study was approved by the University of New South Wales Human Research Ethics Committee.

Results

Sample characteristics

The sample comprised 90 352 participants, who all had a PBS record within the 2 years prior to joining the 45 and Up Study. Forty eight percent of participants also had a hospitalisation in the same timeframe. The mean age at survey completion was 70.2 years in the full sample, and 71.8 years among those with a hospital record. The median number of self-report conditions was 1, with hypertension being the most commonly reported. Other characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1.

Agreement measures

Table 2 summarises agreement measures for self-report and administrative data for all eight chronic conditions and multimorbidity definitions. Excellent levels of agreement beyond chance were only found for diabetes, in both medication and hospital datasets. Fair to good agreement was found for hypertension, asthma, depression and Parkinson's disease in the medication data only. The agreement between self-report and hospital data was generally poor.

Except for cancer, sensitivity values were found to be higher in medication data (range 51.5% - 72.4%) than the hospital data (range 6.1% - 78.6%) (Fig 1). However, hospital data exhibited higher levels of PPV across all conditions, with the majority of PPVs higher than 70%. The highest PPV was for cancer (89%) in hospital data, and diabetes (90%) in medication data.

Prevalence of individual chronic conditions varied by data source, with hypertension identified in nearly 50% of the sample. Stroke prevalence estimates were found to be four times greater using medication data than self-report data (22.5% vs 5.6%), so stroke was excluded from the count of conditions in the remaining analyses.

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

Table 1. Characteristics of the study population.

	Medication (N	+ Hospitalisation = 43,586)	Fu (N	ll sample = 90,352)
Mean age, years (standard deviation)	7	1.8 (9.7)	70	.2 (10.2)
Median number of self-report chronic conditions (range)		1 (0–8)		1 (0–8)
Median number of self-report chronic conditions (exc stroke) (range)		1 (0–7)		1 (0–7)
Male sex, n (%)	20,	509 (47.1)	40,0	032 (44.3)
Born overseas, n (%)	10,	300 (23.6)	22,	575 (25.0)
Speaks language other than English at home, n (%)	4,	173 (9.6)	9,5	25 (10.5)
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander, n (%)	4	410 (0.9)		04 (1.0)
Self-report conditions:	% with this % with 1+ other condition conditions		% with this condition	% with 1+ other conditions
Hypertension	48.7	70.6	46.2	63.8
Cancer	26.4	75.2	20.9	73.1
Heart disease	23.9	82.2	18.5	80.6
Stroke	7.3	88.8	5.6	87.8
Diabetes	15.2	87.7	13.6	84.4
Asthma	14.0	82.3	12.6	77.8
Depression	16.2	79.0	15.7	72.8
Parkinson's	1.2	85.5	1.0	83.3

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183817.t001

Prevalence of multimorbidity

The prevalence of multimorbidity in the study sample was highest using the self-report data (37.4% in the overall sample, 44.2% among those hospitalised), followed by medication data (36.1%) and hospital data (19.3%) (Table 2). The highest level of complex multimorbidity was found among hospitalised patients using the self-report multimorbidity definition (11%).

The prevalence of multimorbidity was higher in males, and increased with age, using all three data definitions (Fig 2). For those aged under 75 years, the highest prevalence was found using self-report data. For people aged over 75 years, the estimates, particularly in women, were higher using medication data. The proportion of persons with multimorbidity was consistently lower in hospital data compared to the other two datasets.

Associations between multimorbidity and key demographic variables were found to be consistent between datasets, with some differences in the magnitudes of these relationships. The odds of multimorbidity were higher in people who were male, older, of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander origin, widowed/divorced/separated, or lived in remote/very remote areas (Table 3). Males had higher odds of multimorbidity using hospital data than with medication data (OR = 1.49 versus OR = 1.07). The age gradient in multimorbidity was more pronounced using administrative data than self-report data (OR >2.5 versus OR = 1.83 for those aged 75–84). People speaking a language other than English at home had 6% higher odds of having multimorbidity (OR = 1.06, 95% CI 1.01–1.10) using medication data and 32% higher odds using hospital data (OR = 1.32, 95% CI 1.22–1.42), but 20% lower odds (OR = 0.80, 95% CI 0.76–0.84) of multimorbidity using self-report data.

Agreement in multimorbidity between datasets

A total of 46 683 (52%) people were found to have multimorbidity in any of the three datasets– 33 768 using self-report data, and an additional 12 915 using administrative data only. Of all multimorbid cases, half were identified using a single dataset only, and around one in ten

74

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

	5		•			· •		
Chronic condition	Sn (95% Cl)	PPV (95% CI)	Sp (95% CI)	NPV (95%CI)	Карра	Prevalence admin data	Prevalence self- report	Relative difference
			Ho	ospital data (n :	= 43,586)	3		
Hypertension	34.5 (33.9– 35.2)	72.7 (71.8– 73.6)	87.7 (87.2– 88.1)	58.5 (57.9– 59.0)	0.23	23.1%	48.7%	-53%
Cancer	17.9 (17.2– 18.6)	89.0 (87.7– 90.2)	99.2 (99.1– 99.3)	77.1 (76.7– 77.5)	0.23	5.3%	26.4%	-80%
Heart disease	44.4 (43.4– 45.3)	59.0 (57.9– 60.1)	90.3 (90.0– 90.6)	83.8 (83.4– 84.2)	0.38	18.0%	23.9%	-25%
Stroke	13.2 (12.0– 14.4)	74.7 (71.0– 78.2)	99.7 (99.6– 99.7)	93.6 (93.4– 93.8)	0.21	1.3%	7.3%	-82%
Diabetes	78.6 (77.6– 79.6)	86.1 (85.2– 86.9)	97.7 (97.6– 97.9)	96.2 (96.0– 96.4)	0.79	13.8%	15.2%	-9%
Asthma	6.9 (6.3–7.5)	80.8 (77.2– 83.9)	99.7 (99.7– 99.8)	86.8 (86.5– 87.1)	0.11	1.2%	14.0%	-91%
Depression	6.1 (5.6–6.7)	70.5 (66.7– 73.9)	99.5 (99.4– 99.6)	84.6 (84.2– 84.9)	0.09	1.4%	16.2%	-91%
Parkinsons's	29.1 (25.4– 33.0)	82.5 (76.5– 87.3)	99.9 (99.9– 99.9)	99.1 (99.0– 99.2)	0.43	0.4%	1.2%	-65%
MM ¹	33.5 (32.8– 34.2)	76.7 (75.8– 77.6)	91.9 (91.6– 92.3)	63.6 (63.1– 64.1)	0.27	19.3%	44.2%	-56%
Complex MM ²	7.4 (6.7–8.1)	67.9 (63.8– 71.8)	99.6 (99.5– 99.6)	89.7 (89.4– 90.0)	0.11	1.2%	11.0%	-89%
			Med	lication data (n	= 90,35	2) ⁴		
Hypertension	62.2 (61.7– 62.6)	79.9 (79.4– 80.3)	86.6 (86.3– 86.9)	72.7 (72.4– 73.1)	0.50	35.9%	46.2%	-22%
Cancer	4.5 (4.2–4.8)	47.6 (45.3– 50.0)	98.7 (98.6– 98.8)	79.6 (79.3– 79.9)	0.05	2.0%	20.9%	-91%
Heart disease	67.9 (67.2– 68.6)	35.3 (34.7– 35.8)	71.7 (71.3– 72.0)	90.8 (90.5– 91.0)	0.29	35.7%	18.5%	93%
Stroke	64.1 (62.8– 65.4)	16.0 (15.5– 16.5)	80.0 (79.8– 80.3)	97.4 (97.3– 97.5)	0.18	22.5%	5.6%	300%
Diabetes	72.4 (71.7– 73.2)	90.0 (89.4– 90.5)	98.7 (98.6– 98.8)	95.8 (95.6– 95.9)	0.78	11.0%	13.6%	-19%
Asthma	65.4 (64.6– 66.3)	57.3 (56.5– 58.2)	93.0 (92.8– 93.2)	94.9 (94.8– 95.1)	0.55	14.4%	12.6%	14%
Depression	51.5 (50.7– 52.3)	66.4 (65.5– 67.3)	95.1 (95.0– 95.3)	91.3 (91.1– 91.5)	0.51	12.2%	15.7%	-22%
Parkinson's	58.9 (55.7– 62.0)	53.3 (50.3– 56.4)	99.5 (99.4– 99.5)	99.6 (99.5– 99.6)	0.56	1.1%	1.0%	10%
MM ¹	60.4 (59.8– 60.9)	62.5 (62.0– 63.0)	78.4 (78.0– 78.7)	76.8 (76.5– 77.2)	0.39	36.1%	37.4%	-3%
Complex MM ²	24.7 (23.7– 25.6)	56.2 (54.5– 57.8)	98.2 98.1– 98.2)	93.2 (93.0– 93.3)	0.31	3.8%	8.7%	-56%
			Medicatio	on or hospital c	lata (n =	90,352) ⁵		
Hypertension	66.2 (65.8– 66.7)	78.0 (77.6– 78.5)	84.0 (83.7– 84.3)	74.4 (74.0– 74.7)	0.51	39.2%	46.2%	-15%
Cancer	13.1 (12.6– 13.5)	68.5 (66.9– 70.0)	98.4 (98.3– 98.5)	81.0 (80.8– 81.3)	0.16	4.0%	20.9%	-81%
Heart disease	73.1 (72.4– 73.8)	35.7 (35.2– 36.2)	70.0 (69.7– 70.4)	92.0 (91.7– 92.2)	0.31	38.0%	18.5%	105%
Stroke	65.8 (64.5– 67.1)	16.3 (15.8– 16.8)	79.9 (79.7– 80.2)	97.5 (97.4– 97.6)	0.19	22.6%	5.6%	303%

Table 2. Measures of agreement between self-report chronic conditions and administrative data, 2-year lookback.

(Continued)



Table 2. (Continued)

Chronic condition	Sn (95% Cl)	PPV (95% CI)	Sp (95% CI)	NPV (95%CI)	Карра	Prevalence admin data	Prevalence self- report	Relative difference
Diabetes	80.4 (79.7– 81.1)	86.8 (86.2– 87.4)	98.1 (98.0– 98.2)	96.9 (96.8– 97.1)	0.81	12.6%	13.6%	-7%
Asthma	65.8 (65.0– 66.7)	57.3 (56.5– 58.2)	92.9 (92.8– 93.1)	95.0 (94.8– 95.1)	0.55	14.5%	12.6%	15%
Depression	52.0 (51.1– 52.8)	66.2 (65.3– 67.0)	95.0 (94.9– 95.2)	91.4 (91.1– 91.6)	0.52	12.4%	15.7%	-21%
Parkinson's	59.5 (56.3– 62.6)	52.6 (49.6– 55.6)	99.4 (99.4– 99.5)	99.6 (99.5– 99.6)	0.55	1.2%	1.0%	13%
MM ¹	80.4 (80.0– 80.8)	59.7 (59.2– 60.1)	65.1 (64.7– 65.5)	83.8 (83.4– 84.1)	0.43	39.2%	37.4%	5%
Complex MM ²	72.0 (71.2– 72.7)	35.9 (35.4– 36.5)	78.5 (78.2– 78.8)	94.4 (94.2– 94.5)	0.36	5.1%	8.7%	-41%

Sn: sensitivity; PPV: positive predictive value; Sp: specificity; NPV: negative predictive value

¹ Multimorbidity (MM): Presence of two or more chronic conditions, excluding stroke

² Complex MM: Presence of three or more chronic conditions affecting 3 or more body systems, excluding stroke

³ Conditions ascertained from hospital diagnoses

⁴ Conditions ascertained from medication codes

⁵ Conditions ascertained from medication codes (for those without a hospitalisation), or medication or hospitalisation codes (for those with a hospitalisation)

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183817.t002





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183817.g001



Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources



Fig 2. Prevalence of multimorbidity, by age group and data source. Black circles, solid line–Self-report (male); Black circles, broken line–Self-report (female); Red circles, solid line–Medication (male); Red circles, broken line–Medication (female); Blue circles, solid line–Hospital (male); Blue circles, broken line–Hospital (female).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183817.g002

(n = 5 333, 11%) were multimorbid on all three datasets (Fig 3A). When the analyses were restricted to hospitalised patients, the overlap in the datasets increased to 20% (Fig 3B). The agreement on multimorbidity between datasets was poor, with kappa between 0.27 and 0.39, increasing to 0.43 when both hospital and medication data were combined (Table 2).

People identified as being multimorbid in only the self-report data had higher prevalence of cancer, depression, asthma and Parkinson's disease than those identified only in the administrative datasets. The most common self-report two-way combinations of morbidities were cancer and hypertension (n = 2 177), hypertension and depression (n = 1 243) and a three-way combination of cancer, hypertension and heart disease (n = 376).

Administrative data, however, were more likely to identify hypertension and heart disease than self-report, with the heart disease and hypertension two-way combination being the most prevalent in both medication (n = 7 291) and hospital datasets (n = 323) (data not shown).

Discussion

This record linkage study of self-report, hospital admission and medication data compared their use for identifying individuals with multimorbidity, based on the most common chronic conditions in Australia. It showed that the ascertainment of multimorbidity varied between data sources, and that, even where the estimated prevalence of multimorbidity was similar for two data sets, the concordance in classification as multimorbid for individual patients was low.

We investigated the level of concordance of identification of eight chronic conditions between self-report and administrative data. We found that chronic conditions identified in hospital data had higher PPVs and low sensitivities, indicating that although the hospital data does not identify all the people with a chronic condition, when such condition is identified, it is generally accurate. Diagnoses may not always be recorded during inpatient episodes of stay,

Table 3. Odds of multimorbidity, by data source.

Variable	n (%) ¹	Self-report data aOR (95% CI)	Medication data aOR (95% CI)	Hospital data aOR (95% Cl)	Medication or Hospital data aOR (95% Cl)
Age group ²					
45–54 (ref)	8,388 (9.3)	1	1	1	1
55–64	15,830 (17.5)	1.51 (1.43, 1.60)	2.08 (1.94,2.22)	1.93 (1.67,2.23)	2.14 (2.00,2.28)
65–74	35,689 (39.5)	1.56 (1.48, 1.64)	2.73 (2.57,2.91)	1.98 (1.73,2.27)	2.81 (2.65,2.99)
75–84	25,441 (28.2)	1.83 (1.73, 1.93)	4.25 (3.99,4.53)	2.59 (2.26,2.96)	4.53 (4.26,4.81)
85+	5,004 (5.5)	1.62 (1.50, 1.74)	5.13 (4.73,5.55)	3.22 (2.76,3.75)	5.74 (5.31,6.22)
Sex ³					
Female (ref)	50,320 (55.7)	1	1	1	1
Male	40,032 (44.3)	1.27 (1.23, 1.30)	1.07 (1.04,1.10)	1.49 (1.42,1.57)	1.13 (1.10,1.16)
Remoteness of residence ⁴					
Major city (ref)	37,191 (41.2)	1	1	1	1
Inner regional	33,839 (37.5)	1.06 (1.03, 1.09)	0.97 (0.94,1.01)	0.92 (0.87,0.97)	0.97 (0.94,1.00)
Outer regional	17,506 (19.4)	1.00 (0.96, 1.04)	0.98 (0.94,1.02)	0.85 (0.79,0.91)	0.96 (0.93,1.00)
Remote/very remote	1,803 (2.0)	1.14 (1.03, 1.26)	1.11 (1.00,1.23)	1.28 (1.08,1.53)	1.10 (0.99,1.21)
Highest education ⁴					
Did not complete school (ref)	42,789 (47.4)	1	1	1	1
High school, apprenticeship, grad dip	35,423 (39.2)	0.95 (0.92, 0.98)	0.80 (0.78,0.83)	0.83 (0.79,0.88)	0.80 (0.78,0.83)
University or higher	9,778 (10.8)	0.90 (0.86, 0.94)	0.65 (0.62,0.68)	0.72 (0.66,0.78)	0.65 (0.62,0.68)
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander ⁴					
Non Aboriginal (ref)	87,142 (96.5)	1	1	1	1
Aboriginal	904 (1.0)	1.57 (1.38, 1.80)	1.60 (1.39,1.83)	2.09 (1.68,2.61)	1.66 (1.45,1.91)
Speaks language other than English at home ⁴					
English only (ref)	80,827 (89.5)	1	1	1	1
Other language	9,525 (10.5)	0.80 (0.76, 0.84)	1.06 (1.01,1.10)	1.32 (1.22,1.42)	1.05 (1.00,1.10)
Country of birth ⁴					
Australia (ref)	66,568 (73.7)	1	1	1	1
Overseas	22,575 (25.0)	0.78 (0.76, 0.81)	0.86 (0.83,0.89)	1.05 (0.99,1.11)	0.86 (0.83,0.89)
Household incom ⁴					
<20,000 (ref)	35,726 (39.5)	1	1	1	1
20-50k	26,612 (29.5)	0.79 (0.77, 0.82)	0.73 (0.70,0.75)	0.65 (0.61,0.69)	0.72 (0.70,0.75)
50 - 70k	3,298 (3.7)	0.64 (0.59, 0.69)	0.53 (0.49,0.58)	0.49 (0.42,0.58)	0.54 (0.49,0.58)
70k+	1,495 (1.7)	0.58 (0.52, 0.66)	0.49 (0.43,0.55)	0.50 (0.40,0.63)	0.47 (0.42,0.53)
Not stated	15,862 (17.6)	0.75 (0.72, 0.78)	0.85 (0.81,0.88)	0.82 (0.77,0.88)	0.85 (0.82,0.88)
Marital status ⁴					
Single (ref)	5,774 (6.4)	1	1	1	1
Married/de-facto	58,655 (64.9)	0.88 (0.83, 0.94)	0.96 (0.90,1.02)	0.88 (0.80,0.98)	0.94 (0.89,1.00)
Widowed/divorced/separated	25,246 (27.9)	1.10 (1.03, 1.17)	1.09 (1.02,1.16)	1.09 (0.98,1.22)	1.09 (1.02,1.16)

aOR-odds ratio adjusted for age and sex, unless stated otherwise.

¹ –percentages do not add up to 100 due to missing data.

² –adjusted for sex only.

³ –adjusted for age only.

⁴ –adjusted for age and sex.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183817.t003

and there is variation in the level or recording between hospitals [10, 11]. In Australia, until recently, there was no mechanism to code diagnoses that do not contribute to hospital stay. Prior to 2015, only diagnoses affecting patient management in a particular episode of care were coded in administrative hospital data. In 2015 codes for temporary use in Australia were



https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183817.g003

79

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

assigned to 29 chronic conditions that are present on admission, where the condition does not meet the criteria for coding [52]. We anticipate that this introduction of supplementary codes for chronic conditions will have a positive impact on the sensitivities calculated in the future studies. For studies that do not have supplementary codes, it is advised to incorporate longer lookback periods in order to increase ascertainment of chronic conditions in hospital data [10, 53].

We found that using medication data identifies more cases (higher sensitivity), but at the cost of lower PPV. The lowest PPVs in medication data were found for stroke (16%) and heart disease (35%), the definitions for both of which capture drugs with multiple indications for prescribing. Strong levels of agreement for diabetes, hypertension and Parkinson's disease are consistent with previous research [41, 54–56], indicating that medication data can potentially be used for capturing these conditions. Low sensitivity and agreement for cancer in our study is congruent with previous Australian studies [54, 57], explained by the fact that chemotherapy drugs are only captured in the PBS data whilst patients are undergoing active treatment. Ascertainment of such cases can be increased by incorporating longer lookback periods. Higher sensitivities for diabetes, hypertension and depression found in our study, compared with a previous Australian study [57], could be attributable to a small sample size in that study, as well as our modified list of depression medications. Namely, we excluded tricyclic antidepressants, as they are commonly prescribed for insomnia and pain. This modification increased our PPV from 55% to 66%.

Selection of the most appropriate set of chronic conditions for other studies will depend on the study's purpose and the availability of data. Studies requiring accurate case ascertainment should use hospital data (noting that under-ascertainment is likely), or medication data for conditions for which medications are indicated only for that condition (e.g. diabetes) and where there is enough lookback time available. If a comprehensive profile of a patient's morbidity is needed, we suggest using a combination of data sources in order to increase sensitivity for identifying certain conditions. Caution should be applied when using hospital data for event-based conditions such as stroke, as these may have occurred outside of the time period of data capture, and would thus be under-reported. Identification of stroke patients using medications is also problematic, as the most commonly dispensed medication (Aspirin) is used for a variety of purposes. Furthermore, we recommend caution when interpreting the prevalence of disease or multimorbidity when using a single data source, in line with previously published work [26].

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the differences in estimates of multimorbidity, using the same list of chronic conditions and the same individuals. Previous data linkage studies have evaluated differences in estimates of chronic disease prevalence within the same individuals [9, 55, 57–60], but did not formally compare case ascertainment of multimorbidity. Pache et al. [24] assessed the prevalence of multimorbidity using three definitions within the same sample, and found that one-third of participants diagnosed with multimorbidity were jointly diagnosed by all three definitions used. In our sample, this estimate was lower (11% - 20%), but this is explained by the smaller number of chronic conditions (8 vs 27), and the standardised list of chronic conditions used in our study, while Pache et al. used a different set of conditions in each of their three definitions. Van den Bussche et al. [26] used an identical list of chronic conditions in the same setting, albeit among different people, and found that the prevalence of individual chronic conditions was one-third lower in claims data than in primary care data.

The odds of multimorbidity in our study were found to be higher among males, those of older age and those speaking a language other than English at home. The age gradient was noticeable in both hospital and medication datasets, especially with older ages. However, the



Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

same gradient was not observed in the self-report data for those aged 85 and over, indicating a possible under-ascertainment of multimorbidity when relying on self-report data only for this age group. Males in our sample had between 7% (PBS data) and 49% (APDC data) higher odds of multimorbidity than females. This is in contrast to other Australian studies, which either found no difference [61] or higher prevalence among females [17], albeit there are differences between the study samples in each of the studies. Compared with the current study, the National Health Survey reported higher prevalence of the most common chronic conditions–hypertension, heart disease and diabetes–among males aged 45 and over [62]. People speaking a language other than English at home in our study were found to have increased odds of having multimorbidity in the administrative data but decreased odds in the survey data. These findings are novel, and have not been reported in the published literature, to the best of our knowledge. A possible explanation is that those speaking another language might have difficulties in understanding medical terminology, which translates to underreporting of conditions in the survey data.

The use of a large-scale cohort study linked with administrative data is a particular strength of our study. This allowed us to use a homogenous population and a common set of chronic conditions to explore ascertainment of multimorbidity using different data sources, which, to the best of our knowledge, has not been done before. Administrative data used in this study are available in most Australian states and territories, allowing replication of results.

Our research has implications for studies examining chronic conditions from a single data source and those examining multimorbidity. We have shown that agreement between selfreport and administrative data sources is generally poor, except for a handful of conditions, implying that morbidity and multimorbidity prevalence estimates will vary depending on which data are used. Caution should be applied whenever a single data source is used, taking care to note different levels of capture of chronic disease between data sources. Self-report studies are subject to recall bias, hospitalisation data can only capture conditions for those admitted to hospital and if they are coded during the stay, and medication data may overestimate certain conditions because drugs may have multiple indications. In the case of administrative data, extra care should be taken regarding the time period which is used to ascertain morbidity, with longer times needed to capture more conditions of interest. Choice of which data to use also depends on the purpose of the study. For example, if the aim of the study is to monitor 'active' chronic conditions, data linkage of multiple administrative data sources may be more useful than self-report of ever-diagnosis. Furthermore, our study's finding regarding different individuals, with different combinations of conditions being identified as multimorbid, depending on which datasets are used, poses a challenge when interpreting results of studies examining outcomes of multimorbidity. Careful consideration of individual conditions (which may be under- or over-reported) is needed in order to provide meaningful recommendations for patients with complex care needs.

Although this research generated interesting results, it has some limitations. We based the analyses on a limited set of chronic conditions (arthritis and osteoporosis were notable omissions) available in all three data sources, as well as the available lookback period length. The prevalence of multimorbidity would have been different if a larger set of chronic conditions or a longer lookback period was used. However, all of the conditions used in the current study are National Health Priority Areas [63] as they represent the most common long-term conditions and most commonly managed conditions by GPs [2], significantly contributing to the burden of disease in the Australian community. They are also used in the majority of previously published research [64]. We have used the longest lookback period that the data allowed (2 years), which is longer than the 1-year lookback used in some studies [54, 59].

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

In the absence of readily available linked primary health care clinical data in Australia, and due to different levels of capture of chronic diseases in administrative datasets, we have used self-report chronic conditions as the reference when examining the concordance between data sets. Although the use of self-report data for identification of chronic disease has been cautioned by some [61], numerous other Australian studies use self-report data to ascertain multimorbidity [17–21]. Validation studies involving participants in the 45 and Up Study found excellent levels of agreement between self-report diabetes [65], country of birth [66] and height and weight [67]. Our data suggest that self-report may be less reliable after the age of 85 and in people speaking a language other than English at home. The use of another data source as a reference could have produced different results.

The use of administrative data poses a different set of challenges. Identification of chronic conditions using APDC data is limited to people who have been admitted to hospital, and having a chronic condition recorded if this was not directly related to the hospital stay, so it is likely to identify only the most severe cases. Medication dispensing information is dependent on the capture of data in the PBS dataset. We were limited to use of PBS-subsidised prescription medicines, which does not include over-the-counter and private prescriptions.

Conclusions

As administrative data become more widely used for research and evaluation, it is increasingly important to understand their strengths and limitations for ascertaining chronic disease and multimorbidity. This study showed that administrative data has high predictive value for identifying some chronic conditions, but that sensitivity is generally low. Further, it showed that different individuals, with different combinations of conditions, are identified as multimorbid when different data sources are used. Research that explores specific disease combinations and clusters of diseases that commonly co-occur, rather than simple disease counts, is likely to provide more useful insights into the complex care needs of individuals with multiple chronic conditions.

Supporting information

S1 Fig. Construction of study population. APDC–Admitted Patient Data Collection, PBS–Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme. (TIF)

S1 Table. Morbidities and ICD-10-AM and ATC codes. (DOCX)

Acknowledgments

This research was completed using data collected through the 45 and Up Study (www. <u>saxinstitute.org.au</u>). The 45 and Up Study is managed by The Sax Institute in collaboration with major partner Cancer Council NSW; and partners: the National Heart Foundation of Australia (NSW Division), NSW Ministry of Health, NSW Government Family & Community Services–Ageing, Carers and the Disability Council NSW; and the Australian Red Cross Blood Service. The authors thank the men and women participating in the 45 and Up Study. The authors thank the Sax Institute, Department of Human Services (DHS) and NSW Ministry of Health for supplying the data and the Centre for Health Record Linkage for conducting the probabilistic linkage of records. The authors acknowledge the following additional contributions: advice on clinical coding from Anne Elsworthy, advice on PBS data from Alys Havard.

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Sanja Lujic, Judy M. Simpson, Nicholas Zwar, Hassan Hosseinzadeh, Louisa Jorm.

Data curation: Sanja Lujic.

Formal analysis: Sanja Lujic.

Funding acquisition: Louisa Jorm.

Methodology: Sanja Lujic, Judy M. Simpson, Nicholas Zwar, Louisa Jorm.

Project administration: Sanja Lujic, Louisa Jorm.

Supervision: Judy M. Simpson, Louisa Jorm.

Visualization: Sanja Lujic.

Writing - original draft: Sanja Lujic.

Writing – review & editing: Sanja Lujic, Judy M. Simpson, Nicholas Zwar, Hassan Hosseinzadeh, Louisa Jorm.

References

- World Health Organization. Global Health Estimates: Deaths by Cause, Age, Sex and Country, 2000– 2012. Geneva: WHO: 2014.
- 2. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2014. Canberra: AIHW: 2014.
- Crimmins EM. Trends in the health of the elderly. Annu Rev Public Health. 2004; 25:79–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.25.102802.124401</u> PMID: <u>15015913</u>
- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Knottnerus JA. Comorbidity or multimorbidity: what's in a name? A review of literature. Eur J Gen Pract. 1996; 2(2):65–70.
- Vogeli C, Shields AE, Lee TA, Gibson TB, Marder WD, Weiss KB, et al. Multiple chronic conditions: prevalence, health consequences, and implications for quality, care management, and costs. J Gen Intern Med. 2007; 22 Suppl 3:391–5. Epub 2007/12/06.
- Quinones AR, Liang J, Bennett JM, Xu X, Ye W. How does the trajectory of multimorbidity vary across Black, White, and Mexican Americans in middle and old age? J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2011; 66(6):739–49. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr106 PMID: 21968384
- Harrison C, Henderson J, Miller G, Britt H. The prevalence of complex multimorbidity in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2016; 40(3):239–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12509 PMID: 27027989
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey: Summary of Results, 2007–2008. Canberra: ABS: 2009.
- Muggah E, Graves E, Bennett C, Manuel DG. Ascertainment of chronic diseases using population health data: a comparison of health administrative data and patient self-report. BMC Public Health. 2013; 13(1):1–8.
- Lujic S, Watson DE, Randall DA, Simpson JM, Jorm LR. Variation in the recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia. BMJ open. 2014; 4(9):e005768. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005768 PMID: 25186157
- Assareh H, Achat HM, Stubbs JM, Guevarra VM, Hill K. Incidence and Variation of Discrepancies in Recording Chronic Conditions in Australian Hospital Administrative Data. PLoS One. 2016; 11(1): e0147087. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147087 PMID: 26808428
- Henderson T, Shepheard J, Sundararajan V. Quality of diagnosis and procedure coding in ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care. 2006; 44(11):1011–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mlr.0000228018</u>. 48783.34 PMID: 17063133
- Preen DB, Holman CAJ, Lawrence DM, Baynham NJ, Semmens JB. Hospital chart review provided more accurate comorbidity information than data from a general practitioner survey or an administrative database. J Clin Epidemiol. 2004; 57(12):1295–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2004.03.016</u> PMID: <u>15617956</u>

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

- Leal J, Laupland K. Validity of ascertainment of co-morbid illness using administrative databases: a systematic review. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2010; 16(6):715–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009. 02867.x PMID: 19614717
- Holden L, Scuffham PA, Hilton MF, Muspratt A, Ng SK, Whiteford HA. Patterns of multimorbidity in working Australians. Popul Health Metr. 2011; 9(1):15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-7954-9-15</u> PMID: 21635787
- Brett T, Arnold-Reed DE, Popescu A, Soliman B, Bulsara MK, Fine H, et al. Multimorbidity in patients attending 2 Australian primary care practices. Ann Fam Med. 2013; 11(6):535–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1570 PMID: 24218377</u>
- Islam MM, Valderas JM, Yen L, Dawda P, Jowsey T, McRae IS. Multimorbidity and comorbidity of chronic diseases among the senior Australians: prevalence and patterns. PLoS One. 2014; 9(1): e83783. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083783 PMID: 24421905
- Jowsey T, McRae IS, Valderas JM, Dugdale P, Phillips R, Bunton R, et al. Time's up. Descriptive epidemiology of multi-morbidity and time spent on health related activity by older Australians: A time use survey. PLoS One. 2013; 8(4):e59379. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059379 PMID: 23560046
- Held FP, Blyth F, Gnjidic D, Hirani V, Naganathan V, Waite LM, et al. Association Rules Analysis of Comorbidity and Multimorbidity: The Concord Health and Aging in Men Project. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2015. Epub 2015/10/29.
- Byles JE, D'Este C, Parkinson L, O'Connell R, Treloar C. Single index of multimorbidity did not predict multiple outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2005; 58(10):997–1005. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005.02</u>. 025 PMID: 16168345
- McRae I, Yen L, Jeon YH, Herath PM, Essue B. Multimorbidity is associated with higher out-of-pocket spending: a study of older Australians with multiple chronic conditions. Australian journal of primary health. 2013; 19(2):144–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/PY12035</u> PMID: <u>22950881</u>
- Fortin M, Hudon C, Haggerty J, Akker M, Almirall J. Prevalence estimates of multimorbidity: a comparative study of two sources. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010; 10:111. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-10-111 PMID: 20459621
- Marengoni A, Angleman S, Meinow B, Santoni G, Mangialasche F, Rizzuto D, et al. Coexisting chronic conditions in the older population: Variation by health indicators. Eur J Intern Med. 2016; 31:29–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2016.02.014</u> PMID: 26944564
- Pache B, Vollenweider P, Waeber G, Marques-Vidal P. Prevalence of measured and reported multimorbidity in a representative sample of the Swiss population. BMC Public Health. 2015; 15:164. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-015-1515-x PMID: 25885186
- Schneider F, Kaplan V, Rodak R, Battegay E, Holzer B. Prevalence of multimorbidity in medical inpatients. Swiss Med Wkly. 2012; 142:w13533. https://doi.org/10.4414/smw.2012.13533 PMID: 22407848
- van den Bussche H, Schäfer I, Wiese B, Dahlhaus A, Fuchs A, Gensichen J, et al. A comparative study demonstrated that prevalence figures on multimorbidity require cautious interpretation when drawn from a single database. J Clin Epidemiol. 2013; 66(2):209–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012. 07.019 PMID: 23257152
- Violán C, Foguet-Boreu Q, Hermosilla-Pérez E, Valderas JM, Bolíbar B, Fàbregas-Escurriola M, et al. Comparison of the information provided by electronic health records data and a population health survey to estimate prevalence of selected health conditions and multimorbidity. BMC Public Health. 2013; 13(1):251.
- Banks E, Redman S, Jorm L, Armstrong B, Bauman A, Beard J, et al. Cohort profile: the 45 and Up Study. Int J Epidemiol. 2008; 37(5):941. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dym184 PMID: 17881411
- 29. The Sax Institute. The 45 and Up Study Questionnaires. https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/our-work/45up-study/questionnaires/. [Accessed 22 June 2017]
- Mellish L, Karanges EA, Litchfield MJ, Schaffer AL, Blanch B, Daniels BJ, et al. The Australian Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme data collection: a practical guide for researchers. BMC Res Notes. 2015; 8:634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-015-1616-8</u> PMID: <u>26526064</u>
- 31. WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. ATC/DDD Index 2016 [cited 23 August 2016]. http://www.whocc.no/atc_ddd_index/.
- 32. National Centre for Classification in Health. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision, Australian Modification (ICD-10-AM), Australian Classification of Health Interventions (ACHI). Sydney: National Centre for Classification in Health; 2006.
- Kelman CW, Bass AJ, Holman CDJ. Research use of linked health data—a best practice protocol. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2002; 26(3):251–5. PMID: <u>12141621</u>
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis. 1987; 40(5):373–83. PMID: 3558716

Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

- Sundararajan V, Henderson T, Perry C, Muggivan A, Quan H, Ghali WA. New ICD-10 version of the Charlson comorbidity index predicted in-hospital mortality. J Clin Epidemiol. 2004; 57(12):1288–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2004.03.012 PMID: 15617955
- Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. Med Care. 1998; 36(1):8–27. PMID: 9431328
- Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, Fong A, Burnand B, Luthi JC, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care. 2005; 43(11):1130–9. PMID: 16224307
- Lu CY, Barratt J, Vitry A, Roughead E. Charlson and Rx-risk comorbidity indices were predictive of mortality in the Australian health care setting. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011; 64(2):223–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> jclinepi.2010.02.015 PMID: 21172602
- Sloan KL, Sales AE, Liu C-F, Fishman P, Nichol P, Suzuki NT, et al. Construction and characteristics of the RxRisk-V: a VA-adapted pharmacy-based case-mix instrument. Med Care. 2003; 41(6):761–74. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.MLR.0000064641.84967.B7 PMID: 12773842
- 40. Lix LM, De Coster C, Currie R. Defining and validating chronic diseases: an administrative data approach: Manitoba Centre for Health Policy Winnipeg; 2006.
- Halfon P, Eggli Y, Decollogny A, Seker E. Disease identification based on ambulatory drugs dispensation and in-hospital ICD-10 diagnoses: a comparison. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013; 13(1):453.
- Huber CA, Szucs TD, Rapold R, Reich O. Identifying patients with chronic conditions using pharmacy data in Switzerland: an updated mapping approach to the classification of medications. BMC Public Health. 2013; 13(1):1030.
- 43. Vivas D, Guadalajara N, Barrachina I, Trillo J-L, Usó R, de-la-Poza E. Explaining primary healthcare pharmacy expenditure using classification of medications for chronic conditions. Health Policy. 2011; 103(1):9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2011.08.014 PMID: 21956046
- 44. O'Shea M, Teeling M, Bennett K. The prevalence and ingredient cost of chronic comorbidity in the Irish elderly population with medication treated type 2 diabetes: a retrospective cross-sectional study using a national pharmacy claims database. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013; 13(1):23.
- 45. Chini F, Pezzotti P, Orzella L, Borgia P, Guasticchi G. Can we use the pharmacy data to estimate the prevalence of chronic conditions? a comparison of multiple data sources. BMC Public Health. 2011; 11 (1):688.
- 46. Lamers LM, van Vliet RC. The Pharmacy-based Cost Group model: validating and adjusting the classification of medications for chronic conditions to the Dutch situation. Health Policy. 2004; 68(1):113–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2003.09.001 PMID: 15033558
- Olesen JB, Lip GYH, Hansen ML, Hansen PR, Tolstrup JS, Lindhardsen J, et al. Validation of risk stratification schemes for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in patients with atrial fibrillation: nationwide cohort study. BMJ. 2011;342.
- Fortin M, Stewart M, Poitras M-E, Almirall J, Maddocks H. A systematic review of prevalence studies on multimorbidity: toward a more uniform methodology. The Annals of Family Medicine. 2012; 10(2):142– 51 <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1337</u> PMID: 22412006
- **49.** Harrison C, Britt H, Miller G, Henderson J. Examining different measures of multimorbidity, using a large prospective cross-sectional study in Australian general practice. BMJ open. 2014; 4(7).
- Fleiss JL, Levin B, Paik MC. The measurement of interrater agreement. Statistical methods for rates and proportions. 1981; 2:212–36.
- 51. SAS Institute. SAS Version 9.3 [software]. Cary, North Carolina2010.
- 52. Australian Consortium for Classification Development. code it!—ACCD Newsletter Vol 2, No 2, March 2015 2015 [Cited 4 October 2016]. https://www.accd.net.au/Newsletters%5C2015-03.html.
- Preen DB, Holman CDAJ, Spilsbury K, Semmens JB, Brameld KJ. Length of comorbidity lookback period affected regression model performance of administrative health data. J Clin Epidemiol. 2006; 59 (9):940–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005.12.013 PMID: 16895817
- Inacio MC, Pratt NL, Roughead EE, Graves SE. Comparing co-morbidities in total joint arthroplasty patients using the RxRisk-V, Elixhauser, and Charlson Measures: a cross-sectional evaluation. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015; 16(1):385.
- Quan HD, Khan N, Hemmelgarn BR, Tu KR, Chen GM, Campbell N, et al. Validation of a Case Definition to Define Hypertension Using Administrative Data. Hypertension. 2009; 54(6):1423–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.139279</u> PMID: 19858407
- Lix LMP, Yogendran MSM, Shaw SYM, Burchill CM, Metge CP, Bond RM. Population-based data sources for chronic disease surveillance. Chronic Dis Can. 2008; 29(1):31–8. PMID: 19036221



Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using different data sources

- Vitry A, Wong SA, Roughead EE, Ramsay E, Barratt J. Validity of medication-based co-morbidity indices in the Australian elderly population. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2009; 33(2):126–30. <u>https://doi.org/</u>10.1111/j.1753-6405.2009.00357.x PMID: 19413854
- Chong WF, Ding YY, Heng BH. A comparison of comorbidities obtained from hospital administrative data and medical charts in older patients with pneumonia. BMC Health Serv Res. 2011; 11(1):105.
- Orueta JF, Nuno-Solinis R, Mateos M, Vergara I, Grandes G, Esnaola S. Monitoring the prevalence of chronic conditions: which data should we use? BMC Health Serv Res. 2012; 12:365. <u>https://doi.org/10. 1186/1472-6963-12-365</u> PMID: 23088761
- Rector TS, Wickstrom SL, Shah M, Thomas Greenlee N, Rheault P, Rogowski J, et al. Specificity and Sensitivity of Claims-Based Algorithms for Identifying Members of Medicare+Choice Health Plans That Have Chronic Medical Conditions. Health Serv Res. 2004; 39(6p1):1839–58.
- Britt HC, Harrison CM, Miller GC, Knox SA. Prevalence and patterns of multimorbidity in Australia. Med J Aust. 2008; 189(2):72–7. PMID: 18637770
- 62. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Health Survey: first results, 2011–12. Canberra: ABS: 2012.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National Health Priority Areas 2016 [Cited 28 September 2016]. http://www.aihw.gov.au/national-health-priority-areas/.
- Bayliss EA, Ellis JL, Steiner JF. Subjective assessments of comorbidity correlate with quality of life health outcomes: Initial validation of a comorbidity assessment instrument. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2005; 3(1):1–8.
- Comino EJ, Tran DT, Haas M, Flack J, Jalaludin B, Jorm L, et al. Validating self-report of diabetes use by participants in the 45 and up study: a record linkage study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013; 13(1):481.
- 66. Tran DT, Jorm L, Lujic S, Bambrick H, Johnson M. Country of birth recording in Australian hospital morbidity data: accuracy and predictors. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2012; 36(4):310–6.
- 67. Ng SP, Korda R, Clements M, Latz I, Bauman A, Bambrick H, et al. Validity of self-reported height and weight and derived body mass index in middle-aged and elderly individuals in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2011; 35(6):557–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2011.00742.x PMID: 22151163
5.5 Knowledge building

The findings from this chapter highlight the gaps in ascertainment of multimorbidity using a single data source and using hospital data in particular. The list of chronic conditions used in this chapter was limited to the conditions listed in the 45 and Up Study, which is why the next phase of the research moved to using an expanded list of chronic conditions and population-level data. In Chapter 6, state-based hospital data was used, with multimorbidity measured using a combination of Charlson and Elixhauser indices. Beyond simply measuring multimorbidity, Chapters 6 and 7 also examine the outcomes of people with multimorbidity.

CHAPTER 6

Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty on adverse health outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients: Australian observational study using hospital records for 257,535 patients

6.1 Background and aims

Multimorbidity and frailty have been shown to be independently associated with higher healthcare utilisation, costs and worse outcomes, with health policy planners using both metrics to identify high-need patients and those at risk of adverse health events. The extent to which these two states interact with one another is relatively unexplored, particularly in the hospital setting. This study:

- a) Quantifies the associations between hospital frailty risk score and multimorbidity and adverse hospital outcomes
- b) Characterises the type of interaction between multimorbidity and frailty

6.2 Key findings

Multimorbidity and frailty coexist and have varying and interacting effects on adverse health outcomes. The largest adverse effects on mortality, unplanned readmission and prolonged lengths of stay are seen in patients with both multimorbidity and elevated frailty risk, with larger effects in surgical patients than medical patients. Consideration of both multimorbidity and frailty can help identify those patients at highest risk of post-discharge complications.

6.3 Student contribution

I conceived and designed the study with oversight from all other authors. I performed the statistical analyses, interpreted results, drafted the initial manuscript and reviewed and revised the manuscript following advice from co-authors. Louisa Jorm acquired the data. Deborah Randall, Judy Simpson and Michael Falster supervised the statistical analyses and reviewed the manuscript. Deborah Randall performed the initial data cleaning of the IHOPE dataset. All authors read and approved the submitted version, as presented here.

6.4 Submitted paper

Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty on adverse health outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients: Australian observational study using hospital records for 257,535 patients

Sanja Lujic^{1*}, Deborah A Randall², Judy M Simpson³, Michael O Falster¹, Louisa R Jorm¹

¹Centre for Big Data Research in Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

²The University of Sydney Northern Clinical School, Women and Babies Research, Sydney, Australia

³ School of Public Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

ABSTRACT

Objective

To quantify the interaction of multimorbidity and frailty and their impact on adverse health outcomes in the hospital setting.

Methods

Retrospective cohort study of persons aged \geq 75 years, admitted to hospital during 2010-2012 in New South Wales, Australia, linked with mortality data. Multimorbidity, frailty risk and outcomes: prolonged length of stay (LOS), 30-day mortality and 30-day unplanned readmissions were constructed. Relative risks (RR) of outcomes were obtained using Poisson models with random intercept for hospital.

Results

Among 257,535 elderly inpatients, 33.6% had multimorbidity and elevated frailty risk, 14.7% had multimorbidity only, 19.9% had elevated frailty risk only and 31.8% had neither. Additive interactions were present for all outcomes, with a further multiplicative interaction for mortality and LOS. Mortality risk was 4.2 (95% CI 4.1 – 4.4), prolonged LOS 3.3 (95% CI 3.3 - 3.4) and readmission 1.8 (95% CI 1.7 - 1.9) times higher in patients with both factors present compared with patients with neither.

Conclusions

Multimorbidity and frailty coexist in older hospitalized patients and interact to increase the risk of adverse outcomes beyond the sum of their individual effects. Their joint effect should be considered in health outcomes research and when administering hospital resources.

INTRODUCTION

Frailty and multimorbidity are gaining attention with the noted global increase in the average age of populations. Frailty denotes a state of increased vulnerability of individuals to stressors from the accumulated consequences of morbidities or their treatments⁷⁹ and multimorbidity is a co-occurrence of multiple chronic diseases within an individual.⁴ Both states have been associated with higher healthcare utilisation, costs and mortality,^{38, 55, 81, 209} and are used by health policy planners to identify both high-need patients and those at risk of adverse health events. However, while patients experiencing frailty and multimorbidity often require additional care, the specific care needs and prognosis may vary between them.⁹⁰

Currently there is no consensus on standardised measurement of either multimorbidity or frailty, with choice of the measure often driven by data availability and the study setting. Routinely collected data are increasingly being used in ageing health research,²⁶ giving opportunities to define frail and multimorbid individuals from their full health care history. A range of claims-based frailty indices were developed recently,⁸¹ with one such measure using administrative data for hospitalised patients being the Hospital Frailty Risk Score

(HFRS).⁸⁷ HFRS helps identification of patients with characteristics of frailty, and at risk of adverse healthcare outcomes including mortality, prolonged hospital stays and unplanned readmissions. The score has been validated in medical^{199, 200} and surgical^{201, 202} patients.

While various definitions of frailty and multimorbidity exist, they are intrinsically linked with each other, with most frail patients being multimorbid, and one-sixth of multimorbid adults presenting with frailty.⁷⁴ The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines recommends frailty to be considered when managing older adults with multimorbidity.⁹³ Since many patients experience both multimorbidity and frailty, there is potential that they interact to increase risk of adverse outcome. For example, multimorbid patients who are in a frail state may experience higher risk of complications, or be predisposed to more severe and ongoing complications, than multimorbid patients with low frailty. Investigating how an additional health state impacts on the health outcomes in patients already experiencing another is of importance as it can help identify those at greater risk and in need of further targeted health services.

Interactions between multimorbidity and frailty can be measured on different scales. Interaction on an additive scale would imply that the combined effect of multimorbidity and frailty is greater than the sum of their individual effects, whereas interaction on a multiplicative scale would imply that their combined effect is greater than the product of their individual effects. While interactions on an additive scale are more important in public health^{210, 211} due to the ease of interpretation of absolute rather than relative numbers of patients who might benefit from an intervention, quantifying the magnitude and scale of the interaction is crucial for understanding the extent to which the presence of one condition amplifies the effect of the other. Given there has been a rapid increase in the prevalence of both multimorbidity and frailty in patient populations,^{212, 213} identifying such amplifying factors is critical to inform future health care resource planning.

To our knowledge, no studies to date have examined interaction between the two factors in hospital patients, who are at higher risk of complications and adverse outcomes. The purpose of our study was to quantify the interaction of multimorbidity and frailty, and their impact on adverse health outcomes, in a large observational cohort of elderly Australian hospital patients. Specifically, we aimed to 1) estimate the joint effect of HFRS and multimorbidity with hospital outcomes (30-day mortality, 30-day readmission, prolonged length of stay), and 2) characterise the type of interaction between multimorbidity and frailty.

METHODS

Study design

We conducted a retrospective cohort study using routinely collected administrative hospital and mortality data.

Setting and data

New South Wales (NSW) is Australia's most populous state with 7.2 million residents in 2012.²¹⁴ We used NSW Admitted Patient Data collection (hospital data) linked with mortality data for a period 1 January 2008 – 31 March 2013. The hospital data included records for all public and private hospital admissions ending in discharge, transfer, type change or death. Hospital admissions were coded using the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Problems, tenth revision, Australian modification (ICD-10-AM) and Australian Refined Diagnosis Related Group (AR-DRG) codes.¹⁹¹ The Centre for Health Record Linkage linked the two datasets using probabilistic methods, with false positive and false negative rates of 0.5%.¹⁹⁵

Study cohort construction

Our study replicated inclusion criteria of the original HFRS publication⁸⁷ with a cohort containing NSW residents, aged 75 and over, having at least one unplanned admission to an acute hospital during 1 January 2010 – 31 December 2012. For admissions ending in type change (e.g. from acute to sub-acute care) or transfer, contiguous periods of stay were constructed using admission dates and admission status from the first episode and separation dates and separation type from the last episode of care. We selected a single random hospital stay for each patient as their 'index' admission.

Predictors and outcomes

We classified the two main analysis variables of interest, multimorbidity and frailty risk, using the ICD-10-AM diagnoses codes from the index admission and any hospitalisations in the preceding two-year period. We ascertained multimorbidity – presence of two or more chronic conditions – from a list of 29 chronic conditions from the Charlson and Elixhauser indices,¹⁹⁸ supplemented with core morbidities from more recent systematic reviews^{14, 197} (Appendix 5, Table 4). We calculated a continuous HFRS using the ICD-10 codes from Gilbert et al,⁸⁷ adapted to the Australian modification (ICD-10-AM) (Appendix

5, Table 5). The HFRS captures comorbidities associated with frailty, as well as functional deficits and symptoms. We created dichotomous frailty groups of low frailty (HFRS <5) and elevated frailty risk (HFRS≥5, combining intermediate and high frailty) using the validated cut points from Gilbert et al.⁸⁷ Sensitivity analysis using all three frailty categories (low, intermediate, and high frailty) was also carried out.

We constructed a composite variable of multimorbidity and frailty risk with four categories: neither multimorbid nor at elevated risk of frailty, elevated frailty risk only, multimorbid only, and both multimorbid and with elevated frailty risk.

Other covariates included age at index admission (in five-year age groups), sex, quantiles of socioeconomic status based on the Australian Bureau of Statistics Socioeconomic Indices of Areas (SEIFA) Index of Relative Socio-economic Advantage and Disadvantage (IRSAD), and number of hospital admissions in the preceding two-year period (none, one, two or more).

Outcomes of interest included those from HFRS study:⁸⁷ mortality within 30 days of index admission; prolonged hospital stay (>10 days in hospital); unplanned readmission within 30 days of discharge (for patients discharged alive). Results were stratified by admission type, grouped into medical (not involving an operating room procedure), surgical (involving significant operating room procedure) and other (involving non-operating room procedure) admissions based on AR-DRG procedures.²¹⁵

Statistical analysis

We used descriptive statistics to compare demographic characteristics and crude outcome proportions between multimorbidity and frailty risk groups.

We built Poisson random intercept models to quantify the association of outcomes with multimorbidity and frailty accounting for clustering within hospitals, and adjusted for age group, sex, socio-economic status, and number of prior admissions. Effects are reported as relative risks (RR), given the high frequency of the outcomes.^{216, 217}

We calculated and presented the analyses of interaction as recommended by Knol and VanderWeele.²¹⁰ Interaction on an additive scale was estimated using the relative excess risk due to interaction (RERI_{RR}), with adjustments for clustered data.²¹⁸ RERI_{RR} = 0 implies no interaction (exact additivity), RERI_{RR} >0 denotes interaction more than additivity and RERI_{RR}<0 means interaction less than additivity. Interaction on a multiplicative scale was

assessed via the inclusion of an interaction term in the adjusted Poisson model including both main effects (multimorbidity and frailty) and interaction term (multimorbidity*frailty). Significance of an interaction on the multiplicative scale is denoted where relative risk of the interaction term is different from 1, and on additive scale if RERI is different from 0.

We used SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) for data management and analysis.

We obtained ethics approvals from the NSW Population and Health Services Research (reference 2009/03/141) and the Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council (reference 684/09) Ethics Committees.

RESULTS

Study cohort

Our cohort included a total of 257535 patients aged 75 and over with an unplanned hospital admission during 2010-2012. The majority of the admissions (86%) were medical in nature, with a smaller proportion (9.1%) being for surgery, and the remainder in the other category. The median patient age was 83.3 years (interquartile range 79.2 – 87.7) and most patients were female (57.2%). Other cohort characteristics are shown in Table 6.1.

Frailty and multimorbidity

The HFRS ranged from 0 to 88, with 53.5% of the patients having an elevated frailty risk score, including 35.6% at intermediate and 17.9% at high risk (Appendix 5, Table 1). Multimorbidity was present in 124468 (48.4%) of the study cohort, with median number of chronic conditions among multimorbid patients being 3 (interquartile range 2 - 4).

In our study cohort, 33.6% patients had both multimorbidity and elevated frailty risk, 19.9% had elevated frailty risk only, 14.7% had multimorbidity only and the remaining 31.8% had neither. Hospitalised patients experiencing both states tended to be older (median age 84 years), have more hospital stays (65% had two or more stays), and have both higher HFRS scores and a larger number of chronic conditions. Patients with neither factor were younger and with fewer prior admissions (Table 6.1).

Table 6.1 Cohort description at the time of index hospitalisation 2010-2012, by multimorbidity and frailty risk

	Total Multimorbidity and frailty risk					
		Neither	Elevated frailty	Multimorbid	Both	p-value
			risk only	only		
	N = 257,535	n = 81,788	n = 51,279	n = 37,949	n = 86,519	
Sex, n (%)						
Male	110,125 (42.8)	34,363 (42.0)	17,134 (33.4)	19,587 (51.6)	39,041 (45.1)	< 0.01
Female	147,410 (57.2)	47,425 (58.0)	34,145 (66.6)	18,362 (48.4)	47,478 (54.9)	
Median age (IQR)	83.3	81.9	84.9	82.0	84.4	< 0.01
	(79.2 – 87.7)	(78.3 – 86.2)	(80.6 - 89.3)	(78.4 - 86.1)	(80.1 – 88.6)	
Age, n (%)						
75-79	76,233 (29.6)	30,169 (36.9)	11,343 (22.1)	13,716 (36.1)	21,005 (24.3)	< 0.01
80-84	78,766 (30.6)	26,181 (32.0)	14,550 (28.4)	12,509 (33.0)	25,526 (29.5)	
85-89	63,894 (24.8)	16,824 (20.6)	14,359 (28.0)	8,098 (21.3)	24,613 (28.4)	
90+	38,642 (15.0)	8,614 (10.5)	11,027 (21.5)	3,626 (9.6)	15,375 (17.8)	
Aboriginal and Torres Str	ait Islander statu	s, n (%)				
Non-Aboriginal	256,100 (99.4)	81,332 (99.4)	51,074 (99.6)	37,697 (99.3)	85,997 (99.4)	< 0.01
Aboriginal	1,435 (0.6)	456 (0.6)	205 (0.4)	252 (0.7)	522 (0.6)	
Socioeconomic status qua	urtiles, n(%)					
Most disadvantaged	66,279 (25.7)	21,889 (26.8)	12,215 (23.8)	10,597 (27.9)	21,578 (24.9)	< 0.01
2	54,192 (21)	17,996 (22.0)	10,491 (20.5)	8,137 (21.4)	17,568 (20.3)	
3	46,441 (18)	14,943 (18.3)	9,478 (18.5)	6,694 (17.6)	15,326 (17.7)	
4	47,350 (18.4)	14,512 (17.7)	9,868 (19.2)	6,600 (17.4)	16,370 (18.9)	
Most advantaged	40,911 (15.9)	11,904 (14.6)	8,687 (16.9)	5,681 (15.0)	14,639 (16.9)	
Missing	2,362 (0.9)	544 (0.7)	540 (1.1)	240 (0.6)	1,038 (1.2)	
Admission type, n (%)						
Medical	224,949 (87.3)	71,714 (87.7)	44,897 (87.6)	32,486 (85.6)	75,852 (87.7)	< 0.01
Surgical	23,339 (9.1)	7,020 (8.6)	5,374 (10.5)	3,010 (7.9)	7,935 (9.2)	
Other	9,247 (3.6)	3,054 (3.7)	1,008 (2.0)	2,453 (6.5)	2,732 (3.2)	
Number of prior admission	ons over 2 years, e	excluding index	admission, n (%)			
0	84,775 (32.9)	43,072 (52.7)	17,527 (34.2)	11,471 (30.2)	12,705 (14.7)	< 0.01
1	62,827 (24.4)	20,433 (25.0)	14,370 (28.0)	10,092 (26.6)	17,932 (20.7)	
2 or more	109,933 (42.7)	18,283 (22.4)	19,382 (37.8)	16,386 (43.2)	55,882 (64.6)	
Median HFRS (IQR)	5.5	1.6	9.0	2.0	13.3	< 0.01
	(1.9 – 12.0)	(0 - 3)	(6.6 – 13.2)	(0.7 – 3.4)	(8.6 - 20.3)	
Median number of	1	0	1	2	3	< 0.01
chronic conditions	(0 – 3)	(0 - 1)	(0 - 1)	(2 - 3)	(2 – 5)	
(IQR)						

HFRS - Hospital frailty risk score, IQR - interquartile range

Outcomes

Overall 30-day mortality and readmission rates in our study were both 11%, with 30% of patients staying longer than 10 days in hospital. Crude incidence rates for each outcome were higher in those with elevated frailty risk or multimorbidity, with highest rates observed in patients who were both multimorbid and at elevated risk of frailty (Table 6.2).

	Total	Multimorbidity by Frailty risk					
	N (%)	Neither <i>n</i> = <i>81</i> ,788	Elevated frailty risk only n = 51,279	MM only <i>n</i> = <i>37,949</i>	Both <i>n</i> = <i>86,519</i>	p-value*	
Mortality within 30-days	28886 (11.2)	3854 (4.7)	4731 (9.2)	4046 (10.7)	16255 (18.8)	< 0.001	
Median LOS (days) (IQR)	5 (2-12)	2 (1-6)	6 (2-16)	4 (2-8)	8 (3-19)	< 0.001	
Prolonged LOS (>10 days)	76585 (29.7)	11855 (14.5)	19181 (37.4)	8001 (21.1)	37548 (43.4)	< 0.001	
Readmission within 30-days	26264 (11.2)	5457 (6.9)	4727 (10.0)	3960 (11.4)	12120 (16.5)	< 0.001	

Table 6.2 Crude patient outcomes by multimorbidity and frailty risk

* Differences in proportions tested using χ^2 test, and medians using Kruskal Wallis test

Figure 6.1 shows the results from the Poisson random intercept models, adjusting for age group, sex, socioeconomic status and the number of prior admissions. The relative risk of adverse outcomes continued to be higher in multimorbid and elevated frailty risk individuals after risk-adjustment. Patients who experienced both health states had the highest risks of adverse outcomes. Multimorbid individuals with elevated frailty risk had 4.2 (95% CI 4.1 - 4.4) times higher risk of mortality, 3.3 (95% CI 3.3 - 3.4) times higher risk of prolonged hospital stays and 1.8 (95% CI 1.7 - 1.9) times higher risk of 30-day unplanned readmission than those with neither, with risks also being higher in patients with only one health state.

Figure 6.1 Adjusted relative risk (aRR) between multimorbidity and elevated frailty risk with adverse outcomes

Outcome by condition							aRR [95% CI]
30-day mortality							
Neither							1
Frailty only							1.90 [1.82 - 1.99]
Multimorbidity only				F			2.40 [2.29 - 2.51]
Both					-		4.23 [4.07 - 4.39]
Prolonged length of stay							
Neither		- • · ·					1
Frailty only				•			2.62 [2.56 - 2.68]
Multimorbidity only			•				1.57 [1.52 - 1.61]
Both				-			3.34 [3.26 - 3.41]
30-day readmission							
Neither							1
Frailty only							1.25 [1.21 - 1.31]
Multimorbidity only							1.41 [1.35 - 1.47]
Both							1.79 [1.73 - 1.86]
	0	1	2	3	4	5	
			ar	ΚK			

Interaction effect results are shown in Table 6.3. Significant interactions between multimorbidity and frailty were observed on both additive and multiplicative scales for mortality (RERI_{RR} 0.93 (95% CI 0.81 – 1.04), ratio of RR 0.93 (95% CI 0.88 – 0.98)) and prolonged length of stay (RERI_{RR} 0.15 (95% CI 0.09 – 0.21), ratio of RR 0.81 (0.79 – 0.84)), and additive scale only for readmission (RERI_{RR} 0.13 (95% CI 0.06 – 0.20), ratio of RR 1.02 (95% CI 0.96 – 1.07)). Sensitivity analysis of interactions using 3-categories of HFRS yielded the same conclusions (Appendix 7, Table 7.1.5)

Table 6.3 Additive and multiplicative Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty risk on adverse patient outcomes, full cohort

Mortality within 30-days post admission	Low frailty risk]	Elevated frailty risk		
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	%outcome	aRR (95% CI)	
No multimorbidity	3854	4.7	1	4,731	9.2	1.90 (1.82 – 1.99)	
Multimorbidity	4,046	10.7	2.40 (2.29 – 2.51)	16,255	18.8	4.23 (4.07 – 4.39)	

^aMeasure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) = 0.93 (0.81 – 1.04)*

^aMeasure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 0.93 (0.88 – 0.98), p-value =0.006*

Prolonged LOS	Low frailty risk]	Elevated frailty ris	sk
-	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)		N with	%outcome	aRR (95% CI)
No multimorbidity	11855	14.5	1		19,181	37.4	2.62 (2.56 - 2.68)
Multimorbidity	8,001	21.1	1.57 (1.52 – 1.61)		37,548	43.4	3.34 (3.26 – 3.41)

^aMeasure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.15 (0.09 - 0.21)*

^aMeasure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 0.81 (0.79 – 0.84), p-value <0.001*

Readmission within 30- days post discharge		Low frailty rist	k]	Elevated frailty ris	sk
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	%outcome	aRR (95% CI)
No multimorbidity	5,457	6.9	1	4,727	9.9	1.25 (1.21 – 1.31)
Multimorbidity	3,960	11.4	1.41 (1.35 – 1.47)	12,120	16.5	1.79 (1.73 – 1.86)

^aMeasure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.13 (0.06 - 0.20)*

^aMeasure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 1.02 (0.96 – 1.07), p-value =0.57

* Denotes significance at 5% level.

^a Significance of an interaction on an additive scale is denoted where RERI is different from 0, and on the multiplicative scale if ratio of RR is different from 1.

Stratified analysis

We found similar interaction effects for 30-day mortality and readmissions when stratified by admission type, although with larger effect sizes for surgical patients, among whom those with both multimorbidity and elevated frailty had a high risk of 30-day mortality (aRR: 7.2; 95% CI 6.1 – 8.5) and 30-day readmission (aRR: 2.6; 95% CI 2.3 – 3.0) compared with those with neither (Appendix 5, Table 2). The results for prolonged length of stay in this group were attenuated in the surgical cohort compared with the medical cohort (Appendix 5, Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Our study shows that multimorbidity and frailty risk occur both jointly and in isolation in our cohort of older Australians with unplanned admissions to hospital, and have varying and interacting effects on adverse health outcomes. We observed the largest adverse effects on mortality, readmission and prolonged lengths of stay in those patients with both multimorbidity and elevated frailty risk, with greater risks of mortality and readmission in surgical patients. To our knowledge, no prior studies have explored the nature of any interactions between HFRS and multimorbidity in hospital patients, nor reported their joint effects. Our findings highlight that when identifying older hospitalised patients at risk of complications, accounting for both the patient's burden of chronic disease and vulnerability to stressors of treatment will both increase the breadth of patients identified, and help separate those at even higher risk of complication.

Measures of additive interaction are not frequently reported in the literature, despite their value for identifying individuals who would most benefit from treatment or need more monitoring for complications or adverse health outcomes ²¹¹. Our findings, congruent with other research,^{90, 94, 96, 219, 220} show that both multimorbidity and frailty have important independent impacts on health outcomes, but further demonstrate that their joint effects on mortality and length of stay are amplified, while their effects on readmission are additive. The different scale of interaction between outcomes may reflect the fact that readmissions are only measured for patients who survived to discharge (in our study 91% of patients) – thus attenuating some of the excess risk. Our findings indicate that the presence of not only multimorbidity and frailty, but also their co-occurrence, in patient populations are important inputs to hospital care resource projections and planning. These

findings will inform future revisions to patient classifications used for activity-based funding, such as Australian Diagnosis Related Groups (AR-DRGs).²¹⁵ Routine screening and identification of patients with multimorbidity and elevated risk of frailty could potentially be used to better target further interventions, such as comprehensive geriatric assessment, home care planning, and end-of-life care planning.

Our study also highlights that, although a high proportion of elderly patients experience both health states, a notable portion of hospitalised patients are multimorbid without exhibiting elevated frailty risk, and vice versa. Multimorbid-only individuals had higher ageadjusted mortality and readmission risks than frail-only individuals, reflecting the ongoing risk of complications experienced by people with multiple chronic diseases. Conversely, patients with elevated frailty risk had higher risk of prolonged hospitalisation than multimorbid-only patients, reflecting the vulnerability of these patients to acute complications of care. Using only one of these factors to identify at-risk patients will not only fail to account for the interactive effect found in this study, but also potentially fail to identify patients at-risk of different types of complications.

A recent systematic review by Vetrano et al.⁷⁴ reported that 72% of frail individuals had multimorbidity, and 16% of multimorbid individuals were frail. In our study these proportions were 63% and 70% respectively. The differences in our estimates could be attributed to the study populations and methods of frailty assessment. We studied older hospitalised patients presenting as unplanned cases, with frailty risk ascertained from routinely collected data. The majority of the studies included in the systematic review investigated community dwelling participants, with frailty ascertained using Fried et al.⁸² Frail Phenotype based on physical signs and symptoms.

There are several limitations to our study. First, while the indices of multimorbidity and frailty are commonly used and validated, there remain aspects of patient frailty that are unable to be captured in administrative data, as well as possible under-ascertainment of some morbidities. Second, there is overlap between the ICD-10 diagnoses codes used in frailty risk and comorbidity ascertainment which makes it difficult to disentangle their effects, although prior research indicates only a weak correlation between HFRS and the Charlson Index.²²¹ Third, there might be under-ascertainment of frailty and multimorbidity in patients with few or no prior hospitalisations. Fourth, whilst we used the most commonly applied dichotomous definition of multimorbidity, this may have resulted in information loss and reduced study power. Lastly, our restriction to unplanned admissions

limits generalisability of our findings to broader patient populations such as those undergoing elective surgery.

The strengths of this study include its large size and the use of linked population-based data on hospitalisations and mortality, enabling calculation of patient outcomes within and beyond the index hospital stay. Furthermore, ascertainment of multimorbidity and HFRS used administrative data only and ICD-10 diagnosis codes, presenting an approach that is amenable to incorporation into hospital forecasting planning and models.

CONCLUSION

Multimorbidity and frailty coexist in older hospitalised patients and interact to increase the risk of adverse outcomes beyond the sum of their individual effects. The risk of mortality, readmission and prolonged lengths of stay among multimorbid individuals with elevated frailty risk is two to four times higher than for those without either factor, and larger than in patients with only one factor. Joint effects of multimorbidity and frailty should be considered in health outcomes research and when administering hospital resources.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We acknowledge and thank NSW Ministry of Health for data provision, and the NSW Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL) for conducting probabilistic linkage of records. S.L. was supported through an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

S.L. conceived and designed the study with oversight from all other authors. L.J. acquired the data. S.L. performed the statistical analyses, interpreted results, drafted the initial manuscript and reviewed and revised the manuscript. D.R., J.S., M.F. supervised the statistical analyses and reviewed the manuscript. L.J., J.S. and M.F. critically reviewed and revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors read and approved the submitted version.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors declare no competing interests.

6.5 Knowledge building

This chapter explored two drivers of adverse health outcomes in the elderly – multimorbidity and frailty. Both are reflective of patient complexity and were shown to have significant effects on mortality and prolonged lengths of stay. However, the measurement of these was based solely on administrative hospital data. There may be additional patient characteristics and markers of patients' complexity that contribute to patient outcomes such as readmissions, which complement what is captured in administrative data and refine how we consider multimorbidity. Chapter 7 explores how the inclusion of clinical registry data adds to the explanation of 30-day readmissions over and above administrative hospital data.

CHAPTER 7

Supplementing multimorbidity measures using administrative data with clinical registry data

7.1 Background and aims

Multimorbidity measures derived from administrative data sources are used for riskadjustment of performance indicators for hospital quality of care. These measures are better able to predict mortality than readmissions,¹⁹⁰ leaving room for exploration of additional patient characteristics that might contribute to higher risks of readmission. However administrative hospital inpatient data contain limited information about other aspects of patient complexity, such as the clinical assessment of patient's overall health. Linkage with clinical registries provides opportunities to highlight the benefit of supplementing multimorbidity measures based on administrative data with additional clinical information for quality improvement purposes.

This study addressed these questions

(a) how does multimorbidity contribute to variations in hospital-level outcome indicators used for performance measurement?

(b) does the addition of variables from clinical registries improve predictive ability (discriminative performance) of models used to monitor health performance metrics?

7.2 Key Findings

This study used de-novo linkage of the hospital data with the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR). Current models for 30-day readmission post THA/TKA used by the NSW Bureau of Health Information (BHI) for hospital profiling use predisposing factors (age, sex) and illness level (Elixhauser morbidities) in the risk adjustment.^{222,223} This study found that multimorbidity was

significantly associated with 30-day readmission following THA/TKA, whether measured using binary, ordinal or individual morbidity measures. The addition of information from the registry data (BMI and ASA) provided modest improvements to predictive ability of 30-day readmission models currently used by the BHI. Less than 1.4% of the overall individual variation in readmission was attributable to the hospital where the surgery was performed, indicating that reductions in readmissions are most likely to be achieved by interventions that are targeted towards patients at high risk of readmission, rather than focussed at the hospital level.

7.3 Further exploratory work

Since July 2015, 29 clinically important chronic conditions, which had not previously met the criteria for coding additional diagnoses,¹²¹ have started being coded when documented as being present during an episode of admitted care in Australia.¹²²These supplementary chronic disease codes ('U codes') present an opportunity to increase ascertainment of morbidity and multimorbidity using administrative data.

I examined the impact of supplementary chronic disease codes on ascertainment of chronic conditions in THA/TKA cohorts, with the results shown in Table 7.1. The largest relative increases were found for asymptomatic, and seemingly non-complex and clinically insignificant conditions.²²⁶ I did not use the supplementary codes for multimorbidity measurement in this Chapter for two reasons:

- 1) Not all chronic conditions are captured by the supplementary U codes, which could have led to differential ascertainment of conditions.
- 2) There is a possibility of between-hospital variations of recording of health conditions^{224,225}, which could have introduced bias into study results.

Supplementary codes were only used for obesity for descriptive and validation purposes.

Table 7.1 Impact of supplementary chronic disease codes on ascertainment of chronic

 diseases in hospital data

-	THA n (%)			TKA n (%)			
Elixhauser Index morbidities	ICD-10-AM codes	ICD-10-AM + supplementary codes	Relative increase %	ICD-10-AM codes	ICD-10-AM + supplementary codes	Relative increase %	
AIDS/HIV	n.p.	n.p.	0	n.p.	n.p.		
Alcohol abuse	121 (2.1)	121 (2.1)	0	124 (1.2)	124 (1.2)	0	
Blood loss anemia	35 (0.6)	35 (0.6)	0	54 (0.5)	54 (0.5)	0	
Cardiac arrhythmia	584 (10.0)	584 (10.0)	0	887 (8.7)	887 (8.7)	0	
Chronic pulmonary diseases	136 (2.3)	545 (9.3)	301	189 (1.9)	865 (8.5)	358	
Coagulopathy	79 (1.3)	79 (1.3)	0	95 (0.9)	95 (0.9)	0	
Congestive heart failure ^s	88 (1.5)	157 (2.7)	78	135 (1.3)	259 (2.5)	92	
Deficiency anemia	142 (2.4)	142 (2.4)	0	239 (2.3)	239 (2.3)	0	
Dementias	27 (0.5)	46 (0.8)	70	34 (0.3)	59 (0.6)	74	
Depression ^s	56 (1.0)	85 (1.5)	52	78 (0.8)	119 (1.2)	53	
Diabetes (uncomplicated)	461 (7.9)	461 (7.9)	0	1215 (11.9)	1215 (11.9)	0	
Diabetes (complicated)	709 (12.1)	709 (12.1)	0	1768 (17.4)	1768 (17.4)	0	
Drug abuse	54 (0.9)	54 (0.9)	0	57 (0.6)	57 (0.6)	0	
Fluid and electrolyte disorders	685 (11.7)	685 (11.7)	0	1075 (10.6)	1075 (10.6)	0	
Hypertension (complicated)	n.p.	n.p.	0	8 (0.1)	8 (0.1)	0	
Hypertension (uncomplicated) ^s	488 (8.3)	3130 (53.5)	541	918 (9.0)	6428 (63.1)	600	
Hyperthyroidism	15 (0.3)	15 (0.3)	0	25 (0.2)	25 (0.2)	0	
Liver disease ^s	112 (1.9)	112 (1.9)	0	161 (1.6)	161 (1.6)	0	
Lymphoma	20 (0.3)	20 (0.3)	0	11 (0.1)	11 (0.1)	0	
Metastatic cancer	30 (0.5)	30 (0.5)	0	35 (0.3)	35 (0.3)	0	
Obesity ^s	78 (1.3)	764 (13.0)	879	182 (1.8)	1997 (19.6)	997	
Other neurological disorders ^s	48 (0.8)	134 (2.3)	179	52 (0.5)	206 (2.0)	296	
Paralysis ^s	24 (0.4)	30 (0.5)	25	42 (0.4)	49 (0.5)	17	
Peptic ulcer disease	20 (0.3)	20 (0.3)	0	31 (0.3)	31 (0.3)	0	
Peripheral vascular disorders	53 (0.9)	53 (0.9)	0	87 (0.9)	87 (0.9)	0	
Psychoses ^s	15 (0.3)	40 (0.7)	167	18 (0.2)	53 (0.5)	194	
Pulmonary circulation disorders	46 (0.8)	46 (0.8)	0	91 (0.9)	91 (0.9)	0	
Renal failure ^s Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular	124 (2.1)	290 (5.0)	134	243 (2.4)	515 (5.1)	112	
disease ^s	72 (1.2)	92 (1.6)	28	129 (1.3)	143 (1.4)	11	
Solid tumor without metastasis	128 (2.2)	128 (2.2)	0	210 (2.1)	210 (2.1)	0	
Valvular disease	56 (1.0)	56 (1.0)	0	83 (0.8)	83 (0.8)	0	
Weight loss	119 (2.0)	119 (2.0)	0	85 (0.8)	85 (0.8)	0	
Multimorbidity	1102 (18.8)	2359 (40.3)	114	2038 (20.0)	4715 (46.3)	131	

^s Has a corresponding supplementary code. † Presence of 2 of more Elixhauser Index morbidities

7.4 Student contribution

I conceived and designed the study with the oversight from my supervisors (Louisa Jorm, Judy Simpson and Michael Falster). Data management, statistical analyses and full draft of the paper were also done by me. Ian Harris provided clinical advice and contributed to result interpretation. Michelle Lorimer prepared the AOANJRR data extraction and edited the draft manuscript.

Initial study results were presented and discussed with the 'Enhancing Joint Replacement Outcomes through National Data Linkage' research group, who instigated the linkage of the AOANJRR data. Further comments on the written paper, as presented in section 7.4, will be sought from the Group prior to the submission to the Medical Journal of Australia.

7.5 Paper (formatted as MJA journal submission)

Supplementing administrative data with clinical registries: an example using total hip (THA) and total knee arthroplasty (TKA) readmission rates for hospital performance measurement

Sanja Lujic^{1*}, Michael O Falster¹, Judy M Simpson², Ian A Harris^{2,3,4}, Michelle F Lorimer⁵, Louisa R Jorm¹

¹Centre for Big Data Research in Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

²School of Public Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

³ Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

⁴ Ingham Institute for Applied Medical Research, South Western Sydney Clinical School, University of New South Wales, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

⁵South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute (SAHMRI), Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

Abstract

Objectives: To examine a) the impact of multimorbidity on THA/TKA readmission rates and b) assess whether the inclusion of clinical registry information (body mass index (BMI) and American Society of Anaesthesiologists Physical Status score (ASA)) improves predictive ability of models currently used to monitor hospital performance metrics

Design, setting, participants: Retrospective cohort study of patients aged ≥18 years, admitted for total hip or knee arthroplasty (THA/TKA) in public hospitals in New South Wales between 1 July 2016 and 30 June 2018 using hospital records linked with the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry data (AOANJRR).

Main outcome measures: 30-day post discharge all-cause readmission

Results: A total of 5855 THA and 10183 TKA patients underwent surgery, of whom 430 (7.3%) THA and 837 (8.2%) TKA patients were readmitted for any reason within 30 days following separation from acute care. Recording of patient's overweight/obese status was higher in the AOANJRR registry (76.9% of THA and 87.0% of TKA patients) than in hospital diagnosis codes (10.6% of THA and 16.5% of TKA patients). Using stepwise multilevel logistic regression, we found modest improvements in the discriminatory accuracy with the addition of registry data (ASA for THA, ASA and BMI for TKA), even after adjusting for multimorbidity. After risk-adjustment, less than 1.4% of the variation in 30-day readmissions was attributable to the hospital where the procedure was performed.

Conclusions: Inclusion of registry data, especially ASA scores, improves risk adjustment for hospital readmission performance measures for THA/TKA, demonstrating the potential benefits of integrating registry and administrative datasets. Reductions in readmissions following joint replacement surgery are most likely to be achieved by interventions that are targeted towards patients at high risk of readmission, rather than focussed at the hospital level.

The known

• Readmission rates following total hip or knee arthroplasty (THA/TKA) are influenced by factors such as body mass index (BMI) and American Society of

Anaesthesiologists Physical Status (ASA) score, which are not captured in administrative data used for hospital performance measurement

The new

 Addition of ASA and BMI improved the discriminatory accuracy of multilevel models for 30-day all-cause readmission, compared with models using administrative data only. After risk-adjustment, less than 1.4% of the variation in 30-day readmissions was attributable to the hospital where the procedure was performed.

The implications

 Inclusion of registry data, especially ASA scores, improves risk adjustment for hospital readmission performance measures for THA/TKA, demonstrating the potential benefits of integrating registry and administrative datasets.

Introduction

Osteoarthritis is a long-term progressive disease affecting nearly 1 in 11 Australians,²²⁷ and costing the Australian health system an estimated \$3.5 billion.¹⁴⁰ Australian clinical practice guidelines recommend joint replacement surgery for severe disease when conservative options, such as weight management and increase in physical activity, have failed.²²⁸ The demand for surgical interventions has steadily increased over time, owing to a rise in obesity, aging populations and joint injuries.²²⁹

A substantial increase in both the rates and volume of joint replacement surgeries are expected in the Australian population over the next 25 years. Incidence rates of total hip arthroplasty (THA) and total knee arthroplasty (TKA) are expected to rise by 73% and 31% respectively from 2014 to 2046, with a noted projected increase in surgical volume of 198% and 126%.²³⁰ Performance metrics for THA/TKA, such as all-cause and unplanned readmissions, are widely used to drive improvements in patient care both internationally and nationally. In the United States, measures including penalising hospitals with excess readmission rates and bundling payments to cover costs of the entire postoperative period²³¹ are applied, despite recent critiques due to the lack of the variation in readmission rates attributable to hospitals.²³² In Australia, readmission indicators for hip and knee

Chapter 7: Supplementing administrative data with clinical registry

replacements are part of the national core hospital-based outcome indicators to improve safety and quality in patient care¹⁸⁹ and are used for state level reporting of public hospital performance. In NSW, the Bureau of Health Information (BHI) reports THA/TKA readmission rates for public hospitals, using age, sex and Elixhauser morbidities for risk adjustment.²²²

THA/TKA readmission rates are influenced by a variety of patient, clinical and care factors. Recent systematic and literature reviews^{233,234} identified age, sex, comorbidities, socioeconomic status, race/ethnicity, American Society of Anaesthesiologists Physical Status (ASA) score, body mass index (BMI), discharge disposition (home, rehabilitation, nursing home) and length of stay to be significantly associated with higher readmission rates. While adjusting for socioeconomic status, race/ethnicity and process level factors may blunt the ability of performance measures to characterise quality of care,²⁴³ BMI and ASA score can appropriately be used to adjust for patient complexity. Their use, however, has not been studied in Australia due to the lack of available information in administrative health data sources.

Clinical registries provide additional sources of information which potentially can be used to enhance risk-adjustment of performance metrics, and integration of clinical quality data with major health care datasets is a vision of the first Australian National Clinical Quality Registry and Virtual Registry Strategy 2020-2030.¹²⁷ However, the potential contribution of information captured in registries to risk adjustment of performance metrics is largely unknown.

In this first study of Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR) data linked with hospital data we aim to (a) examine the impact of multimorbidity on THA/TKA readmission rates, (b) assess whether the inclusion of registry-level variables (BMI, ASA score) improves predictive ability of models used to monitor hospital performance metrics and (c) quantify the extent to which variation in 30day readmissions is attributable to differences among hospitals.

Methods

Study design

Chapter 7: Supplementing administrative data with clinical registry

We undertook an observational cohort study of routinely linked New South Wales (NSW) hospital data and registry data.

Data sources

We used NSW Admitted Patient Data Collection (hospital data), linked with the AOANJRR (registry data) and Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages mortality data. Data linkage was carried out by the NSW Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL), with an estimated false positive and false negative rate of <0.5%.¹⁹⁵ Hospital data include all admissions to public and private hospitals in the state resulting in discharge, transfer, type change or death. Hospital diagnoses are coded using International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Problems, tenth revision, Australian modification (ICD-10-AM) and procedures using the Australian Classification of Health Interventions (ACHI).¹⁹¹ The AOANJRR collects data on individuals receiving primary or revision joint arthroplasty surgery at public and private hospitals in Australia, with almost complete coverage (97.8%).¹⁹² Registry data are collected via forms filled out at the time of surgery and include information on BMI, ASA, diagnoses, type and reason for arthroplasty, surgical technique and components inserted.

Study population

The study population comprised adult patients (aged 18 years and over), admitted to acute care in public hospitals with primary or secondary procedure for total knee arthroplasty (TKA) or total hip arthroplasty (THA), and discharge dates between 1 July 2016 and 30 June 2018. Non-NSW residents and patients with fractures, those who died in hospital, were discharged at own risk or transferred between hospitals were excluded (Appendix 6, Supplementary Figures 1, 2).

Predictors and outcomes

Person-level factors used to model readmissions were age group, sex, and comorbidities from hospital data and ASA and BMI from registry data.

Thirty-one morbidities from the Elixhauser index¹⁹⁸ were summarised from the principal and secondary diagnoses at the time of THA/TKA and two years preceding the surgery. Total number of morbidities was summed and categorised into groups of 0, 1, 2 and 3 or

more. Sensitivity analysis using dichotomous measure of multimorbidity – presence of two or more Elixhauser morbidities – was carried out.

BMI from the AOANJRR was categorised into the World Health Organisation²³⁵ categories: underweight (<18.5), normal weight (18.5-24.99), overweight (25-29.99), obesity class I (30-34.99), obesity class II (35-39.99) and obesity class III (\geq 40). Ascertainment of overweight/obesity in hospital data was made using ICD-10-AM diagnosis code "E66" and the supplementary chronic disease code of obesity "U78.1".

ASA is a five-category classification ranging from 1 for a heathy patient to 5 for a moribund patient not expected to survive the surgery.²³⁶ In our cohort the ASA ranged from 1 to 4.

We constructed periods of stay by rolling up contiguous acute and sub-acute (e.g. rehabilitation) episodes of care. End dates from an acute episode of care were used to construct a readmission to the next acute admission within a new period of stay. We considered acute all-cause and unplanned readmissions (Appendix 6, Supplementary Table 1) within 30 days of discharge from index admission excluding planned hospitalisation for haemodialysis, chemotherapy, radiotherapy and cataract surgery (Appendix 6, Supplementary Table 1). Readmissions for THA and TKA were modelled separately, as binary outcomes.

Statistical analysis

We used a novel methodological approach of stepwise multilevel logistic regression analysis of discriminatory accuracy²³⁷ to classify patients by their 30-day readmission likelihood. Multilevel models were chosen because of the nesting of patients within hospitals. For each outcome we fitted three logistic regression models, computing the area under the receiver operator characteristic curve (AUC), as a measure of the model's discriminatory ability to correctly classify patients with and without an outcome (30-day readmission). AUC values range from 0.5 to 1, with 0.5 indicating no discrimination, and 1 perfect discrimination.²³⁸

Model 1 includes a single-level logistic regression to evaluate the contributions of age and sex to the outcome.

In Model 2h we added Elixhauser morbidities to Model 1, in line with the current hospital data risk-adjustment BHI methodology.²²² In model 2h,r we added registry variables (BMI, ASA) to Model 2h. Differences between AUC of Models 2 and 1 were used to examine the

improvement in classification of patients. ASA score was included as a continuous variable because there was an increasing trend in proportion readmitted with increasing score for both THA and TKA.

In Model 3, we expanded on Model 2 by adding a random intercept for hospitals (multilevel model) to quantify the contribution of hospitals to variation in the outcome (measured using the variance partition coefficient (VPC)) and discrimination accuracy (measured using the difference between AUC of Models 3 and 2d). Hospital-level variables were not including in multilevel models because they may exist on a causal pathway to the outcome, rather than being confounders.²⁴³

The VPC uses the estimated hospital-level variance in the calculation,²³⁹ and ranges between 0% and 100%, with higher values representing a higher proportion of the observed individual variation attributable to between-hospital variation.

Data management and analyses were carried out using SAS version 9.3 software.²⁴⁰ We obtained ethics approval from the NSW Population & Health Services Research Committee (Ref 2019/ETH00436).

Results

Between 1 July 2016 – 30 June 2018 we identified 5855 patients with THA (103, 1.8% bilateral) in 45 NSW public hospitals (median number of patients per hospital=116 [IQR 71-163]), and 10183 (688, 6.8% bilateral) patients with TKA in 43 hospitals (median number of patients per hospital =206 [IQR 110-321]). Mean age of the THA cohort was 66.7 years (SD 11.9), and 68.9 years (SD 9.1) for TKA. 19% of the THA and 20% of the TKA cohort were multimorbid, with diabetes, hypertension, cardiac arrhythmias, chronic ischaemic heart disease, chronic kidney disease and cancer most prevalent (Table 7.2).

Overweight/obesity was present in 10.6% of THA and 16.5% of TKA patients, using hospital diagnoses (Table 7.2). Obesity, measured using BMI, was present in 43.7% of THA and 61.5% of TKA patients, with morbid obesity present in 6.3% of THA and 12.3% of TKA patients (Table 7.2). Ascertainment of overweight and obesity in hospital data was low, with only 13% of THA and 18% of TKA patients with BMI >25kg/m² identified using diagnosis or supplementary codes, but with high validity (sensitivities > 99%)

(Appendix 6, Table 2). Weak correlations between the ASA and Elixhauser Index were noted (Spearman ρ =0.35 in THA and ρ =0.30 in TKA).

There were 430 (7.3%) all-cause readmissions and 149 (2.5%) unplanned readmissions within 30 days of discharge from THA, and 837 (8.2%) all-cause and 357 (3.5%) unplanned readmissions following TKA. Patients who are older, have higher ASA score, more morbidities or who are morbidly obese (in TKA cohort only) have higher readmission rates (Table 7.2). Leading reasons for readmission are shown in Appendix 6, Table 3.

THA (N = 5855) TKA (N = 10183) Total 30-day readmission Total 30-day readmission (N = 430, 7.3%)(N = 837, 8.2%)Sex n (%) n (%) 383 (8.7) Male 2857 (48.8) 219 (7.7) 4382 (43.0) Female 2998 (51.2) 211 (7.0) 5801 (57.0) 454 (7.8) Age <60 1571 (26.8) 88 (5.6) 1771 (17.4) 130 (7.3) 805 (13.7) 45 (5.6) 1545 (15.2) 106 (6.9) 60-64 65-69 979 (16.7) 68 (6.9) 2053 (20.2) 157 (7.6) 70-74 992 (16.9) 83 (8.4) 2078 (20.4) 193 (9.3) 75-79 785 (13.4) 73 (9.3) 1618 (15.9) 146 (9.0) 73 (10.1) 105 (9.4) $80 \pm$ 723 (12.3) 1118 (11.0) Procedure type 103 (1.8) 688 (6.8) 41 (6.0) Bilateral 4 (3.9) Unilateral 5752 (98.2) 426 (7.4) 9495 (93.24) 796 (8.4) Overweight/obesity 5235 (89.4) 8502 (83.5) 676 (8.0) No 375 (7.2) Yes 620 (10.6) 55 (8.9) 1681 (16.5) 161 (9.6) BMI Underweight 47 (0.8) 19 (0.2) n.p. n.p. Normal 1077 (18.4) 75 (7.0) 860 (8.4) 60 (7.0) Overweight 1963 (33.5) 148 (7.5) 2657 (26.1) 218 (8.2) Obese I 1487 (25.4) 107 (7.2) 3097 (30.4) 227 (7.3) Obese II 1910 (18.8) 702 (12.0) 47 (6.7) 168 (8.8) Obese III 32 (9.2) 1194 (11.7) 130 (10.9) 349 (6.0) Missing/invalid 230 (3.9) 19 (8.3) 446 (4.4) 32 (7.2) ASA 1 - Healthy 371 (6.3) 14 (3.8) 320 (3.1) 12 (3.8) 2 - Mild disease 3240 (55.3) 5696 (55.9) 382 (6.7) 202 (6.2) 3 - Severe disease 2164 (37.0) 199 (9.2) 4048 (39.8) 429 (10.6) 4 - Incapacitating 62 (1.1) 13 (21.0) 83 (0.8) 14 (16.9) Missing 18 (0.3) 36 (0.4) 0 (0) n.p. Elixhauser Index 347 (6.4) 0 3318 (56.7) 166 (5.0) 5435 (53.4) 1 1439 (24.6) 131 (9.1) 2718 (26.7) 234 (8.6) 2 582 (9.9) 61 (10.5) 1163 (11.4) 125 (10.8) 3 or more 516 (8.8) 72 (14.0) 867 (8.5) 131 (15.1) Multimorbidity[†] 4757 (81.3) 8153 (80.1) 581 (7.1) No 297 (6.2) 2030 (19.9) 1098 (18.7) 133 (12.1) 256 (12.6) Yes Individual morbidities AIDS/HIV n.p. n.p. n.p. n.p. Alcohol abuse 121 (2.1) 17 (14.0) 124 (1.2) 19 (15.3) Blood loss anemia 35 (0.6) 5 (14.3) 54 (0.5) 12 (22.2) Cardiac arrhythmia 584 (10.0) 66 (11.3) 887 (8.7) 129 (14.5)

Table 7.2 Characteristics of patients undergoing THA or TKA between 1 July 2016 and 30June 2018

Chapter 7: Supplementing administrative data with clinical registry

	THA (N = 5855)		ТКА	(N = 10183)
	Total	30-day readmission	Total	30-day readmission
Chronic pulmonary disease	136 (2.3)	24 (17.6)	189 (1.9)	26 (13.8)
Coagulopathy	79 (1.3)	16 (20.3)	95 (0.9)	19 (20.0)
Congestive heart failure	88 (1.5)	13 (14.8)	135 (1.3)	19 (14.1)
Deficiency anemia	142 (2.4)	15 (10.6)	239 (2.3)	31 (13.0)
Depression	56 (1.0)	n.p.	78 (0.8)	15 (19.2)
Diabetes, complicated	461 (7.9)	59 (12.8)	1215 (11.9)	144 (11.9)
Diabetes, uncomplicated	709 (12.1)	72 (10.2)	1768 (17.4)	166 (9.4)
Drug abuse	54 (0.9)	8 (14.8)	57 (0.6)	12 (21.1)
Fluid and electrolyte disorders	685 (11.7)	76 (11.1)	1075 (10.6)	140 (13.0)
Hypertension (complicated)	n.p.	n.p.	8 (0.1)	n.p.
Hypertension (uncomplicated)	488 (8.3)	49 (10.0)	918 (9.0)	116 (12.6)
Hyperthyroidism	15 (0.3)	n.p.	25 (0.2)	n.p.
Liver disease	112 (1.9)	17 (15.2)	161 (1.6)	18 (11.2)
Lymphoma	20 (0.3)	n.p.	11 (0.1)	n.p.
Metastatic cancer	30 (0.5)	5 (16.7)	35 (0.3)	n.p.
Obesity	78 (1.3)	7 (9.0)	182 (1.8)	17 (9.3)
Other neurological disorders	48 (0.8)	5 (10.4)	52 (0.5)	7 (13.5)
Paralysis	24 (0.4)	n.p.	42 (0.4)	n.p.
Peptic ulcer disease	20 (0.3)	n.p.	31 (0.3)	n.p.
Peripheral vascular disorders	53 (0.9)	5 (9.4)	87 (0.9)	11 (12.6)
Psychoses	15 (0.3)	n.p.	18 (0.2)	n.p.
Pulmonary circulation disorders	46 (0.8)	n.p.	91 (0.9)	11 (12.1)
Renal failure	124 (2.1)	16 (12.9)	243 (2.4)	40 (16.5)
Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular disease	72 (1.2)	9 (12.5)	129 (1.3)	11 (8.5)
Solid tumor without metastasis	128 (2.2)	13 (10.2)	210 (2.1)	24 (11.4)
Valvular disease	56 (1.0)	8 (14.3)	83 (0.8)	12 (14.5)
Weight loss	119 (2.0)	15 (12.6)	85 (0.8)	10 (11.8)

n.p. Not reported (<5), † Presence of 2 of more Elixhauser Index morbidities

Patient-level effects

In the THA cohort, factors that were significantly associated with 30-day readmission include older age and more morbidities (Table 7.3), particularly chronic pulmonary disease, coagulopathy, alcohol abuse and diabetes with complications (Appendix 6, Table 4). Multimorbid patients had 87% higher odds of readmission compared to those that were not (Appendix 6, Table 5). BMI was not found to be significantly associated with readmission following age and sex adjustments, and the association between ASA and readmission remained significant following adjustments for Elixhauser Index. Inclusion of Elixhauser Index increased the AUC from 0.59 to 0.64 (95%CI 0.62-0.67), with a further modest increase to 0.65 (95% CI 0.62-0.68) once ASA was added.

Table 7.3 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, THA

	S	ingle-level models		Multilevel models			
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 _h OR (95% CI)	Model 2 _{h,r} OR (95% CI)	Model 3 _h OR (95% CI)	Model 3 _{h,r} OR (95% CI)		
Patient-level effects							
Sex							
Male	1.26 (1.03154)	1.22 (1.00-1.50)	1.23 (1.00152)	1.23 (1.00-1.51)	1.24 (1.01-1.53)		
Age							
<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference		
60 - 64	1.10 (0.75-1.63)	1.02 (0.69-1.50)	1.00 (0.67-1.47)	1.01 (0.69-1.50)	1.00 (0.67-1.48)		
65 - 69	1.46 (1.04-2.06)	1.31 (0.93-1.84)	1.26 (0.90-1.79)	1.31 (0.93-1.85)	1.27 (0.90-1.79)		
70 - 74	1.78 (1.29-2.47)	1.55 (1.11-2.15)	1.47 (1.05-2.05)	1.55 (1.11-2.16)	1.47 (1.05-2.06)		
75 - 79	2.08 (1.49-2.92)	1.73 (1.23-2.44)	1.61 (1.14-2.28)	1.73 (1.23-2.45)	1.62 (1.15-2.30)		
80 and over	2.30 (1.64-3.23)	1.79 (1.27-2.54)	1.66 (1.17-2.36)	1.79 (1.27-2.54)	1.67 (1.17-2.37)		
Elixhauser Index							
0		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference		
1		1.86 (1.45-2.37)	1.75 (1.36-2.24)	1.87 (1.46-2.39)	1.77 (1.37-2.27)		
2		2.06 (1.50-2.84)	1.87 (1.35-2.60)	2.07 (1.50-2.85)	1.88 (1.35-2.61)		
3 or more		2.77 (2.03-3.78)	2.42 (1.75-3.35)	2.77 (2.03-3.78)	2.43 (1.75-3.37)		
		· · · ·	· · · ·				
ASA class			1.29 (1.07-1.55)		1.28 (1.07-1.55)		
			· · · ·		· · ·		
Hospital-level effects							
Hospital-level inter	rcept(SE)			0.03 (0.03)	0.03 (0.03)		
VPC	1 \ /			0.94%	0.84%		
Discriminatory accuracy	7						
AUC	0.59 (0.56-0.62)	0.64 (0.62-0.67)	0.65 (0.62-0.68)	0.64 (0.62-0.67)	0.65(0.62-0.68)		
AUC difference	Reference	0.05ª	0.06ª	0.00 ^b	0.00 ^b		

^a Incremental increase from Model 1, ^b Incremental increase from Model 2

Model 1: single-level model with age, sex only; Model 2_h: Model 1 and hospital data information (Elixhauser Index); Model 2_{h,r}: Model 1 and hospital and registry information (Elixhauser Index, ASA); Model 3_h: Model 2_h plus hospital-level random effect; Model 3_{h,r}: Model 2_{h,r} plus hospital-level random effect. ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient, VPC: variance partition coefficient, AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve

Adjusted 30-day readmissions in the TKA cohort were significantly higher among individuals with more morbidities and increasing ASA scores (Table 7.4) and among those with drug abuse, blood loss anaemia, cardiac arrhythmias, fluid and electrolyte disorders, diabetes with complications and hypertension (Appendix 6, Table 6). Odds of readmission were 92% higher among patients that were multimorbid (Appendix 6, Table 7). BMI was

significantly associated with readmission after adjustment for age, sex and comorbidities only (Appendix 6, Table 5), but not when ASA was added to the model. The addition of Elixhauser Index increased the AUC from 0.54 to 0.60 (95%CI 0.58-0.62), and addition of ASA increased the AUC further to 0.61 (0.59-0.63).

Table 7.4 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects,TKA

	S	ingle-level mode	ls	Multileve	el models
	Model 1	Model 2 _h	Model 2 _{h,r}	Model 3 _h	Model 3 _{h,r}
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Patient-level effects					
Sex					
Male	1.14 (0.99-1.32)	1.11 (0.96-1.28)	1.11 (0.96-1.28)	1.10 (0.95-1.28)	1.10 (0.95-1.28)
Age					
<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
60 - 64	0.93 (0.71-1.22)	0.90 (0.68-1.18)	0.89 (0.67-1.16)	0.90 (0.68-1.18)	0.89 (0.68-1.17)
65 - 69	1.06 (0.83-1.36)	0.98 (0.77-1.26)	0.96 (0.75-1.24)	0.99 (0.77-1.27)	0.97 (0.76-1.25)
70 - 74	1.33 (1.05-1.68)	1.20 (0.95-1.53)	1.16 (0.91-1.48)	1.21 (0.95-1.53)	1.17 (0.92-1.48)
75 - 79	1.24 (0.96-1.60)	1.09 (0.84-1.41)	1.04 (0.80-1.35)	1.08 (0.84-1.40)	1.03 (0.80-1.34)
80 and over	1.29 (0.98-1.70)	1.09 (0.82-1.45)	1.02 (0.77-1.35)	1.08 (0.81-1.43)	1.01 (0.76-1.34)
Elixhauser Index					
0		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
1		1.41 (1.18-1.68)	1.31 (1.10-1.57)	1.40 (1.17-1.67)	1.31 (1.09-1.57)
2		1.83 (1.47-2.28)	1.63 (1.30-2.04)	1.83 (1.47-2.28)	1.63 (1.30-2.05)
3 or more		2.71 (2.17-3.39)	2.30 (1.82-2.91)	2.71 (2.16-3.39)	2.31 (1.82-2.92)
ASA class			1.40 (1.22-1.61)		1.40 (1.22-1.61)
Hospital-level effects					
Hospital-level interc	ept (SE)			0.05 (0.02)	0.04 (0.02)
VPC				1.38%	1.34%
Discriminatory accuracy					
AUC	0.54 (0.52-0.56)	0.60 (0.58-0.62)	0.61 (0.59-0.63)	0.60 (0.58-0.62)	0.61(0.59-0.63)
AUC difference	Reference	0.06ª	0.07ª	0.00 ^b	0.00ь
75 - 79 80 and over Elixhauser Index 0 1 2 3 or more ASA class Hospital-level effects Hospital-level interc VPC Discriminatory accuracy AUC AUC difference * Incremental increa	1.24 (0.96-1.60) 1.29 (0.98-1.70) tept (SE) 0.54 (0.52-0.56) Reference ase from Model 1, ^b 1	1.09 (0.84-1.41) 1.09 (0.82-1.45) Reference 1.41 (1.18-1.68) 1.83 (1.47-2.28) 2.71 (2.17-3.39) 0.60 (0.58-0.62) 0.06 ^a ncremental increase	1.04 (0.80-1.35) 1.02 (0.77-1.35) Reference 1.31 (1.10-1.57) 1.63 (1.30-2.04) 2.30 (1.82-2.91) 1.40 (1.22-1.61) 0.61 (0.59-0.63) 0.07 ^a from Model 2	1.08 (0.84-1.40) 1.08 (0.81-1.43) Reference 1.40 (1.17-1.67) 1.83 (1.47-2.28) 2.71 (2.16-3.39) 0.05 (0.02) 1.38% 0.60 (0.58-0.62) 0.00 ^b	1.03 (0.80-1.34) 1.01 (0.76-1.34) Reference 1.31 (1.09-1.57) 1.63 (1.30-2.05) 2.31 (1.82-2.92) 1.40 (1.22-1.61) 0.04 (0.02) 1.34% 0.61(0.59-0.63) 0.00 ^b

Model 1: single-level model with age, sex only; Model 2_h: Model 1 and hospital data information (Elixhauser Index); Model 2_{h,r}: Model 1 and hospital and registry information (Elixhauser Index, ASA); Model 3_h: Model 2_h plus hospital-level random effect; Model 3_{h,r}: Model 2_{h,r} plus hospital-level random effect. ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient, VPC: variance partition coefficient, AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve

Hospital-level effects

Variation at hospital level was small in both the THA and TKA cohorts, with VPC of 1.34% and 0.84% respectively, indicating that less than 1.4% of the adjusted individual

variation in 30-day readmission rates was attributable to the hospital. Similarly, the AUC of Model 3, which includes a hospital-level random intercept, showed no increase in discriminatory accuracy.

Discussion

Our study is the first to link the AONJRR to hospital administrative data and to examine how the inclusion of registry information (BMI and ASA scores) adds to the explanation of 30-day readmission rates over and above measures used for hospital performance profiling. This linkage also allowed us to evaluate whether there is variation among hospital outcomes beyond that which is explained by patient characteristics.

Using stepwise multilevel logistic regression analysis, we showed that, after inclusion of Elixhauser Index, there were modest improvements in the discriminatory accuracy with the addition of clinical registry data (ASA for THA, ASA or BMI for TKA). After full adjustment, the ASA score was a significant predictor of readmissions for both THA and TKA. These findings suggest integration of clinical registry data may improve capacity to identify at-risk patients following these procedures more than traditional approaches using administrative data alone- such as reporting on between-hospital variation.

In our study, higher ASA score was associated with an increased risk of readmission in agesex adjusted models and maintained a significant independent association following Elixhauser Index adjustment in both the THA and TKA cohorts. ASA has been one of the more cited factors contributing to increased readmission,²³³ and we have shown its contribution to the Australian joint replacement surgery cohorts, with higher ASA being associated with increased odds of readmissions. Modest improvements in discriminatory accuracy seen with the addition of ASA scores in our study may be due to homogeneity in THA/TKA cohorts, with effect sizes likely to have a greater impact in clinical registries with a greater range of illness severity. The correlation between the ASA and Elixhauser index was not strong, highlighting that ASA captures different aspects of a patient's overall health. Although the ASA was not designed to predict outcomes,236 but rather to assess patients' pre-anaesthesia comorbidity, its delineation between patients with minimal to severe systemic disease can be viewed as a proxy of patient complexity, over and above the weighted disease count of Elixhauser comorbidity index. Furthermore, ASA is assessed by a clinician who has examined the patient, rather than being assigned on the basis of coded diagnoses, the quality of which varies widely.²⁴¹ The inclusion of additonal measures of

patient complexity, such as severity of illness, in clinical registries which collect such data, could provide further means to improve risk adjustment for hospital performance metrics.

The contribution of BMI, as captured in registry data, to 30-day readmissions differed between the two cohorts. BMI was not a significant predictor of readmission in the THA cohort analysis adjusted for age and sex, but morbidly obese individuals (obesity class III) were significantly more likely to have a readmission following TKA. These mixed results for the effects of obesity are also observed in prior studies.²⁴² We also showed that obesity was prevalent in both THA and TKA cohorts, with low capture but high validity within hospital data. Adjustments for obesity using hospital data alone should therefore be viewed with caution, noting high under-enumeration of obesity in the administrative data sources.

Readmission literature for joint replacements indicates several other factors that are associated with higher readmission rates. A recent systematic review²³³ found that factors such as socioeconomic status, race/ethnicity, length of stay and disposition at discharge are predictive of readmission following arthroplasty. More recent research indicated that hospital frailty risk scores (HFRS) provide better discriminative ability to classify patients with and without adverse events.²⁰¹ And HFRS⁸⁷ can be derived from administrative data, it includes markers of quality of care, such as hospital-acquired complications, so using it to adjust indicators may mask genuine differences in hospital performance.

We found that less than 1.4% of the overall individual variation in readmission was attributable to the hospital where the surgery was performed. Our findings are in line with previous studies of hospital differences in orthopaedic surgery.^{244, 245} Hollis et al.²⁴⁴ found 1.5% of variation in US orthopaedic 30-day readmission rates was attributable to hospitals and Kristensen et al.²⁴⁵ found up to 0.9% of the variation in orthopaedic 30-day mortality rates in Denmark to be attributable to hospitals. These findings support the notion that reductions in readmissions following joint replacement surgery are most likely to be achieved by interventions that are targeted at the individual level, towards patients at high risk of readmission, rather than focussed at the hospital level.

The key strength of this study is the use of linked AOANJRR registry and population-level hospital data, and the novel analytical approach to unpack the relative contributions of data sources to explaining patient outcomes. However, it does have several limitations. The information about BMI and ASA in the registry data was collected from year 2015 only, limiting the number of years of the data we could analyse. We could not include patients

who had joint replacement procedures from private hospitals because we did not have complete data for them.

Future planned integration of clinical registry data can help to identify at-risk patients following THA/TKA procedures and improve risk adjustment for hospital readmission performance measures. Reductions in readmissions following joint replacement surgery are most likely to be achieved by interventions that are targeted towards patients at high risk of readmission, rather than focussed at the hospital level.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the NSW Ministry of Health and Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR) for supplying the data, and the Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL) for conducting the probabilistic linkage of records. The authors acknowledge the contribution of the Enhancing Joint Replacement Outcomes through National Data Linkage research group including Professor Stephen Graves, Associate Professor Nicole Pratt, Doctor Maria Inacio, Professor Richard de Steiger, Professor Ian Harris, Associate Professor Ilana Ackerman, Katherine Duszynski, Michelle Lorimer and Aarti Gulyani, for their advice on study result interpretation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

S.L. designed the study with the oversight from other co-authors. L.R.J. acquired the funding and data. J.M.S and M.O.F. supervised statistical analyses. S.L. performed data curation, carried out statistical analyses, interpretation of findings, drafted the manuscript, reviewed and revised it following input from all co-authors. I.A.H provided clinical advice and contributed to result interpretation. M.F.L prepared AOANJRR data for linkage by CHeReL. All authors interpreted the results, revised and approved the manuscript.

CHAPTER 8

Discussion

8.1 Thesis motivation and aims

People with multiple chronic conditions have adverse health outcomes (mortality, hospitalisations, prolonged lengths of stay, etc), higher levels of disability^{64, 65, 90, 220} and reduced quality of life.^{63, 75} Multimorbidity increases healthcare utilisation^{69, 196, 246} and healthcare costs.^{58, 67} Growing numbers of individuals living with multimorbidity, with the associated higher utilisation of primary and acute care services, is a challenge facing many healthcare systems internationally. Multimorbidity has been hailed a priority for research, by the Academy of Medical Sciences,⁸ medical practice, by the NICE,⁹² and health policy reform.^{187, 247, 248} Research on multimorbidity has grown considerably in the past decade.

Population-level research on multimorbidity and its outcomes is impeded by a lack of available data that permit identification of people with multiple chronic diseases and longitudinal tracking of their subsequent service use and health outcomes. Australia is on the cusp of creating enduring linked data assets for Australian health research,²⁴⁹ which will bolster national research in health priority areas, including multimorbidity. Until this occurs, Australian researchers rely on ad-hoc linkages of health data sources, often with long lead times and at considerable cost.

In this thesis I aimed to explore measurement of multimorbidity, its interplay with frailty, and associations with outcomes for patients, via a series of studies using Australian administrative health data linked with survey and national registry data from three separate NHMRC projects. The first two studies used the data from the 45 and Up Study, Australia's largest cohort study of health and ageing (https://www.saxinstitute.org.au/our-work/45-up-study/). The remaining two studies included population-level hospital data for NSW, Australia's most populous state.¹⁰⁹

Specific aims of the thesis included addressing the following research questions:

- Is there agreement between self-repoted health conditions and coded diagnoses in routine hospital inpatient data? What patient- and hospital-level factors explain this agreement?
- Do multimorbidity prevalence estimates vary according to data source? Are different individuals identified as multimorbid using different data sources?
- 3. What effects do the different measures of multimorbidity and frailty have on adverse patient outcomes? How do multimorbidity and frailty interact?
- 4. How does multimorbidity contribute to the variations in hospital-level outcome indicators used for performance measurement? Does the addition of variables from clinical registries improve predictive ability (discriminative performance) of modes used to monitor health performance metrics?

8.2 Key thesis findings

8.2.1 Study 1: Variation in recording health conditions in hospital data

Routinely collected hospital data are increasingly being used in health research, with hospital coded diagnoses commonly used for risk adjustment in epidemiological studies. These data are prone to underreporting of morbidities,^{28, 29, 225} with a potential to introduce bias in risk-adjustment, particularly when used to report on hospital-performance measures.

Chapter 4 investigated the variation in recording of single and multiple conditions in hospital data in NSW, using linked data for 32,832 people admitted to 313 hospitals in the state. I used multilevel modelling in this work to account for clustering of people within hospitals, thus properly considering contextual influences that can explain the variation in recording of conditions. My research demonstrated considerable between-hospital variation in the recording of six morbidities: diabetes, heart disease, hypertension, stroke, smoking and obesity, and showed that this variation is predominantly driven by the average number of diagnosis codes for each patient that is coded by hospitals (i.e. 'depth of coding').

Concordance between self-reported and hospital-coded morbidities varied among the six conditions and their combinations, and was found to be good for diabetes, moderate for smoking, fair for heart disease and poor for hypertension, stroke, and obesity. My study, to the best of my knowledge, was the first to explore variations in recording of multiple conditions in hospital data. I found that the concordance of two-way morbidity
combinations was very low, and was fair or good at best, and generally higher among combinations of diseases involving diabetes.

My research highlighted the value-add of incorporating prior hospitalisations in identifying patients with morbidities. Concordance between self-reported and hospital-coded morbidities increased with the inclusion of prior hospital admissions (lookback). I found that close to half (41-56%) of the patients with hypertension and heart disease can be ascertained using a lookback period, compared with 31% and 44%, respectively, using information from a single admission only.

My research found considerable hospital-level variation in the recording of health conditions, with between 8% (diabetes) and 22% (heart disease) of variation attributable to hospital-level factors, after adjustments for patient characteristics. There was less hospitallevel variation in the recording of diabetes, smoking and stroke, and more hospital-level variation in the recording of hypertension, heart disease and obesity. Recording of hypertension and heart disease varied greatly, the hospitals with better reporting having over two times higher odds of recording these conditions than hospitals with lower levels of reporting. These findings were novel, and for the first time provided detailed information about how the validity of morbidity coding varied between hospitals.

In this research I also explored hospital-level factors that contributed to variations in the coding between the six chosen morbidities. Hospital-level variables (depth of coding, hospital size (peer group), hospital type (public/private) and hospital remoteness) were added one at a time to examine their contribution to between-hospital variation. Depth of coding was found to explain the highest proportion of the variation and explained between 16% (smoking) and 42% (hypertension) of residual variation among hospitals. Hospital type explained from 0% (smoking) to 59% (stroke), and hospital size explained from 10% (hypertension) to 27% (diabetes) of the hospital-level variation.

These findings have implications for multimorbidity ascertainment in acute care settings and highlight the advantages of incorporating prior hospitalisation history or supplementing the data using other administrative or self-reported data sources. Differences in between-hospital variation of recording, as shown in in this and a subsequent study,²⁴⁰ highlight the possibility of introducing biases for hospital-based performance reporting and activity-based funding if all hospitals are included. Stratification by hospital type (public, private) and hospital peer group, and risk-adjustment for

comorbidity, is suggested when reporting hospital results to help mitigate such potential bias.

8.2.2 Study 2: Comparing estimates of multimorbidity between data sources

Accurate and reliable measures of the prevalence of chronic disease and multimorbidity are essential for monitoring trends, estimating burden of disease, targeting preventive measures and planning healthcare resources. With a variety of data sources available, it is increasingly important to define consistent measures of multimorbidity.

In Chapter 5 I explored concordance in identification of eight common chronic conditions, estimates of multimorbidity and complex multimorbidity, and similarities and differences between individuals with multimorbidity using self-reported and administrative (hospital and medication) datasets for 90,352 NSW residents. My research found that different individuals, with different combinations of conditions, are identified as multimorbid when different data sources are used.

My analysis showed that there is a variable level of agreement between self-reported and administrative data. Excellent levels of agreement were found for diabetes in both hospital and medication datasets. Fair to good agreement was found in medication data for hypertension, asthma, depression, and Parkinson's disease. The agreement between hospital and self-reported data was generally poor, but hospital diagnoses had high levels of positive predictive value (PPV) across all examined conditions, indicating that although not all chronic conditions are identified in hospital data, when recorded they are generally accurate.

My analysis was the first, to my knowledge, to evaluate the differences between data sources in estimates of multimorbidity using the same list of chronic conditions in the same individuals. In my research, the estimates of multimorbidity prevalence varied by the data source used, with highest prevalence of multimorbidity and complex multimorbidity found using self-reported data, followed by medication data and hospital data. Combining hospital and medication data brought the overall multimorbidity estimates of the self-report and administrative data closer together, but there was still 41% relative difference in the estimated prevalence of complex multimorbidity between the data sources.

My research also showed that the odds of multimorbidity were higher among males, older people and those speaking a language other than English at home. The increasing age gradient in odds of multimorbidity was more pronounced in administrative than selfreported data for those aged 75 years and over, indicating a potential under numeration of morbidities when relying on self-reported data alone. My research found that people speaking English as a second language had increased odds of having multimorbidity in the administrative data, but decreased odds in the survey data. These findings were novel, and had not been reported in the literature, to the best of my knowledge.

The findings from this research highlight the gaps in the ascertainment of multimorbidity using single data sources. Reliance on self-reported data will under-ascertain morbidities for persons speaking English as a second language, and people aged over 75 years of age. Reliance on administrative data will under-ascertain multimorbidity but could potentially be used to identify cohorts of individuals with chronic disease, with high specificity. The gaps in the current data collections can be overcome, in part, by supplementing chronic disease information using different data sources. And these gaps can further be closed once additional data sources, in particular national primary health care datasets, become available.

8.2.3 Study 3: Multimorbidity and frailty

Multimorbidity and frailty are distinct entities reflecting different aspects of patient complexity. Many patients experience both, presenting the potential that they interact to increase the risk of adverse outcomes. In Chapter 6 I used whole-of-population data for NSW patients aged 75 and over (n=257,535) to explore the interaction between multimorbidity and frailty in hospitalised patients and their combined effects on adverse patient outcomes. To the best of my knowledge, no other studies have examined interaction between the two factors in hospital patients, nor reported the joint effects of multimorbidity and frailty.

The study used advanced statistical techniques to model patient outcomes of 30-day mortality, 30-day unplanned readmission to hospital and prolonged length of stay. Clustering of patients within hospitals was taken into account using multilevel models, to allow for similarities in patients treated within the same hospital. Poisson regression was used rather than logistic regression, given that odds ratios may not approximate relative risk

in common outcomes.²⁵⁰ Study findings were reported using recognised best practice for the reporting of interaction results.^{210, 2211, 251}

My research showed that one-third of hospitalised patients had both multimorbidity and elevated risks of frailty, close to 20% had an elevated frailty risk only, 15% were multimorbid only and the remaining 30% had neither. People with both multimorbidity and frailty were found to have worse outcomes than those with one or neither factor. Synergistic effects between multimorbidity and frailty were found for mortality and prolonged lengths of stay, and an additive effect for readmission. Compared with patients with neither multimorbidity nor at increased risk of frailty, patients with multimorbidity and frailty had 4.23 (95% CI 4.07-4.39) times the risk of 30-day mortality, 3.34 (95% CI 3.26-3.41) times the risk of prolonged length of stay and 1.79 (95% CI 1.73-1.86) times the risk of unplanned readmission within 30 days post discharge. Even larger effects of multimorbidity and frailty on adverse outcomes were found among surgical patients, with 30-day mortality risk 7.2 (95% CI 6.1-8.5) times higher in those with both multimorbidity and elevated frailty and 2.6 (95% CI 2.3-3.0) times higher 30-day readmission risk.

The findings from this study highlight the fact that both multimorbidity and frailty ought to be used to identify patients at risk of different types of complications. Multimorbidity and claims-based frailty, via HFRS, can readily be measured using administrative data containing ICD-10 codes, and can potentially be used for risk-stratification purposes. However, an overlap in some of the ICD-10 codes used in the two measures, and the capture of in-hospital complications contained within the HFRS, suggests further work is required to refine their application. For the latter, incorporation of condition onset flags (sometimes known as present on admission flags) into the HFRS coding algorithm could alleviate the problem of adjusting for factors that may represent adverse outcomes of care, potentially masking the between-hospital differences that performance indicators were designed to discover.

8.2.4 Study 4: Supplementing multimorbidity measured using administrative data with clinical registry data

Performance monitoring of patient care and outcomes is usually undertaken using administrative data. There is strong interest in integrating clinical registries with such major health care datasets, for example to improve risk adjustment of performance metrics.

However, there are few such linkages in Australia, and the potential added value of clinical registries is largely unknown.

In Chapter 7 I extended the exploration of 30-day readmission work from Chapter 6, and supplemented administrative data with registry information to examine readmissions following joint replacement surgery – one of the national core, hospital-based outcome indicators for measuring hospital performance.¹⁸⁹ Both Australian²²² and US²⁴³ indicators of readmission for THA/TKA risk adjust for age, sex and comorbidity. However, readmissions for THA/TKA have been shown to increase with increasing ASA scores and BMI,^{233, 242} both of which are captured in clinical registry data. In this work I used the linked data from hospitals and the AOANJRR, the oldest and most comprehensive clinical quality registry in Australia.²⁵²

The analysis in Chapter 7 was designed to fill a gap in the research on exploration of variation in patient outcomes. Using unique linked hospital and registry data for a population cohort and applying a methodological approach of stepwise multilevel models, I unpacked the relative contribution of patient factors and between-hospital variation in prediction of readmission following THA/TKA. This was the first study to examine the value of including registry data, over and above multimorbidity as measured using administrative data, in the prediction of readmission following THA/TKA for hospital performance measurement.

Around 7% of THA and 8% of TKA patients had a readmission within 30 days of discharge from surgery, with patients who are older, have multimorbidity or higher ASA scores having higher readmission rates. My research found that the variation at hospital-level was small, with less than 1.4% of the adjusted individual variation in readmission rates attributable to hospitals. Despite public reporting of NSW hospital performance for THA/TKA by the NSW BHI, this was the first-time between hospital-level variation in TKA/TKA has formally been quantified.

THA and TKA patients who had multimorbidity were more likely to experience readmissions following surgery, with noted increase in the likelihood of readmission for conditions such as chronic pulmonary disease, coagulopathy, alcohol abuse and diabetes with complications in the THA cohort, and drug abuse, blood loss anaemia, cardiac arrhythmia, fluid and electrolyte disorders and hypertension in the TKA cohort. There was a weak correlation between ASA score from the AOANJRR, and Elixhauser Index derived from hospital administrative data. The addition of ASA score to a model containing age,

sex and morbidity increased the model's discriminatory power (measured using increase in the AUC value) by a modest amount in both THA and TKA cohorts, with ASA score remaining a significant predictor of readmissions over and above morbidity adjustments.

Aside from the above, I showed that ascertainment of obesity in hospital data is low, with only 13% of overweight/obese patients with BMI from registry data being identified using hospital diagnoses or supplementary codes. This finding echoes the results from Chapter 4, where poor levels of agreement were found between self-reported BMI and hospital diagnosis.

These results demonstrate there is value in supplementing measures of multimorbidity from administrative data with information from registries. More direct clinical information (such as the ASA score) can increase our capacity to identify and risk-adjust for high-risk individuals. Furthermore, clinical registries may provide more complete information on risk factors (e.g. BMI) where ascertainment within administrative data is poor.

8.3 Reach and impact of the research

Findings from the thesis have been presented at a number of national and international conferences and meetings including the 45 and Up Collaborators meetings in 2013 and 2014 in Sydney, the Health Services and Policy Research conferences in 2013 in Wellington, New Zealand, and 2015 in Adelaide, the Scottish Health Informatics Program (SHIP) conference in St Andrews, Scotland, in 2013, and the International Health Data Linkage conference in Vancouver, Canada, in 2014. The results from Chapters 4 and 5 were presented at invited talks at the NSW Ministry of Health, National Centre for Classification in Health, and various research centres across UNSW and beyond (details on page xvi).

Published papers from Chapters 4 and 5 have been cited by 27²⁵³ and 25²⁵⁴ articles respectively, as measured by Dimensions software.²⁵⁵ The articles were cited by various researchers around the globe, including 25 (47%) citations from Australia, 7 (13%) citations from Canada, 6 (11%) from UK, 5 (9%) from Spain, 4 (8%) from the US, and 6 (11%) citations from other countries. My Chapter 5 publication has received a lot of interest recently,²⁵⁴ with the results included in four systematic reviews²⁵⁶⁻²⁵⁹ of prevalence of multimorbidity in community settings,²⁵⁶ validation studies of claims-based data,²⁵⁷ identification of asthma patients using administrative data,²⁵⁸ and social determinants of

multimorbidity.²⁵⁹ This work has also recently been cited in a 2021 government report on chronic condition multimorbidity by the AIHW.²⁶⁰

Aside from the scholarly research, I have contributed to the field of multimorbidity via participating in the current work on exploring an international consensus of the definition and measurement of multimorbidity via a series of Delphi surveys,²⁶¹ as well as being a reviewer for a number of articles for the Journal of Comorbidity, now known as the Journal of Multimorbidity and Comorbidity.

My contribution also extends to policy processes on the refinement of the national core, hospital-based outcome indicator (CHBOI) indicator specifications¹⁸⁹ by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, including the development of the flowchart approach used in the current indicator specifications, and undertaking commissioned rapid literature reviews for mortality and readmission indicators. I lead the two rapid literature reviews, drafted key summaries for condition-specific indicator workshops, participated these workshops alongside clinicians, coders and data specialists, as well as led the drafting of final reports. The final reports included an overview and critical appraisal of published literature, summaries and comparisons of international readmission indicators, as well discussions and recommendations around validity of indicators, risk-adjustment methods, and implications for Australian metrics.

8.4 Implications for policy and practice

8.4.1 The need to accurately capture chronic diseases in administrative data

The population incidence and prevalence of chronic disease is monitored using both selfreported information from national health surveys and administrative data sources. Relying on a single source gives a limited view of chronic disease,²⁰⁴ as self-reported data can be prone to recall bias and usually captures limited numbers of chronic diseases, whereas administrative data are captured only when people use health services and may be subject to data quality issues.

In Studies 1 and 2 I explored consistency of ascertainment of chronic disease using selfreported and administrative data and found that there is variability in condition

ascertainment between data sources and between individuals. These findings are consistent with other research,^{225, 204,262,263} highlighting the importance of using multiple data sources to ascertain chronic disease, rather than relying on the information within a single source alone.

There is also potential to further improve capture of chronic disease in Australia through linkage to further physician claims and EMR data. Physician claims database coverage and completeness varies between countries. In countries like Canada²⁵⁴⁻²⁶⁶, UK^{42, 267}, US²⁶⁸ and Germany,²⁶⁹ physician claims data contain coded diagnoses which can be used to identify individuals with particular diseases. There are few sources of primary health care data in Australia,¹²⁴ and no state-based reporting systems containing detailed clinical information, limiting our capacity to use claims-based data for chronic disease surveillance and monitoring to the extent possible overseas. However, data extraction from GP electronic health records (EHRs) is possible from individual providers or programs such as NPS MedicineInsight.²⁷⁰ NPS MedicineInsight includes longitudinal data from EHRs from approximately 8% of general practices in Australia,¹⁰⁶ providing an avenue for furthering the research into chronic disease. However, NPS MedicineInsight data are currently unable to link patients across different general practice sites, or to other data sources, but linkages are planned in the future.¹⁰⁶ Linkage of EHR data to hospital and survey data will advance Australian efforts to evaluate algorithms for monitoring and estimating disease prevalence, in line with international specifications.²⁷¹

My findings highlight that, despite the presence of coding standards in Australia, there is large variability in recording of chronic disease - and that further improvements can be made. Comparisons of estimates of chronic disease within hospitalised patients is reliant on accurate and consistent coding at discharge from hospital. But accuracy of discharge coding is found to be variable between countries (51 – 98%),²⁴¹ with differences found both in terms of the maximum allowable number of coded diagnoses and how main diagnoses are defined. Barriers to accurate coding include chart documentation and clinical coding practices,^{120, 226} with under-coding of conditions identified as a major issue in administrative data bases.²⁷⁻²⁹ Improvements in the validity of coding can be made if conditions are coded regardless of their implication for hospital resources and costs.²⁷ This has been the case in Australia since the introduction of supplementary codes for chronic diseases in 2015.¹²² During 2017-18, around one third of the separations in NSW hospitals included supplementary codes, averaging between 1.8 supplementary codes per separation in public

and 1.5 in private hospitals.²⁷² My research in Chapter 7 demonstrated a dramatic increase in the coding of overweight and obesity using supplementary codes, highlighting the benefit of the inclusion of additional information within hospital data. It is important to note that validation studies of supplementary codes are yet to be done and, informed by my research in Chapter 4 and a subsequent Australian study,²²⁵ these should be carried out in representative samples of public and private hospitals of different sizes, due to the variability in coding practices between these hospital types.

8.4.2 The challenges in measurement of multimorbidity using administrative data

The estimated prevalence of multimorbidity can vary considerably based on how it is measured, with differences, for example, in the list of conditions used (chronic only, both chronic and acute, including or excluding symptoms), number of conditions included (ranging between 4 and $138^{11, 273}$), data collections used (surveys, medical chart extraction, administrative databases) and settings (general population, primary care, hospital, nursing home). A 2012 systematic review by Fortin et al.³² found that the prevalence is higher in primary care samples (42 - 52%) than in the general population (10% - 13%). Large differences in prevalence estimates between settings were also noted by Schram et al.,²⁷⁴ with multimorbidity most common in the nursing home setting (82%), followed by the general population and general practitioner registries (56%-72%) and least prevalent in the hospital setting (22%).

My research in Chapter 5 demonstrated that the ascertainment of multimorbidity is highest using self-reported data, followed by pharmaceutical claims and hospital data. Recent studies, citing my research, have also shown that the prevalence of multimorbidity is higher based on self-reported²⁶² or pharmaceutical claims data²⁷⁵ compared with hospital data. This research highlights the importance of supplementing data sources when reporting on the prevalence of multimorbidity, particularly if focusing on the inpatient setting alone. However, incorporation of data from multiple sources is often constrained by the cost, lead times in data procurement, and data availability.

Using a combination of data sources, including administrative (such as hospital data, claims data – pharmaceuticals, physician claims) and registry data will help overcome the gaps and limitations of using a single data source – for example in increasing case identification.

Algorithms to identify chronic diseases using single and multiple administrative data sets have been studied in Canada,^{204, 264, 276} US,²⁷⁷ New Zealand^{278, 279} and Sweden¹⁵. Australian development has been slow, due to the difficulties in accessing linked population-level data (e.g. linked pharmaceutical claims and administrative hospital databases), as well as the lack of national primary care data. However, recent advances on this front are emerging. Increased calls for creation of an Australian primary care minimum dataset^{280, 281} have resulted in work to commence development of a National Primary Health Care Data Asset,^{107, 271} as well as state-based initiatives, such as the Lumos programme in NSW, linking general practice data with patient records from acute and other settings.²⁸² Linkages of the primary health care data will help to further our understanding of the patient journeys in the primary care setting and provide opportunities for improving patient care and care coordination.

There can also be systematic underreporting of some types of chronic conditions within different data sources. Capture of (multi)morbidity using administrative data sources is driven by coded diagnoses, and the use of validated indices, such as the Charlson and Elixhauser indices. In this thesis, a combination of Elixhauser and Charlson indices was used, due to the lack of inclusion of mental health related comorbidities in the Charlson Index. The inclusion of mental health conditions in the measurement of multimorbidity has been noted in multimorbidity literature^{11, 278} which found increase in the prevalence of mental health disorders with increasing number of physical conditions.^{42,73} Chapter 5 of this thesis showed that the prevalence of depression within a hospitalised cohort was much higher when using self-reported data than hospital diagnosis codes, with differences in estimates being closer together once medication data was included. This finding, along with more recent research,²⁷ highlights the gap in hospital data completeness of asymptomatic conditions treated in primary care. A 2021 systematic review²⁸³ found that serious mental illness was associated with higher inpatient costs, prolonged lengths of stay and higher readmissions, reflecting the importance of screening or capture of mental disorders to improve patient outcomes. Additional analyses of data in Chapter 7 indicated that the inclusion of supplementary chronic diagnosis codes increased ascertainment of depression over ten-fold, highlighting the need to capture a broader variety of coded diagnoses in the hospital data, especially if this will help in identifying patients in need of optimising care.

8.4.3 The need for a multifaceted view of patient complexity

Multimorbidity increases the risk of adverse health outcomes for people of all ages, but particularly older adults. However, there are other drivers of adverse outcomes in the elderly – such as frailty.⁸⁰ The relationship between frailty and multimorbidity is complex, as both are reflective of patient complexity, but with recognition that they are distinct concepts⁸⁴ and with evidence of a bidirectional association.⁷⁴ My study in Chapter 6 describes additive and synergistic effects of multimorbidity and frailty in hospitalised older adults, over and above the effects of age alone. These findings highlight the potential to identify patients at increased risk of different types of complications, with multimorbid-only individuals having higher age-adjusted mortality and readmission risks than frail-only individuals, and elevated frailty risk patients only having higher risk of prolonged hospital stay.

We need to identify multiple facets of patient complexity. Indeed, frailty screening among patients with multimorbidity in primary care are recommended in the NICE guidelines,^{93, 284} and systematic identification of frailty in primary care is performed routinely in England using the electronic Frailty Index (eFI).²⁸⁵ Identification of individuals at elevated risks of frailty in the hospital setting is possible with the HFRS, and can be implemented at the point of admission to hospital to help prompt geriatric-based assessments, as required. Furthermore, tracking of frailty within hospital can help with service-level planning of resources required to care for patients with most complex needs.

8.4.4 The need for enduring linked data sources for research

This thesis presents a series of studies on multimorbidity using administrative health data. It highlights the paucity of Australian studies of multimorbidity beyond estimates of multimorbidity in primary care, or self-reported outcomes, and shows how 'big data' can be used to further Australian multimorbidity research.

Data linkage capabilities across Australian states and territories have been steadily growing since the establishment of the first data linkage unit in Western Australia in 1995.²⁸⁶ However, access to and use of linked data, and particularly Commonwealth health data, is hampered by complex, lengthy and often duplicative approvals processes,²⁸⁷ and long lead times in receiving linked data. Furthermore, separate data linkages, approvals and data

extractions are required for each individual research study of interest, contributing to research inefficiencies and waste. In this thesis I used data from three NHMRC-funded projects, which required multiple ethics and data custodian approvals, as well as multiple data extractions. The existence of an enduring linked data set would have provided quicker and easier access to data.

Enduring linked data, which provide consistent access for multiple data users, are the key for efficient, timely and cost-effective research. The Australian government has recognised the value of integration of data assets,²⁸⁸ with demand for national cross-sectoral and crossjurisdictional data resulting in the creation of the National Integrated Health Services Infrastructure (NIHSI) by the AIHW,²⁴⁹ linking information from hospitals, emergency departments, MBS, PBS, residential aged care and national death datasets.²⁸⁹ Initial excitement of NIHSI construction has however been dampened by the restricted access to organisations providing the data (AIHW, state and territory health departments and Department of Health). However, governance models for third-party access to such data are in development, such as in the Australian Research Data commons funded project led by the University of New South Wales, in partnership with AIHW, government departments and research organisations, to establish the LINked Data Asset for Australian Health Research (LINDAHR).²⁹⁰

Numerous developments in data access, and creation and integration of health data are underway in Australia. A National Primary Health Data Asset is under development,^{107, 271} integration of clinical quality registry data is proposed,¹²⁷ and significant investment in digital future in the recently announced Federal Budget²⁹¹ promises to bolster dataintensive health research in Australia.

8.5 Strengths and limitations

The strengths of this thesis lie in the use of large population-level hospital data, linked to claims-based, survey and registry data, to bring together information about individuals with multimorbidity. The use of advanced and novel analytical approaches was also advantageous in unpacking the relative contributions of data sources in measuring patient outcomes, and delineating patients most at risk of adverse events.

Most of the previous Australian research on multimorbidity used information from single data sources, often with limited sample sizes. The use of linked data in this thesis allowed me to further the research about multimorbidity within an Australian setting and provide evidence of ascertainment of multimorbidity using data for large numbers of older adults from survey, inpatient and pharmaceutical claims data. The results provided the first Australian evidence for the contrasting estimates of prevalence that are generated from different datasets for the same sample of individuals and the same set of chronic conditions.

The value of linked data sources for multimorbidity research was highlighted in Chapters 6 and 7, which used longitudinal information about patients with multimorbidity to examine patient outcomes. Harnessing the power of linked administrative data on a population level, provides an efficient way of tracking patients over time, exploring their interactions with health services and identifying how multimorbidity affects health outcomes.

However, this research has some limitations. Study-specific limitations are presented within each analytical chapter. This section outlines general limitations.

The use of administrative data has a unique set of challenges. These data are collected mainly for administrative purposes, meaning that factors such as disease acuity, general health status, pathology results, lifestyle behaviours and detailed clinical information are not captured. This may potentially result in residual confounding when estimating the effects of multimorbidity on health outcomes²⁹² – for example the analyses in Chapters 6 and 7. Findings from both these chapters suggest there is value identifying further measures of patient complexity beyond multimorbidity, and new sources of patient information should continue to be explored.

Results from Chapters 4 and 5 indicate that hospital data have low sensitivity but high positive predictive values for identifying chronic conditions. Ascertainment of conditions in Chapters 5 and 6 was increased though incorporation of a two-year lookback period, but it is highly likely that under-enumeration of some conditions remained.²⁹³ Also, it was not possible to distinguish between comorbidities present on admission and complications of care in the analyses presented in Chapters 4-6. Although this would not impact on the results presented in Chapters 4 and 5, it has implications for those presented in Chapter 6, with some of the HFRS diagnoses potentially arising during hospital admission. For this reason, HFRS was not used for risk-adjustment of hospital readmission performance

indicators in Chapter 7, as adjustment for adverse outcomes occurring during hospital stay is not appropriate for an indicator that is intended to measure quality of hospital care.

Prior research⁶⁰ has shown that single indices of multimorbidity may be inadequate to predict multiple outcomes, with calls for multiple indices of multimorbidity to be used.¹¹ In Chapter 6, in which three outcomes were reported (mortality, readmissions, prolonged length of stay), a combination of Charlson and Elixhauser indices was applied. The combined Charlson/Elixhauser index was validated for examining mortality^{294, 295} and readmissions outcomes²⁹⁶ but not for prolonged length of stay. The research presented in Chapter 7 used only the Elixhauser index to measure multimorbidity, in line with methods used for risk adjustment for hospital readmission indicators for THA/TKA in NSW,²²² and the inclusion of an additional measure, preoperative risk via ASA score, was shown to improve risk adjustment for these hospital performance measures.

Another limitation pertains to the generalisability of the results for studies in Chapters 4 and 5, which used the 45 and Up Study. Although comprising a large and heterogeneous population owing to the large number of individuals, the Study's response rate was 18%.¹³² The participants in the Study are older and healthier than the general population¹³² but estimates of within-cohort comparisons are still valid.²⁹⁷

Finally, linkage of data using probabilistic linkage methods results in false positive as well as false negative (missed) links between individuals across data sources. The CHeReL estimates that rates of both false positive and false negative links are approximately 5/1,000 (0.5%),¹⁹⁵ so the impact on the results presented in the thesis is likely to be small. Some individuals with false positive links could be identified during the data cleaning process (e.g. hospital records occurring after a death record) and were excluded from the analyses, but adjustments for missed links were not possible.

8.6 Future research directions

8.6.1 Standardising definition and measurement of multimorbidity

Consensus on the preferred method of multimorbidity measurement is still developing, owing to the differences in international healthcare systems, data collections, classifications systems, populations and settings of interest, as well as the purpose of measuring

multimorbidity. These differences are impeding international comparisons³² and diminishing the widespread utility of measures developed using data-driven algorithms which include a mixture of data sources.

An operational measure of multimorbidity developed by Calderón-Larrañaga in 2017,¹⁵ using a clinically driven list of chronic conditions decided upon by an international and multidisciplinary team, provides a promising avenue for standardising multimorbidity measurement using administrative and clinical data. It is yet to be validated in the Australian setting. In the first instance, this work could be undertaken using the 45 and Up Study linked with hospital and PBS data (as presented in Chapter 5) and expanded to population-level data once enduring linked data sources are constructed.

Current work by researchers in Scotland aims to explore an international consensus on the definition and measurement of multimorbidity via a series of Delphi surveys.²⁶¹ A variety of participants including researchers, clinicians, care providers, policy makers and general public were invited to take part in the study over three rounds of panel discussions. I took part in all three rounds. Once the study results are available, harmonising the findings with the operational measure described above could be used to develop an agreed measure of which individual morbidities should be counted.

Following international consensus on the definition of multimorbidity, more work will be required regarding how to capture the conditions across data sources. This work can be guided by prior research,^{264, 276, 278, 279} taking note of differences in data availability among countries. Where possible, incorporation of primary care databases with hospitalisation and pharmaceutical claims data is recommended in order to examine longitudinal trajectories for patients with multimorbidity. Within Australia, there is still much work to be done in extracting and standardising local EHR data for use in performance monitoring and research. However, this infrastructure is being developed, for example with NPS MedicineInsight linked records within and across databases, or development of a National Primary Health Care Data Asset. Creation of chronic disease flags across data sources, such as in the US Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services' Chronic Condition Data Warehouse which uses diagnosis codes from Medicare claims data,^{298, 299} could be implemented in Australia to further streamline research into chronic disease.

8.6.2 Future of Australian research into multimorbidity

Australia is on the cusp of a number of significant data developments which will further enable cutting edge research in multimorbidity, provided that data siloing and data availability are addressed. Longitudinal research into disease accumulation, and progression to multimorbidity, will be possible once enduring data sets become available. Furthering the work in clustering of commonly co-occurring chronic conditions^{161, 170, 300, 301} by examining social determinants of health and patient care pathways will help in identifying patient subgroups with varying clusters of chronic disease, helping to develop required preventive interventions targeted to each subgroup of interest.

A 2019 scoping review³⁰² identified 87 documents assessing quality of care in multimorbid patients and found that the use of 'disease-oriented' models by care organisations is a major challenge for high healthcare performance. New models of integrated care, for example the Integrated Care for People with Chronic Conditions (ICPCC) model developed by NSW Health Integrated Care strategy, aim to develop and enhance relationships between health services and primary care.³⁰³ Identifying the target cohort for the ICPCC, individuals with one or more chronic diseases who are at increased risk of hospitalisation, can be guided by the work proposed in section 8.5.1. Identification of the cohort should be driven by a combination of data sources, with the inclusion of EHR data wherever possible.

The lack of availability of person-centred outcomes in administrative data is being addressed in NSW by state-wide rollout of the Patients Reported Measures (PRM) program, which captures patient reported measures about needs and expectations at the point of care via electronic patient surveys.³⁰⁴ In NSW, the newly operational Health Outcomes and Patient Experience (HOPE) system will capture electronic data and feed it into integrated and linked datasets, helping to guide individual-, service- and system-level decision making.³⁰⁵ These datasets are pivotal to advancing the much-needed work on evaluating the impacts of multimorbidity and frailty on multiple facets of patient health.³⁰⁶

The planned integration of new data sources, including clinical quality registries and EHRs, provides another exciting avenue for furthering health research in Australia. The newly developed National Clinical Quality Registry and Virtual Registry Strategy 2020-2030¹²⁷ aims to integrate clinical quality outcomes data with heath and non-health datasets, to drive improvements in patient outcomes, and value and quality of care. The inclusion of these data will help fill the gaps in detailed clinical information in administrative data sources.

A new era of health research in Australia is coming. New and exciting developments in data capture and integration to support a focus on patient-centred care have the potential to better the outcomes of patients across the health care system. Researchers and analysts are ready to embrace the data deluge and help develop solutions to improve the health of the Australian population. The future of health research is looking promising, and the people who benefit the most will be patients, including those with complex care needs, such as those with multimorbidity.

8.7 Conclusions

Australian studies of multimorbidity are impeded by the lack of researcher access to data, data silos and limited information contained within the data that are available. These hindrances point to the need for linkage over time and across sectors to understand longitudinal patterns of morbidity and outcomes, examples of which are presented in this thesis. The research presented here highlights the benefits of the use of linked data in Australian multimorbidity research in three ways. First, it underlines the need for incorporation of chronic disease information from multiple databases, including inpatient, and claims-based data to accurately capture the extent of chronic disease and to identify people with multimorbidity. Second, it emphasises the need to examine complexities in the interplay between drivers of adverse outcomes - including multimorbidity, frailty and clinical assessment of a patient's overall health – in identifying patients with increased risk of complications and informing future hospital resource planning. And third, it demonstrates the value of integrating new data sources, such as clinical registries with linked administrative data for improving risk adjustment of hospital performance measures, with potentially much wider applications in health outcomes research and program evaluation. With a policy focus on patient-centred care, and burgeoning new sources of clinical data including registries and EHRs, the importance of cross-sectoral and crossjurisdictional data linkage has never been greater. Availability and use of these data will be crucial for bettering patient outcomes and experience and providing an evidence base to support service providers and health system planners in (re)designing care to benefit the Australian population.

REFERENCES

- Ruiz M, Bottle A, Long S, Aylin P. Multi-Morbidity in hospitalised older patients: who are the complex elderly? PLoS One. 2016;10(12):e0145372
- Britt H, Miller GC, Knox S, Charles J, Valenti L, Pan Y, et al. General practice activity in Australia 2003–04. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2004.
- Britt H, Miller GC, Bayram C, Henderson J, Valenti L, Harrison C, et al. A decade of Australian general practice activity 2006-07 to 2015-16: General practice series no. 41: Sydney University Press; 2016.
- 4. van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Knottnerus JA. Comorbidity or multimorbidity: what's in a name? A review of literature. Eur J Gen Pract. 1996;2(2):65-70.
- 5. Boyd CM, Fortin M. Future of multimorbidity research: how should understanding of multimorbidity inform health system design? Public Health Rev. 2010;32(2):1.
- Valderas JM, Starfield B, Sibbald B, Salisbury C, Roland M. Defining comorbidity: implications for understanding health and health services. Ann Fam Med. 2009;7(4):357-63.
- Ahmed MAA, Almirall J, Ngangue P, Poitras ME, Fortin M. A bibliometric analysis of multimorbidity from 2005 to 2019. J Comorb. 2020;10:2235042X20965283.
- The Lancet. Making more of multimorbidity: an emerging priority. Lancet. 2018;391(10131):1637.
- 9. The Academy of Medical Sciences. Multimorbidity: a priority for global health research. London: Academy of Medical Sciences; 2018.
- Johnston MC, Crilly M, Black C, Prescott GJ, Mercer SW. Defining and measuring multimorbidity: a systematic review of systematic reviews. Eur J Public Health. 2018;29(1):182-9.
- Nicholson K, Almirall J, Fortin M. The measurement of multimorbidity. Health Psychol. 2019;38(9):783-90.
- Suls J, Bayliss EA, Berry J, Bierman AS, Chrischilles EA, Farhat T, et al. Measuring multimorbidity: selecting the right instrument for the purpose and the data source. Med Care. 2021 Aug 1;59(8):743-756.

- Willadsen TG, Bebe A, Koster-Rasmussen R, Jarbol DE, Guassora AD, Waldorff FB, et al. The role of diseases, risk factors and symptoms in the definition of multimorbidity - a systematic review. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2016;34(2):112-21.
- Diederichs C, Berger K, Bartels DB. The measurement of multiple chronic diseases-a systematic review on existing multimorbidity indices. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2011;66(3):301-11.
- Calderon-Larranaga A, Vetrano DL, Onder G, Gimeno-Feliu LA, Coscollar-Santaliestra C, Carfi A, et al. Assessing and measuring chronic multimorbidity in the older population: a proposal for its operationalization. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2017;72(10):1417-23.
- Nicholson K, Makovski TT, Griffith LE, Raina P, Stranges S, van den Akker M. Multimorbidity and comorbidity revisited: refining the concepts for international health research. J Clin Epidemiol. 2019;105:142-6.
- 17. Degroot V, Beckerman H, Lankhorst G, Bouter L. How to measure comorbidity: a critical review of available methods. J Clin Epidemiol. 2003;56(3):221-9.
- Huntley AL, Johnson R, Purdy S, Valderas JM, Salisbury C. Measures of multimorbidity and morbidity burden for use in primary care and community settings: a systematic review and guide. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(2):134-41.
- Sharabiani MT, Aylin P, Bottle A. Systematic review of comorbidity indices for administrative data. Med Care. 2012;50(12):1109-18.
- 20. Boorse C. Health as a Theoretical Concept. Philos Sci. 1977;44(4):542-73.
- 21. Bernell S, Howard SW. Use your words carefully: what is a chronic disease? Frontiers in public health. 2016;4:159.
- 22. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Multiple Chronic Conditions—A strategic framework: optimum health and quality of life for individuals with multiple chronic conditions. Washington, DC: DHHS; 2010.
- World Health Organization. Multimorbidity: technical series on safer primary care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- Nissen F, Quint JK, Morales DR, Douglas IJ. How to validate a diagnosis recorded in electronic health records. Breathe (Sheff). 2019;15(1):64-8.
- Menachemi N, Collum TH. Benefits and drawbacks of electronic health record systems. Risk Manag Healthc Policy. 2011;4:47-55.

- Todd OM, Burton JK, Dodds RM, Hollinghurst J, Lyons RA, Quinn TJ, et al. New horizons in the use of routine data for ageing research. Age Ageing. 2020;49(5):716-22.
- 27. Peng M, Southern DA, Williamson T, Quan H. Under-coding of secondary conditions in coded hospital health data: Impact of co-existing conditions, death status and number of codes in a record. Health Inform J. 2017;23(4):260-7.
- Quan H, Li B, Saunders LD, Parsons GA, Nilsson CI, Alibhai A, et al. Assessing validity of ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data in recording clinical conditions in a unique dually coded database. Health Serv Res. 2008;43(4):1424-41.
- Powell H, Lim LL, Heller RF. Accuracy of administrative data to assess comorbidity in patients with heart disease. an Australian perspective. J Clin Epidemiol. 2001;54(7):687-93.
- 30. Otero Varela L, Doktorchik C, Wiebe N, Quan H, Eastwood C. Exploring the differences in ICD and hospital morbidity data collection features across countries: an international survey. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21(1):308.
- Brett J, Elshaug AG, Bhatia RS, Chalmers K, Badgery-Parker T, Pearson SA. A methodological protocol for selecting and quantifying low-value prescribing practices in routinely collected data: an Australian case study. Implement Sci. 2017;12(1):58.
- Fortin M, Stewart M, Poitras ME, Almirall J, Maddocks H. A systematic review of prevalence studies on multimorbidity: toward a more uniform methodology. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(2):142-51.
- 33. McGee D, Cooper R, Liao Y, Durazo-Arvizu R. Patterns of comorbidity and mortality risk in blacks and whites. Ann Epidemiol. 1996;6(5):381-5.
- Findley P, Shen C, Sambamoorthi U. Multimorbidity and persistent depression among Veterans with diabetes, heart disease, and hypertension. Health Soc Work. 2011;36(2):109-19.
- Rizza A, Kaplan V, Senn O, Rosemann T, Bhend H, Tandjung R. Age- and genderrelated prevalence of multimorbidity in primary care: the swiss fire project. BMC Fam Pract. 2012;13(1):113.
- 36. Stewart M, Fortin M, Britt HC, Harrison CM, Maddocks HL. Comparisons of multimorbidity in family practice--issues and biases. Fam Pract. 2013;30(4):473-80.
- Valderas JM, Starfield B, Sibbald B, Salisbury C, Roland M. Defining comorbidity: implications for understanding health and health services. Ann Fam Med. 2009;7(4):357-63.

- Stirland LE, González-Saavedra L, Mullin DS, Ritchie CW, Muniz-Terrera G, Russ TC. Measuring multimorbidity beyond counting diseases: systematic review of community and population studies and guide to index choice. BMJ. 2020;368:m160.
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis. 1987;40(5):373-83.
- 40. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. Med Care. 1998;36(1):8-27.
- Yurkovich M, Avina-Zubieta JA, Thomas J, Gorenchtein M, Lacaille D. A systematic review identifies valid comorbidity indices derived from administrative health data. J Clin Epidemiol. 2015;68(1):3-14.
- 42. Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. Lancet. 2012;380(9836):37-43.
- 43. Shmueli G. To Explain or to predict? Stat Sci. 2010;25(3):289-310.
- 44. Sloan KL, Sales AE, Liu C-F, Fishman P, Nichol P, Suzuki NT, et al. Construction and characteristics of the RxRisk-V: a VA-adapted pharmacy-based case-mix instrument. Med Care. 2003;41(6):761-74.
- 45. Pratt NL, Kerr M, Barratt JD, Kemp-Casey A, Kalisch Ellett LM, Ramsay E, et al. The validity of the Rx-Risk comorbidity index using medicines mapped to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system. BMJ Open. 2018;8(4).
- Vitry A, Wong SA, Roughead EE, Ramsay E, Barratt J. Validity of medication-based co-morbidity indices in the Australian elderly population. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2009;33(2):126-30.
- Mannion C, Hughes J, Moriarty F, Bennett K, Cahir C. Agreement between selfreported morbidity and pharmacy claims data for prescribed medications in an older community based population. BMC Geriatr. 2020;20(1):283.
- 48. Inacio MC, Pratt NL, Roughead EE, Graves SE. Comparing co-morbidities in total joint arthroplasty patients using the RxRisk-V, Elixhauser, and Charlson Measures: a cross-sectional evaluation. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015;16(1):385.
- 49. Fortin M, Almirall J, Nicholson K. Development of a research tool to document self-reported chronic conditions in primary care. J Comorb. 2017;7:117–123

- Salvi F, Miller MD, Grilli A, et al. A manual of guidelines to score the modified cumulative illness rating scale and its validation in acute hospitalized elderly patients. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56:1926–1931.
- 51. Nieboer D, van der Ploeg T, Steyerberg EW. Assessing discriminative performance at external validation of clinical prediction models. PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0148820.
- 52. Steyerberg EW, Vickers AJ, Cook NR, Gerds T, Gonen M, Obuchowski N, et al. Assessing the performance of prediction models: a framework for traditional and novel measures. Epidemiology. 2010;21(1):128-38
- 53. Menotti A, Mulder I, Nissinen A, Giampaoli S, Feskens EJM, Kromhout D. Prevalence of morbidity and multimorbidity in elderly male populations and their impact on 10-year all-cause mortality: The FINE study (Finland, Italy, Netherlands, Elderly). J Clin Epidemiol. 2001;54(7):680-6.
- Marengoni A, Rizzuto D, Wang HX, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. Patterns of chronic multimorbidity in the elderly population. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57(2):225-30.
- 55. Nunes BP, Flores TR, Mielke GI, Thumé E, Facchini LA. Multimorbidity and mortality in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2016;67:130-8.
- Librero J, Peiró S, Ordiñana R. Chronic comorbidity and outcomes of hospital care: length of stay, mortality, and readmission at 30 and 365 days. J Clin Epidemiol. 1999;52(3):171-9.
- Condelius A, Edberg AK, Jakobsson U, Hallberg IR. Hospital admissions among people 65+ related to multimorbidity, municipal and outpatient care. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2008;46(1):41-55.
- 58. Vogeli C, Shields AE, Lee TA, Gibson TB, Marder WD, Weiss KB, et al. Multiple chronic conditions: prevalence, health consequences, and implications for quality, care management, and costs. J Gen Intern Med. 2007;22 Suppl 3:391-5.
- 59. Skinner HG, Coffey R, Jones J, Heslin KC, Moy E. The effects of multiple chronic conditions on hospitalization costs and utilization for ambulatory care sensitive conditions in the United States: a nationally representative cross-sectional study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2016;16(1):77.
- Byles JE, D'Este C, Parkinson L, O'Connell R, Treloar C. Single index of multimorbidity did not predict multiple outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2005;58(10):997-1005.

- Michelson H, Bolund C, Brandberg Y. Multiple chronic health problems are negatively associated with health related quality of life (HRQoL) irrespective of age. Qual Life Res. 2000;9(10):1093-104.
- 62. Walker AE. Multiple chronic diseases and quality of life: patterns emerging from a large national sample, Australia. Chronic Illn. 2007;3(3):202-18.
- Fortin M, Lapointe L, Hudon C, Vanasse A, Ntetu AL, Maltais D. Multimorbidity and quality of life in primary care: a systematic review. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2004;2:51.
- 64. Bayliss EA, Bayliss MS, Ware JE, Jr., Steiner JF. Predicting declines in physical function in persons with multiple chronic medical conditions: what we can learn from the medical problem list. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2004;2:47.
- Kadam UT, Croft PR. Clinical multimorbidity and physical function in older adults: a record and health status linkage study in general practice. Fam Pract. 2007;24(5):412-9.
- 66. Loza E, Jover JA, Rodriguez L, Carmona L. Multimorbidity: prevalence, effect on quality of life and daily functioning, and variation of this effect when one condition is a rheumatic disease. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2009;38(4):312-9.
- 67. Wolff JL, Starfield B, Anderson G. Prevalence, expenditures, and complications of multiple chronic conditions in the elderly. Arch Intern Med. 2002;162(20):2269-76.
- Schneider KM, O'Donnell BE, Dean D. Prevalence of multiple chronic conditions in the United States' Medicare population. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2009;7:82-.
- Lehnert T, Heider D, Leicht H, Heinrich S, Corrieri S, Luppa M, et al. Review: health care utilization and costs of elderly persons with multiple chronic conditions. Med Care Res Rev. 2011;68(4):387-420.
- McPhail SM. Multimorbidity in chronic disease: impact on health care resources and costs. Risk Manag Healthc Policy. 2016;9:143-56.
- Zulman DM, Pal Chee C, Wagner TH, Yoon J, Cohen DM, Holmes TH, et al. Multimorbidity and healthcare utilisation among high-cost patients in the US Veterans Affairs Health Care System. BMJ Open. 2015;5(4):e007771.
- 72. Panagioti M, Stokes J, Esmail A, Coventry P, Cheraghi-Sohi S, Alam R, et al. Multimorbidity and patient safety incidents in primary care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0135947.
- Read JR, Sharpe L, Modini M, Dear BF. Multimorbidity and depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2017;221:36-46.

- 74. Vetrano DL, Palmer K, Marengoni A, Marzetti E, Lattanzio F, Roller-Wirnsberger R, et al. Frailty and multimorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2019;74(5):659-66.
- Makovski TT, Schmitz S, Zeegers MP, Stranges S, van den Akker M. Multimorbidity and quality of life: Systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Ageing Res Rev. 2019;53:100903.
- 76. Payne RA. The epidemiology of polypharmacy. Clin Med. 2016;16(5):465-9.
- 77. Calderon-Larranaga A, Poblador-Plou B, Gonzalez-Rubio F, Gimeno-Feliu LA, Abad-Diez JM, Prados-Torres A. Multimorbidity, polypharmacy, referrals, and adverse drug events: are we doing things well? Br J Gen Pract. 2012;62(605):e821-6.
- Smith SM, Wallace E, Salisbury C, Sasseville M, Bayliss E, Fortin M. A Core Outcome Set for Multimorbidity Research (COSmm). Ann Fam Med. 2018;16(2):132-8.
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet. 2013;381(9868):752-62.
- Hoogendijk EO, Afilalo J, Ensrud KE, Kowal P, Onder G, Fried LP. Frailty: implications for clinical practice and public health. Lancet. 2019;394(10206):1365-75.
- Shashikumar SA, Huang K, Konetzka RT, Maddox KEJ. Claims-based frailty indices: a systematic review. Med Care. 2020;58(9):815-25.
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2001;56(3):M146-56.
- Mitnitski AB, Mogilner AJ, Rockwood K. Accumulation of deficits as a proxy measure of aging. Sci World J. 2001;1:323-36.
- Bouillon K, Kivimaki M, Hamer M, Sabia S, Fransson EI, Singh-Manoux A, et al. Measures of frailty in population-based studies: an overview. BMC Geriatr. 2013;13:64.
- 85. Nghiem S, Sajeewani D, Henderson K, Afoakwah C, Byrnes J, Moyle W, et al. Development of frailty measurement tools using administrative health data: A systematic review. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2020;89:104102.
- 86. Clegg A, Bates C, Young J, Ryan R, Nichols L, Ann Teale E, et al. Development and validation of an electronic frailty index using routine primary care electronic health record data. Age Ageing. 2016;45(3):353-60.

- 87. Gilbert T, Neuburger J, Kraindler J, Keeble E, Smith P, Ariti C, et al. Development and validation of a Hospital Frailty Risk Score focusing on older people in acute care settings using electronic hospital records: an observational study. Lancet. 2018;391(10132):1775-82.
- Brundle C, Heaven A, Brown L, Teale E, Young J, West R, et al. Convergent validity of the electronic frailty index. Age Ageing. 2019;48(1):152-6.
- Ambagtsheer RC, Beilby J, Dabravolskaj J, Abbasi M, Archibald MM, Dent E.
 Application of an electronic Frailty Index in Australian primary care: data quality and feasibility assessment. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2019;31(5):653-60.
- Fried LP, Ferrucci L, Darer J, Williamson JD, Anderson G. Untangling the concepts of disability, frailty, and comorbidity: implications for improved targeting and care. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2004;59(3):M255-M63.
- 91. Villacampa-Fernández P, Navarro-Pardo E, Tarín JJ, Cano A. Frailty and multimorbidity: Two related yet different concepts. Maturitas. 2017;95:31-5.
- 92. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Multimorbidity: clinical assessment and management. London: NICE; 2016.
- Farmer C, Fenu E, O'Flynn N, Guthrie B. Clinical assessment and management of multimorbidity: summary of NICE guidance. BMJ. 2016;354:i4843.
- 94. Woo J, Leung J. Multi-morbidity, dependency, and frailty singly or in combination have different impact on health outcomes. Age (Dordr). 2014;36(2):923-31.
- 95. Cheung JTK, Yu R, Wu Z, Wong SYS, Woo J. Geriatric syndromes, multimorbidity, and disability overlap and increase healthcare use among older Chinese. BMC Geriatr. 2018;18(1):147.
- 96. Chamberlain AM, Rutten LJF, Jacobson DJ, Fan C, Wilson PM, Rocca WA, et al. Multimorbidity, functional limitations, and outcomes: Interactions in a populationbased cohort of older adults. J Comorb. 2019;9.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's health 2020: in brief. . Canberra: AIHW: AIHW; 2020.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Health expenditure Australia 2018-19. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.
- 99. Biggs A, Cook L. Health in Australia: a quick guide 2018 [Cited 2021 23 February]. Available from: <u>https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/pubs/rp/rp1819/Quick_Guides/HealthAust</u>.

- 100. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) state/territory data extract AIHW: Canberra [cited 2021 14 May]. Available from: <u>https://meteor.aihw.gov.au/content/index.phtml/itemId/603356</u>.
- 101. Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA). Quarterly private health insurance statistics Sydney: APRA; 2019 Available from: <u>https://www.apra.gov.au/quarterly-private-health-insurance-statistics</u>.
- 102. Department of Health. Primary Health Care in Australia 2013 [cited 2021 14 May]. Available from: <u>https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/publications/publishing.nsf/Content/NPHC-Strategic-Framework~phc-australia</u>.
- 103. Department of Health. Health workforce data tool 2021 [cited 2021 14 May].Available from: <u>https://hwd.health.gov.au/datatool/</u>.
- 104. Glover L. International Health Care System Profiles, The Australian Health Care System New York: The Commonwealth Fund2017 [cited 2021 14 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policycenter/countries/australia</u>.
- 105. Department of Health. Primary Health Networks (PHNs) [cited 2021 14 May].
 Available from: <u>https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/PHN-Home.</u>
- 106. Busingye D, Gianacas C, Pollack A, Chidwick K, Merrifield A, Norman S, et al. Data resource profile: MedicineInsight, an Australian national primary health care database. Int J Epidemiol. 2019;48(6):1741-h.
- 107. Manski-Nankervis JE, Sturgiss EA, Liaw ST, Spurling GK, Mazza D. General practice research: an investment to improve the health of all Australians. Med J Aust. 2020;212(9):398-400 e1.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's hospitals at a glance 2018–19.
 Canberra: AIHW; 2020. Report No.: HSW 247.
- 109. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National, state and territory population Canberra: ABS; 2020 [cited 2021 23 February]. Available from: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/population/national-state-and-territory-population/jun-2020#states-and-territories</u>.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Hospital resources 2017–18: Australian hospital statistics. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.

- 111. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. About Australian Cancer Database Canberra: AIHW; [cited 2021 23 February]. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/about-our-data/our-data-collections/australian-cancer-database</u>.
- Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry. Data Set Specification ANZDATA Version 2020.3.0. Adelaide: ANZDATA Registry; 2016.
- 113. AOANJRR (Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry) Hip, Knee & Shoulder Arthroplasty 2020 Annual Report. Adelaide: AOANJRR; 2020.
- Australasian Diabetes Data Network. Australasian Diabetes Data Network (ADDN)
 Data Dictionary. ADDN; 2020.
- 115. Australasian Cardiac Outcomes Registry. [cited 2021 24 April]. Available from: <u>https://acor.net.au/</u>.
- 116. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Data quality statement: National Hospital Morbidity Database 2014–15 Canbera: AIHW [cited 2021 16 May]. Available from: <u>https://meteor.aihw.gov.au/content/index.phtml/itemId/638202</u>.
- 117. Independent Hospital Pricing Authority. Classification of diseases and interventions Sydney: IHPA; 2019 [cited 2021 17 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.ihpa.gov.au/what-we-do/classification-of-diseases-and-interventions</u>.
- 118. Jorm L. Routinely collected data as a strategic resource for research: priorities for methods and workforce. Public Health Res Pr. 2015;25(4).
- Quan H, Parsons GA, Ghali WA. Validity of information on comorbidity derived rom ICD-9-CCM administrative data. Med Care. 2002;40(8):675-85.
- 120. Lucyk K, Tang K, Quan H. Barriers to data quality resulting from the process of coding health information to administrative data: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):766.
- Australian Consortium for Classification Development. Overview of supplementary codes for chronic conditions. Sydney: National Centre for Classification in Health; 2015.
- 122. Independent Hospital Pricing Authority. ICD-10-AM/ACHI/ACS Ninth Edition IHPA: Sydney;2015 [Cited 2021 23 February]. Available from: <u>https://www.ihpa.gov.au/publications/icd-10-amachiacs-ninth-edition</u>.
- 123. Department of Health. Medicare Benefits Schedule Data Canberra: Department of Health; 2019 [cited 2021 17 May]. Available from:

https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/PHN-MBS_Data.

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Exploring the definition of chronic conditions for collective monitoring in Australia 2021. Canberra: AIHW; 2021.
- 125. Mellish L, Karanges EA, Litchfield MJ, Schaffer AL, Blanch B, Daniels BJ, et al. The Australian Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme data collection: a practical guide for researchers. BMC Res Notes. 2015;8:634.
- 126. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. National arrangements for clinical quality registries Sydney: ACSHQC; 2019 [cited 2021 17 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/indicators-measurement-andreporting/national-arrangements-clinical-quality-registries</u>.
- Department of Health. National clinical quality registry and virtual registry strategy 2020-2030. Canberra: Department of Health; 2021.
- 128. Md Emdadul Hoque D, Ruseckaite R, Lorgelly P, McNeil JJ, Evans SM. Crosssectional study of characteristics of clinical registries in Australia: a resource for clinicians and policy makers. Int J Qual Health Care. 2018;30(3):192-9.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey: First results. Canberra: ABS;
 2018. Contract No.: ABS cat. no. 4364.0.55.001.
- Fairchild AL, Haghdoost AA, Bayer R, Selgelid MJ, Dawson A, Saxena A, et al. Ethics of public health surveillance: new guidelines. Lancet Public Health. 2017;2(8):e348-e9.
- 131. Britt H, Miller G. BEACH program update. Aust Fam Physician. 2015;44(6):411-4.
- 132. Banks E, Redman S, Jorm L, Armstrong B, Bauman A, Beard J, et al. Cohort profile: the 45 and up study. Int J Epidemiol. 2008;37(5):941.
- 133. Lee C, Dobson AJ, Brown WJ, Bryson L, Byles J, Warner-Smith P, et al. Cohort Profile: the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. Int J Epidemiol. 2005;34(5):987-91.
- 134. Dobson AJ, Hockey R, Brown WJ, Byles JE, Loxton DJ, McLaughlin D, et al. Cohort Profile Update: Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. Int J Epidemiol. 2015;44(5):1547-f.
- 135. Moore HC, Guiver T, Woollacott A, de Klerk N, Gidding HF. Establishing a process for conducting cross-jurisdictional record linkage in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2016;40(2):159-64.

- Kelman CW, Bass AJ, Holman CD. Research use of linked health data--a best practice protocol. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2002;26(3):251-5.
- 137. Holman CD, Bass AJ, Rosman DL, Smith MB, Semmens JB, Glasson EJ, et al. A decade of data linkage in Western Australia: strategic design, applications and benefits of the WA data linkage system. Aust Health Rev. 2008;32(4):766-77.
- 138. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Burden of Disease Study: impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2015. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Chronic conditions and multimorbidity. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Disease expenditure in Australia. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Issues and priorities in the surveillance and monitoring of chronic diseases in Austrlia. AIHW; 2002. Contract No.: PHE 39.
- 142. Harrison C, Henderson J, Miller G, Britt H. The prevalence of complex multimorbidity in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2016;40(3):239-44.
- 143. Harrison C, Britt H, Miller G, Henderson J. Examining different measures of multimorbidity, using a large prospective cross-sectional study in Australian general practice. BMJ Open. 2014;4(7):e004694.
- 144. Ha NT, Wright C, Youens D, Preen DB, Moorin R. Effect modification of multimorbidity on the association between regularity of general practitioner contacts and potentially avoidable hospitalisations. J Gen Intern Med. 2020;35(5):1504-15.
- 145. Ng HS, Koczwara B, Roder D, Chan RJ, Vitry A. Patterns of health service utilisation among the Australian population with cancer compared with the general population. Aust Health Rev. 2020;44(3):470-9.
- 146. Shang X, Peng W, Wu J, He M, Zhang L. Leading determinants for multimorbidity in middle-aged Australian men and women: A nine-year follow-up cohort study. Prev Med. 2020;141:106260.
- 147. Thiruchelvam K, Byles J, Hasan SS, Egan N, Cavenagh D, Kairuz T. Common combinations of medications used among oldest-old women: a population-based study over 15 years. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2020.
- 148. Westley-Wise V, Lago L, Mullan J, Facci F, Zingel R, Eagar K. Patterns of morbidity and multimorbidity associated with early and late readmissions in an Australian regional health service. Chronic Illn. 2020:1742395319899459.

- Xia T, Enticott J, Pearce C, Mazza D, Turner LR. Predictors of ED attendance in older patients with chronic disease: a data linkage study. Aust Health Rev. 2020;44(4):550-6.
- 150. John JR, Tannous WK, Jones A. Changes in health-related quality of life before and after a 12-month enhanced primary care model among chronically ill primary care patients in Australia. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):288.
- 151. John JR, Tannous WK, Jones A. Effectiveness of a patient-centered medical home model of primary care versus standard care on blood pressure outcomes among hypertensive patients. Hypertens Res. 2020;43(9):892-902.
- 152. Sharpe L, McDonald S, Correia H, Raue PJ, Meade T, Nicholas M, et al. Pain severity predicts depressive symptoms over and above individual illnesses and multimorbidity in older adults. BMC Psychiatry. 2017;17(1):166.
- 153. Tyack Z, Frakes KA, Barnett A, Cornwell P, Kuys S, McPhail S. Predictors of healthrelated quality of life in people with a complex chronic disease including multimorbidity: a longitudinal cohort study. Qual Life Res. 2016;25(10):2579-92.
- 154. Tyack Z, Kuys S, Cornwell P, Frakes KA, McPhail SM. Reproducibility, longitudinal validity and interpretability of the Disease Burden Morbidity Assessment in people with chronic disease. Chronic Illn. 2018;14(4):310-25.
- 155. Wang L, Palmer AJ, Cocker F, Sanderson K. Multimorbidity and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in a nationally representative population sample: implications of count versus cluster method for defining multimorbidity on HRQoL. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15(1):7.
- Britt HC, Harrison CM, Miller GC, Knox SA. Prevalence and patterns of multimorbidity in Australia. Med J Aust. 2008;189(2):72-7.
- 157. Harrison C, Henderson J, Miller G, Britt H. The prevalence of diagnosed chronic conditions and multimorbidity in Australia: A method for estimating population prevalence from general practice patient encounter data. PLoS One. 2017;12(3):e0172935.
- 158. Gunn JM, Ayton DR, Densley K, Pallant JF, Chondros P, Herrman HE, et al. The association between chronic illness, multimorbidity and depressive symptoms in an Australian primary care cohort. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2012;47(2):175-84.
- Carpenter A, Islam MM, Yen L, McRae I. Affordability of out-of-pocket health care expenses among older Australians. Health Policy. 2015;119(7):907-14.

- 160. Islam MM, McRae IS, Yen L, Jowsey T, Valderas JM. Time spent on health-related activities by senior Australians with chronic diseases: what is the role of multimorbidity and comorbidity? Aust N Z J Public Health. 2015;39(3):277-83.
- 161. Islam MM, Valderas JM, Yen L, Dawda P, Jowsey T, McRae IS. Multimorbidity and comorbidity of chronic diseases among the senior Australians: prevalence and patterns. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e83783.
- 162. Jowsey T, McRae IS, Valderas JM, Dugdale P, Phillips R, Bunton R, et al. Time's up. descriptive epidemiology of multi-morbidity and time spent on health related activity by older Australians: a time use survey. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e59379.
- 163. Gonzalez-Chica DA, Hill CL, Gill TK, Hay P, Haag D, Stocks N. Individual diseases or clustering of health conditions? Association between multiple chronic diseases and health-related quality of life in adults. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15(1):244.
- 164. Shi Z, Ruel G, Dal Grande E, Pilkington R, Taylor AW. Soft drink consumption and multimorbidity among adults. Clinical nutrition ESPEN. 2015;10(2):e71-e6.
- 165. Holden L, Scuffham PA, Hilton MF, Muspratt A, Ng SK, Whiteford HA. Patterns of multimorbidity in working Australians. Popul Health Metr. 2011;9(1):15.
- 166. Jackson CA, Dobson A, Tooth L, Mishra GD. Body mass index and socioeconomic position are associated with 9-year trajectories of multimorbidity: A population-based study. Prev Med. 2015;81:92-8.
- 167. Jackson CA, Dobson AJ, Tooth LR, Mishra GD. Lifestyle and socioeconomic determinants of multimorbidity patterns among mid-aged women: a longitudinal study. PLoS One. 2016;11(6):e0156804.
- 168. Jackson CA, Jones M, Tooth L, Mishra GD, Byles J, Dobson A. Multimorbidity patterns are differentially associated with functional ability and decline in a longitudinal cohort of older women. Age Ageing. 2015;44(5):810-6.
- 169. Tooth L, Hockey R, Byles J, Dobson A. Weighted multimorbidity indexes predicted mortality, health service use, and health-related quality of life in older women. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(2):151-9.
- 170. Held FP, Blyth F, Gnjidic D, Hirani V, Naganathan V, Waite LM, et al. Association rules analysis of comorbidity and multimorbidity: The Concord Health and Aging in Men Project. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2016;71(5):625-31.
- 171. Ng SK, Martin SA, Adams RJ, O'Loughlin P, Wittert GA. The effect of multimorbidity patterns and the impact of comorbid anxiety and depression on

primary health service sse: the Men Androgen Inflammation Lifestyle Environment and Stress (MAILES) Study. Am J Mens Health. 2020;14(5):1557988320959993.

- 172. Ishida M, Hulse ES, Mahar RK, Gunn J, Atun R, McPake B, et al. The joint effect of physical multimorbidity and mental health conditions among adults in Australia. Prev Chronic Dis. 2020;17:E157.
- 173. Sum G, Ishida M, Koh GC, Singh A, Oldenburg B, Lee JT. Implications of multimorbidity on healthcare utilisation and work productivity by socioeconomic groups: Cross-sectional analyses of Australia and Japan. PLoS One. 2020;15(4):e0232281.
- 174. Wister A, Kendig H, Mitchell B, Fyffe I, Loh V. Multimorbidity, health and aging in Canada and Australia: a tale of two countries. BMC Geriatr. 2016;16(1):163.
- 175. Xu X, Mishra GD, Dobson AJ, Jones M. Progression of diabetes, heart disease, and stroke multimorbidity in middle-aged women: A 20-year cohort study. PLoS Med. 2018;15(3):e1002516.
- 176. Ruel G, Lévesque JF, Stocks N, Sirois C, Kroger E, Adams RJ, et al. Understanding the evolution of multimorbidity: evidences from the North West Adelaide Health Longitudinal Study (NWAHS). PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e96291.
- 177. Thompson MQ, Theou O, Adams RJ, Tucker GR, Visvanathan R. Frailty state transitions and associated factors in South Australian older adults. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2018;18(11):1549-55.
- 178. Arnold-Reed D, Troeung L, Brett T, Chan She Ping-Delfos W, Strange C, Geelhoed E, et al. Increasing multimorbidity in an Australian street health service: A 10-year retrospective cohort study. Aust J Gen Pract. 2018;47(4):181-9.
- 179. Barker K, Holland AE, Lee AL, Haines T, Ritchie K, Boote C, et al. Multimorbidity rehabilitation versus disease-specific rehabilitation in people with chronic diseases: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Pilot and feasibility studies. 2018;4:181.
- Brett T, Arnold-Reed DE, Popescu A, Soliman B, Bulsara MK, Fine H, et al. Multimorbidity in patients attending 2 Australian primary care practices. Ann Fam Med. 2013;11(6):535-42.
- 181. Brett T, Arnold-Reed DE, Troeung L, Bulsara MK, Williams A, Moorhead RG. Multimorbidity in a marginalised, street-health Australian population: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2014;4(8):e005461.
- 182. Lind KE, Raban MZ, Brett L, Jorgensen ML, Georgiou A, Westbrook JI. Measuring the prevalence of 60 health conditions in older Australians in residential aged care

with electronic health records: a retrospective dynamic cohort study. Popul Health Metr. 2020;18(1):25.

- 183. Ofori-Asenso R, Ilomaki J, Curtis AJ, Zomer E, Zoungas S, Liew D. Patterns of medication dispensation for multiple comorbidities among older adults in Australia. Pharmacy (Basel). 2018;6(4).
- 184. World Health Organization. Global action plan for the rrevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) 2013–2020 Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press: WHO; 2013.
- 185. World Health Organization. NCD Global Monitoring Framework [Cited 2021 3 March]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/nmh/global_monitoring_framework/en/</u>.
- Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council. National Strategic Framework for Chronic Conditions. Canberra: Australian Government; 2017.
- 187. Chandraratne NK, Pathirathna K, Harrison C, Siriwardena AN. A comparison of policies and guidelines related to multimorbidity in the UK, Australia and Sri Lanka. Aust J Gen Pract. 2018;47(1-2):14-9.
- 188. Damarell RA, Morgan DD, Tieman JJ, Healey DF. Multimorbidity through the lens of life-limiting illness: how helpful are Australian clinical practice guidelines to its management in primary care? Aust J Prim Health. 2021.
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. National core, hospitalbased outcome indicator specification. Sydney: ACSQHC; 2017.
- Kansagara D, Englander H, Salanitro A, Kagen D, Theobald C, Freeman M, et al. Risk Prediction models for hospital readmission: a systematic review. JAMA. 2011;306(15):1688-98.
- 191. National Centre for Classification in Health. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision, Australian Modification (ICD-10-AM), Australian Classification of Health Interventions (ACHI). Sydney: National Centre for Classification in Health; 2006.
- Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR). Hip, Knee & Shoulder Arthroplasty: 2020 Annual Report. Adelaide: AOA; 2020.
- 193. Jorm LR, Leyland AH, Blyth FM, Elliott RF, Douglas KM, Redman S, et al. Assessing Preventable Hospitalisation InDicators (APHID): protocol for a data-

linkage study using cohort study and administrative data. BMJ open. 2012;2(6):e002344.

- Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL). Centre for Health Record Linakge: CHeReL; [cited 2021 22 January]. Available from: <u>www.cherel.org.au</u>.
- Centre for Health Record Linkage. Master Linkage Key Quality Assurance [Online]
 2020 [cited 2021 22 January]. Available from: <u>https://www.cherel.org.au/quality-assurance</u>.
- 196. Marengoni A, Angleman S, Melis R, Mangialasche F, Karp A, Garmen A, et al. Aging with multimorbidity: a systematic review of the literature. Ageing Res Rev. 2011;10(4):430-9.
- 197. Prados-Torres A, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Hancco-Saavedra J, Poblador-Plou B, van den Akker M. Multimorbidity patterns: a systematic review. J Clin Epidemiol. 2014;67(3):254-66.
- 198. Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, Fong A, Burnand B, Luthi JC, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care. 2005;43(11):1130-9.
- 199. McAlister F, van Walraven C. External validation of the Hospital Frailty Risk Score and comparison with the Hospital-patient One-year Mortality Risk Score to predict outcomes in elderly hospitalised patients: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Qual Saf. 2019;28(4):284-8.
- 200. Eckart A, Hauser SI, Haubitz S, Struja T, Kutz A, Koch D, et al. Validation of the hospital frailty risk score in a tertiary care hospital in Switzerland: results of a prospective, observational study. BMJ Open. 2019;9(1):e026923.
- 201. Meyer M, Parik L, Leiß F, Renkawitz T, Grifka J, Weber M. Hospital Frailty Risk Score predicts adverse events in primary total hip and knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2020;35(12):3498-504.e3.
- 202. Imam T, Konstant-Hambling R, Fluck R, Hall N, Palmer J, Conroy S. The Hospital Frailty Risk Score-outcomes in specialised services. Age Ageing. 2020:1-8.
- 203. Schneeweiss S, Rassen JA, Brown JS, Rothman KJ, Happe L, Arlett P, et al. Graphical depiction of longitudinal study designs in health care databases. Ann Intern Med. 2019;170(6):398-406.
- 204. Lix LMP, Yogendran MSM, Shaw SYM, Burchill CM, Metge CP, Bond RM. Population-based data sources for chronic disease surveillance. Chronic Dis Can. 2008;29(1):31-8.

- 205. Ranganathan P, Pramesh CS, Aggarwal R. Common pitfalls in statistical analysis: Measures of agreement. Perspect Clin Res. 2017;8(4):187-91.
- 206. Watson PF, Petrie A. Method agreement analysis: a review of correct methodology. Theriogenology. 2010;73(9):1167-79.
- 207. Leyland AH, Groenewegen PP. Multilevel modelling for public health and health services research: health in context: Springer Nature; 2020.
- Snijders TA, Bosker RJ. Multilevel analysis: An introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling: Sage; 2011.
- 209. Salive ME. Multimorbidity in older adults. Epidemiol Rev. 2013;35:75-83.
- Knol MJ, VanderWeele TJ. Recommendations for presenting analyses of effect modification and interaction. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41(2):514-20.
- VanderWeele TJ, Knol MJ. A Tutorial on interaction. Epidemiol Methods. 2014;3(1):33-72.
- Singer L, Green M, Rowe F, Ben-Shlomo Y, Kulu H, Morrissey K. Trends in multimorbidity, complex multimorbidity and multiple functional limitations in the ageing population of England, 2002-2015. J Comorb. 2019;9:2235042X19872030.
- 213. Khadka J, Visvanathan R, Theou O, Moldovan M, Amare AT, Lang C, et al. Development and validation of a frailty index based on Australian Aged Care Assessment Program data. Med J Aust. 2020;213(7):321-6.
- 214. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 3101.0 Australian Demographic Statistics. Canberra: ABS: ABS; 2012.
- 215. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian refined diagnosis-related groups (AR-DRG) data cubes: AIHW; 2019 [cited 2021 19 January]. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/hospitals/ar-drg-data-cubes/contents/user-guide</u>.
- Spiegelman D, Hertzmark E. Easy SAS Calculations for Risk or Prevalence Ratios and Differences. Am J Epidemiol. 2005;162(3):199-200.
- Zhang J, Yu KF. What's the relative risk? A Method of correcting the odds ratio in cohort studies of common outcomes. JAMA. 1998;280(19):1690-1.
- Correia K, Williams PL. Estimating the relative excess risk due to interaction in clustered-data settings. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187(11):2470-80.
- Nguyen QD, Wu C, Odden MC, Kim DH. Multimorbidity patterns, frailty, and survival in community-dwelling older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2019;74(8):1265-70.

- 220. Aarts S, Patel KV, Garcia ME, Van den Akker M, Verhey FRJ, Metsemakers JFM, et al. Co-presence of multimorbidity and disability with frailty: an examination of heterogeneity in the frail older population. J Frailty Aging. 2015;4(3):131-8.
- 221. McAlister FA, Savu A, Ezekowitz JA, Armstrong PW, Kaul P. The hospital frailty risk score in patients with heart failure is strongly associated with outcomes but less so with pharmacotherapy. J Intern Med. 2020;287(3):322-32.
- 222. Bureau of Health Information. Technical Supplement Readmission and returns to acute care following hospitalisation for eight clinical conditions, July 2015 June 2018. Sydney: Bureau of Health Information; 2020.
- 223. Andersen R, Newman JF. Societal and individual determinants of medical care utilization in the United States. Milbank Q. 2005;83(4)
- 224. Lujic S, Watson DE, Randall DA, Simpson JM, Jorm LR. Variation in recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia. BMJ Open. 2014:4:e005768
- 225. Assareh H, Achat HM, Stubbs JM, Guevarra VM, Hill K. Incidence and variation of discrepancies in recording chronic conditions in Australian hospital administrative aata. PLoS One. 2016;11(1):e0147087.
- 226. Doktorchik C, Lu M, Quan H, Ringham C, Eastwood C. A qualitative evaluation of clinically coded data quality from health information manager perspectives. Health Inf Manag. 2020;49(1):19-27.
- 227. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Osteoarthritis. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.
- 228. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Guideline for the management of knee and hip osteoarthritis. Melbourne: RACGP; 2018.
- 229. Losina E, Thornhill TS, Rome BN, Wright J, Katz JN. The dramatic increase in total knee replacement utilization rates in the United States cannot be fully explained by growth in population size and the obesity epidemic. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2012;94(3):201-7.
- 230. Inacio MCS, Graves SE, Pratt NL, Roughead EE, Nemes S. Increase in total joint arthroplasty projected from 2014 to 2046 in Australia: a conservative local model with international implications. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2017;475(8):2130-7.
- 231. Centres for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Comprehensive care for joint replacement model three year extension and changes to episode definition and pricing (CMS 5529 P): CMS; 2020 [Cited 2021 19 January] Available from:
https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/comprehensive-care-jointreplacement-model-three-year-extension-and-changes-episode-definition-and.

- 232. Ali AM, Bottle A. The Validity of All-Cause 30-Day Readmission rate as a hospital performance metric after primary total hip and knee arthroplasty: a systematic review. J Arthroplasty. 2019;34(8):1831-6.
- 233. Mahajan SM, Mahajan A, Nguyen C, Bui J, Abbott BT, Osborne TF. Predictive models for identifying risk of readmission after index hospitalization for hip arthroplasty: A systematic review. J Orthop. 2020;22:73-85.
- 234. Gould D, Dowsey M, Jo I, Choong P. Patient-related risk factors for unplanned 30day readmission following total knee arthroplasty: a narrative literature review. ANZ J Surg. 2020;90(7-8):1253-8
- World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Geneva: WHO; 2000. Report No.: 9241208945 Contract No.: 894.
- 236. Riley R, Holman C, Fletcher D. Inter-rater reliability of the ASA physical status classification in a sample of anaesthetists in Western Australia. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2014;42(5):614-8.
- 237. Merlo J, Wagner P, Ghith N, Leckie G. An original stepwise multilevel logistic regression analysis of discriminatory accuracy: the case of neighbourhoods and health. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0153778.
- Mandrekar JN. Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test assessment. J Thorac Oncol. 2010;5(9):1315-6.
- Austin PC, Merlo J. Intermediate and advanced topics in multilevel logistic regression analysis. Stat Med. 2017;36(20):3257-77.
- 240. SAS Institute. SAS Version 9.3 [software]. Cary, North Carolina2010.
- 241. Burns EM, Rigby E, Mamidanna R, Bottle A, Aylin P, Ziprin P, et al. Systematic review of discharge coding accuracy. J Public Health (Oxf). 2012;34(1):138-48.
- 242. Gould D, Dowsey M, Jo I, Choong P. Patient-related risk factors for unplanned 30day readmission following total knee arthroplasty: a narrative literature review. ANZ J Surg. 2020;90(7-8):1253-8.
- 243. Centres for Medicare & Medicaid Services. 2017 Procedure-specific measure updates and specifications report hospital-level risk-standardized complication measure. Elective primary total hip arthroplasty (THA) and/or total knee arthroplasty (TKA)
 Version 6.0. Yale New Haven Health Services Corporation/Center for Outcomes Research & Evaluation (YNHHSC/CORE); 2017.

- 244. Hollis RH, Graham LA, Richman JS, Morris MS, Mull HJ, Wahl TS, et al. Hospital readmissions after Surgery: how important are hospital and specialty factors? J Am Coll Surg. 2017;224(4):515-23.
- Kristensen PK, Merlo J, Ghith N, Leckie G, Johnsen SP. Hospital differences in mortality rates after hip fracture surgery in Denmark. Clin Epidemiol. 2019;11:605-14.
- 246. Ilinca S, Calciolari S. The patterns of health care utilization by elderly Europeans: frailty and its implications for health systems. Health Serv Res. 2015;50(1):305-20.
- 247. Leeder SR, Jowsey T, McNab JW. The experiences of patients and carers living with multimorbid, non-communicable diseases. Aust J Gen Pract. 2018;47(1-2):24-7.
- 248. Sivaramakrishnan K, Parker RG. The United Nations high level meeting on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: a missed opportunity? Am J Public Health. 2012;102(11):2010-2.
- Neideck G. Learnings from Multi-Source Enduring Linked Data Assets (MELDAS). Int J Popul Data Sci. 2020;5(5).
- 250. Davies HT, Crombie IK, Tavakoli M. When can odds ratios mislead? BMJ. 1998;316(7136):989-91.
- 251. Knol MJ, Egger M, Scott P, Geerlings MI, Vandenbroucke JP. When one depends on the other: reporting of interaction in case-control and cohort studies. Epidemiology. 2009;20(2):161-6.
- 252. Page RS, Beattie S, Williams S, Gill SD. Clinical quality registries: local registries complement national registries. An example from joint arthroplasty. ANZ J Surg. 2018;88(7-8):667-8.
- 253. Digital Science & Research Solutions. Citation metrics for "Variation in the recording of common health conditions in routine hospital data: study using linked survey and administrative data in New South Wales, Australia" 2021 [cited 2021 21 May]. Available from: <u>https://badge.dimensions.ai/details/id/pub.1026956687</u>.
- 254. Digital Science & Research Solutions. Citations for "Multimorbidity in Australia: Comparing estimates derived using administrative data sources and survey data" 2021 [cited 2021 21 May]. Available from: <u>https://badge.dimensions.ai/details/id/pub.1091386040</u>.
- 255. Digital Science. Dimensions [Software]. 2018.

- 256. Nguyen H, Manolova G, Daskalopoulou C, Vitoratou S, Prince M, Prina AM. Prevalence of multimorbidity in community settings: A systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. J Comorb. 2019;9:2235042X19870934.
- 257. Koram N, Delgado M, Stark JH, Setoguchi S, de Luise C. Validation studies of claims data in the Asia-Pacific region: A comprehensive review. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2019;28(2):156-70.
- 258. Yousif A, Dault R, Courteau M, Blais L, Cloutier AM, Lacasse A, et al. The validity of diagnostic algorithms to identify asthma patients in healthcare administrative databases: a systematic literature review. J Asthma. 2020.
- 259. Ingram E, Ledden S, Beardon S, Gomes M, Hogarth S, McDonald H, et al. Household and area-level social determinants of multimorbidity: a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2021;75(3):232-41.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Chronic condition multimorbidity. Canberra: AIHW; 2021.
- 261. The University of Edinburgh. Defining and measuring multimorbidity The University of Edinburgh. 2021 [cited 2021 5 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.ed.ac.uk/usher/primary-care-multimorbidity/projects/murmur</u>.
- 262. Fortin M, Haggerty J, Sanche S, Almirall J. Self-reported versus health administrative data: implications for assessing chronic illness burden in populations. A crosssectional study. CMAJ Open. 2017;5(3):E729-E33.
- 263. Gontijo Guerra S, Berbiche D, Vasiliadis H-M. Measuring multimorbidity in older adults: comparing different data sources. BMC Geriatr. 2019;19(1):166.
- 264. Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Fortin M, Guthrie B, Hemmelgarn BR, James MT, et al. Methods for identifying 30 chronic conditions: application to administrative data. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2015;15(1):31.
- 265. Lix LM, De Coster C, Currie R. Defining and validating chronic diseases: an administrative data approach. Winnipeg: Manitoba Centre for Health Policy 2006.
- 266. Koné Pefoyo AJ, Bronskill SE, Gruneir A, Calzavara A, Thavorn K, Petrosyan Y, et al. The increasing burden and complexity of multimorbidity. BMC Public Health. 2015;15(1):415.
- 267. Jordan K, Porcheret M, Croft P. Quality of morbidity coding in general practice computerized medical records: a systematic review. Fam Pract. 2004;21(4):396-412.

- 268. Gillespie CW, Morin PE, Tucker JM, Purvis L. Medication adherence, health care utilization, and spending among privately insured adults with chronic conditions in the United States, 2010-2016. Am J Med. 2020;133(6):690-704 e19.
- 269. van den Bussche H, Koller D, Kolonko T, Hansen H, Wegscheider K, Glaeske G, et al. Which chronic diseases and disease combinations are specific to multimorbidity in the elderly? Results of a claims data based cross-sectional study in Germany. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:101.
- 270. NPS MedicineWise. About MedicineInsight [cited 2021 28 April]. Available from: https://www.nps.org.au/medicine-insight/using-medicineinsight-data.
- 271. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Developing a national primary health care data asset: consultation report Canberra: AIHW; 2019 [cited 2021 18 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports-data/health-welfare-services/primaryhealth-care/primary-health-care-data-development</u>.
- 272. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Admitted patient care 2017–18: Australian hospital statistics. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.
- 273. Wong A, Boshuizen HC, Schellevis FG, Kommer GJ, Polder JJ. Longitudinal administrative data can be used to examine multimorbidity, provided false discoveries are controlled for. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64(10):1109-17.
- 274. Schram MT, Frijters D, van de Lisdonk EH, Ploemacher J, de Craen AJM, de Waal MWM, et al. Setting and registry characteristics affect the prevalence and nature of multimorbidity in the elderly. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(11):1104-12.
- 275. Stanley J, Semper K, Millar E, Sarfati D. Epidemiology of multimorbidity in New Zealand: a cross-sectional study using national-level hospital and pharmaceutical data. BMJ open. 2018;8(5):e021689.
- 276. Lix LM, Yogendran MS, Leslie WD, Shaw SY, Baumgartner R, Bowman C, et al. Using multiple data features improved the validity of osteoporosis case ascertainment from administrative databases. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(12):1250-60.
- Johns Hopkins University. The ACG® system: differentiating features 2021 [cited 2021 19 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.hopkinsacg.org/advantage/#features</u>.
- 278. Stanley J, Sarfati D. The new measuring multimorbidity index predicted mortality better than Charlson and Elixhauser indices among the general population. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017;92:99-110.

- 279. Stanley J, Doughty RN, Sarfati D. A pharmaceutical dispensing-based index of mortality risk from long-term conditions performed as well as hospital record-based indices. Med Care. 2020;58(2):e9-e16.
- 280. Consumers Health Forum, The George Institutue, The Unviersity of Queensland. Snakes & ladders: the journey to primary care integration. Sydney: The George Institute. 2018.
- 281. Australian Healthcare and Hospitals Association. Call for the establishment of a primary health care national minimum data set. Deakin: Deeble Institute. 2019.
- 282. Correll P, Feyer A-M, Phan P-T, Drake B, Jammal W, Irvine K, et al. Lumos: a statewide linkage programme in Australia integrating general practice data to guide system redesign. Integrated Healthcare Journal. 2021;3(1):e000074.
- 283. McBride KE, Solomon MJ, Bannon PG, Glozier N, Steffens D. Surgical outcomes for people with serious mental illness are poorer than for other patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Med J Aust. 2021;214(8):379-85.
- 284. Yarnall AJ, Sayer AA, Clegg A, Rockwood K, Parker S, Hindle JV. New horizons in multimorbidity in older adults. Age Ageing. 2017;46(6):882-8.
- 285. NHS UK. Identifying frailty [cited 2021 8 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/clinical-policy/older-people/frailty/frailty-risk-identification</u>.
- 286. Boyd JH, Ferrante AM, O'Keefe CM, Bass AJ, Randall SM, Semmens JB. Data linkage infrastructure for cross-jurisdictional health-related research in Australia. BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12(1):480.
- Productivity Commission. Data availability and use: overview and recommendations.
 Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2017.
- 288. Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet. Data inegration partnership for Austrlia [cited 2021 8 May]. Available from: <u>https://www.pmc.gov.au/public-data/dataintegration-partnership-australia</u>.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Annual report 2019–20. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.
- 290. ARDC. New data partnerships will boost national cutting edge research 2020 [cited 2021 8 May]. Available from: <u>https://ardc.edu.au/news/new-data-partnerships-will-boost-national-cutting-edge-research/</u>.
- 291. Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet. A modern digital economy to secure Australia's future [press release]. Canberra: Department of prime Minister and

Cabinet. 2021 [cited 2021 18 May]. Available from:

https://www.pm.gov.au/media/modern-digital-economy-secure-australias-future.

- 292. Norgaard M, Ehrenstein V, Vandenbroucke JP. Confounding in observational studies based on large health care databases: problems and potential solutions - a primer for the clinician. Clin Epidemiol. 2017;9:185-93.
- 293. Preen DB, Holman CD, Spilsbury K, Semmens JB, Brameld KJ. Length of comorbidity lookback period affected regression model performance of administrative health data. J Clin Epidemiol. 2006;59(9):940-6.
- 294. Gagne JJ, Glynn RJ, Avorn J, Levin R, Schneeweiss S. A combined comorbidity score predicted mortality in elderly patients better than existing scores. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64(7):749-59.
- 295. Simard M, Sirois C, Candas B. Validation of the combined comorbidity endex of Charlson and Elixhauser to predict 30-Day mortality across ICD-9 and ICD-10. Med Care. 2018;56(5):441-7.
- 296. Sun JW, Rogers JR, Her Q, Welch EC, Panozzo CA, Toh S, et al. Adaptation and validation of the combined comorbidity Score for ICD-10-CM. Med Care. 2017;55(12):1046-51.
- 297. Mealing NM, Banks E, Jorm LR, Steel DG, Clements MS, Rogers KD. Investigation of relative risk estimates from studies of the same population with contrasting response rates and designs. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2010;10:26.
- 298. Schneider KM, O'Donnell BE, Dean D. Prevalence of multiple chronic conditions in the United States' Medicare population. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2009;7(1):82.
- 299. Gorina Y, Kramarow EA. Identifying chronic conditions in Medicare claims data: evaluating the Chronic Condition Data Warehouse algorithm. Health Serv Res. 2011;46(5):1610-27.
- 300. Ng SK. A two-way clustering framework to identify disparities in multimorbidity patterns of mental and physical health conditions among Australians. Stat Med. 2015;34(26):3444-60.
- 301. Ng SK, Tawiah R, Sawyer M, Scuffham P. Patterns of multimorbid health conditions: a systematic review of analytical methods and comparison analysis. Int J Epidemiol. 2018;47(5):1687-704.
- 302. Valderas JM, Gangannagaripalli J, Nolte E, Boyd CM, Roland M, Sarria-Santamera A, et al. Quality of care assessment for people with multimorbidity. J Intern Med. 2019;285(3):289-300.

- 303. NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. NSW Health Integrated Care Sydney: Agency for Clinical Innovation; [cited 2021 27 April]. Available from: <u>https://www.aci.health.nsw.gov.au/nhn/health-professionals/tools-andresources/nsw-health-integrated-care</u>.
- 304. NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. Patient-reported measures Sydney: Agency for Clinical Innovation; 2021 [cited 2021 27 April]. Available from: <u>https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/statewide-programs/prms</u>.
- 305. NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation. Analytic principles for patient-reported outcome measures. Sydney: Agency for Clinical Innovation; 2021.
- 306. Mamiya H, Lix LM, Gardner W, Bartlett SJ, Ahmed S, Buckeridge DL. Montreal Accord on Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROs) use series - Paper 5: patient-reported outcomes can be linked to epidemiologic measures to monitor populations and inform public health decisions. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017;89:142-7.

PubMed search: (Multimorbid*(Title/Abstract)) AND (Australia*(Title/Abstract)) from 1996 to January 2021

Table 1 List of Australian studies on multimorbidity

Table 2 List of Australian studies on multimorbidity in the context of index disease

Table 3 Outcomes studied in Australian publications on multimorbidity

First author, year Sample N Study setting Linked Chronic condition Data source Measurement Medical Trial, Survey Hospital MBS PBS RCT Quantitative studies Diagnosis (CIRS) Arnold-Reed 2018 4,285 Primary care All No Yes Barker 2018 17 Tertiary care ≥ 18 No Diagnosis: MM Yes CIRS(G), (FCI), patients (MULTIPleS), only (DUSOI) already 7,247 Primary care Diagnosis (CIRS) Brett 2013 All No 14 Yes Primary care Brett 2014 7,170 All No Diagnosis (CIRS) 14 Yes Britt 2008 All 9,156 Primary care No Diagnosis (CIRS) 14 BEACH Carpenter 2015 ≥ 50 Self-report 11 NSA 4,574 General No population Self-report González-Chica 2,912 General ≥ 20 No 17 South Australian Omnibus Survey 2017 population Primary care Gunn 2012 7,620 ≥ 18 No Self-report 12 GP attendee survey Yes Ha 2020 229,964 General ≥ 45 Rx-Risk-V 22 45 and Up Yes Yes Yes population Harrison 2014 8,707 Primary care All Diagnosis: CIRS, No BEACH ICPD-2 chapter, ICD-10 chapter

Table 1 List of Australian studies on multimorbidity, PubMed search, 1996 – 2021

First author, year	Sample N	Study setting	Age	Linked	Chronic con	ndition			Data	source			
				data?	Measurement	N	Medical	Trial,	Survey	Cohort	Hospital	MBS	PBS
						conditions	records	RCT			, ED		
Harrison 2016	8,707	Primary care	All	No	Diagnosis:	28			BEACH				
					ICPC-2-chapter,								
					diagnosis (GP)								
Harrison 2017	43,501	Primary care	All	No	ICPC-2 chapter				BEACH				
Held 2016	1,464	General	≥ 70, men	No	Self-report	17				CHAMP			
		population											
Holden 2011	78,000	General	≥ 18	No	Self-report	28			WORC				
		population											
Ishida 2020	Varied	General	≥ 15	No	Self-report	11				HILDA			
		population											
Islam 2015	2,540	General	≥ 50	No	Self-report	12			NSA				
		population											
Islam 2014	4,574	General	≥ 50	No	Self-report	11			NSA				
		population											
Jackson 2015	4,865	General	≥ 45,	No	Self-report	31				ALSWH			
		population	women										
Jackson 2016	4,896	General	≥ 45,	No	Self-report	31				ALSWH			
		population	women										
Jackson 2015	7,270	General	≥ 45,	No	Self-report	31				ALSWH			
		population	women										
John 2020	616	Primary care	≥ 40	No	Diagnosis (GP)	6		Yes					
John 2020	636	Primary care	≥ 40	No	Diagnosis (GP)	6		Yes					

First author, year	Sample N	Study setting	Age	Linked	Chronic co	ndition			Data	source			
				data?	Measurement	N	Medical	Trial,	Survey	Cohort	Hospital	MBS	PBS
						conditions	records	RCT			, ED		
Jowsey 2013	2,540	General	≥ 50	No	Self-report	12			NSA				
		population											
Lind 2020	9,436	Tertiary care	≥ 65	No	EHR free text,	60	Yes						
					ATC codes								
McRae 2013	4,574	General	≥ 50	No	Self-report	11							
		population											
Ng 2020	2,039	General	38-85, men	Yes	Self-report	8				FAMAS		Yes	
		population											
Ofori-Asenso 2018	Varied	General	≥ 65	No	Rx-Risk-V	22							Yes
		population											
Ruel 2014	1,854	General	≥ 18	No	Self-report	8				NWAHS			
		population											
Shang 2020	53,867	General	≥ 45	Yes	MBS, PBS	11				45 and Up		Yes	Yes
		population											
Sharpe 2017	1,281	Primary care	≥ 65	No	Self-report	13		Yes					
Shi 2015	36,663	General	≥ 16	No	Self-report	9			South Australian				
		population							Monitoring and				
									Surveillance				
									System				
Sum 2020	6,382	General	≥ 50	No	Self-report	12				HILDA			
		population											
Thiruchelvam 2020	10,334	General	77-96	Yes	Self-report	11				ALSWH			Yes
		population											

First author, year	Sample N	Study setting	Age	Linked	Chronic co	ndition			Data s	ource			
				data?	Measurement	N	Medical	Trial,	Survey	Cohort	Hospital	MBS	PBS
						conditions	records	RCT			, ED		
Thompson 2018	696	General	≥ 65	No	Self-report	Unclear				NWAHS			
		population											
Tyack 2018	351	Tertiary care	≥ 18	No	Self-report	21		Yes					
Westley-Wise 2020	38,156	Tertiary care	≥ 15	Yes	Diagnoses	19					Yes		
Wister 2016	5,532	General	≥ 45	No	Self-report	7				HILDA			
		population											
Xia 2020	67,474	Primary care	≥ 65	Yes	Free text, MBS	13	Yes				Yes		
					data								
Xu 2018	13,714	General	45-50	No	Self-report	3				HILDA			
		population											
Tooth 2008	10,434	General	73-78,	No	Self-report	19				ALSWH			
		population	women										
Tyack 2016	351	Tertiary care	≥ 18	No	Self-report	25		Yes					
Wang 2017	8,841	General	≥ 16	No	Self-report	9			Australian				
		population							National Survey of				
									mental health and				
									Wellbeing				

ASLWH – Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health, BEACH – Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health, CHAMP – *Concor*d Health and Ageing in Men Project, EMR – electronic medical record, FAMAS – Florey Adelaide Male Ageing Study, HILDA – Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia, MM – multimorbidity, NSA – National Seniors Australia, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme , MBS – Medicare Benefits Schedule, NWAHS - North West Adelaide Longitudinal Health Study, , WORC – Australian Work Outcomes Research Cost-benefit

First author, year	Sample N	Study setting/data
		source
Qualitative studies		
Jeon 2012	40 members of National	General population
	Seniors Australia	(Semi-structured
		interview)
Jones 2018	13 GPs and registrars from	Primary care (semi-
	Aboriginal Health Care service	structured interview)
Mc Namara 2017	26 healthcare professionals	Primary care (semi-
	from metropolitan and rural Victoria	structured interview)
	and South Australia	
Peat 2020	29 health care providers of	Primary care (semi-
	care coordination in Melbourne	structured interview)
Reviews		
Aspin 2010	46 policy documents	
Caughey 2008	25 studies on MM prevalence	
Chandraratne	56 policies, guidelines (international)	Primary care
2018		
Damarell 2021	10 clinical practice guidelines	Primary care
Ng 2018	41 studies	
O'Connell 2018	8 frameworks (international)	
Rosbach 2017	9 studies on burden of MM	
Walker 2015	88 studies	
Young 2015	13 guidelines	
Young 2016	16 care plans	

Table 1 List of Australian studies on multimorbidity, PubMed search, 1996 – 2021, cont.

Table 2. List of Australia	n studies on multir	norbidity in the	context of index	disease, 1996 –
2021				

Index condition	Author (year)	Study setting
Acquired brain injury	Jackson (2020)	Primary health care
Acute coronary syndrome	Ofori-Asenso (2019)	Tertiary care
Alzheimer's	Eshetie (2019)	Primary health care
Atherothrombotic disease	Hussain (2018)	Tertiary care
Atrial fibrillation	Nishtala (2016)	Residential aged care
Cancer	Ng (2018), Ng (2020)	General population
Cardiovascular disorders	Price (2014)	Primary health care
Chronic kidney disease	Lo (2016), Venuthurupalli	Tertiary care
	(2019)	
Depression	Morgan (2015), Stanners	Primary health care, General
	(2012), Xu (2019)	population
Diabetes (T2)	Chiang (2020)	Primary health care
Heart failure	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017),	DVA, primary health service,
Heart failure	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017), Wiley (2018)	DVA, primary health service, tertiary care
Heart failure HIV	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017), Wiley (2018) Dharan (2020), Edmiston	DVA, primary health service, tertiary care Primary health care
Heart failure HIV	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017), Wiley (2018) Dharan (2020), Edmiston (2015)	DVA, primary health service, tertiary care Primary health care
Heart failure HIV Hypertension	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017), Wiley (2018) Dharan (2020), Edmiston (2015) John (2020)	DVA, primary health service, tertiary care Primary health care Primary health care
Heart failure HIV Hypertension Intellectual disability	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017), Wiley (2018) Dharan (2020), Edmiston (2015) John (2020) Hussain (2020)	DVA, primary health service, tertiary care Primary health care Primary health care General population
Heart failure HIV Hypertension Intellectual disability Musculoskeletal	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017), Wiley (2018) Dharan (2020), Edmiston (2015) John (2020) Hussain (2020) Lowe (2015), Lowe (2016),	DVA, primary health service, tertiary care Primary health care Primary health care General population General population
Heart failure HIV Hypertension Intellectual disability Musculoskeletal conditions	Caughey (2019), Taylor (2017), Wiley (2018) Dharan (2020), Edmiston (2015) John (2020) Hussain (2020) Lowe (2015), Lowe (2016), Lowe (2017)	DVA, primary health service, tertiary care Primary health care Primary health care General population General population

Outcome	Author (year)	Sample	Chronic	Outcome
		size range	disease	measurement
			ascertainment	
Depressive	Gunn (2012), Sharpe	1,281 -	Self-report	Self-report
symptoms	(2017)	7,620		
Disease burden	Tyack (2018)		Self-report	Self-report
		351		
Frailty	Held (2016),	696 - 1,464	Self-report	Self-report
	Thompson (2018)			
Functional	Barker (2018), Jackson	16 - 10,434	Self-report	Self-report
ability	(2015), Wister (2016),			
	Tooth (2008)			
Health related	Barker (2018),	16 - 17,529	Self-report	Self-report
Quality of life	González-Chica (2017),			
	Ishida (2020), John			
	(2020), Tooth(2008),			
	Tyack (2016), Wang			
	(2017)			
Health service	Ishida (2020), Ng	2,039 -	Majority self-	Self-report,
use	(2020)*, Sum (2020),	67,474	report, 1 with	MBS, ED data
	Wister (2016), Xia		EMR	
	(2020)*, Tooth (2008)			
Incident	Jackson (2015), Shang	4,865 -	Majority self-	Self-report,
multimorbidity	(2020)*, Xu (2018)	53,867	report, 1 with	PBS data
			PBS/MBS	
Life satisfaction	Wister (2016)		Self-report	Self-report
		5,532		
Loneliness	Wister (2016)		Self-report	Self-report
		5,532		
Medication	Thiruchelvam (2020)*		Self-report	PBS data
dispensation		10,334		
Mobility	Wister (2016)		Self-report	Self-report
restriction		5,532		
Mortality	Tooth (2008)*	10,434	Self-report	Death data
L				

Table 3. Outcomes	studies in	Australian	publications	on multimorbidity

* Used linked data

Outcome	Author (year)	Sample	Chronic	Outcome
		size range	disease	measurement
			ascertainment	
Out-of-pocket	Carpenter (2015),		Self-report	Self-report
medical	McRae (2013)	4,574		
expenses				
Patient self	John (2020)	636	Unknown	Self-report
management				
Perceived health	Wister (2016)		Self-report	Self-report
		5,532		
Potentially	Ha (2020)*	229,964	PBS data	Hospital data
avoidable				
hospitalisations				
Readmission	Westley-Wise (2020)*		Hospital	Hospital data
		38,156	diagnoses	
Time spent on	Islam (2015), Jowsey		Self-report	Self-report
health related	(2013)	2,540		
activities				
Work	Ishida (2020)	13,284 -	Self-report	Self-report
productivity		17,529		

Table 3. Outcomes studies in Australian publications on multimorbidity, con-	t.
--	----

* Used linked data, ED – Emergency Department, EMR – Electronic Medical Record, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme , MBS – Medicare Benefits Schedule

- Arnold-Reed D, Troeung L, Brett T, Chan She Ping-Delfos W, Strange C, Geelhoed E, et al. Increasing multimorbidity in an Australian street health service: A 10-year retrospective cohort study. Aust J Gen Pract. 2018;47(4):181-9.
- Aspin C, Jowsey T, Glasgow N, Dugdale P, Nolte E, O'Hallahan J, et al. Health policy responses to rising rates of multi-morbid chronic illness in Australia and New Zealand. Aus N Z J Public Health. 2010;34(4):386-93.
- Barker K, Holland AE, Lee AL, Haines T, Ritchie K, Boote C, et al. Multimorbidity rehabilitation versus disease-specific rehabilitation in people with chronic diseases: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2018;4:181.
- Brett T, Arnold-Reed DE, Popescu A, Soliman B, Bulsara MK, Fine H, et al. Multimorbidity in patients attending 2 Australian primary care practices. Ann Fam Med. 2013;11(6):535-42.
- Brett T, Arnold-Reed DE, Troeung L, Bulsara MK, Williams A, Moorhead RG. Multimorbidity in a marginalised, street-health Australian population: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2014;4(8):e005461.
- Britt HC, Harrison CM, Miller GC, Knox SA. Prevalence and patterns of multimorbidity in Australia. Med J Aust. 2008;189(2):72-7.
- Carpenter A, Islam MM, Yen L, McRae I. Affordability of out-of-pocket health care expenses among older Australians. Health Policy. 2015;119(7):907-14.
- Caughey GE, Vitry AI, Gilbert AL, Roughead EE. Prevalence of comorbidity of chronic diseases in Australia. BMC Public Health. 2008;8:221.
- Chandraratne NK, Pathirathna K, Harrison C, Siriwardena AN. A comparison of policies and guidelines related to multimorbidity in the UK, Australia and Sri Lanka. Aust J Gen Pract. 2018;47(1-2):14-9.
- Damarell RA, Morgan DD, Tieman JJ, Healey DF. Multimorbidity through the lens of lifelimiting illness: how helpful are Australian clinical practice guidelines to its management in primary care? Aust J Prim Health. 2021.
- González-Chica DA, Hill CL, Gill TK, Hay P, Haag D, Stocks N. Individual diseases or clustering of health conditions? Association between multiple chronic diseases and healthrelated quality of life in adults. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15(1):244.

- Gunn JM, Ayton DR, Densley K, Pallant JF, Chondros P, Herrman HE, et al. The association between chronic illness, multimorbidity and depressive symptoms in an Australian primary care cohort. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2012;47(2):175-84.
- Ha NT, Wright C, Youens D, Preen DB, Moorin R. Effect Modification of Multimorbidity on the Association Between Regularity of General Practitioner Contacts and Potentially Avoidable Hospitalisations. J Gen Intern Med. 2020;35(5):1504-15.
- Harrison C, Britt H, Miller G, Henderson J. Examining different measures of multimorbidity, using a large prospective cross-sectional study in Australian general practice. BMJ Open. 2014;4(7):e004694.
- Harrison C, Henderson J, Miller G, Britt H. The prevalence of complex multimorbidity in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2016;40(3):239-44.
- Harrison C, Henderson J, Miller G, Britt H. The prevalence of diagnosed chronic conditions and multimorbidity in Australia: A method for estimating population prevalence from general practice patient encounter data. PloS One. 2017;12(3):e0172935.
- Held FP, Blyth F, Gnjidic D, Hirani V, Naganathan V, Waite LM, et al. Association Rules Analysis of Comorbidity and Multimorbidity: The Concord Health and Aging in Men Project. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2016;71(5):625-31.
- Holden L, Scuffham PA, Hilton MF, Muspratt A, Ng SK, Whiteford HA. Patterns of multimorbidity in working Australians. Popul Health Metr. 2011;9(1):15.
- Ishida M, Hulse ES, Mahar RK, Gunn J, Atun R, McPake B, et al. The Joint Effect of Physical Multimorbidity and Mental Health Conditions Among Adults in Australia. Prev Chronic Dis. 2020;17:E157.
- Islam MM, McRae IS, Yen L, Jowsey T, Valderas JM. Time spent on health-related activities by senior Australians with chronic diseases: what is the role of multimorbidity and comorbidity? Aust N Z J Public Health. 2015;39(3):277-83.
- Islam MM, Valderas JM, Yen L, Dawda P, Jowsey T, McRae IS. Multimorbidity and comorbidity of chronic diseases among the senior Australians: prevalence and patterns. PloS One. 2014;9(1):e83783.
- Jackson CA, Dobson A, Tooth L, Mishra GD. Body mass index and socioeconomic position are associated with 9-year trajectories of multimorbidity: A population-based study. Pref Med. 2015;81:92-8.

- Jackson CA, Dobson AJ, Tooth LR, Mishra GD. Lifestyle and Socioeconomic Determinants of Multimorbidity Patterns among Mid-Aged Women: A Longitudinal Study. PloS One. 2016;11(6):e0156804.
- Jackson CA, Jones M, Tooth L, Mishra GD, Byles J, Dobson A. Multimorbidity patterns are differentially associated with functional ability and decline in a longitudinal cohort of older women. Age Ageing. 2015;44(5):810-6.
- Jeon YH, Black A, Govett J, Yen L, McRae I. Private health insurance and quality of life: perspectives of older Australians with multiple chronic conditions. Aust J Prim Health. 2012;18(3):212-9.
- John JR, Tannous WK, Jones A. Outcomes of a 12-month patient-centred medical home model in improving patient activation and self-management behaviours among primary care patients presenting with chronic diseases in Sydney, Australia: a before-and-after study. BMC Fam Pract. 2020;21(1):158.
- John JR, Tannous WK, Jones A. Changes in health-related quality of life before and after a 12month enhanced primary care model among chronically ill primary care patients in Australia. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):288.
- Jones JA, Reeve CA. Factors influencing the use of clinical guidelines by general practitioners working in a setting of complex multimorbidity: a case study by interviews. BMC Fam Pract. 2018;19(1):157.
- Jowsey T, McRae IS, Valderas JM, Dugdale P, Phillips R, Bunton R, et al. Time's up. descriptive epidemiology of multi-morbidity and time spent on health related activity by older Australians: a time use survey. PloS One. 2013;8(4):e59379.
- Lind KE, Raban MZ, Brett L, Jorgensen ML, Georgiou A, Westbrook JI. Measuring the prevalence of 60 health conditions in older Australians in residential aged care with electronic health records: a retrospective dynamic cohort study. Popul Health Metr. 2020;18(1):25.
- Mc Namara KP, Breken BD, Alzubaidi HT, Bell JS, Dunbar JA, Walker C, et al. Health professional perspectives on the management of multimorbidity and polypharmacy for older patients in Australia. Age Ageing. 2017;46(2):291-9.

- McRae I, Yen L, Jeon YH, Herath PM, Essue B. Multimorbidity is associated with higher out-ofpocket spending: a study of older Australians with multiple chronic conditions. Austr J Prim Helath. 2013;19(2):144-9.
- Ng SK, Martin SA, Adams RJ, O'Loughlin P, Wittert GA. The Effect of Multimorbidity Patterns and the Impact of Comorbid Anxiety and Depression on Primary Health Service Use: The Men Androgen Inflammation Lifestyle Environment and Stress (MAILES) Study. Am J Mens Health. 2020;14(5):1557988320959993.
- Ng SK, Tawiah R, Sawyer M, Scuffham P. Patterns of multimorbid health conditions: a systematic review of analytical methods and comparison analysis. Int J Epidemiol. 2018;47(5):1687-704.
- O'Connell S, Mc Carthy VJC, Savage E. Frameworks for self-management support for chronic disease: a cross-country comparative document analysis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):583.
- Ofori-Asenso R, Ilomaki J, Curtis AJ, Zomer E, Zoungas S, Liew D. Patterns of Medication Dispensation for Multiple Comorbidities among Older Adults in Australia. Pharmacy (Basel). 2018;6(4).
- Peart A, Lewis V, Barton C, Russell G. Healthcare professionals providing care coordination to people living with multimorbidity: An interpretative phenomenological analysis. J Clin Nurs. 2020;29(13-14):2317-28.
- Rosbach M, Andersen JS. Patient-experienced burden of treatment in patients with multimorbidity A systematic review of qualitative data. PloS One. 2017;12(6):e0179916.
- Ruel G, Lévesque JF, Stocks N, Sirois C, Kroger E, Adams RJ, et al. Understanding the evolution of multimorbidity: evidences from the North West Adelaide Health Longitudinal Study (NWAHS). PloS One. 2014;9(5):e96291.
- Shang X, Peng W, Wu J, He M, Zhang L. Leading determinants for multimorbidity in middleaged Australian men and women: A nine-year follow-up cohort study. Prev Med. 2020;141:106260.
- Sharpe L, McDonald S, Correia H, Raue PJ, Meade T, Nicholas M, et al. Pain severity predicts depressive symptoms over and above individual illnesses and multimorbidity in older adults. BMC Psychiatry. 2017;17(1):166.

- Shi Z, Ruel G, Dal Grande E, Pilkington R, Taylor AW. Soft drink consumption and multimorbidity among adults. Clin Nutr ESPEN. 2015;10(2):e71-e6.
- Sum G, Ishida M, Koh GC, Singh A, Oldenburg B, Lee JT. Implications of multimorbidity on healthcare utilisation and work productivity by socioeconomic groups: Cross-sectional analyses of Australia and Japan. PloS One. 2020;15(4):e0232281.
- Thiruchelvam K, Byles J, Hasan SS, Egan N, Cavenagh D, Kairuz T. Common combinations of medications used among oldest-old women: a population-based study over 15 years. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2020.
- Thompson MQ, Theou O, Adams RJ, Tucker GR, Visvanathan R. Frailty state transitions and associated factors in South Australian older adults. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2018;18(11):1549-55.
- Tooth L, Hockey R, Byles J, Dobson A. Weighted multimorbidity indexes predicted mortality, health service use, and health-related quality of life in older women. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(2):151-9.
- Tyack Z, Frakes KA, Barnett A, Cornwell P, Kuys S, McPhail S. Predictors of health-related quality of life in people with a complex chronic disease including multimorbidity: a longitudinal cohort study. Quan Life Res. 2016;25(10):2579-92.
- Tyack Z, Kuys S, Cornwell P, Frakes KA, McPhail SM. Reproducibility, longitudinal validity and interpretability of the Disease Burden Morbidity Assessment in people with chronic disease. Chronic Illn. 2018;14(4):310-25.
- Walker C. Multiple conditions: exploring literature from the consumer perspective in Australia. Health Expect. 2015;18(2):166-76.
- Wang L, Palmer AJ, Cocker F, Sanderson K. Multimorbidity and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in a nationally representative population sample: implications of count versus cluster method for defining multimorbidity on HRQoL. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15(1):7.
- Westley-Wise V, Lago L, Mullan J, Facci F, Zingel R, Eagar K. Patterns of morbidity and multimorbidity associated with early and late readmissions in an Australian regional health service. Chronic Illn. 2020:1742395319899459.
- Wister A, Kendig H, Mitchell B, Fyffe I, Loh V. Multimorbidity, health and aging in Canada and Australia: a tale of two countries. BMC Geriatr. 2016;16(1):163.

- Xia T, Enticott J, Pearce C, Mazza D, Turner LR. Predictors of ED attendance in older patients with chronic disease: a data linkage study. Aust Health Rev. 2020;44(4):550-6.
- Xu X, Mishra GD, Dobson AJ, Jones M. Progression of diabetes, heart disease, and stroke multimorbidity in middle-aged women: A 20-year cohort study. PLoS Med. 2018;15(3):e1002516.
- Young CE, Boyle FM, Brooker KS, Mutch AJ. Incorporating patient preferences in the management of multiple long-term conditions: is this a role for clinical practice guidelines? J Comorb. 2015;5:122-31.
- Young CE, Boyle FM, Mutch AJ. Are care plans suitable for the management of multiple conditions? J Comorb. 2016;6(2):103-13.

Appendix 2. 45 and Up Study questionnaire

SAX 45 and Up Study Female Scanning.gxd:Layout 1 20/6/08 2786 PM Page 3

	THE 45 AND UP STUDY Research to improve health and wellbeing 45 and Up Study Questionnaire for Women	
	The 45 and Up Study relies on the willingness of people in New South Wales to share information about their lives and experiences, to provide knowledge that will help people live healthy and fulfilling lives for as long as possible. Participation is completely voluntary, and you are free to withdraw from the Study at any time. To take part, please read the participant information leaflet, then complete the questionnaire and consent form and return them in the envelope provided. We very much hope you will be able to take part. Any questions or comments? Please call the Study helpline: 1300 45 11 45 or go to www.45andUp.org.au	
	Auspiced by In collaboration with Difference Difference Uncollaboration with Event of the point	
ļ	Your answers and experiences are important to us. Please put a cross in the appropriate box(es) Yes No To help us read your answers, please write as clearly as possible using a BLACK or BLUE pen, and be sure to complete the questionnaire as shown: OR put numbers in the appropriate box, e.g. 21st June 1945 Image 6 2 General questions about you Month year 8. What year did you first come to live in	
Ŧ	 What is your date of birth? What is your accestry? (please cross up to 2 boxes) What is today's date? What is your ancestry? (please cross up to 2 boxes) Australian Greek Scottish German Lebanese Dutch Maltese Polish Filipino Indian Croatian Vietnamese Other (please specify) 	7
	 4. About how much do you weigh? 4. About how much do you weigh? 5. What is the highest qualification you have completed? (please put a cross in the most appropriate box) no school certificate or other qualifications school or intermediate certificate (or equivalent) higher school or leaving certificate (or equivalent) higher school or leaving certificate (or equivalent) certificate/diploma (e.g. child care, technician) university degree or higher 	
	 6. Are you of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander origin? you can cross more than one box) No Yes, Aboriginal Yes, Torres Strait Islander 7. In which country were you born? Australia > please go to question 9 UK Ireland traly China Greece New Zealand Germany Lebanon Philippines Netherlands Vietnam Malta 8. Poland other (please specify) 9. Strait Islander origin? When you smoked? Cigarettes per day pipes and cigars per day 12. About how many alcoholic drinks do you have each week? one drink = a glass of wine, middy of beer or nip of spirits (out "0" if you do not drink, or have less than one drink each week) 13. On how many days each week do you usually drink alcohol? 	
	_ф	

Appendix 2: 45 and Up Study questionnaire

	14. What best describes your current situation? (please cross one box)	Questions about your health
	 single married de facto/lving with a partner widowed divorced separated 	20. About how many hours a week are you exposed
	15 What best describes your current bousing? (place cross one boy)	to someone else's tobacco smoke?
	 house flat, unit, apartment house on farm hostel for the aged mobile home other nursing home retirement village, self care unit 	at home (e.g. work, going out, cars)
		21. Have you ever used the pill or other hormonal contraceptives?
	activities LAST WEEK? times in the	Yes 🔻 🔲 No
	(put "0" if you did not do this activity) last week Walking continuously, for at least 10 minutes	If Yes, for how long altogether have you used hormonal contraceptives?
	(for recreation or exercise or to get to or from places)	(please write '0' if you used them for less than a year in total)
	Vigorous physical activity (that made you breathe harder or puff and pant, like logging, cycling, aerobics, competitive tennis, but not household chores	used hormonal contraceptives? age (please write your current age if you are still using them)
	Moderate physical activity	Which type of pill or other hormonal contraceptive did you use MOST RECENTLY?
	(like gentle swimming, social tennis, vigorous gardening	"the pill", combined pill (e.g. Microgynon, Levien)
	17. If you add up all the time you spent doing each activity	Depo Provera
	LAST WEEK, how much time did you spend ALTOGETHER doing each type of activity?	contraceptive implant <i>(e.g. Implanon, Norplant)</i> do not know
	(put "0" If you did not do this activity) hours minutes	22. Have you ever used hormone replacement therapy (HRT)?
	Walking continuously, for at least 10 minutes (for recreation or exercise or to get to or from places)	Yes ▼ No
	Vigorous physical activity	used HRT2
	like jogging, cycling, aerobics, competitive tennis, but of household chores or gardening)	Are vou currently taking HRT?
-	Moderate physical activity	Ma at what ago did you stop?
	(like gentie swimming, social tennis, vigorous	
		23. Have you taken any medications, vitamins or supplements for most of the last 4 weeks, including HRT and the pill?
	Questions about your family	Yes V No
	18. Have your mother, father, brother(s) or sister(s) ever had:	If Yes, Was It: multivitamins + minerals multivitamins alone
	(blood relatives only: please put a cross in the appropriate box(es))	paracetamol aspirin for the heart aspirin for other reason
		Lipitor Avapro, Karvea warfarin, Coumadin
	heart disease 📃 🗌 🔤 breast cancer 📃 📃 🗌	Zocor, Lipex Cardizem, Vasocordol Micardis
	high blood pressure	Nexium Norvasc Fosamax
	diabetes melanoma	Somac Tritace Caltrate
	dementia/Alzheimer's	Losec, Acimax Noten, Tenormin Oroxine omeprazole atenolol thyroxine
	Parkinson's disease	Ventolin Zyloprim, Progout 300 Diabex, Diaformin
	severe depression	
	do not know	sertraline citaloprim veniatizine
	19. How many children have you given birth to?	
	(please Include stillbirths but do not Include miscarriages, please write "0" if you have not had any children)	
	How old were you when you gave birth to your FIRST child?	
	How old were you when you gave birth to your LAST child?	
	For how many months, in total, have months months	
	alagaa add tagathar all tha time you anont broastfas ding	

Appendix 2: 45 and Up Study questionnaire

	24. Has a doctor EVER told you that you (If YES, please cross the box and give your age w the condition was first found)	have: when An	e when co	ndition	26. Are you NOW suffering from any other important illness? □ Yes ▼ No
		Yes	was first f	ound	Please describe this illness and its treatment
	skin cancer (not melanoma)			age	
	melanoma			age	
	breast cancer			age	
	other cancer			age	
	type of cancer (please describe)				
					27. Do you regularly need help with daily tasks because
	hand discourse				of long-term illness or disability?
	heart disease			age	Yes No
	type of field t disease (pielase describe)				
					28. Does your health now LIMIT YOU yes, yes, no in any of the following activities? limited li
	high blood pressure – when pregnant			age	VIGOROUS activities
	high blood pressure – when not pregna	nt		age	MODERATE activities
	STROKE			age	lifting or carrying shopping
	diabetes			age	climbing several flights of stairs
	blood clot (thrombosis)			age	climbing one flight of stairs
	asthma			age	Walking one kilometre
	hayfever			age	walking 100 metres
) -	depression			age	bending, kneeling or stooping
·	anxiety			age	bathing or dressing yourself
	Parkinson's disease			age	
	none of these				(If YES, please cross the box and give your
					age at the most recent operation if you Age when
	25 In the last month have you been trea	ited for:			removal of skin cancer
	(If YES, please cross the box and give your age when the treatment started)		Ade start	ed	
	when the treatment startedy	Yes	treatmer	nt	
	cancer			age	
	heart attack or angina			age	
	other heart disease			age	repair of prolapsed womb, bladder or bowel
	high blood pressure			age	knee replacement
	high blood cholesterol			age	hip replacement
	blood clotting problems			age	gallbladder removed
	asthma			age	heart or coronary bypass surgery include stents and balloons)
	osteoarthritis			age	other (please describe any other operations you have had in the last
	thyroid problems			age	10 years, with your age when you had them)
	osteoporosis or low bone density			age	
	depression			age	
	anxiety			ade	

Appendix 2: 45 and Up Study questionnaire

	30. Do you regularly care for a sick of disabled	Questions about your diet
	Yes V No	40. About how many times each week do you eat: number of
	If Yes, about how much time each week do you usually spend caring for this person?	(please count all meals and snacks, put '0' if never eaten times eaten or eaten less than once a week) each week
	full time OR	beef, lamb or pork
	31. In general, how would	chicken, turkey or duck
	you rate your:	(include bacon, sausages, salami, devon, burgers, etc)
	quality of life?	fish or seafood
	eyesight? (with glasses or contact lenses, if you wear them)	cheese
	memory?	41 About how many of the following do you usually eat:
		slices or pieces of brown/wholemeat bread each week
	32. Do you leer you have a hearing loss? tes to	(also include multigrain, rye bread, etc.)
	None – all of my teeth are missing	If you eat breakfast cereal is it usually: blease cross)
	10-19 teeth left 20 or more teeth left	bran cereal (alibran, branflakes, etc.) muesli
	to the floor or ground? (put "0" if you haven't fallen in this time)	shredded wheat, etc.)
	times	oat cereal (<i>porfidge, etc.</i>)
	35. Have you had a broken/fractured bone in the last 5 years?	42. Which type of milk do you mostly have?
	If Yes, which bones were broken?	soy milk other milk I don't drink milk
	wrist arm hip ankle	43. About how many serves of vegetables do you usually eat
-	How old were you when it happened?	each day? A serve is half a cup of cooked vegetables or one cup of salad release include potatoes and put "0" if less than one a day)
	(give age at most recent fracture it more than one)	number of serves of cooked vegetables each day
	by leaking urine?	number of serves of raw vegetables each day (e.g. salad
	never once a week or less 2-3 times 4-6 times	I don't eat vegetables
	37. Have you been through menopause?	44. About how many serves of fruit or glasses of fruit juice do you usually have each day? A serve is 1 medium piece or 2 small pieces or
	☐ No ☐ Not sure (because hysterectomy, taking HRT, etc.)	1 cup of diced or canned fruit pieces (put "0" if you eat less than one serve a day
	My periods have become irregular Yes – How old were you when you	number of serves of fruit each day
	went through menopause?	number of glasses of truit juice each day
	38. Have you ever been for a breast screening mammogram?	
	If Yes, what year did you have your last	45. Please put a cross in the box if you NEVER eat:
	mammogram? (e.g. 2005)	any meat eggs sugar wheat products
	for breast screening altogether?	
	39. Have you ever been screened for colorectal (bowel) cancer?	Questions about time and work
	If Yes, please indicate which test(s) you had:	
	faecal occult blood test (test for blood in the stool/faeces)	46. What is your usual yearly HOUSEHOLD income before tax, from all sources? (please include benefits, pensions, superannuation, etc)
	this is usually done in a doctor's office without pain relief)	less than \$5,000 per year \$30,000-\$39,999 per year
	you would usually have to have an enema or drink large amounts of special liquid to prepare the bowel for this	\$10,000-\$19,999 per year \$50,000-\$69,999 per year
	What year did you have the most recent	\$20,000-\$29,999 per year \$70,000 or more per year

	47. What is your current work status? (you can cross more than one box) in full time paid work in part time paid work doing unpaid work completely retired/pensioner studying partially retired	54. About how many HOURS in each 24 hour DAY do you usually spend doing the following? (please put "0" if you do not spend any time doing it) hours per day hours per day at night & naps)
	disabled/sick unemployed	watching television or using a computer standing
	48. If you are partially or completely retired, how old were you when you retired? years old Why did you retire? (you can cross more than one box)	(please put "0" if you did not spend any time doing it) spend time with friends or family who do not live with you?
	reached usual retirement age to care for family member/friend made redundant could not find a job other	talk to someone (friends, relatives or others) on the telephone? go to meetings of social clubs, religious groups or other groups you belong to?
	49. About how many HOURS each WEEK do you usually spend doing the following? (please put "0" if you do not spend any time doing it) hours per week hours per week	56. How many people outside your home, but within one hour of travel, do you feel you can depend on or feel very close to?
	paid work voluntary/unpaid work	57. During the past 4 weeks, none a little some most all about how offen did you feel.
	50. Which of the following do you have? (excluding Medicare) Private health insurance – with extras	tired out for no good reason?
	Private health insurance – without extras Department of Veterans' Affairs white or gold card	so nervous that nothing could
	Health care concession card	hopeless?
	51. What best describes the colour of the skin on the inside of	so restless that you could
-	your upper arm, that is your skin colour without any tanning?	depressed?
	☐ fair ☐ dark olive ☐ black	so sad that nothing could
	52. What would happen if your skin was repeatedly exposed to bright sunlight during summer without any protection? Would it:	worthless?
	Get very tanned? Get mildly or occasionally tanned? Get moderately tanned? Never tan, or only get freckled?	58. During the past 4 weeks, have you had any of the following problems with your work or daily activities because of any emotional problems (such as being depressed or anxious)?
	53. About how many hours a DAY would you usually spend outdoors on a weekday and on the weekend?	cut down on the amount of time you spent Yes No on work or other activities
	weekday weekend	did work or other activities less carefully Yes No than usual
	Thank you very much for	filling in the questionnaire
	Are your name and address correct on the front of this questionname	
	If INCORRECT, give details below.	_
	Surname:	
	Postal address:	
	Town or Suburb:	

185

HE

UDV

SAX 45 and Up Study Female Scanning.qxd:Layout 1 20/6/08 2/26 PM Page 2

Consent form

The 45 and Up Study relies on the willingness of people in New South Wales to share information about their lives and experiences and to have their health followed over time. By signing this form you are agreeing to take part in the AND UP 45 and Up Study and for the Study team to follow your health over time. Participation is completely voluntary, and you are free to ask questions or to withdraw from the Study at any time, by calling the Study helpline on 1300 45 11 45. More information on the Study can be found at www.45andup.org.au ch to improve health and wellbeing

I agree to have my health followed over time through:

the 45 and Up Study team following health and other records relating to me, including NSW hospital records, cancer records, death records and other health-related records, as outlined in the Study leaflet: The 45 and Up Study: Information for participants;

Medicare Australia releasing to the 45 and Up Study my enrolment details, including Medicare number, and information concerning services provided to me under Medicare, the Department of Veterans' Affairs, the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme and the Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme, including past information, until the end of the Study or for the duration of my involvement in the Study;

being contacted in the future to provide information on changes to my health and lifestyle. I may also be asked to provide further information including questionnaire responses or biological samples; my participation in any of these would be completely voluntary.

I give my consent on the understanding that:

my information will only be used for the purposes outlined in the Study leaflet entitled The 45 and Up Study: Information for participants, of which I have a copy;

my information will be kept strictly confidential and will be used for health research only;

reports and publications from the Study will be based on de-identified information and will not identify any individual taking part;

my participation in this Study is entirely voluntary and my consent will continue to be valid following death or disablement unless withdrawn by my next of kin or other person responsible. I am free to withdraw from the Study at any time by calling the Study helpline on 1300 45 11 45;

my decision on whether or not to take part in the Study or in any additional research will not disadvantage me or affect my future health care in any way.

> 2 0

I have been provided with information about the 45 and Up Study including how it will gather, store, use and disclose information about me, in the Study leaflet. I have been given an opportunity to ask questions and have been fully informed about the Study.

Date today:

Name (Prin	t):

Signature:

Extra contact details

It would be very helpful and reduce Study c	osts if we	could contact you in future	by email. If you are	happy for us to do this,
please write your email address here:		k.		

Email address:

Sometimes we find that people have moved when we try to contact them again. It would be very helpful if you could give us your mobile phone number and/or the contact details of someone close to you (such as a relative or friend) who would be happy for us to contact them if we are unable to reach you. We would only get in touch with that person if we were unable to contact you directly and we would need to tell them our reason for contacting you. Please leave this section blank if you do not wish to provide these extra contact details.

Your home phone number:	(_))	 	I	1		 		Your phon	mot e nu	ile imbe	er:		I	1	1		1	1	1	1	
Full name of contact person:		 I		1		 1	I	1	 		1			1	I	1	1	I	1		1	1	
Phone number of contact person:	(_))	 	I	1	- 1	 1															

If you have any questions about the Study, please ring the Study helpline on 1300 45 11 45. You can also write to or send your questionnaire (no stamp required) directly to:

> Associate Professor Emily Banks, Scientific Director, The 45 and Up Study, Reply paid 5289, Sydney NSW 2001.

Thank you very much for taking part

Appendix 3. Supplementary materials from Chapter 4 publication

Supplementary Table 1. Agreement measures between self-report and hospital data, index and lookback admissions, large public hospitals in New South Wales, Australia (n=82)

Supplementary Table 2. Adjusted ORs for patient-level variables from the multilevel logistic regression with random intercept for hospital of admission, all public and private hospitals in New South Wales, Australia (n=313)

Supplementary Table 3. Adjusted ORs for hospital-level variables from the multilevel logistic regression with random intercept for hospital of admission, all public and private hospitals in New South Wales, Australia (n=313)

Supplementary	Table 1. Agreement measure	ures between self-repor	t and hospital data,	index and lookback	admissions, large pub	lic hospitals in New
South Wales, Au	stralia (n=82)					

Morbidities			Index	admission	L		Lookback admissions							
	45 and	l Up Yes:	45 and	d Up No:		Kappa	45 and	l Up Yes:	45	and Up No:		Kappa		
	APDC	APDC	APDC	APDC	%	95% CI	APDC	APDC	APDC	APDC no	%	95% CI		
	yes	no	yes	no			yes	no	yes					
Hypertension	3,061	4,803	983	7,634	28.1	(26.6-29.6)	3,829	4,035	1,339	7,278	33.7	(32.2-35.1)		
Heart disease	2,306	2,455	1,309	10,411	40.1	(38.5-41.8)	2,910	1,851	1,710	10,010	46.9	(45.4-48.5)		
Diabetes	2,168	661	214	13,438	80.1	(78.8-81.4)	2,355	474	289	13,363	83.3	(82.1-84.4)		
Stroke	414	1,210	213	14,644	33.1	(29.8-36.4)	563	1,061	311	14,546	41	(38.0-44.0)		
Smoking	820	507	468	14,686	59.5	(57.0-62.0)	948	379	692	14,462	60.4	(58.1-62.7)		
Obesity	265	3,857	61	12,298	8.6	(6.1-11.1)	414	3,708	114	12,245	12.9	(10.4-15.3)		
Hypertension + heart disease	799	1,878	893	12,911	27.4	(25.0-29.9)	1,159	1,518	1,327	12,477	34.7	(32.5-36.9)		
Hypertension + diabetes	1,129	670	518	14,164	61.5	(59.4-63.6)	1,317	482	662	14,020	65.8	(63.9-67.7)		
Hypertension + stroke	160	825	145	15,351	22.6	(17.9-27.3)	238	747	237	15,259	29.9	(25.6-34.1)		
Hypertension + smoking	106	399	135	15,841	27	(20.9-33.1)	154	351	237	15,739	32.6	(27.2-37.9)		
Hypertension + obesity	157	2,291	62	13,971	9.6	(6.2-13.0)	251	2,197	117	13,916	14.5	(11.3-17.7)		
Heart disease + diabetes	452	686	293	15,050	45	(41.7-48.3)	620	518	442	14,901	53.2	(50.4-56.1)		
Heart disease + stroke	61	641	93	15,686	12.9	(6.8-19.1)	107	595	171	15,608	19.9	(14.4-25.4)		
Heart disease + smoking	65	209	163	16,044	24.8	(17.2-32.3)	98	176	280	15,927	28.7	(22.2-35.1)		
Heart disease + obesity	63	1,145	62	15,211	8.2	(3.2-13.2)	117	1,091	119	15,154	14.1	(9.5-18.8)		
Diabetes + stroke	66	374	38	16,003	23.5	(16.2-30.8)	110	330	69	15,972	34.5	(28.2-40.9)		
Diabetes + smoking	107	112	83	16,179	51.7	(45.0-58.5)	130	89	132	16,130	53.4	(47.3-59.5)		
Diabetes + obesity	150	994	39	15,298	20.9	(16.3-25.6)	229	915	76	15,261	29.5	(25.3-33.8)		
Stroke + smoking	13	106	23	16,339	16.5	(2.1-30.8)	19	100	41	16,321	20.8	(7.8-33.9)		
Stroke + obesity	4	368	7	16,102	2	(0.0-11.8)	9	363	13	16,096	4.3	(0.0-13.9)		
Smoking + obesity	17	292	18	16,154	9.5	(0.0-19.5)	25	284	29	16,143	13.3	(3.8-22.8)		

^a ICD-10-AM codes: hypertension (I10-I15, R03.0), heart disease (I20-I25, I26-I28, I30-I52), diabetes (E10-E14), smoking (F17.2, Z72.0), obesity (E66)

Appendix 3: Supplementary materials for Chapter 4

Supplementary Ta	ble 2. Adjusted C)Rs ^a for patient-leve	el variables from t	ne multilevel logisti	ic regression with	n random intercept i	for hospital of
admission, all public	and private hosp	itals in New South	Wales, Australia (1	n=313)			

Patient characteristics	Hypertension		Diabetes		Не	art disease		Stroke		Smoking	Obesity		
	((N = 15,279)		(N = 4,794)	(N	N = 8,307)	(N = 2,480)		(N = 2,099)		(N = 8,162)	
	OR ^a	(95%CI) ^b	ORª	(95%CI) ^b	OR ^a	(95%CI) ^b							
Sex													
Female	1		1		1		1		1		1		
Male	1.28	(1.18,1.38)	1.37	(1.19,1.58)	1.30	(1.17,1.44)	1.13	(0.91,1.40)	1.14	(0.94,1.40)	0.85	(0.70,1.04)	
Age													
45-59	1		1		1		1		1		1		
60-79	1.27	(1.15,1.41)	0.97	(0.81,1.16)	0.94	(0.82,1.09)	1.08	(0.78,1.52)	0.80	(0.65,0.99)	0.57	(0.47,0.70)	
80+	1.32	(1.16,1.49)	1.00	(0.80,1.25)	1.01	(0.86,1.19)	1.02	(0.72,1.46)	0.48	(0.31,0.74)	0.14	(0.08,0.26)	
Education													
None	1		1		1		1		1		1		
Trade	0.90	(0.79,1.03)	0.93	(0.73,1.18)	0.80	(0.68,0.94)	1.08	(0.76,1.54)	0.67	(0.48,0.94)	1.42	(1.01,2.02)	
School certificate	0.96	(0.86,1.07)	1.00	(0.82,1.23)	0.90	(0.78,1.05)	1.22	(0.90,1.66)	0.87	(0.66,1.16)	1.04	(0.77,1.41)	
HSC	0.99	(0.85,1.15)	0.89	(0.68,1.17)	0.91	(0.75,1.11)	2.23	(1.51,3.30)	0.53	(0.37,0.76)	1.24	(0.84,1.83)	
Diploma	0.96	(0.84,1.09)	0.90	(0.72,1.14)	0.87	(0.74,1.03)	1.08	(0.75,1.56)	1.00	(0.73,1.37)	1.15	(0.83,1.59)	
University	0.85	(0.74,0.98)	0.90	(0.70,1.16)	0.72	(0.60,0.86)	1.23	(0.83, 1.81)	0.54	(0.37,0.80)	1.25	(0.88,1.79)	
County of birth													
Australia	1		1		1		1		1		1		
Overseas	1.00	(0.91,1.09)	0.95	(0.81,1.11)	1.10	(0.98,1.23)	1.19	(0.94,1.51)	1.17	(0.92,1.48)	0.89	(0.69,1.14)	
Functional limitation													
No limitation	1		1		1		1		1		1		
Mild	1.07	(0.91,1.25)	0.91	(0.68,1.23)	1.02	(0.82,1.28)	0.82	(0.48,1.42)	0.92	(0.65,1.30)	1.07	(0.72,1.60)	
Moderate	1.23	(1.07,1.42)	1.14	(0.87,1.50)	0.92	(0.75,1.13)	0.68	(0.42,1.11)	0.79	(0.57,1.09)	1.06	(0.73,1.53)	
Severe	1.53	(1.33,1.76)	1.54	(1.18,2.01)	0.97	(0.79,1.19)	0.84	(0.53,1.33)	0.82	(0.60,1.12)	2.27	(1.59,3.24)	

Income

Appendix 3: Supplementary materials for Chapter 4

<20,000	1		1		1		1		1		1	
20-50,000	0.89	(0.81,0.99)	0.95	(0.79,1.14)	1.03	(0.91,1.17)	1.14	(0.87,1.49)	1.17	(0.90,1.53)	0.76	(0.57,1.00)
50-70,000	0.89	(0.75,1.05)	0.87	(0.64,1.19)	1.11	(0.89,1.38)	1.16	(0.68,1.99)	1.37	(0.93,2.02)	0.89	(0.60,1.30)
>70,000	0.86	(0.74,1.00)	1.03	(0.77,1.38)	1.24	(1.02,1.50)	1.07	(0.63,1.82)	0.95	(0.66,1.36)	1.15	(0.83,1.59)
Not disclosed	1.00	(0.90,1.12)	1.04	(0.86,1.27)	1.14	(0.99,1.31)	1.18	(0.89,1.56)	1.36	(1.02,1.80)	1.07	(0.81,1.41)
Admission type ^c												
Surgical	1		1		1		1		1		1	
Other	1.45	(1.23,1.72)	1.01	(0.72,1.42)	2.34	(1.91,2.87)	0.47	(0.16,1.37)	0.69	(0.41,1.14)	0.62	(0.36,1.09)
Medical	1.14	(1.03,1.27)	0.66	(0.55,0.80)	0.97	(0.84,1.11)	4.36	(3.02,6.29)	0.50	(0.38,0.65)	0.64	(0.50,0.84)
Emergency status ^c												
Emergency	1		1		1		1		1		1	
Planned	0.63	(0.56,0.71)	0.64	(0.52,0.77)	0.42	(0.36,0.49)	0.65	(0.48,0.88)	0.86	(0.65,1.13)	0.58	(0.44,0.78)
Other	0.96	(0.80,1.15)	0.98	(0.72,1.33)	1.02	(0.81,1.28)	1.19	(0.80,1.76)	1.03	(0.65,1.62)	0.80	(0.50,1.28)

^a Odds ratio of a hospital record of a condition, among those that self-reported having a condition. Adjusted for age, sex, income, education, country of birth and functional limitation

^b Confidence interval

^c Model included both admission type and emergency status together with other listed patient characteristics

Appendix 3: Supplementary materials for Chapter 4

Supplementary Table 3. Adjusted ORs^a for hospital-level variables from the multilevel logistic regression with random intercept for hospital of admission, all public and private hospitals in New South Wales, Australia (n=313)

Hospital characteristics	hypertension (N = 15,279)			Diabetes	1	Heart disease		Stroke		Smoking		Obesity	
				(N = 4,794)		(N = 8,307)	(1	N = 2,480)		(N = 2,099)		(N = 8,162)	
	OR ^a	(95%CI) ^b	ORª	(95%CI)b	ORª	(95%CI) ^b	ORª	(95%CI)b	ORª	(95%CI) ^b	ORª	(95%CI) ^b	
Hospital type ^c													
Public	1		1		1		1		1		1		
Private	0.49	(0.38,0.63)	0.98	(0.78,1.23)	0.35	(0.26,0.47)	0.31	(0.22,0.43)	0.99	(0.72,1.35)	0.91	(0.64,1.31)	
Hospital remoteness ^c													
Major city	1		1		1		1		1		1		
Inner regional	0.89	(0.64,1.23)	0.86	(0.67,1.11)	1.01	(0.70,1.47)	1.29	(0.91,1.83)	1.04	(0.75,1.45)	0.91	(0.60,1.38)	
Outer regional	0.75	(0.55,1.02)	0.69	(0.52,0.91)	0.97	(0.67,1.41)	1.09	(0.72,1.67)	0.82	(0.57,1.18)	0.91	(0.58,1.44)	
Remote/very remote	1.05	(0.57,1.94)	0.53	(0.28,1.00)	1.70	(0.81,3.59)	0.66	(0.22,1.98)	0.33	(0.15,0.71)	0.52	(0.16,1.68)	
Hospital size ^c													
Principal referral	1		1		1		1		1		1		
Major	0.59	(0.34,1.01)	0.89	(0.62,1.27)	0.76	(0.44,1.34)	0.93	(0.58,1.47)	1.03	(0.66,1.61)	1.10	(0.59,2.05)	
District	0.45	(0.27,0.76)	0.83	(0.58,1.19)	0.45	(0.26,0.78)	0.97	(0.60,1.55)	0.73	(0.47,1.15)	1.02	(0.55,1.91)	
Community	0.41	(0.25,0.68)	0.61	(0.43,0.87)	0.35	(0.20,0.59)	0.57	(0.35,0.94)	0.89	(0.56,1.39)	0.88	(0.47,1.62)	
Other	0.52	(0.30,0.89)	0.44	(0.29,0.68)	0.35	(0.19,0.65)	1.19	(0.66,2.14)	0.39	(0.22,0.68)	1.22	(0.59,2.53)	
Depth of coding ^c													
1 - least comprehensive	0.17	(0.11,0.27)	0.26	(0.17,0.40)	0.09	(0.04,0.17)	0.38	(0.17,0.82)	0.22	(0.12,0.42)	0.28	(0.12,0.65)	
2	0.29	(0.22,0.38)	0.66	(0.52,0.85)	0.41	(0.29,0.56)	0.31	(0.21,0.48)	0.74	(0.52,1.06)	0.59	(0.38,0.92)	
3	0.58	(0.45,0.76)	0.85	(0.66,1.08)	0.75	(0.55,1.02)	0.66	(0.48,0.91)	0.89	(0.65,1.24)	0.65	(0.43,0.99)	
4 - most comprehensive	1		1		1		1		1		1		

^a Odds ratio of a hospital record of a condition, among those that self-reported having a condition. Adjusted for age, sex, income, education, country of birth and functional limitation

^b Confidence interval

^cHospital-level covariates added one at a time, separately

Appendix 4. Supplementary materials from Chapter 5 publication

S1 Fig. Construction of study population. APDC – Admitted Patient Data Collection, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

S1 Table. Morbidities and ICD-10-AM and ATC codes

Appendix 4: Supplementary materials for Chapter 5

S1 Fig. Construction of study population. APDC – Admitted Patient Data Collection, PBS – Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme



Appendix 4: Supplementary materials for Chapter 5

S1 Table. Morbidities and ICD-10-AM and ATC codes

Chronic condition	Medication data		Hospital data	
	ATC codes	Based on	ICD-10-AM codes	Based on
Cancer	L01AA01, L01AA02, L01AA03, L01AA06, L01AB01, L01AX03, L01BA01, L01BA03, L01BA04, L01BB02, L01BB03, L01BB04, L01BC01, L01BC02, L01BC05, L01BC06, L01CA01, L01CA02, L01CA04, L01CB01, L01CD01, L01CD02, L01DB01, L01DB07, L01DC01, L01XA01, L01XA02, L01XC02, L01XC03, L01XE01, L01XE06, L01XE07, L01XX05, L01XX19, L01XX32	Rx-Risk-V [35]	C00-C97 (excluding C44)	Charlson Index (32), modified to exclude skin cancer
Heart disease	C01DA02, C01DA08, C01DA14, C07AA02, C07AA03, C07AA05, C07AB02, C07AB03, C07AB07, C07AB12, C07AG01, C07AG02, C08CA01, C08CA02, C08CA05, C08CA13, C08DA01, C08DB01	Olesen et al. [44] At least two classes: α adrenergic blockers, non- loop diuretics, vasodilators, β blockers, calcium channel blockers, renin-antiotensin system inhibitors	120-152	
Hypertension	C02AB01, C02AB02, C02AC01, C02AC05, C02DB02, C02DC01, C02KX01, C02KX02, C02KX03, C03AA03, C03BA04, C03BA11, C03DA01, C03DA04, C03DB01, C03EA01, C09BA02, C09BA04, C09BA06, C09BA09, C09BB02, C09BB05, C09BB10, C09DA02, C09DA04, C09DA06, C09DA07, C09DA08	Rx-Risk-V [35]	I10, I11-I13, I15	Elixhauser Index (34)
Stroke	B01AA03, B01AB01, B01AB04, B01AC04, B01AC05, B01AC06, B01AC07, B01AC30	Lix et al. [37]	I60-I64	
Diabetes	A10AB01, A10AB02, A10AB04, A10AB05, A10AB06, A10AC01, A10AC02, A10AD, A10AD01, A10AD04, A10AE04, A10AE05, A10B, A10BA02, A10BB01, A10BB07, A10BB09, A10BB12, A10BD02, A10BD03, A10BF01, A10BG02, A10BG03, A10BH01	Rx-Risk-V [35]	E10-E14	Elixhauser Index (34) Charlson Index (32)
Asthma	R03AC02, R03AC03, R03AC12, R03AC13, R03AK06, R03BA01, R03BA02, R03BA05, R03BB01, R03BC01, R03BC03, R03CC02, R03CC03, R03DA04, R03DC03	Lix et al. [37]	J45, J46	
Depression	N06AB03, N06AB04, N06AB05, N06AB06, N06AB08, N06AB10,	Rx-Risk-V [35], modified	F32, F33	
	N06AF03, N06AF04, N06AG02, N06AX03, N06AX11, N06AX16, N06AX18, N06AX21	(excluding tricyclic antidepressants)		
-------------	---	---------------------------------------	------------	
Parkinson's	N04AA01, N04AA02, N04AC01, N04BA02, N04BA03, N04BB01, N04BC01, N04BC02, N04BC05, N04BC06, N04BD01, N04BX02	Rx-Risk-V [35]	G20, F02.3	

Appendix 5. Supplementary materials from Chapter 6

Table 1. Baseline characteristics by multimorbidity and frailty at index hospital stay (2010 – 2012)

Table 2. Additive and multiplicative Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty risk

 on adverse patient outcomes, surgical cohort

Table 3. Additive and multiplicative Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty risk

 on adverse patient outcomes, medical cohort

Table 4. List of ICD-10 codes for morbidity ascertainment

Table 5. List of ICD-10 codes for HFRS calculation

Table 1. Baseline characteristics by multimorbidity and frailty at index hospital stay (2010 -

2012)

	Total	Frail	ty risk category		Mı	ltimorbidity	
		Low risk	Elevated risk	p-value	No	Yes	<i>p</i> -
	N = 257,535	n = 119,737	n = 137,798		n = 133,067	n = 124,468	value
Sex, n (%)							
Male	110,125 (42.8)	53,950 (45.1)	56,175 (40.8)	< 0.01	51,497 (38.7)	58,628 (47.1)	< 0.01
Female	147,410 (57.2)	65,787 (54.9)	81,623 (59.2)		81,570 (61.3)	65,840 (52.9)	
Median age [IQR]							
	83.3	81.9	84.6	< 0.01	83.0	83.6	< 0.01
$\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{m} \left(0 \right)$	[79.2 – 87.7]	[78.3 – 86.2]	[80.3 - 88.8]		[79.0 - 87.5]	[79.5 – 87.9]	
Age, II (70)	76 222 (20.6)	42 995 (26 7)	22 249 (22 E)	<0.01	41 512 (21 2)	24 721 (27 0)	<0.01
/ 5- / 9	76,235 (29.6)	43,885 (30.7)	32,348 (23.3)	<0.01	41,512 (31.2)	34,/21 (27.9)	< 0.01
80-84	(2,804 (24,8)	38,690 (32.3)	40,076 (29.1)	_	40,751 (30.6)	38,035 (30.6)	
96-66	28 (42 (15)	24,922 (20.8)	36,972 (28.3)		31,183 (23.4)	32,/11 (20.3)	
Aboriginal and Tor	50,042 (13)	12,240 (10.2)	20,402 (19.2)		19,041 (14.0)	19,001 (15.5)	
Non Abarianal	256 100 (00 4)	110.020.00.4	137 071 (00 5)	0.03	132 406 (00 5)	123 604 (00 4)	<0.01
Aboriginal	1 435 (0.6)	708 (0.6)	727 (0.5)	0.05	661 (0.5)	774 (0.6)	<0.01
Aboligiliai	1,455 (0.0)	708 (0.0)	727 (0.3)		001 (0.3)	774 (0.0)	
Most	66 279 (25 7)	32 486 (27 1)	33 703 (24 5)	< 0.01	34 104 (25.6)	32 175 (25.0)	< 0.01
disadvantaged	00,277 (25.7)	52,400 (27.1)	55,755 (24.5)	<0.01	54,104 (25.0)	52,175 (25.7)	<0.01
2	54,192 (21)	26,133 (21.8)	28,059 (20.4)		28,487 (21.4)	25,705 (20.7)	
3	46,441 (18)	21,637 (18.1)	24,804 (18)	-	24,421 (18.4)	22,020 (17.7)	
4	47,350 (18.4)	21,112 (17.6)	26,238 (19)		24,380 (18.3)	22,970 (18.5)	
Most advantaged	40,911 (15.9)	17,585 (14.7)	23,326 (16.9)	-	20,591 (15.5)	20,320 (16.3)	
Missing	2,362 (0.9)	784 (0.7)	1,578 (1.1)		1,084 (0.8)	1,278 (1)	
Admission type, n (%)						
Medical	224,949 (87.3)	104,200 (87)	120,749 (87.6)	< 0.01	116,611 (87.6)	108,338 (87)	< 0.01
Surgical	23,339 (9.1)	10,030 (8.4)	13,309 (9.7)	_	12,394 (9.3)	10,945 (8.8)	
Other	9,247 (3.6)	5,507 (4.6)	3,740 (2.7)	-	4,062 (3.1)	5,185 (4.2)	
Number of prior ad	missions over 2 yes	ars, excluding in	dex admission, r	n (%)			
0	84,775 (32.9)	54,543 (45.6)	30,232 (21.9)	< 0.01	60,599 (45.5)	24,176 (19.4)	< 0.01
1	62,827 (24.4)	30,525 (25.5)	32,302 (23.4)		34,803 (26.2)	28,024 (22.5)	
2 or more	109,933 (42.7)	34,669 (29)	75,264 (54.6)	-	37,665 (28.3)	72,268 (58.1)	
HFRS category							
Low risk	119,737 (46.5)	119,737 (100)			81,788 (61.5)	37,949 (30.5)	< 0.01
Elevated risk	137,798 (53.5)		137,798 (100)	-	51,279 (38.5)	86,519 (69.5)	
Multimorbidity							
No	133,067 (51.7)	81,788 (68.3)	51,279 (37.2)	< 0.01	133,067 (100)		
Yes	124,468 (48.3)	37,949 (31.7)	86,519 (62.8)			124,486 (100)	
Median HFRS [IQ]	R]						
	5.5	1.8	11.3	< 0.01	3.4	9.1	< 0.01
M. 1	[1.9 - 12.0]	[0-3.2]	[7.6 – 17.6]		[1.1 – 7.5]	[3.9 – 16.7]	
wedian number of	chronic conditions		2	20.04	0	2	20.04
	1 = 1 = 0	1 [0 _ 2]	2 [1 _ 4]	< 0.01	0 [0 _ 1]	3 [2 _ 4]	< 0.01
		10-2	11 - 4		[0 - 1]	2-4	

HFRS – Hospital frailty risk score, IQR – interquartile range

Mortality within 30-days post discharge	Non-frail				Frail				
-	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)			
No multimorbidity	171	2.4	1	379	7.1	2.75 (2.29 - 3.31)			
Multimorbidity	229	7.6	3.21 (2.63 – 3.93)	1,339	16.9	7.24 (6.14 – 8.54)			

Table 2. Additive and multiplicative I	nteraction effects of multimor	bidity and frailty	risk on adverse patient o	utcomes, surgical cohort
		Sidie und maney	non on waveree patient o	accounce, sargiour conore

Measure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) = 2.27 (1.58 – 2.96) *

Measure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 0.82 (0.65 – 1.03), p-value =0.086

Prolonged LOS	Non-frail			Frail				
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	-	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	
No multimorbidity	2,735	39.0	1		3,921	73.0	1.76 (1.67 – 1.85)	
Multimorbidity	1,239	41.2	1.05 (0.98 – 1.12)		6,088	76.7	1.91 (1.82 – 2.00)	

Measure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.10 (0.00 - 0.20)*

Measure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR=1.03 (0.96 - 1.12), p-value =0.391

Readmission within 30- days post discharge	Non-frail			Frail				
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)		
No multimorbidity	281	4.1	1	356	7.0	1.64 (1.40 – 1.92)		
Multimorbidity	263	9.4	1.99 (1.68 – 2.36)	863	13.2	2.63 (2.28 - 3.03)		

Measure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.01 (-0.36 – 0.37)

Measure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 0.81 (0.66 – 1.00), p-value =0.046*

* Significant at 5% level. a Significance of an interaction on an additive scale is denoted where RERI is different from 0, and on the multiplicative scale if ratio of RR is different from 1.

Mortality within 30-days post discharge	Non-frail			Frail				
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)		
No multimorbidity	3,572	5.0	1	4,227	9.4	1.84 (1.76 – 2.92)		
Multimorbidity	3,596	11.1	2.35 (2.25 – 2.47)	14,267	18.8	4.00 (3.84 – 4.16)		

Table 3. Additive and multiplicative Interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty risk on adverse patient outcomes, medical cohort

Measure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) = $0.81 (0.69 - 0.93)^*$

 $Measure \ of \ effect \ modification \ on \ multiplicative \ scale: \ ratio \ of \ RR = 0.92 \ (0.87 - 0.98), \ p-value = 0.008*$

Prolonged LOS	Non-frail				Frail					
-	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	-	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)			
No multimorbidity	6,726	9.4	1		11,819	26.3	2.80 (2.73 - 2.88)			
Multimorbidity	4,642	14.3	1.68 (1.62 – 1.73)		24,096	31.8	3.70 (3.61 – 3.80)			

Measure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.23 (0.15 - 0.30)*

Measure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 0.79 (0.76 - 0.82), p-value <0.001*

Readmission within 30- days post discharge	Non-frail					
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)
No multimorbidity	4,996	7.2	1	4,272	10.2	1.23 (1.18 – 1.28)
Multimorbidity	3,461	11.7	1.36 (1.31 – 1.43)	10,835	16.8	1.72 (1.66 – 1.79)

Measure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.13 (0.06 - 0.20)*

Measure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR=1.03 (0.97 - 1.09), p-value =0.367

* Significant at 5% level. Significance of an interaction on an additive scale is denoted where RERI is different from 0, and on the multiplicative scale if ratio of RR is different from 1.

Name	ICD-10-AM Codes	Source	Coho	ort	0/	6 within	group	
			Ν	%	Neither	Frail	MM	Both
						only	only	
AIDS/HIV	B20.x-B22.x, B24.x	Elixhauser	23	0.0	<5	<5	26	70
Alcohol abuse*	F10.x*, E52.x, G62.1, I42.6, K29.2, K70.0, K70.3,	Elixhauser	4,028	1.6	8	11	13	68
	K70.9, T51.x, Z50.2*, Z71.4, Z72.1							
Asthma and bronchiectasis	J45.x, J46.x, J47.x	New	5,063	2.0	14	5	27	54
Cancer	C00.x -C26.x, C30.x -C34.x, C37.x -C41.x, C43.x, C45.x	Elixhauser (combining: 'Lymphoma',	24,036	9.3	18	13	18	51
	-C58.x, C60.x -C76.x, C77.x -C80.x, C81.x-C85.x, C88.x,	'Metastatic cancer' and 'Solid tumor						
	C96.x, C90.0, C90.2, C97.x	without metastasis')						
Cardiac arrhythmias, including	I44.1-I44.3, I45.6, I45.9, I47.x-I49.x, R00.0*, R00.1*,	Elixhauser Index	69,883	27.1	11	6	24	59
atrial fibrillation*	R00.8*, T82.1, Z45.0, Z95.0							
Cerebrovascular disease, including	G45.x*, G46.x, H34.0, I60.x-I69.x*	Charlson Index	27,497	10.7	7	4	16	74
stroke/TIA (CVD)*								
Chronic IHD	125.x	New	26,050	10.1	4	1	40	56
Chronic kidney disease*	N00.x–N08.x, N11.x, N12.x, N14.x–N16.x, N18.x*,	New –expanded version of renal	29,169	11.3	2	5	13	80
	N19.x*, N25.x–N28.x*, N39.1*, N39.2*, Q60.x–Q63.x,	disease in both Charlson and						
	T82.4, T86.1, V56.0, V56.8, V42.0, V45.1, Z49.x, Z94.0,	Elixhauser indices						
	Z99.2*							

Table 4: List of ICD-10 codes for multimorbidity ascertainment, and prevalence within cohort and by multimorbidity and frailty risk status

Appendix 5: Supplementary materials for Chapter 6

Chronic pulmonary disease	127.8, 127.9, J40.x - J44.x, J60.x - J67.x, J68.4, J70.1, J70.3	Elixhauser (excluding J45-J47, now in	24,227	9.4	14	6	25	56
		a new category: Astnma or						
		bronchiectasis')						
Coagulopathy	D65.x-D68.x, D69.1, D69.3-D69.6	Elixhauser	11,079	4.3	5	4	17	74
Congestive heart failure	109.9, 111.0, 113.0, 113.2, 142.0, 142.5-142.9, 143.x, 150.x,	Elixhauser (excluding I25.5, included	37,770	14.7	4	3	26	68
	P29.0	in the new category CIHD above)						
Dementia*	F00.x-F03.x*, F05.1*, G30.X*, G31.1*	Charlson	33,319	12.9	4	25	5	66
Depression*	F20.4, F31.3-F31.5, F32.x*, F33.x, F34.1, F41.2, F43.2	Elixhauser	7,585	2.9	6	7	11	77
Diabetes	E10.x- E14.x	Elixhauser (combining uncomplicated	32,374	12.6	8	5	25	63
		and complicated diabetes)						
Drug abuse	F11.x -F16.x, F18.x, F19.x, Z71.5, Z72.2	Elixhauser	603	0.2	2	7	9	81
Epilepsy*	G40.x*, G41.x	New	1,523	0.6	5	9	9	77
Hypertension	I10.x -I13.x, I15.x	Elixhauser (combining uncomplicated	77,940	30.3	6	4	27	63
		and complicated hypertension)						
Hypothyroidism	E00.x -E03.x, E89.0	Elixhauser	3,007	1.2	3	5	17	75
Liver disease	B18.x, I85.x, I86.4, I98.2, K70.x, K71.1, K71.3-K71.5,	Elixhauser	2,595	1.0	5	4	19	71
	K71.7, K72.x -K74.x, K76.0, K76.2-K76.9, Z94.4							
Multiple sclerosis	G35.x, G36.x, G367.x, H46.x	New	56	0.0	11	9	18	63
Myocardial infarction	I21.x, I22.x	Charlson (excluding I25.2 included in	19,227	7.5	3	1	35	61
		the new category CIHD above)						
Parkinson's*	G20.x*, G21.x, G22.x	New	5,203	2.0	4	14	7	75

Appendix 5: Supplementary materials for Chapter 6

Peptic ulcer disease excluding	K25.7, K25.9, K26.7*, K26.9*, K27.7, K27.9, K28.7,	Elixhauser Index	1,967	0.8	13	8	18	61
bleeding*	K28.9							
Peripheral vascular disorders	170.x, 171.x, 173.1, 173.8, 173.9, 177.1, 179.0, 179.2, K55.1, K55.8, K55.9, Z95.8, Z95.9	Elixhauser Index	11,724	4.6	8	4	22	65
Psychoses	F20.x, F22.x -F25.x, F28.x, F29.x, F30.2, F31.2, F31.5	Elixhauser Index	1,493	0.6	8	7	13	71
Pulmonary circulation disorders	I26.x, I27.x, I28.0, I28.8, I28.9	Elixhauser Index	9,290	3.6	6	3	25	67
Rheumatoid arthritis / collagen vascular diseases	L94.0, L94.1, L94.3, M05.x, M06.x, M08.x, M12.0, M12.3, M30.x, M31.0-M31.3, M32.x -M35.x, M45.x, M46.1, M46.8, M46.9	Elixhauser Index	3,253	1.3	8	10	16	66
Valvular disease	A52.0, I05.x -I08.x, I09.1, I09.8, I34.x -I39.x, Q23.0- Q23.3, Z95.2-Z95.4	Elixhauser Index	11,635	4.5	3	2	29	67
Paralysis*	G04.1, G11.4, G80.1, G80.2, G81.x*, G82.x, G83.0– G83.4, G83.9	Elixhauser Index	12,086	4.7	0	1	3	95

* Overlapping ICD-10 codes with HFRS diagnoses

Table 5: List of ICD-10 codes for HFRS calculation, and prevalence within cohort and by

multimorbidity and frailty risk status

ICD-10	Description	Cohort		% within group			
code							
		N	%	Neither	Frail only	MM only	Both
A04	Other bacterial intestinal infections	2348	0.9	10	24	3	63
A09	Diarrhoea and gastroenteritis of presumed infectious origin	17,792	6.9	16	24	5	54
A41	Other septicaemia	13,205	5.1	5	22	3	69
B95	Streptococcus and staphylococcus as the cause of diseases classified to other chapters	17,635	6.8	6	24	3	68
B96	Other bacterial agents as the cause of diseases classified to other chapters (secondary code)	39,039	15.2	2	34	1	63
D64	Other anaemias	24,300	9.4	11	20	9	61
E05	Thyrotoxicosis [hyperthyroidism]	1,331	0.5	8	16	13	63
E16	Other disorders of pancreatic internal secretion	971	0.4	7	19	4	69
E53	Deficiency of other B group vitamins	2,778	1.1	4	30	3	63
E55	Vitamin D deficiency	4,801	1.9	4	29	3	64
E83	Disorders of mineral metabolism	10,255	4.0	7	19	7	67
E86	Volume depletion	39,117	15.2	8	28	3	62
E87	Other disorders of fluid, electrolyte and acid- base balance	40,037	15.5	6	23	5	67
F00*	Dementia in Alzheimer's disease	6,408	2.5	0	35	0	65
F01*	Vascular dementia	2,995	1.2	3	17	4	76
F03*	Unspecified dementia	22,837	8.9	5	24	5	66
F05*	Delirium, not induced by alcohol and other psychoactive substances	21,983	8.5	2	29	1	69
F10*	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol	3,417	1.3	8	12	11	68
F32*	Depressive episode	5,986	2.3	5	7	9	78
G20*	Parkinson's disease	4,986	1.9	4	14	7	75
G30*	Alzheimer's disease	6,460	2.5	0	34	0	66
G31*	Other degenerative diseases of nervous system, not elsewhere classified	1,680	0.7	6	19	4	71
G40*	Epilepsy	1,423	0.6	5	9	9	77
G45*	Transient cerebral ischaemic attacks and related syndromes	7,682	3.0	15	6	21	58
G81*	Hemiplegia	11,292	4.4	0	1	2	97
H54	Blindness and low vision	3,197	1.2	6	24	5	66
H91	Other hearing loss	3,198	1.2	6	25	5	64
I63*	Cerebral Infarction	8,471	3.3	2	2	11	84
I67*	Other cerebrovascular diseases	1,643	0.6	2	5	6	86
I69*	Sequelae of cerebrovascular disease (secondary codes)	4,506	1.7	0	2	1	97
195	Hypotension	38,267	14.9	8	22	7	63
J18	Pneumonia, organism unspecified	28,718	11.2	16	17	11	56
J22	Unspecified acute lower respiratory infection	15,497	6.0	15	17	11	57
J69	Pneumonitis due to solids and liquids	7,831	3.0	6	19	3	72
J96	Respiratory failure, not elsewhere classified	7,695	3.0	7	12	9	71
K26*	Duodenal ulcer	1,520	0.6	15	18	8	59
K52	Other noninfective gastroenteritis and colitis	4,109	1.6	15	20	8	57
K59	Other functional intestinal disorders	33,072	12.8	10	28	4	58

Appendix 5: Supplementary materials for Chapter 6

K92	Other diseases of digestive system	14,405	5.6	23	17	10	50
L03	Cellulitis	19,021	7.4	15	23	5	57
L08	Other local infections of skin and subcutaneous tissue	1,068	0.4	11	22	5	62
L89	Decubitus ulcer	12,691	4.9	3	24	2	71
L97	Ulcer of lower limb, not elsewhere classified	8,187	3.2	5	23	3	69
M15	Polyarthrosis	597	0.2	8	22	6	63
M19	Other arthrosis	4,154	1.6	8	22	7	62
M25	Other joint disorders, not elsewhere classified	9,564	3.7	12	29	4	55
M41	Scoliosis	607	0.2	11	30	3	57
M48	Spinal stenosis (secondary code only)	4,155	1.6	17	27	7	49
M79	Other soft tissue disorders, not elsewhere classified	5,069	2.0	15	22	6	57
M80	Osteoporosis with pathological fracture	21,568	8.4	20	20	12	47
M81	Osteoporosis without pathological fracture	15,348	6.0	12	21	10	56
N17	Acute renal failure	28,079	10.9	3	17	5	76
N18*	Chronic renal failure	24,658	9.6	1	4	12	83
N19*	Unspecified renal failure	3,191	1.2	2	7	11	80
N20	Calculus of kidney and ureter	1,588	0.6	30	19	9	43
N28*	Other disorders of kidney and ureter, not elsewhere classified	1,350	0.5	5	8	13	74
N39*	Other disorders of urinary system (includes urinary tract infection and urinary incontinence)	50,226	19.5	3	36	1	61
R00*	Abnormalities of heart beat	15,834	6.1	12	8	18	62
R02	Gangrene, not elsewhere classified	643	0.2	8	20	3	68
R11	Nausea and vomiting	14,826	5.8	19	22	8	51
R13	Dysphagia	15,837	6.1	7	18	4	70
R26	Abnormalities of gait and mobility	12,644	4.9	4	28	2	66
R29	Other symptoms and signs involving the nervous and musculoskeletal systems (R29.6 Tendency to fall)	18,269	7.1	2	30	1	68
R31	Unspecified haematuria	7,939	3.1	10	25	4	61
R32	Unspecified urinary incontinence	19,010	7.4	3	26	2	69
R33	Retention of urine	15,590	6.1	9	26	4	61
R40	Somnolence, stupor and coma	3,526	1.4	4	22	2	/2
R41	Other symptoms and signs involving cognitive functions and awareness	20,367	7.9	4	28	2	66
K44	and perceptions	1,/2/	0.7	3	23	3	68
R45	Symptoms and signs involving emotional state	3,690	1.4	3	21	3	73
R47	Speech disturbances, not elsewhere classified	10,193	4.0	4	7	7	82
R50	Fever of unknown origin	6,824	2.6	16	20	10	54
R54	Senility	1,373	0.5	5	30	3	62
R55	Syncope and collapse	19,639	7.6	21	25	8	47
R56	Convulsions, not elsewhere classified	2,789	1.1	9	20	3	69
R63	Symptoms and signs concerning food and fluid intake	6,732	2.6	12	23	6	60
R69	Unknown and unspecified causes of morbidity	234	0.1	20	22	5	53
R79	Other abnormal findings of blood chemistry	1,219	0.5	16	19	9	56
R94	Abnormal results of function studies	6,972	2.7	9	20	8	63
S00	Superficial injury of head	10,134	3.9	5	42	0	53
S01	Open wound of head	11,939	4.6	14	36	2	48
S06	Intracranial injury	5,133	2.0	7	39	1	53
S09	Other and unspecified injuries of head	2,606	1.0	12	33	2	54
S22	Fracture of rib(s), sternum and thoracic spine	6,206	2.4	11	35	2	52
S32	Fracture of lumbar spine and pelvis	7,682	3.0	11	40	2	47

S42	Fracture of shoulder and upper arm	4,887	1.9	13	41	1	45
S51	Open wound of forearm	5,935	2.3	11	30	2	56
S72	Fracture of femur	15,651	6.1	14	37	2	47
S80	Superficial injury of lower leg	3,937	1.5	8	37	1	54
T83	Complications of genitourinary prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	3,098	1.2	2	27	1	70
U80	Agent resistant to penicillin and related antibiotics	0	0.0	0	0	0	0
W01	Fall on same level from slipping, tripping and stumbling	25,913	10.1	23	31	3	43
W06	Fall involving bed	4,648	1.8	9	29	2	60
W10	Fall on and from stairs and steps	4,362	1.7	27	33	3	37
W18	Other fall on same level	21,710	8.4	10	35	2	53
W19	Unspecified fall	21,559	8.4	5	38	1	57
X59	Exposure to unspecified factor	5,095	2.0	12	26	3	58
Y84	Other medical procedures as the cause of abnormal reaction of the patient	10,872	4.2	8	18	10	64
Y95	Nosocomial condition	1,156	0.4	2	18	2	77
Z22	Carrier of infectious disease	3,024	1.2	5	17	3	75
Z50*	Care involving use of rehabilitation procedures	25,433	9.9	3	23	2	72
Z60	Problems related to social environment	29,613	11.5	12	29	6	52
Z73	Problems related to life-management difficulty	789	0.3	9	27	4	61
Z74	Problems related to care-provider dependency	23,475	9.1	6	27	3	65
Z75	Problems related to medical facilities and other health care	17,564	6.8	6	22	6	66
Z87	Personal history of other diseases and conditions	4,131	1.6	29	23	13	36
Z91	Personal history of risk-factors, not elsewhere classified	4,493	1.7	8	14	10	68
Z93	Artificial opening status	3,634	1.4	9	24	4	63
Z99*	Dependence on enabling machines and devices	3,198	1.2	6	17	7	70

* Overlapping ICD-10 codes with multimorbidity list

Appendix 6. Supplementary materials from Chapter 7

Figure 1. Flowchart of THA cohort construction

Figure 2. Flowchart of TKA cohort construction

Table 1. Codes for exclusions and unplanned readmissions (ICD-10-AM)

Table 2. Validity of ICD-10-am codes for presence of overweight/obesity

Table 3. Leading reasons for readmission, by surgical type

Table 4. Regression estimates for 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects,THA

Table 5. Regression estimates for 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects,TKA









 Table 1. Codes for exclusions and unplanned readmissions (ICD-10-AM)

Exclu	sions
٠	Dialysis: Z49.1, Z49.2, Z94.0, Z99.2 (ICD-10-AM diagnosis codes)
•	Cataract: 42698-00, 42698-01, 42698-02, 42698-03, 42698-04, 42698-05, 42702-00,
	42702-01, 42702-02, 42702-03, 42702-04, 42702-05, 42702-06, 42702-07, 42702-08,
	42702-09, 42702-10, 42702-11, 42716-00, 42719-00, 42719-02, 42722-00, 42731-00,
	42731-01, 42734-00, 42788-00 (ACHI procedure code)
•	Chemotherapy: Z51.1 (ICD-10-AM diagnosis code)
•	Radiotherapy: Z51.0 (ICD-10-AM diagnosis code)

Unplanned readmission for TKA^a

- Principal diagnosis code for readmission:
- I2I,I26,I50,I74,M17,M23,N13,R33,S89,T81,T84,I80.1,I80.2,I97.8,J15.1,J18.0,J18.9,J95.8,L89.2, M24.6,M25.6,N39.0,S82.0,T88.7,L03.11,S72.10,S83.44,T85.78,T85.88

Unplanned readmission for THA^a

G46,I21,I26,I50,I74,I80,J15,L89,N13,N30,R33,S73,T84,T89,I62.1,I63.3,I97.8,J18.0,J18.9,J95.8,
 L03.9,M25.6,M96.8,N390,T81.1,T81.3,T81.5,T81.6,T81.8,T81.9,T85.9,T88.7,
 L03.11,S72.00,S72.08,T85.87,T85.88

^a Department of Health and Human Services. Victorian Health Services Performance monitoring framework 2018– 19. Melbourne: Department of Health and Human Services; 2018. Available at <u>https://www2.health.vic.gov.au/hospitals-and-health-services/funding-performance-accountability/performance-monitoring</u>

		Registry information			Hospital in	Hospital information		
	N	$BMI \ge 25 kg/m^2$	BMI < 25kg/m ²	No BMI recorded	Overweight/o bese diagnosis codeª	No overweight/ obese diagnosis		
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	code n (%)		
All ^b	16038	13359 (83.3)	2003 (12.5)	676 (4.2)	2301 (14.3)	13737 (85.7)		
Procedure								
TKA	10183	8858 (87.0)	879 (8.6)	446 (4.4)	1681 (16.5)	8502 (83.5)		
THA	5855	4501 (76.9)	1124 (19.2)	230 (3.9)	620 (10.6)	5235 (89.4)		
Diagnosis code ^a								
ICD-10-AM E66	135	117 (86.7)	1 (0.7)	17 (12.6)				
Supplementary U78.1	2166	2060 (95.1)	8 (0.4)	98 (4.5)				
Gender								
Male	7239	6129 (84.7)	817 (11.3)	293 (4.0)	960 (13.3)	6279 (86.7)		
Female	8799	7230 (82.2)	1186 (13.5)	383 (4.4)	1341 (15.2)	7458 (84.8)		
Age								
<60	3342	2787 (83.4)	386 (11.6)	169 (5.1)	573 (17.2)	2769 (82.8)		
60-64	2350	2008 (85.5)	246 (10.4)	96 (4.1)	397 (16.9)	1953 (83.1)		
65-69	3032	2607 (86.0)	317 (10.5)	108 (3.6)	474 (15.6)	2558 (84.4)		
70-74	3070	2613 (85.1)	338 (11.0)	119 (3.9)	454 (14.7)	2616 (88.5)		
75-79	2403	1981 (82.4)	316 (13.2)	106 (4.4)	277 (11.5)	2126 (88.5)		
80+	1841	1363 (74.0)	400 (21.7)	78 (4.2)	156 (6.8)	1715 (93.2)		

Table 2. Validity of ICD-10-am codes for presence of overweight/obesity

 $^{\rm a}$ Using E66 or U78.1 codes in any of the diagnoses fields in hospital data $^{\rm b}$ Information from hospital data

	Metrie	cs
	Sensitivity	PPV
All	16.3 (15.7 - 16.9)	99.6 (99.2 - 99.8)
Procedure		
TKA	17.9 (17.1 - 18.7)	99.6 (99.1 - 99.8)
THA	13.1 (12.1 - 14.1)	99.7 (98.7 - 99.9)
Male	15.0 (14.2 - 16.0)	99.6 (98.9 - 99.8)
Female	17.4 (16.5 - 18.3)	99.6 (99.1 - 99.8)
Age		
<60	19.0 (17.5 - 20.5)	99.8 (98.7 - 100)
60-64	18.9 (17.2 - 20.7)	99.7 (98.2 - 100)
65-69	17.0 (15.6 - 18.5)	99.6 (98.2 - 100)
70-74	16.7 (15.3 - 18.2)	99.3 (97.9 - 99.8)
75-79	13.7 (12.0 - 15.3)	99.6 (97.5 - 100)
80+	8.7 (7.3 - 10.4)	99.2 (94.3 - 99.9)

ICD-10- AM code	Description	N (%)
	THA	
T84.5	Infection and inflammatory reaction due to internal joint prosthesis	27 (6.3)
M25.55	Pain in a joint, pelvic region and thigh	18 (4.2)
L03.13	Cellulitis of lower limb	16 (3.7)
T81.4	Wound infection following a procedure, not elsewhere classified	15 (3.5)
T84.8	Other complications of internal orthopaedic prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	14 (3.3)
M79.86	Other specified soft tissue disorders, lower leg	12 (2.8)
S73.01	Posterior dislocation of hip	9 (2.1)
I26.9	Pulmonary embolism without mention of acute cor pulmonale	7 (1.6)
K92.2	Gastrointestinal haemorrhage, unspecified	7 (1.6)
T81.0	Haemorrhage and haematoma complicating a procedure, not elsewhere classified	7 (1.6)
T84.0	Mechanical complication of internal joint prosthesis	7 (1.6)
K59.0	Constipation	6 (1.4)
M16.1	Other primary coxarthrosis	6 (1.4)
N39.0	Urinary tract infection, site not specified	6 (1.4)
T84.81	Haemorrhage and haematoma following insertion of internal orthopaedic prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	6 (1.4)
Z48.8	Other specified surgical follow-up care	6 (1.4)
I48.9	Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspecified	5 (1.2)
M79.66	Pain in limb, lower leg	5 (1.2)
R11	Nausea and vomiting	5 (1.2)
R50.9	Fever, unspecified	5 (1.2)
R60.0	Localised oedema	5 (1.2)
\$73.02	Anterior dislocation of hip	5 (1.2)
Z47.8	Other specified orthopaedic follow-up care	5 (1.2)

 Table 3.
 Leading reasons for readmission, by surgical type

ICD-10- AM code	Description	N (%)
	ТКА	
T81.4	Wound infection following a procedure, not elsewhere classified	71 (8.5)
T84.5	Infection and inflammatory reaction due to internal joint prosthesis	61 (7.3)
M25.56	Pain in a joint, lower leg	48 (5.7)
L03.13	Cellulitis of lower limb	45 (5.4)
T84.8	Other complications of internal orthopaedic prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	30 (3.6)
K59.0	Constipation	17 (2.0)
M17.1	Other primary gonarthrosis	17 (2.0)
Z48.8	Other specified surgical follow-up care	17 (2.0)
R07.4	Chest pain, unspecified	15 (1.8)
I26.9	Pulmonary embolism without mention of acute cor pulmonale	14 (1.7)
T84.81	Haemorrhage and haematoma following insertion of internal orthopaedic prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	14 (1.7)
M25.06	Haemarthrosis, lower leg	12 (1.4)
A09.9	Gastroenteritis and colitis of unspecified origin	11 (1.3)
T81.3	Disruption of operation wound, not elsewhere classified	11 (1.3)
T81.8	Other complications of procedures, not elsewhere classified	11 (1.3)
T81.83	Pain following a procedure, not elsewhere classified	11 (1.3)
T84.83	Pain following insertion of internal orthopaedic prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	11 (1.3)
M79.66	Pain in limb, lower leg	10 (1.2)
M79.86	Other specified soft tissue disorders, lower leg	10 (1.2)
M25.46	Effusion of joint, lower leg	9 (1.1)
R06.0	Dyspnoea	9 (1.1)
I97.8	Other intraoperative and postprocedural disorders of circulatory system, not elsewhere classified	8 (1.0)
R11	Nausea and vomiting	8 (1.0)
T81.89	Other complications following a procedure, not elsewhere classified	8 (1.0)
T84.7	Infection and inflammatory reaction due to other internal orthopaedic prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	8 (1.0)
148.9	Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspecified	/ (0.8)
180.20 P.42	Phlebitis and thrombophlebitis of deep vessels of lower extremities, not elsewhere classified	6 (0.7)
R42	Surgeon and colleges	0 (0.7)
R55	Syncope and collapse	6(0.7)
Z40.0	Othersen if the shared is falle	0 (0.7)
Z4/.8	Other specified orthopaedic follow-up care	6 (0.7)
100.2	Del dicional de sub a blabición fordera de sub a filo construcción	5 (0.6)
180.2	Philebitis and thromoophilebitis of other deep vessels of lower extremities	5 (0.6)
K92.2	Gastrointestinal naemorrnage, unspecified	5 (0.6)
K10.1	Pain localised to upper abdomen	5 (0.6)
589.9	Unspecified injury of lower leg	5 (0.6)
181.0	Figure and haematoma complicating a procedure, not elsewhere classified	5 (0.6)
184.82	Embolism and thrombosis tollowing insertion of internal orthopaedic prosthetic devices, implants and grafts	5 (0.6)

Table 3. Leading reasons for readmission, by surgical type, cont.

	Single-level models					Multilevel models	
	Model 1	Model 2 _a	Model 2 _b	Model 2 _c	Model 3 _a	Model 3 _c	
Male	1.26 (1.0354)	1.21 (0.98-1.50)	1.21 (0.98-1.50)	1.22 (0.99-1.51)	122 (0.99-1.51)	1.23 (1.00-1.52)	
Age							
<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	
60 - 64	1.10 (0.75-1.63)	1.08 (0.73-1.60)	1.08 (0.73-1.61)	1.05 (0.71-1.56)	1.08 (0.73-1.60)	1.05 (0.71-1.56)	
65 - 69	1.46 (1.04-2.06)	1.40 (0.99-1.99)	1.42 (1.00-2.01)	1.35 (0.95-1.92)	1.40 (0.99-1.99)	1.35 (0.95-1.93)	
70 - 74	1.78 (1.29-2.47)	1.71 (1.22-2.40)	1.75(1.24-2.45)	1.61 (1.15-2.27)	1.71 (1.22-2.40)	1.62 (1.15-2.28)	
75 - 79	2.08 (1.49-2.92)	1.93 (1.36-2.74)	1.96(1.38-2.80)	1.79 (1.26-2.56)	1.93 (1.36-2.75)	1.80 (1.26-2.57)	
80 and over	2.30 (1.64-3.23)	2.08 (1.46-2.96)	2.16(1.51-3.08)	1.90 (1.33-2.72)	2.07 (1.46-2.96)	1.90 (1.33-2.73)	
Individual Elixhauser morb	idities						
CHF		1.16 (0.59-2.27)	1.11 (0.57-2.18)	1.09 (0.56-2.14)	1.15 (0.59-2.25)	1.08 (0.55-2.12)	
Cardiac arrhythmia		1.30 (0.95-1.76)	1.30 (0.96-1.76)	1.25 (0.92-1.70)	1.30 (0.95-1.77)	1.25 (0.92-1.70)	
Hypertension (uncomplicate	ed)	1.07 (0.76-1.50)	1.07 (0.77-1.50)	1.05 (0.75-1.46)	1.07 (0.76-1.50)	1.04 (0.74-1.46)	
Paralysis		2.24 (0.73-6.90)	2.22 (0.72-6.86)	2.08 (0.68-6.41)	2.24 (0.72-6.92)	2.08 (0.68-6.43)	
Chronic pulmonary disease		2.09 (1.29-3.40)	2.10 (1.29-3.42)	1.95 (1.20-3.18)	2.10 (1.29-3.42)	1.97 (1.21-3.21)	
Diabetes (uncomplicated)		1.20 (0.89-1.62)	1.20 (0.89-1.62)	1.17 (0.87-1.57)	1.21 (0.89-1.63)	1.17 (0.87-1.58)	
Diabetes (complicated)		1.51 (1.07-2.13)	1.44 (1.01-2.05)	1.41 (1.00-1.99)	1.52 (1.08-2.15)	1.42 (1.00-2.00)	
Renal failure		0.95 (0.52-1.75)	0.95 (0.52-1.74)	0.93 (0.51-1.69)	0.95 (0.52-1.74)	0.92 (0.50-1.68)	
Liver disease		1.77 (0.94-3.35)	1.81 (0.95-3.43)	1.72 (0.91-3.25)	1.77 (0.94-3.35)	1.73 (0.91-3.26)	
Lymphoma		2.39 (0.74-7.72)	2.32 (0.71-7.57)	2.27 (0.70-7.37)	2.40 (0.73-7.86)	2.33 (0.72-7.60)	
Rheumatoid arthritis/collage	n vascular disease	1.59 (0.73-3.43)	1.63 (0.75-3.53)	1.48 (0.68-3.20)	1.59 (0.73-3.45)	1.49 (0.69-3.23)	
Coagulopathy		2.06 (1.10-3.85)	2.16 (1.15-4.04)	1.91 (1.02-3.57)	2.06 (1.10-3.87)	1.92 (1.02-3.59)	
Weight loss anemia		1.14 (0.62-2.07)	1.27(0.69-2.35)	1.11 (0.61-2.03)	1.14 (0.62-2.08)	1.12 (0.61-2.04)	
Fluid and electrolyte disorde	ers	1.20 (0.89-1.62)	1.21 (0.89-1.63)	1.19 (0.88-1.60)	1.21 (0.89-1.63)	1.19 (0.88-1.61)	
Alcohol abuse		1.93 (1.07-3.48)	1.95 (1.08-3.52)	1.87 (1.04-3.37)	1.92 (1.06-3.47)	1.86 (1.03-3.35)	
Drug abuse		1.29 (0.49-3.38)	1.30 (0.49-3.44)	1.20 (0.46-3.15)	1.29 (0.49-3.38)	1.19 (0.45-3.13)	
Body Mass Index							
Underweight			0.42 (0.10-1.89)				
Normal weight			Reference				
Overweight			1.14 (0.85-1.54)				
Obese I			1.05 (0.77-1.45)				
Obese II			1.03 (0.69-1.52)				
Obese III			1.49 (0.94-2.36)				
ASA class				1.29 (1.07-1.55)		1.28 (1.06-1.55)	
Hospital-level effects							
Hospital variability (SE)					0.03 (0.03)	0.03 (0.03)	
VPC					0.92%	0.84%	
Discriminatory accuracy							
215cminiatory accuracy	0.59 (0.56-						
AUC	0.62)	0.64 (0.62-0.67)	0.64 (0.62-0.67)	0.65 (0.62-0.68)	0.64 (0.61-0.67)	0.65 (0.63-0.68)	
AUC difference		0.05ª	0.05ª	0.06ª	0.00b	0.00b	

Table 4. Regression estimates	for 30-day readmissions l	by person and hos	pital effects, THA
-------------------------------	---------------------------	-------------------	--------------------

^a Incremental increase from Model 1, ^b Incremental increase from Model 2

	S	ingle-level models		Multilevel models		
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 _h OR (95% CI)	Model 2 _{h,r} OR (95% CI)	Model 3 _h OR (95% CI)	Model 3 _{h,r} OR (95% CI)	
Patient-level effects						
Sex						
Male	1.26 (1.03-1.54)	1.24 (1.01-1.52)	1.25 (1.02-1.53)	1.24 (1.01-1.53)	1.25 (1.02-1.54)	
Age						
<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	
60 - 64	1.10 (0.75-1.63)	1.08 (0.73-1.59)	1.04 (0.71-1.54)	1.08 (0.73-1.59)	1.04 (0.71-1.54)	
65 - 69	1.46 (1.04-2.06)	1.40 (0.99-1.97)	1.33 (0.94-1.87)	1.40 (1.00-1.98)	1.33 (0.94-1.88)	
70 - 74	1.78 (1.29-2.47)	1.67 (1.20-2.32)	1.54 (1.11-2.15)	1.68 (1.21-2.33)	1.55 (1.11-2.16)	
75 - 79	2.08 (1.49-2.92)	1.88 (1.34-2.65)	1.70 (1.21-2.40)	1.89 (1.35-2.67)	1.71 (1.21-2.42)	
80 and over	2.30 (1.64-3.23)	1.98 (1.40-2.79)	1.76 (1.24-2.50)	1.98 (1.41-2.80)	1.77 (1.25-2.51)	
Multimorbidity †						
No		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Yes		1.87 (1.49-2.34)	1.65 (1.30-2.09)	1.86 (1.49-2.34)	1.65 (1.30-2.09)	
ASA class			1.39 (1.16-1.67)		1.39 (1.16-1.67)	
Hospital-level effects						
Hospital-level intercep	pt (SE)			0.03 (0.03)	0.02 (0.03)	
VPC				0.78%	0.66%	
Discriminatory accuracy						
AUC	0.59 (0.56-0.62)	0.62 (0.59-0.65)	0.64 (0.61-0.66)	0.62 (0.59-0.65)	0.64(0.61-0.66)	
AUC difference	Reference	0.03ª	0.05ª	0.00b	0.00 ^b	

Table 5. Variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, using dichotomous multimorbidity, THA

^a Incremental increase from Model 1, ^b Incremental increase from Model 2, † Presence of two or more Elixhauser Index morbidities

Model 1: single-level model with age, sex only; Model 2_h : Model 1 and hospital data information (Elixhauser Index); Model $2_{h,r}$: Model 1 and hospital and registry information (ASA); Model 3_h : Model 2_h plus hospital-level random effect; Model $3_{h,r}$: Model $2_{h,r}$ plus hospital-level random effect. ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient, VPC: variance partition coefficient, AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; Multimorbid - ≥ 2 Elixhauser morbidities

		Single-level models				Multilevel models		
-	Model 1	Model 2 _a	Model 2 _b	Model 2 _c	Model 3 _a	Model 3 _c		
Male	1.14 (0.99-1.32)	1.10 (0.95-1.27)	1.15 (0.98-1.33)	1.10 (0.95-1.27)	1.09 (0.94-1.27)	1.13 (0.97-1.31)		
Age								
<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference		
60 - 64	0.93 (0.71-1.22)	0.91 (0.69-1.20)	0.94 (0.71-1.23)	0.90 (0.68-1.19)	0.92 (0.69-1.21)	0.92 (0.70-1.22)		
65 - 69	1.06 (0.83-1.36)	1.00 (0.78-1.29)	1.04 (0.81-1.34)	0.98 (0.76-1.26)	1.01 (0.78-1.29)	1.02 (0.79-1.31)		
70 - 74	1.33 (1.05-1.68)	1.22 (0.96-1.56)	1.29 (1.01-1.65)	1.18 (0.92-1.50)	1.22 (0.96-1.56)	1.23 (0.96-1.58)		
75 - 79	1.24 (0.96-1.60)	1.11 (0.86-1.45)	1.21 (0.92-1.57)	1.06 (0.81-1.37)	1.10 (0.85-1.43)	1.12 (0.85-1.46)		
80 and over	1.29 (0.98-1.70)	1.08 (0.81-1.44)	1.20 (0.89-1.62)	1.00 (0.75-1.33)	1.06 (0.79-1.41)	1.07 (0.79-1.45)		
Individual Elixhauser morbid	ities	`		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	× /			
CHF		0.83 (0.47-1.47)	0.81 (0.46-1.44)	0.81 (0.46-1.43)	0.81 (0.46-1.43)	0.78 (0.44-1.39)		
Cardiac arrhythmia		1.66 (1.33-2.07)	1.64 (1.32-2.05)	1.58 (1.26-1.97)	1.69 (1.35-2.12)	1.61 (1.29-2.02)		
Valvular disease		0.97 (0.48-1.94)	0.98 (0.49-1.97)	0.94 (0.47-1.88)	0.96 (0.48-1.93)	0.94 (0.47-1.89)		
Hypertension (uncomplicated))	1.37 (1.09-1.72)	1.32 (1.08-1.70)	1.34 (1.07-1.68)	1.38 (1.10-1.73)	1.34 (1.07-1.68)		
Hypertension (complicated)	, ,	3.50 (0.73-16.82)	3.55 (0.74-17.11)	3.10 (0.64-14.95)	3.53 (0.73-17.16)	3.27 (0.67-15.97)		
Chronic pulmonary disease		1.24 (0.78-1.97)	1.22 (0.77-1.94)	1.14 (0.72-1.81)	1.22 (0.77-1.94)	1.13 (0.71-1.79)		
Diabetes (uncomplicated)		1.06 (0.87-1.29)	1.08 (0.88-1.31)	1.02 (0.84-1.25)	1.06 (0.87-1.29)	1.04 (0.86-1.27)		
Diabetes (complicated)		1.41 (1.13-1.75)	1.30 (1.04-1.62)	1.30 (1.04-1.61)	1.41 (1.13-1.75)	1.24 (0.99-1.56)		
Renal failure		1.13 (0.75-1.70)	1.14 (0.76-1.73)	1.08 (0.72-1.63)	1.12 (0.74-1.70)	1.09 (0.72-1.65)		
Liver disease		1.21 (0.71-2.05)	1.25 (0.74-2.13)	1.17 (0.69-1.98)	1.19 (0.70-2.03)	1.19 (0.70-2.03)		
Coagulopathy		1.76 (1.02-3.04)	1.78 (1.03-3.07)	1.61 (0.93-2.78)	1.73 (1.00-3.00)	1.62 (0.93-2.81)		
Fluid and electrolyte disorders	5	1.47 (1.19-1.82)	1.49 (1.21-1.85)	1.43 (1.16-1.78)	1.47 (1.19-1.82)	1.46 (1.18-1.81)		
Blood loss anemia		2.14 (1.07-4.26)	2.14 (1.08-4.28)	2.15 (1.08-4.30)	2.13 (1.06-4.27)	2.12 (1.06-4.27)		
Deficiency anemia		1.18 (0.78-1.78)	1.19 (0.78-1.80)	1.15 (0.76-1.75)	1.16 (0.76-1.77)	1.15 (0.76-1.76)		
Alcohol abuse		1.17 (0.67-2.06)	1.21 (0.69-2.13)	1.17 (0.67-2.04)	1.19 (0.68-2.10)	1.22 (0.69-2.14)		
Drug abuse		2.58 (1.27-5.22)	2.60 (1.25-5.28)	2.47 (1.22-4.98)	2.54 (1.25-5.16)	2.44 (1.20-4.95)		
Psychoses		2.06 (0.63-6.70)	2.00 (0.62-6.51)	1.91 (0.59-6.17)	2.09 (0.64-6.82)	1.94 (0.60-6.30)		
Depression		1.83 (0.97-3.44)	1.91 (1.02-3.58)	1.83 (0.98-3.43)	1.88 (1.00-3.53)	1.92 (1.03-3.60)		
Body Mass Index								
Underweight			1.28 (0.28-5.87)			1.18 (0.25-5.50)		
Normal weight			Reference			Reference		
Overweight			1.23 (0.91-1.67)			1.22 (0.90-1.65)		
Obese I			1.11 (0.82-1.50)			1.07 (0.79-1.45)		
Obese II			1.35 (0.98-1.86)			1.25 (0.91-1.73)		
Obese III			1.72 (1.23-2.42)			1.49 (1.05-2.11)		
ASA class				1.40 (1.22-1.60)				
Hospital-level effects								
Hospital variance (SE)					0.05 (0.03)	0.05 (0.02)		
VPC					1.48%	1.42%		
Discriminatory accuracy								
AUC	0.54 (0.52-0.56)	0.60 (0.58-0.62)	0.61 (0.59-0.64)	0.61 (0.59-0.63)	0.60 (0.5862)	0.62 (0.60-0.64)		
AUC difference		0.06ª	0.07^{a}	0.07^{a}	0.00 ^b	0.01 ^b		

Table 6. Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, TKA

^a Incremental increase from Model 1, ^b Incremental increase from Model 2

Table 7. Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, usin	g
dichotomous multimorbidity, TKA	

	Si	ngle-level models		Multilevel	models
	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 _h OR (95% CI)	Model 2 _{h,r} OR (95% CI)	Model 3 _h OR (95% CI)	Model 3 _{h,r} OR (95% CI)
Patient-level effects					
Sex					
Male	1.14 (0.99-1.32)	1.12 (0.97-1.30)	1.12 (0.96-1.29)	1.12 (0.96-1.29)	1.11 (0.96-1.29)
Age					
<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
60 - 64	0.93 (0.71-1.22)	0.91 (0.69-1.20)	0.89 (0.68-1.17)	0.91 (0.69-1.20)	0.90 (0.68-1.18)
65 - 69	1.06 (0.83-1.36)	1.00 (0.78-1.29)	0.98 (0.76-1.25)	1.01 (0.78-1.29)	0.98 (0.76-1.26)
70 - 74	1.33 (1.05-1.68)	1.24 (0.98-1.58)	1.19 (0.93-1.51)	1.25 (0.98-1.58)	1.19 (0.93-1.51)
75 - 79	1.24 (0.96-1.60)	1.14 (0.88-1.47)	1.07 (0.83-1.38)	1.13 (0.87-1.46)	1.06 (0.82-1.37)
80 and over	1.29 (0.98-1.70)	1.15 (0.87-1.52)	1.05 (0.79-1.39)	1.13 (0.85-1.50)	1.03 (0.78-1.37)
Multimorbidity [†]					
No		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes		1.92 (1.64-2.26)	1.69 (1.43-2.00)	1.93 (1.64-2.26)	1.70 (1.44-2.01)
ASA class			1.46 (1.28-1.68)		1.46 (1.27-1.67)
Hospital-level effects					
Hospital-level intercept	(SE)			0.05 (0.02)	0.05 (0.02)
VPC				1.45%	1.39%
Discriminatory accuracy					
AUC	0.54 (0.52-0.56)	0.58 (0.56-0.61)	0.60 (0.58-0.62)	0.58 (0.56-0.61)	0.60 (0.58-0.62)
AUC difference	Reference	0.04ª	0.06^{a}	0.00b	0.00 ^b

^a Incremental increase from Model 1, ^b Incremental increase from Model 2, † Presence of two or more Elixhauser Index morbidities

Model 1: single-level model with age, sex only; Model 2_h : Model 1 and hospital data information (Elixhauser Index); Model $2_{h,r}$: Model 1 and hospital and registry information (Elixhauser Index, ASA); Model 3_h : Model 2_h plus hospital-level random effect; Model $3_{h,r}$: Model $2_{h,r}$ plus hospital-level random effect. ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient, VPC: variance partition coefficient, AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; Multimorbid - ≥ 2 morbidities

Appendix 7. Statistical Appendices

7.1 Statistical Appendix for Chapter 6

Table 7.1.1 Data quality checks and list of exclusions

Table 7.1.2 Model building for 30-day mortality

Table 7.1.3 Model building for prolonged length of stay

Table 7.1.4 Model building for 30-day readmissions

Table 7.1.5. Adjusted relative risk (aRR) between multimorbidity and 3 categories of

 HFRS with adverse outcomes

Table 7.1.6. Additive and multiplicative interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty

 risk on adverse patient outcomes, full cohort, single-level models

 Table 7.1.7. Sensitivity analysis for 30-day readmissions, with adjustments for competing risk of death

7.2 Statistical Appendix for Chapter 7

Table 7.2.1 Data quality checks and list of exclusions

 Table 7.2.2 Comparison of single and multilevel models for 30-day readmissions

 following THA

 Table 7.2.3 Comparison of single and multilevel models for 30-day readmissions

 following TKA

Table 7.2.4 Summary of the sensitivity analysis for 30-day readmissions, withadjustments for competing risk of death, THA

Table 7.2.5 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, THA, excluding patients that died prior to readmission (for comparison with Table 7.3 in the main body of Thesis)

Table 7.2.6 Summary of the sensitivity analysis for 30-day readmissions, withadjustments for competing risk of death, TKA

Table 7.2.7 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, TKA, excluding patients that died prior to readmission (for comparison with Table 7.4 in the main body of Thesis)

7.1 Statistical appendix for Chapter 6

Data quality and exclusions

Table 7.1.1 Data quality checks and list of exclusions

Check	Description	N of Records (n=355,766)	N of people (n=263,419)	Decision
Date checks				
Dates of admission not in a plausible range	Check if the requested data extract matches ethics application (2000 – 2014)	0		No changes needed
Dates of birth not in a plausible range	Check if dates of birth are outside the plausible range (1890 – 2014), leading to incorrect age calculations	0		No changes needed
2 or more dates of birth per person	Check if multiple DOBs exist per person. Probabilistic linkage software allows transposition of months/days in its algorithms	603		Chose the most frequent DOB
Date of death is before date of separation	Date of death (from RBDM data) appears before separation date of episode of care	410	392	Delete records from analysis - possible false positive links
Admission date after date of death	Possible incorrect linkage of death data with a hospital record after registered death	86	71	Exclude all records for the person - possible false positive link
Admission date after separation date	Checking for negative length of stay (implausible)	0		No changes needed
Same admission/separatio n dates and times	Check if duplicate entries exist based on the same admission dates and times. Check if other variables are the same within potential duplicate records	86		Leave the records as they denote nested admissions.
Inconsistencies and oth	er checks			
Sex differently recorded across records for the same individual	Check if there is consistency across all records for a person on their sex. Chose the most frequent sex recorded	31	25	Exclude person from analysis as potential false positive link
Dates of death in RBDM and ABS records > 10 years apart	If there are differences in the recorded dates of death between registry (RBDM) and cause of death data (ABS)	2		Chose the latter date of death
Not a resident of NSW based on the SLA of residence	Non-residents of NSW are captured in APDC but their follow up or hospitalisations to other non-NSW hospitals are not captured	6378	5472	Excluded from analysis due to incomplete data capture
I otal exclusions			5888 (2.2%)	

Assessment of model fit – multilevel models

Patients were admitted to 234 hospitals in NSW, with median number of patients per hospital being 145.5 (interquartile range 30 - 990).

Table 7.1.2. Model building for 30-day mortality outcome

	Model 1	Model 2
Fixed effects		
Group aRR (95% CI)		
Neither	1	1
Frail only	1.90 (1.82 – 1.99)	1.90 (1.82 – 1.99)
Multimorbid only	2.38 (2.28 - 2.49)	2.40 (2.29 - 2.51)
Both	4.18 (4.02 – 4.34)	4.23 (4.07 – 4.39)
Random effects		
Level-2 intercept (SE)		0.039 (0.008)
Model fit		
-2 Log Likelihood	173173.8	172877.6ª
Fit for conditional distribution		0.87
(χ^2/DF)		

Model 1 denotes a single-level model, Model 2 is a 2-level multilevel model with patients nested within hospitals, ^a denotes a better fitting model

- \rightarrow Hospital level intercept is significant with z-value=4.75, *p*-value < 0.001
- → Model 2 is a better fitting model with $\chi^2_{diff} = -2 LL_{Model1} -2 LL_{Model2} = 296.2, 1 df, p-value < 0.001$
- → Fit for conditional distribution ($\chi^2/DF < 1$) indicates that there is no residual dispersion



Appendix 7: Statistical Appendices

Table 7.1.3. Model building for prolonged length of stay

	Model 1	Model 2
Fixed effects		
Group aRR (95% CI)		
Neither	1	1
Frail only	2.64(2.58 - 2.70)	2.62 (2.56 - 2.68)
Multimorbid only	1.58 (1.53 – 1.62)	1.57 (1.52 – 1.61)
Both	3.36 (3.29 - 3.44)	3.34 (3.26 - 3.41)
Random effects		
Level-2 intercept (SE)		0.050 (0.007)
Model fit		
-2 Log Likelihood	321820.2	320271.8ª
Fit for conditional distribution		0.70
(χ^2/DF)		

Model 1 denotes a single-level model, Model 2 is a 2-level multilevel model with patients nested within hospitals, ^a denotes a better fitting model

- → Hospital level intercept is significant with z-value=7.02, *p*-value < 0.001
- → Model 2 is a better fitting model with $\chi^2_{diff} = -2 LL_{Model1} -2 LL_{Model2} = 1548.4, 1 df, p-value < 0.001$
- → Fit for conditional distribution ($\chi^2/DF < 1$) indicates that there is no residual dispersion



Appendix 7: Statistical Appendices

Table 7.1.4. Model building for 30-day readmissions

	Model 1	Model 2
Fixed effects		
Group aRR (95% CI)	1	1
Neither	1.25 (1.20 – 1.30)	1.25 (1.21 – 1.31)
Frail only	1.40 (1.34 – 1.45)	1.41 (1.35 – 1.47)
Multimorbid only	1.78 (1.72 – 1.84)	1.79 (1.73 – 1.86)
Both		
Random effects		
Level-2 intercept (SE)		0.014 (0.003)
Model fit		
-2 Log Likelihood	162109.2	161937.4ª
Fit for conditional distribution		0.89
(χ^2/DF)		

Model 1 denotes a single-level model, Model 2 is a 2-level multilevel model with patients nested within hospitals, ^a denotes a better fitting model

- → Hospital level intercept is significant with z-value=4.52, *p*-value < 0.001
- → Model 2 is a better fitting model with $\chi^2_{diff} = -2 LL_{Model1} -2 LL_{Model2} = 171.80, 1 df, p-value < 0.001$
- → Fit for conditional distribution ($\chi^2/DF < 1$) indicates that there is no residual dispersion



Sensitivity analyses

Table 7.1.5. Adjusted relative risk (aRR) between multimorbidity and 3 categories of HFRS with

adverse outcomes

Outcomes	Single-level model	Multilevel model
	aRR	aRR
30-day mortality		
Group		
Neither	1	1
Mild frailty risk only	1.82 (1.74 – 1.91)	1.82 (1.74 – 1.91)
High frailty risk only	2.38 (2.22 - 2.55)	2.40 (2.24 - 2.57)
Multimorbid only	2.40 (2.29 - 2.51)	2.42 (2.31 – 2.53)
Multimorbid, mild frailty risk	3.97 (3.82 - 4.13)	4.02 (3.86 - 4.18)
Multimorbid, high frailty risk	4.64 (4.45 - 4.85)	4.75 (4.55 – 4.96)
Interaction <i>p</i> -value	< 0.001	< 0.001
Prolonged length of stay		
Group		
Neither	1	1
Mild frailty risk only	2.47 (2.41 – 2.53)	2.46(2.40 - 2.53)
High frailty risk only	3.65 (3.52 - 3.78)	3.63 (3.50 - 3.76)
Multimorbid only	1.59 (1.55 – 1.64)	1.59 (1.54 – 1.63)
Multimorbid, mild frailty risk	3.10 (3.02 - 3.17)	3.09 (3.01 - 3.16)
Multimorbid, high frailty risk	3.97 (3.87 – 4.07)	3.97 (3.86 – 4.07)
Interaction <i>p</i> -value	< 0.001	< 0.001
30-day readmission		
Group		
Neither	1	1
Mild frailty risk only	1.22 (1.17 – 1.27)	1.22 (1.14 – 1.27)
High frailty risk only	1.41 (1.32 – 1.51)	1.42 (1.32 – 1.52)
Multimorbid only	1.40 (1.34 – 1.46)	1.41 (1.35 – 1.47)
Multimorbid, mild frailty risk	1.73 (1.66 – 1.79)	1.74 (1.68 – 1.81)
Multimorbid, high frailty risk	1.87 (1.80 - 1.95)	1.89 (1.81 – 1.97)
Interaction <i>p</i> -value	0.234	0.229

Table 7.1.6. Additive and multiplicative interaction effects of multimorbidity and frailty risk on adverse patient outcomes, full cohort, single-level models

Mortality within 30-days post admission	Low frailty risk]	Elevated frailty ris	sk
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	%outcome	aRR (95% CI)
No multimorbidity	3854	4.7	1	4,731	9.2	1.90 (1.82 – 1.99)
Multimorbidity	4,046	10.7	2.38 (2.28 – 2.49)	16,255	18.8	4.18 (4.02 – 4.34)

^aMeasure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) = 0.85 (0.75 - 0.96)*

^aMeasure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 0.92 (0.87 – 0.97), p-value =0.003*

Prolonged LOS	Low frailty risk				Ι	Elevated frailty ris	sk
-	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)		N with	%outcome	aRR (95% CI)
No multimorbidity	11855	14.5	1		19,181	37.4	2.64 (2.58 - 2.70)
Multimorbidity	8,001	21.1	1.58 (1.53 – 1.62)		37,548	43.4	3.36 (3.29 – 3.44)

^aMeasure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.16 (0.11 – 0.21)*

^aMeasure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 0.81 (0.78 – 0.84), p-value <0.001*

Readmission within 30- days post discharge		Low frailty risk		1	Elevated frailty ris	sk
	N with outcome	% outcome	aRR (95% CI)	N with outcome	%outcome	aRR (95% CI)
No multimorbidity	5,457	6.9	1	4,727	9.9	1.25 (1.20 – 1.30)
Multimorbidity	3,960	11.4	1.40 (1.34 – 1.45)	12,120	16.5	1.78 (1.72 – 1.84)

^aMeasure of effect modification on additive scale: RERI (95% CI) =0.13 (0.07 - 0.20)*

^aMeasure of effect modification on multiplicative scale: ratio of RR= 1.02 (0.97 – 1.07), p-value =0.48

* Denotes significance at 5% level.

^a Significance of an interaction on an additive scale is denoted where RERI is different from 0, and on the multiplicative scale if ratio of RR is different from 1.

Table 7.1.7. Sensitivity analysis for 30-day readmissions, with adjustments for competing risk of death

* Excluding 6763 (2.9%) of patients that had a death prior to readmission

** Analysis using Fine Gray competing risks model accounting for competing risk of death

7.2 Statistical appendix for Chapter 7

Data quality and exclusions

Check	Description	N of Records (n=21,209)	N of people (n=20,048)	Decision
Date checks				
Dates of admission not in a plausible range	Check if the requested data extract matches ethics application (2001 – 2019)	0		No changes needed
Dates of birth not in a plausible range	Check if dates of birth are outside the plausible range (1890 – 2019), leading to incorrect age calculations	0		No changes needed
Admission date after date of death	Possible incorrect linkage of death data with a hospital record after registered death	13	13	Exclude all records for the person - possible false positive link
Admission date after separation date	Checking for negative length of stay (implausible)	0	0	No changes needed
Date of birth after admission date	Implausible DOB	0	0	
Same admission/separation dates and times	Check if duplicate entries exist based on the same admission dates and times. Check if other variables are the same within potential duplicate records	32	32	Leave the records as they denote nested admissions.
Inconsistencies and other	checks			
Inconsistent sex	Check if there is consistency across all records for a person on their sex. Chose the most frequent sex recorded	75	71	Exclude person from analysis as potential false positive link
Inconsistent date of birth	Check dates of birth and if they differ by more than 10 years	299	285	Exclude person from analysis as potential false positive link
Total exclusions		373 (1.8%)	355 (1.8%)	

Table 7.2.1 Data quality checks and list of exclusions

Assessment of multilevel model fit

THA analysis

Patients were admitted to 45 hospitals in NSW, with median number of patients undergoing THA procedure per hospital being 116 (interquartile range 71 - 163).

Table 7.2.2 Comparison of single and multilevel models for 30-day readmissions following THA

	Model 2 _{h,r}	Model 3 _{h,r}
Fixed effects		
Elixhauser Index		
0	1	1
1	1.75 (1.36-2.24)	1.77 (1.37-2.27)
2	1.87 (1.35-2.60)	1.88 (1.35-2.61)
3 or more	2.42 (1.75-3.35)	2.43 (1.75-3.37)
ASA class	1.29 (1.07-1.55)	1.28 (1.07-1.55)
Random effects		
Hospital-level intercept (SE)		0.03 (0.03)
Model fit		
-2 Log Likelihood	2832.10ª	2830.84
Fit for conditional		0.97
distribution (χ^2 /DF)		

Model 2_{h,r} denotes a single-level model including hospital and registry data, Model 3_{h,r} is a 2-level multilevel model with patients nested within hospitals, a denotes a better fitting model

- \rightarrow Hospital level intercept is not significant with z-value=0.93, p-value=0.176, indicating no difference between readmission rates between hospitals
- → Single level model is a better fitting model with $\chi^2_{diff} = -2 LL_{Model1} -2 LL_{Model2} = 1.26, 1 df, p$ value=0.13
- → Fit for conditional distribution of multilevel model (χ^2 /DF<1) indicates that there is no residual dispersion



Hospital residuals

TKA analysis

Patients were admitted to 43 hospitals in NSW, with median number of patients per hospital being 206 (interquartile range 110 - 321).

	Model 2 _{h,r}	Model 3 _{h,r}
Fixed effects		
Elixhauser Index		
0	1	1
1	1.31 (1.10-1.57)	1.31 (1.09-1.57)
2	1.63 (1.30-2.04)	1.63 (1.30-2.05)
3 or more	2.30 (1.82-2.91)	2.31 (1.82-2.92)
ASA class	1.40 (1.22-1.61)	1.40 (1.22-1.61)
Random effects		
Hospital-level intercept (SE)		0.04 (0.02)
		· · ·
Model fit		
-2 Log Likelihood	5404.75	5396.17
Fit for conditional distribution		0.98
(χ^2/DF)		

Table 7.2.3 Comparison of single and multilevel models for 30-day readmissions following TKA

Model $2_{h,r}$ denotes a single-level model including hospital and registry data, Model $3_{h,r}$ is a 2-level multilevel model with patients nested within hospitals, ^a denotes a better fitting model

- \rightarrow Hospital level intercept is significant with z-value=1.84, *p*-value=0.03
- → Single level model is a better fitting model with $\chi^2_{diff} = -2 LL_{Model1} -2 LL_{Model2} = 8.58, 1$ df, *p*-value=0.001
- → Fit for conditional distribution of multilevel model ($\chi^2/DF < 1$) indicates that there is no residual dispersion



Hospital residuals

Sensitivity analyses

Table 7.2.4 Summary of the sensitivity analysis for 30-day readmissions, with adjustments for competing risk of death, THA

Group	Original result Model 2 _{h,r}		Sensitivity analysis 1 [*] Model 2 _{h,r}		Sensitivity analysis 2** Model 2 _{h,r}		
	aRR	p- value	aRR	p-value	aHR	p- value	
Sex							
Male	1.23 (1.00-0.52)	0.045	1.24 (1.01-1.52)	0.044	1.19 (0.98-1.45)	0.080	
Age							
<60	1	0.015		0.015	1	0.020	
60 - 64	1.00 (0.67-1.47)		0.99 (0.67-1.47)		1.00 (0.68-1.46)		
65 - 69	1.26 (0.90-1.79)		1.26 (0.89-1.78)		1.27 (0.90-1.77)		
70 - 74	1.47 (1.05-2.05)		1.46 (1.05-2.04)		1.46 (1.06-2.02)		
75 - 79	1.61 (1.14-2.28)		1.61 (1.14-2.28)		1.60 (1.14-2.25)		
80 and over	1.66 (1.17-2.36)		1.67 (1.17-2.37)		1.62 (1.14-2.30)		
Elixhauser Index							
0	1	< 0.001		< 0.001	1	< 0.001	
1	1.75 (1.36-2.24)		1.75 (1.37-2.25)		1.68 (1.32-2.14)		
2	1.87 (1.35-2.60)		1.87 (1.35-2.60)		1.83 (1.33-2.50)		
3 or more	2.42 (1.75-3.35)		2.44 (1.76-3.38)		2.32 (1.68-3.19)		
ASA class	1.29 (1.07-1.55)	0.008	1.29 (1.07-1.55)	0.008	1.26 (1.04-1.51)	0.016	
* Excluding 6 (0.1%) of patients that had a death prior to readmission							

** Analysis using Fine Gray competing risks model accounting for competing risk of death

Table 7.2.5 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, THA, excluding patients that died prior to readmission (for comparison with Table 7.3 in the main body of Thesis)

	S	Single-level models			Multilevel models		
	Model 1	Model 2 _h	$Model \ 2_{h,r}$	Model 3 _h	Model 3 _{h,r}		
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)		
Patient-level effects							
Sex							
Male	1.26 (1.03-1.55)	1.23 (1.00-1.51)	1.24 (1.01-1.52)	1.23 (1.00-1.52)	1.24 (1.01-1.53)		
Age							
<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference		
60 - 64	1.10 (0.75-1.62)	1.01 (0.69-1.50)	0.99 (0.67-1.47)	1.01 (0.68-1.50)	0.99 (0.67-1.47)		
65 - 69	1.46 (1.04-2.05)	1.30 (0.92-1.84)	1.26 (0.89-1.78)	1.30 (0.92-1.84)	1.27 (0.89-1.79)		
70 - 74	1.78 (1.28-2.47)	1.54 (1.11-2.15)	1.46 (1.05-2.04)	1.54 (1.11-2.15)	1.47 (1.05-2.05)		
75 - 79	2.08 (1.48-2.92)	1.72 (1.22-2.43)	1.61 (1.14-2.27)	1.73 (1.22-2.43)	1.62 (1.14-2.29)		
80 and over	2.31 (1.65-3.24)	1.80 (1.27-2.55)	1.67 (1.17-2.37)	1.80 (1.27-2.54)	1.67 (1.18-2.37)		
Elixhauser Index							
0		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference		
1		1.86 (1.45-2.38)	1.75 (1.37-2.25)	1.87 (1.46-2.40)	1.77 (1.38-2.27)		
2		2.06 (1.50-2.84)	1.87 (1.35-2.60)	2.06 (1.50-2.84)	1.88 (1.35-2.61)		
3 or more		2.79 (2.05-3.80)	2.42 (1.75-3.35)	2.79 (2.04-3.80)	2.45 (1.77-3.39)		
ASA class			1.29 (1.07-1.55)		1.28 (1.06-1.54)		
Hospital-level effe	cts						
Hospital-level in	ntercept (SE)			0.03 (0.03)	0.03 (0.03)		
VPC				0.94%	0.86%		
Discriminatory accu	iracy						
AUC	0.59 (0.56-0.62)	0.64 (0.62-0.67)	0.65 (0.62-0.68)	0.64 (0.62-0.67)	0.65(0.62-0.68)		
AUC				. ,	. ,		
difference	Reference	0.05ª	0.06ª	0.00b	0.00b		

Model 1: single-level model with age, sex only; Model 2_h: Model 1 and hospital data information (Elixhauser Index); Model 2_{h,r}: Model 1 and hospital and registry information (Elixhauser Index, ASA); Model 3_h: Model 2_h plus hospital-level random effect; Model 3_{h,r}: Model 2_{h,r} plus hospital-level random effect. ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient, VPC: variance partition coefficient, AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve

Group	Original result Model 2 _{h,r}		Sensitivity analysis 1* Model 2 _{h,r}		Sensitivity analysis 2** Model 2 _{h,r}	
	aRR	p- value	aRR	p-value	aHR	p- value
Sex						
Male	1.11 (0.96-1.28)	0.179	1.11 (0.96-1.28)	0.173	1.11 (0.96-1.27)	0.160
Age						
<60	Reference	0.393	Reference	0.392	Reference	0.388
60 - 64	0.89 (0.67-1.16)		0.88 (0.67-1.16)		0.89 (0.68-1.16)	
65 - 69	0.96 (0.75-1.24)		0.96 (0.75-1.24)		0.97 (0.76-1.23)	
70 - 74	1.16 (0.91-1.48)		1.16 (0.91-1.48)		1.15 (0.92-1.45)	
75 - 79	1.04 (0.80-1.35)		1.04 (0.81-1.35)		1.04 (0.82-1.33)	
80 and over	1.02 (0.77-1.35)		1.02 (0.77-1.35)		1.01 (0.77-1.32)	
Elixhauser Index						
0	Reference	< 0.001	Reference	< 0.001		< 0.001
1	1.31 (1.10-1.57)		1.31 (1.10-1.57)		1.30 (1.10-1.55)	
2	1.63 (1.30-2.04)		1.63 (1.30-2.04)		1.59 (1.29-1.97)	
3 or more	2.30 (1.82-2.91)		2.31 (1.83-2.91)		2.18 (1.76-2.71)	
ASA class	1.40 (1.22-1.61)	< 0.001	1.40 (1.22-1.61)	< 0.001	1.38 (1.21-1.57)	< 0.001

Table 7.2.6 Summary of the sensitivity analysis for 30-day readmissions, with adjustments for competing risk of death, TKA

* Excluding 3 (0.03%) of patients that had a death prior to readmission

** Analysis using Fine Gray competing risks model accounting for competing risk of death
Table 7.2.7 Measures of variation in 30-day readmissions by person and hospital effects, TKA, excluding patients that died prior to readmission (for comparison with Table 7.4 in the main body of Thesis)

		Single-level models			Multileve	Multilevel models	
		Model 1	Model 2 _h	Model 2 _{h,r}	Model 3 _h	Model 3 _{h,r}	
		OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
Pat	ent-level effects						
Sex							
	Male	1.14 (0.99-1.32)	1.11 (0.96-1.28)	1.11 (0.96-1.28)	1.11 (0.95-1.28)	1.10 (0.95-1.28)	
Age							
	<60	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	
	60 - 64	0.93 (0.71-1.22)	0.90 (0.68-1.18)	0.88(0.67-1.16)	0.90 (0.68-1.18)	0.89 (0.68-1.17)	
	65 - 69	1.06 (0.83-1.36)	0.98 (0.77-1.26)	0.96 (0.75-1.24)	0.99 (0.77-1.27)	0.97 (0.76-1.25)	
	70 - 74	1.33 (1.05-1.68)	1.20 (0.95-1.53)	1.16 (0.91-1.48)	1.21 (0.95-1.53)	1.17 (0.92-1.48)	
	75 - 79	1.25 (0.97-1.61)	1.10 (0.85-1.42)	1.04 (0.81-1.35)	1.09 (0.84-1.41)	1.04 (0.80-1.34)	
	80 and over	1.29 (0.98-1.70)	1.09 (0.82-1.45)	1.02 (0.77-1.35)	1.08 (0.81-1.43)	1.00 (0.76-1.34)	
Elixhauser Index							
	0		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	
	1		1.41 (1.18-1.68)	1.31 (1.10-1.57)	1.40 (1.17-1.67)	1.31 (1.09-1.57)	
	2		1.83 (1.47-2.28)	1.63 (1.30-2.04)	1.83 (1.47-2.29)	1.63 (1.30-2.05)	
	3 or more		2.71 (2.17-3.40)	2.31 (1.83-2.91)	2.72 (2.17-3.40)	2.31 (1.82-2.92)	
ASA	A class			1.40 (1.22-1.61)		1.40 (1.22-1.61)	
Hospital-level effects							
	Hospital-level interc	ept (SE)			0.05 (0.02)	0.04 (0.02)	
	VPC				1.38%	1.34%	
Dise	criminatory accuracy						
	AUC	0.54 (0.52-0.56)	0.60 (0.58-0.62)	0.61 (0.59-0.63)	0.60 (0.58-0.62)	0.61(0.59-0.63)	
	AUC difference	Reference	0.06ª	0.07^{a}	0.00^{b}	0.00^{b}	

^a Incremental increase from Model 1, ^b Incremental increase from Model 2

Model 1: single-level model with age, sex only; Model 2_h : Model 1 and hospital data information (Elixhauser Index); Model $2_{h,r}$: Model 1 and hospital and registry information (Elixhauser Index, ASA); Model 3_h : Model 2_h plus hospital-level random effect; Model $3_{h,r}$: Model $2_{h,r}$ plus hospital-level random effect. ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient, VPC: variance partition coefficient, AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve